The role of inflammation, gut permeability and body weight in asthma: from molecular to human prebiotic interventions

Cristina Parenti



A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Nottingham Trent University for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

November 2023

Table of Contents

Declaration	I
Acknowledgment	II
List of Abbreviations	IV
List of figures	IX
List of tables	XIII
List of published abstracts	XIV
Abstract	XVI
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1 Introduction and Rationale	2
1.2 Research aims	5
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature	8
2.1 Asthma pathophysiology	9
2.1.1 Phenotypes of Asthma	10
2.2 Asthma comorbidities: Obesity	
2.2.1 Obesity	
2.2.2 Pathophysiology of obesity	
2.3 The obesity-asthma link	16
2.3.1 Lung mechanics change in obesity	
2.3.2 Systemic inflammation in obesity and asthma	
2.4 The gut-microbiota and link with asthma and obesity	20
2.4.1 Asthma related changes in gut microbiome	22
2.4.2 Obesity related changes in gut microbiome	
2.5 The gut epithelial barrier in health and disease	25
2.5.1 Asthma and gut permeability	
2.5.2 Markers of gut permeability and asthma	30
2.5.3 Obesity and gut permeability	32
2.6 The gut-lung axis hypothesis	33
2.6.1. Molecular link between obesity and asthma: mitochondria dysfunction	
2.6.2. Metabolic dysfunction in obesity and asthma	40
2.7 Dietary strategies to target the gut microbiota to improve host health	42
2.7.1 Prebiotics and dietary fibre	42
2.7.2 Prebiotic interventions in asthma and obesity	46
2.7.3 Non-fibre prebiotics and their role in obesity asthma	

2.7.4 Probiotics interventions in obesity and asthma	50
2.7.5 Synbiotic interventions in obesity and asthma	52
2.7.6 Postbiotic in obesity and asthma	54
Chapter 3: Material and Methods	56
3.1. Cell culture	57
3.1.1 Human epithelial airway cells culture and treatments used	57
3.1.2 Protein extraction and quantification	59
3.1.3 Western Blot analysis	60
3.1.4 RNA extraction and qPCR	65
3.1.5. Nanolive imaging	67
3.1.6. EVOS imaging	67
3.1.7. Mitochondria stress test	68
3.2 Human Trials	69
3.2.1. Investigation of body weight and gut permeability across asthma severity: T WATCH collaboration study-Ethics and study design	he NTU- 69
3.2.2. Human Nutritional intervention trial	71
3.3 Human Trial Measurements	
3.3.1. Anthropometric measurements	
3.3.2. Pulmonary functions	
3.3.3. Blood sampling	
3.3.4. Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent assays	75
3.3.5. Analysis of blood plasma inflammatory cytokines	
3.3.6. Nutritional intervention trial: serum markers analysis	
3.3.7. Self-reported questionnaires:	
3.4. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR)	81
3.4.1. Samples preparation for bNMR and analysis	83
3.5. Statistical analysis	85
Chapter 4: The role of LPS and SCFA on mitochondria morphology and function in airwa	ıy cells 88
4.1 Introduction	89
4.2 Material and Methods	94
4.2.1 Cell culture: BEAS2B-R1 cells	94
4.2.2 Protein extraction and Western blot	94
4.2.3 RNA isolation and qRT-PCR	95
4.2.4 Mitochondria Stress Test	96
4.2.5 Mitochondrial activity analysis	97

4.2.6 Nanolive Imaging	98
4.2.7 Statistical analysis	99
4.3 Results	100
4.3.1 LPS altered mitochondria fusion/fission genes	100
4.3.2 LPS induced imbalance in mitochondrial fusion/fission protein expression	103
4.3.3 The effect of LPS on mitochondria morphology	110
4.3.4 SOD2 protein expression	115
4.3.5 The effect of LPS on mitochondrial activity	117
4.3.6 The effect of LPS on mitochondrial function	121
4.3.7 Investigation of the effect of LPS on mitochondrial biogenesis-related protein expression	124
4.4 Discussion	127
4.4.1 The effect of LPS and SCFA on mitochondrial dynamics	127
4.4.2 The effect of LPS and SCFA on mitochondrial function	129
4.4.3 Conclusions	131
Chapter 5: Characterising a cohort of patients with difficult to control asthma: Impact of B on asthma severity and inflammation	MI 132
5.1 Introduction	133
5.1.1. The WATCH-NTU collaboration study	134
5.2 Material and Methods	136
5.2.1. Ethics and study design	136
5.2.2. Participant recruitment	136
5.2.3. Anthropometric measurements	137
5.2.4. Lung Function	138
5.2.5. Asthma Control Questionnaire (ACQ)-6	138
5.2.6. Blood collection	139
5.2.7. Analysis of blood plasma inflammatory cytokines	139
5.2.8. Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	140
5.2.9. Statistical analysis	140
5.3 Results	142
5.3.1. Participants characteristics	142
5.3.2. The role of BMI on lung function and asthma symptoms	143
5.3.3. The role of BMI on inflammatory markers	147
5.4 Discussion	152
5.4.1. The role of BMI on lung function and asthma control	152
5.4.2. The role of BMI on systemic inflammation	154

5.4.3. Conclusion	157
Chapter 6: Comparison of gut permeability markers in mild well-controlled and diffic control asthma cohorts	ult to 158
6.1 Introduction	159
6.2 Material and Methods	162
6.2.1 NTU-WATCH Study Design	162
6.2.2 Anthropometric measurements	164
6.2.3 Pulmonary function	164
6.2.4 Blood collection	165
6.2.5 Enzyme linked Immune sorbent assays	166
6.2.6 Asthma control Questionnaire (ACQ-6)	167
6.2.7 Statistical Analysis	167
6.3 Results	169
6.3.1 Participant characterization	169
6.3.2 Assessment of lung function and asthma control of healthy controls, well- and difficult to control asthma groups	controlled 170
6.3.3 The role of LBP and Calprotectin in BMI and lung function	171
6.3.4 The simple linear regression analysis between LBP, Calprotectin and asthr	na control
	174
6.3.5 Differences in LBP and Calprotectin biomarkers between controls, well-co asthma and difficult to control asthma groups.	ntrolled 174
6.4 Discussion	176
6.4.1 The role of gut permeability markers in lung function and asthma control.	176
6.4.2 The role of gut permeability in obesity and asthma	178
6.4.3. Conclusion	180
Chapter 7: Pilot study on metabolomics: Comparative methods to identify metabolit	es in
plasma of adults with well-controlled asthma	181
7.1 Introduction	182
7.2 Methods	185
7.2.1. Participants recruitment	185
7.2.2. Blood samples collection	185
7.2.3. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance analysis	186
7.2.4. Statistical analysis	187
7.3 Results	188
7.3.1. Participants characteristics	188
7.3.2. Evaluation of metabolites in participants with asthma using bNMR	188
7.3.3. Cluster analysis between control and participants with asthma using bNM	1R 192

734 0	ata analysis from high-field NMR spectra	195
7.4 Discus	sion	199
7.4.1 Li	mitation and Future works	
7.4.2 Co	onclusion	201
Chapter 8: T	he effect of a 21-day dietary prebiotic supplement on asthma managem	ent, gut
permeability	and biomarkers of health in adults with well-controlled asthma	202
8.1 Introd	uction	203
8.2 Mater	ial and Methods	208
8.2.1	Experimental design	208
8.2.2	Anthropometric measurement	210
8.2.3	Blood collection	210
8.2.4	Pulmonary function	211
8.2.5	Blood serum markers analysis	211
8.2.6	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	212
8.2.7	Self-reported questionnaires:	212
8.2.8	Statistical analysis	215
8.3 Result	s	217
8.3.1 Pa	articipants characterization	217
8.3.2 Cł	nanges in gut permeability markers following B-GOS supplementation	217
8.3.3 Tł	ne effect of prebiotic on serum biomarkers of health	220
8.3.4 Tł	ne effect of prebiotic on lung function	223
8.3.5 Tł	ne effect of prebiotic on asthma symptoms questionnaires	225
8.4 Discus	sion	229
8.4.1 Ef	fect of prebiotic on blood biomarkers of gut permeability	230
8.4.2 Ef	fect of prebiotics on blood biomarkers of metabolic and inflammatory h	ealth 231
8.4.3 Tł	ne effect of prebiotics on lung function and asthma symptoms	234
8.4.4 Co	onclusion	236
Chapter 9: G	eneral Discussion and conclusions	237
9.1 Introd	uction	238
9.2 Experi	mental findings	241
9.3 Limita	tion	244
9.4 Future	e work	245
9.5 Final c	onclusion	246
References .		247
Appendix		285
Appendix	1: WATCH participant information sheet and consent form	285

A	opendix 2: Prebiotic trial participant information sheet and consent form	291
A	ppendix 3: Self-reporting Health screen	298
A	opendix 4: Questionnaires	303
	Appendix 4.1: Asthma control questionnaire (ACQ-6)	303
	Appendix 4.2: Nijmegen questionnaire	305
	Appendix 4.3: Hull airway reflux questionnaire	306
	Appendix 4.4: SNOT-22 questionnaire	307
	Appendix 4.5: HADS questionnaire	308
	Appendix 4.6: Epworth questionnaire	309

Declaration

This work is the intellectual property of the author. You may copy up to 5% of this work. for private study, or personal, non-commercial research. Any re-use of the information contained within this document should be fully references, quoting the author, title, university, degree level and pagination. Queries or requests for any other use, or if a more substantial copy is required, should be directed in the owner(s) of the Intellectual Property Rights.

The work presented (including data generated and data analysis) was carried out by the author except in the cases outlined below:

List of Data Provided and/or analysis carried out by Collaborators:

- Patients with difficult to control asthma (DCA) were recruited as a part of the WATCH study by clinicians in Southampton. Participants visit, anthropometric measurement, lung function and analysis of blood cytokines were conducted by clinicians in Southampton and made available on a database which the lab group were granted access to.
- Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) analysis was conducted by Dr. Elena Hunter's team and results were shared with the research group.

Acknowledgment

I'd like to thank everyone who supported me during this PhD journey. First, I'd like to thank my Director of study, Dr Neil Williams for all his support during the past 3 years. I cannot thank you enough for your guidance, help and advice though my PhD journey.

To my extended supervisory team, Professor Philip McTernan, Dr Carl Nelson, and Dr Gram Sharpe: thank you for your support, encouragement and guidance.

Dr. Alice Murphy, thank you for always being there for me when I struggled with my lab work and writing, for all your valuable advice and for motivating me when I felt lost.

Thank you to the DTA3/COFUND MARIE SKŁODOWSKA-CURIE for funding this PhD, without whom this PhD wouldn't be possible.

Next, I'd like to thank our collaborator from Southampton University Hospital and in particular Dr. Hans Michael Haitchi, Dr Ramesh Kurukulaaratchy and Dr. Adnan Azim for obtaining patient consent, collecting, analysing and transferring clinical samples to our lab, and all the patients who took part in the study.

Thank you to Dr. Elena Hunter and Mr Oliver Megram from for their help, support and expertise with the nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) analysis.

Special thanks to all the participants that volunteered for my studies, without their commitment and dedication to the research this thesis would not have been possible.

Thank you to all the present and previous members of the ISTeC and ERD group; I feel blessed for being part of such supportive and fun work environment. In particular, I'd like to thank Nikky for her support and for teaching me everything I know about cell work. Thank you to be such a great lab colleague and most important for being such a good friend! Alice, Awais, Lydia, Jade, Jess, Dan, Arnold, Tamille, Satinder, Abha, Brad, Sam, Connor... Thank you for all the amazing memories and for making this experience more enjoyable than I though: you guys will always have a special place in my heart!

To my housemates, who welcomed me in the U.K. during the pandemic and with whom I shared most of my U.K. memories with... Thank you for being such a great housemates/ friends!

To all my friends from home who always supported me and listen to all my pep-talk and complains. Thank you Gabry for always being there for me, I know I can always count on you.

To my parents and sister, Lorenza, for always being there for me. I would never have been able to make it without your love and support. List of Abbreviations

ACQ-6	Asthma control Questionnaire
AHR	Airway hyperresponsiveness
AT	Adipose tissue
АТР	adenosine triphosphate
ВАТ	Brown adipose tissue
BMI	Body mass index
B-GOS	Bimuno-galacto-oligosaccharide
bNMR	bench top nuclear magnetic field
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
c	Control
CCL4	C-C motif chemokine ligand 4
CCL11	C-C motif chemokine ligand 11
CCL13	C-C motif chemokine ligand 13
CFU	Colony forming units
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
СРМG	Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill
CRP	C-reactive protein
DCA	Difficult to control asthma
DRP1	Dynamin-related protein 1
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
ECAR	Extracellular acidification rate
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence

ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays
ELOVL3	Elongation of very long chain fatty acids 3
FBN1	Fibrillin-1
FBS	Serum
FCCP	Carbonyl cyanide-p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone
FEF ₂₅₋₇₅	Forced expiratory flow at 25-75%
FEF ₇₅₋₈₅	Forced expiratory flow at 75-85%
FeNO	Fractional exhaled nitric oxide
FEV ₁	Forced expiratory volume in 1s
FEV6	Forced expiratory volume in 6s
FFAR	Free fatty acid receptor
FIS1	Mitochondrial fission 1
FVC	Forced vital capacity
GOS	Galacto-oligosaccharide
HADS	hospital anxiety and depression scale
HADS-A	hospital anxiety and depression scale-anxiety subscale
	hospital anxiety and depression scale-depression
	subscale
HARQ	Hull airways reflux questionnaire
¹ H-bNMR	proton benchtop nuclear magnetic resonance
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance
Hr	Hour

HRP	Horseradish Peroxidase
IL	Interleukin
LDL-C	Low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
MFN2	Mitofusin-2
mtSOD2	mitochondrial superoxide dismutase 2
ΝϜκΒ	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NGAL	Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin
NMR	Nuclear magnetic field
NRF1	Nuclear respiratory factor 1
OCR	Oxygen consumption rate
OPA1	Optic atrophy 1
OrthoPLS-DA	Orthogonal Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis
РВМС	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
РСА	Principal Component Analysis
PEF	Peak expiratory flow
Pen-strep	penicillin-streptomycin-Glutamine
PGC1a	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
ppm	Part per million
POLG	DNA polymerase subunit gamma
qRT-PCR	quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation Assay
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
Rot/AA	Rotenone and Antimycin A
SCFA	Short chain fatty acid
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SNOT-22	Sino-nasal outcome test
SOD2	Superoxidase dismutase 2
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TBS	Tris buffered saline
TFAM	Mitochondrial transcription factor A
TG	Triglycerides
TGF-β1	Transforming growth factor beta 1
Th	T helper cell
TLR-4	Toll-like receptor 4
ΤΝFα	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
Treg	T regulatory cells
ТЅР	Trimethylsilylpropanoic acid
UCP-1	Uncoupling protein 1
VAT	Visceral adipose tissue
WAT	White adipose tissue
WATCH	Wessex AsThma CoHort of difficult asthma
WBC	White blood cell

WCA	well controlled asthma
WET	Water suppression Enhancement though T1
β-ΜΕ	β-mercaptoethanol

List of figures

Fig. 2.1.1.1. The phenotypes of Asthma 12
Fig. 2.3.2.1. Schematic representation of obesity-asthma inflammatory link
Fig. 2.5.1. Schematic representation of the gut intestinal barrier
Fig. 2.5.2. Comparison between integral gut barrier a) and impaired gut barrier b)
Fig. 2.6.1. The Gut-lung axis hypothesis
Fig. 2.6.1.1. Fission/fusion processes in mitochondria
Fig. 2.7.1.1. The mechanism of action of SCFA
Fig. 3.1.3.1. Schematic representation of Western Blot reaction
Fig.3.4.1. Schematic representation of NMR spectra83
Fig. 4.3.1.1. FIS1 and OPA1 gene expression in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS \pm SCFA 101
Fig. 4.3.1.2. Ratio summary for FIS1/OPA1 gene expression in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with
LPS ± SCFA
Fig.4.3.2.1. Level of fission/fusion proteins in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS \pm SCFA at 6 hr
timepoint
Fig.4.3.2.2. Level of fission/fusion proteins in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS \pm SCFA at 12 hr
timepoint
Fig.4.3.2.3. Level of fission/fusion proteins in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS \pm SCFA at 24 hr
timepoint
Fig.4.3.2.4. Ratio between fission protein FIS1 and fusion protein OPA1 in BEAS2B-R1 cells
treated with LPS ± SCFA at 6,12 and 24 hr109

Fig. 4.3.3.2. Nanolive images and quantitative analysis of mitochondria morphology in
BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS ± SCFA at 12 hr timepoint
Fig. 4.3.3.3. Nanolive images of mitochondria morphology in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with
Fig. 4.3.3.4. Nanolive quantitative analysis of mitochondria morphology in BEAS2B-R1 cells
treated with LPS ± SCFA at 24 hr timepoint 115
Fig. 4.3.4.1. mtSOD2 expression in BEAS2BR1 cells treated with LPS ± SCFA
Fig. 4.3.5.1. Mitochondria activity in BEAS2BR1 cells at 6 hr
Fig. 4.3.5.2. Mitochondria activity in BEAS2BR1 cells at 12 hr
Fig. 4.3.5. 3. Mitochondria activity in BEAS2B-R1 cells at 24 hr
Fig. 4.3.5.4. Mitochondrial activity in BEAS2BR1 cells treated with LPS \pm SCFA at 6, 12 and 24
hr 121
Fig. 4.3.6.1.The oxygen consumption rate (OCR) of BEAS2BR1 cells treated with either LPS100
ng, SCFA or a combination of both for a) 6 hr, b) 12 hr, c) 24 hr
Fig. 4.3.6.2. The extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) of BEAS2BR1 cells treated with either
LPS100ng, SCFA or combination of both for a)6 hr, b)12 hr, c) 24 hr
Fig. 4.3.7.1. Levels of biogenesis proteins in BEAS2BR1 cells treated with LPS ± SCFA at 6, 12,
Fig. 5.3.2.1. Heatmap correlation matrix showing relationship between BMI, FM and lung
function, asthma control
Fig. 5.3.2.2. The role of BMI on lung function146
Fig. 5.3.2.3. The role of BMI and FM on asthma control147

Fig. 5.3.3.1. Heatmap correlation matrix showing relationship between BMI, FM and
inflammatory cytokines148
Fig. 5.3.3.2. The role of BMI in markers of inflammation151
Fig. 6.2.1.1. Consort chart for participants recruited at NTU
Fig. 6.3.2.1. Lung function assessment of healthy controls (C), well-controlled (WCA) and
difficult to control asthma (DCA) cohorts
Fig. 6.3.2.2. Differences in ACQ-6 asthma score between participants with well controlled
asthma (WCA) and difficult to control asthma (DCA)171
Fig. 6.3.3.1. Heatmap correlation matrix showing relationship between LBP, Calprotectin and
BMI and lung function parameters in all 3 groups considered (Difficult to control asthma, well-
controlled asthma and healthy controls)173
Fig. 6.3.4.1. Simple linear regression analysis showing correlation between a) LBP, b)
Calprotectin and ACQ-6 score in asthma groups 174
Fig. 6.3.5.1. Level of gut permeability markers, LBP and Calprotectin in healthy controls (C),
well-controlled asthma (WCA) and difficult to control asthma (DCA) cohorts
Fig. 7.3.2.1. Representative one dimensional spectra from 60MHz ¹ H bNMR of plasma from a)
control (red line); b) participant with asthma (blue line)190
Fig. 7.3.2.2. Representative one dimensional spectra from 400MHz ¹ H bNMR of plasma from
a) control (red line); b) participant with asthma (blue line)191
Fig. 7.3.3.1. Principal component analysis (PCA) score plot a) c) e) and vectors graphs b), d), f)
derived from the ¹ H bNMR spectra of plasma obtained from control subjects (green circles)
and participants with asthma (red circles)194

Fig. 7.3.3.2. Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) score plot a) and Variable Importance in Projection (VIP) plot b) derived from the ¹H bNMR spectra of plasma obtained from control subjects (green circles) and participants with asthma (red circles). 195

Fig. 7.3.4.1. Principal component analysis (PCA) score plot a), vectors graph b), Orthogonal
partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) score plot c) and Variable Importance in
Projection (VIP) plot d) derived from the ¹ H bNMR spectra of plasma obtained from control
subjects (green circles) and participants with asthma (red circles)
Fig. 7.3.4.2. Differences in metabolites levels in participants with asthma and control 198
Fig. 8.2.1.1. CONSORT flow chart for the prebiotic intervention trial
Fig. 8.3.2.1. Effect of prebiotic on gut markers in asthma
Fig. 8.3.3.1. Effect of prebiotic on health markers in asthma
Fig. 8.3.4.1. The effect of prebiotic on lung function of participants with asthma
Fig. 8.3.5.1. The effect of prebiotic on asthma symptoms

List of tables

Table 2.2.2.1. Increased health risk based on combined use of BMI and waist circumference.
Table 3.1.1.1. Treatments and concentration used. 58
Table 3.1.2.1. Protease and phosphatase inhibitors preparation
Table 3.1.3.1. Primary antibodies used and related dilution for primary and secondary
antibodies64
Table 3.1.4.1. Genes considered and catalogue number. 66
Table 3.3.4.1. Elisa assays kit, catalogue number and relative dilution used
Table 3.3.7.4.1. SNOT-22 related score and severity of disease. 79
Table 3.3.7.6.1. Epworth scale interpretation scale. 81
Table 5.2.3.1. Participant's body mass index (BMI) categories and number of participants per
group137
Table 5.3.1.1. General characteristics of participants
Table 5.3.1.2. General asthma related information of patients from WATCH cohort
Table 6.3.1.1. Participant characterization of healthy controls, well-controlled asthma and
difficult to control asthma cohorts169
Table 7.3.1.1. General characteristics of subjects considered for the bNMR pilot study 188
Table 7.3.2.1. Summary table of the identified metabolites from spectra of 60MHz ¹ H bNMR.

List of published abstracts

Parts of this thesis have been published as reviewed abstracts and presented at various conferences:

- Parenti, C., Lad, N., Williams, N. C., Sharpe, G. R., Nelson, C. P., Murphy, A. M. & McTernan, P. G. (2021). Lipocalin 2, a mediator or marker of adipocyte dysfunction? Presented at Society for Endocrinology BES 2021, Edinburgh, UK. Endocrine Abstracts 77, P50.
- Parenti, C., Murphy, A. M., Lad, N. McTernan, P. G., Nelson, C. P., Sharpe, G. R., Barber, C., Abadalkareem, R, Azim, A., Kurukulaaratchy, R.J., Haitchi, H.M. & Williams, N. C. (2022). Overweight and obese poorly controlled severe asthma patients have increased levels of gut permeability biomarkers lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP) and calprotectin. Presented at Nutrition Society Irish Section Conference, Cork, Ireland. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society,81(OCE4), E117.
- Parenti, C., Murphy, A. M., Lad, N. McTernan, P. G., Nelson, C. P., Sharpe, G. R., Barber, C., Abadalkareem, R, Azim, A., Kurukulaaratchy, R.J., Haitchi, H.M. & Williams, N.C. (2022). Investigating the effect of obesity on gut damage, systemic inflammation, enhanced asthma severity due to gut derived bacteria, endotoxin. Presented at Physical Activity and Endocrine System Conference, NTU, Nottingham, UK.

- Parenti, C., Murphy, A. M., Lad, N. McTernan, P. G., Nelson, C. P., Sharpe, G. R., Barber, C., Abadalkareem, R, Azim, A., Kurukulaaratchy, R.J., Haitchi, H.M. & Williams, N. C. (2022). Investigating levels of gut permeability markers in blood from patients with severe asthma across body mass index (BMI). Presented at Europhysiology 2022, Copenhagen, Denmark. Acta Physiologica (Vol. 236, pp. 425-428).
- Parenti, C., Murphy, A. M., Lad, N. McTernan, P. G., Nelson, C. P., Sharpe, G. R., Barber, C., Abadalkareem, R, Azim, A., Kurukulaaratchy, R.J., Haitchi, H.M. & Williams, N.C. (2022). Investigating the effect of obesity on gut damage, systemic inflammation, enhanced asthma severity due to gut derived bacteria, endotoxin. Presented at Society for Endocrinology BES 2022, Harrogate, UK. Endocrine Abstracts 86, P211.

Abstract

Asthma is an inflammatory disease of the airways affecting 5.4 million people in the UK. Furthermore, obesity increases the risk of developing asthma is associated with worse symptoms and less response to medication. Both asthma and obesity are characterised by increased systemic inflammation that may be exacerbated by poor gut barrier integrity. Increased gut permeability allows endotoxin such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) to translocate into the blood stream further increasing inflammation and indirectly exacerbating asthma symptoms. Common strategies to treat asthma are limited to targeting symptoms, rather than of the underlying inflammation. Novel strategies that may help ameliorate inflammation are short chain fatty acids (SCFA), end-products of gut bacteria fermentation of dietary substrates such as prebiotics, which appear to have anti-inflammatory properties and provide benefit at molecular and systemic level.

Therefore, a series of studies have been conducted to evaluate whether SCFA (acetate, butyrate, propionate) can mitigate LPS associated damage in organelles that leads to inflammation (mitochondria) at cellular level. Then, a human prebiotic intervention trial, which could indirectly increase circulating SCFAs level, was conducted to explore whether nutritional supplementation could be effective in reducing asthma symptoms and inflammatory, metabolic and permeability markers. Moreover, the effect of obesity and gut permeability on asthma severity was evaluated in cohorts of patients across asthma disease severity. Finally, to support future disease diagnosis a pilot study was conducted to explore difference in metabolic profiling between patients with and without asthma. The outcome of these studies demonstrates that SCFA limit LPS induced damage in airway cells. The administration of prebiotics in adults with well-controlled asthma revealed a potential improvement in markers of metabolic health and inflammation. Furthermore, patients with obesity and asthma exhibit greater gut permeability which may represent a contributing factor to disease severity. Finally, through a metabolomic pilot study this thesis has revealed a potential metabolite profile that contributes to cluster separation between asthma and healthy controls.

Taken together the data suggested that increasing circulating SCFA via administration of prebiotic may provide an adjunctive tool to reduce inflammatory and metabolic damage at cellular level and in patients with asthma. Moreover, evaluation of the impact of obesity and gut permeability in asthma suggested that a broader range of approaches are needed to better characterize the pathophysiology of disease and improve future diagnosis and treatment. Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Introduction and Rationale

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease affecting over 262 million people around the world (World Health Organization 2023). In the U.K., it affects 5.4 million people with an estimated cost for the national health service (NHS) of around 1 billion per year (NHS England 2020). It can develop at any stage during life with the majority of people developing asthma before the age of 40 (To et al. 2012). Common symptoms include airways hyperresponsiveness, wheezing and chest tightness. These symptoms can normally be controlled with the use of asthma medications such as corticosteroids and actin β -agonist. However, these treatments are limited to relieve symptoms and long-term use can lead to side effects (Cates et al. 2014; Nelson 2006).

Several triggers can provoke asthma attacks including antigens, cold air, pollen and exercise. Between others, obesity has been recognized as a risk factor for asthma (Peters, Dixon, and Forno 2018; Wong, Forno, and Celedón 2022). Evidence highlight the presence of an alternative phenotype of asthma driven by obesity and characterized by more severe symptoms and low-grade inflammation (Lugogo, Kraft, and Dixon 2010). Moreover, these patients are less responsive to traditional asthma medications, which may further aggravate asthma condition. Therefore, there is a necessity to develop novel therapeutic strategies to prevent symptoms by reducing inflammation at the source rather than just ease symptoms.

The gut microbiota has been recognized as a potential link between obesity and asthma diseases (Gomez-Llorente et al. 2017). Gut bacteria play an essential part in developing immunity and digesting non-digestible dietary substrates (Maslowski et al. 2013).

2

Dysregulation in gut microbiota, noted in obesity, can lead to reduction of microbial diversity and an increase of proinflammatory bacterial species. This altered microbiota composition leads to lack of protection from pathogenic species which can directly contribute to the disruption the gut barrier, a semi-permeable structure that allow uptake of nutrient and limit access to pathogenic bacteria and molecules (Shu et al. 2023). Alteration of gut barrier, noted as gut permeability, can lead to a translocation of gut derived endotoxin such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS) in the gut mucosa. This can activate the immune cells leading to a proinflammatory cascade that can increase inflammation and as a consequence exacerbate the disease. Several evidence reported an association between obesity and gut permeability (Genser et al. 2018; Patterson et al. 2016; Portincasa et al. 2022). However, limited studies explored the effect of gut permeability in asthma (Benard et al. 1996; Walker et al. 2014) and its not clear whether it plays a role in the severity of the disease. This highlights the need for further studies exploring the effect of the gut barrier impairment on the severity of asthma in order to gain a better understanding of the disease pathophysiology.

At molecular level, mitochondria, a key organelle for cell health, have recently been associated with both asthma and obesity (Bhatraju and Agrawal 2017a). Mitochondria play an important role in the cell acting as a main producer of energy, sensor of threats and stress modulators. Evidence suggest a role of gut microbiota in mitochondria function. The endotoxin LPS appear to negatively affect mitochondria function leading to excessive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and down-stream inflammation. On the contrary, the short chain fatty acids (SCFA), end-product of

3

bacteria fermentation from dietary substrates such as prebiotics, have been shown to beneficially affect mitochondria function by preventing its structural damage and regulating energy homeostasis (Donohoe et al. 2011b; Hu et al. 2020). Dysregulation of mitochondria have been associated with altered metabolic activity, such as insulin resistance and dyslipidaemia which is characteristic of obesity (Ahmed, Sultana, and Greene 2021; Gérard 2016) and recently found associated in patients with asthma (Cottrell et al. 2011a; Gulcan et al. 2009), which may further exacerbate disease. Thus, strategies that increase circulating level of SCFA such as the use of dietary supplementation (e.g. prebiotic), may help to reduce inflammation and ameliorate metabolic health.

Together with altered gut permeability, airway inflammation and mitochondria dysfunction, asthma disease has been correlated with a distinct metabolomic profile compared to healthy controls (Jung et al. 2013; Kelly et al. 2017; Motta et al. 2014), which highlight the complexity of the disease. Metabolomics is the systematic analysis of small molecules including amino acids, carbohydrates and lipids. It represents a powerful tool to increase knowledge of pathological mechanism of disease and improve diagnosis. Current common techniques use high field nuclear magnetic field (NMR) or mass spectroscopy, however the complexity of the equipment's and the high maintenance cost make their use in clinical setting difficult. Therefore, alternative userfriendly techniques and reduced cost (e.g. bench top NMR) require more studies to expand their use in clinical setting and improve future diagnosis. Considering the essential role of gut microbiota in immune system, it is plausible to assume that favourable manipulation of gut bacteria may have a beneficial effect on disease pathogenesis. Previous evidence in murine and human studies found altered gut and airway microbiota associate with airway diseases including asthma (Hilty et al. 2010; Pragman et al. 2012) as well as altered gut permeability (Benard et al. 1996; Walker et al. 2014). Dietary manipulation of gut microbiota with the use of prebiotics have been demonstrated to be beneficial in ameliorating asthma symptoms and reducing inflammation (McLoughlin et al. 2019a; Williams et al. 2016a). Moreover, recent studies highlight a favourable effect of prebiotics in reducing gut permeability (Krumbeck et al. 2018; Parnell, Klancic, and Reimer 2017a).

Considering the promising initial results shown by previous researches, it would be beneficial to conduct further studies to better understand the effectiveness of manipulating the gut microbiota in improving asthma symptoms, as well as their impact on inflammation, metabolic health and gut permeability.

1.2 Research aims

The purpose of these studies was to:

a) To assess the efficacy of SCFA in limiting LPS derived damage in airway epithelial cell line.

The research aim was:

 Evaluate the role of SCFA in preventing mitochondria dysfunction following LPS treatment. b) Explore the effect of obesity in asthma severity and evaluate whether circulating levels of gut permeability markers differ between the different asthma cohort considered.

Research aims were to:

- Characterize a cohort of patients with difficult to control asthma across a range of BMI, focusing on the impact of obesity on asthma;
- Evaluate differences in concentrations of gut permeability markers in the severity of asthma by investigating cohorts of patients with varying severity of asthma.
- c) A pilot study investigating potential metabolic differences between asthma and healthy controls using low-field bench top NMR (bNMR) technique and high field NMR.

Research aim was to:

- Establish if bNMR can discriminate differences in metabolomic profiles between adults with well-controlled asthma and healthy controls compared to high field NMR.
- d) Previous research has demonstrated the efficacy of prebiotic administration to ameliorate asthma symptoms and reduce inflammation in EIB participants who undergo physical challenge (Williams et al. 2016). Therefore, a double blinded

placebo controlled randomized study was conducted to evaluate the efficacy of prebiotic administration on asthma, inflammation, and gut permeability in a cohort of adults with well-controlled asthma at resting condition.

Research aims were to evaluate:

- The efficacy of prebiotic supplementation in ameliorating lung function and asthma control;
- If prebiotic B-GOS can favourably affect markers of metabolic health and inflammations;
- The use of B-GOS in strengthening gut barrier through evaluation of markers of gut permeability.

Chapter 2: Review of the Literature

2.1 Asthma pathophysiology

A key feature of asthma is airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), an over-reaction from the airways to narrow in response to stimuli that would not cause a response in healthy adults. Common triggers for AHR are environmental irritants, cold air, dust, exercise, or allergens. As a result of AHR, bronchoconstriction of the airways occurs as well as an increased production of mucus, airway inflammation and a number of symptoms characteristic of asthma disease including wheezing, chest tightness, breathlessness, and intermittent coughing. Controlling the symptoms with appropriate asthma medication is essential to avoid severe symptoms. If left uncontrolled, a process noted as airway remodelling can occur, which cause structural changes of the airways. Common features of airway remodelling are changes in thickness, mass and volume of cells that compose the airway wall (Saglani and Lloyd 2015). These changes make the airways less flexible, increasing the severity of airway obstruction and AHR. If not treated in time this can progress, leading to permanent airway narrowing, and patients can become less responsive to medication (Postma and Rabe 2015). Patients with severe symptoms are often referred to as having difficult to control asthma, defined as a condition that remain problematic even if treated with high dose inhaled corticosteroids therapies and/or use of frequent oral corticosteroids (British Thoracic Society (BTS) 2019). Characteristics of patients with difficult to control asthma are frequent exacerbations, poor quality of life and elevated morbidities (Sastre et al. 2016a). Therefore, it is essential to control the pathophysiology of asthma to prevent AHR and airway remodelling, and to ameliorate symptoms.

9

2.1.1 Phenotypes of Asthma

Asthma diagnosis can be classified as one of two different phenotypes: 'T helper-2 (Th-2)-high' or 'Th-2 low', based on the inflammatory response present in the patient (Fig. 2.1.1.1).

The conventional form of asthma is noted as 'Th-2 high' phenotype, or eosinophilic asthma, due to the elevated level of circulating eosinophils in the blood stream. The Th-2 high asthma is associated with high level of Th-2 cytokines (e.g. Interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, IL-13), elevated sputum eosinophil count, high synthesis of immunoglobulin E (IgE), mucus overproduction and high level of fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FeNO) (Hinks, Levine, and Brusselle 2020; Lambrecht, Hammad, and Fahy 2019). It generally develops during childhood, has a strong genetic influence and patients respond well to medications.

The 'Th-2 low' asthma phenotype is characterized by normal levels of eosinophil blood counts (<2%) and can be further divided into neutrophilic and paucigranulocytic subtypes. Neutrophilic asthma is characterized by high circulating levels of neutrophils and low FeNO while paucigranulocytic asthma exhibits normal levels of eosinophils and neutrophils (Lad et al. 2021).

The most prevalent phenotypes of asthma are eosinophilic and paucigranulocytic. A previous study conducted in a large cohort of 508 patients with asthma found that 42% had eosinophilic asthma, 40% paucigranulocytic and 16% neutrophilic (Schleich et al. 2013). Although neutrophilic asthma is less common, it is often characterized by more severe symptoms and a poor response to traditional asthma medication (Wadhwa et al. 2019). Neutrophilic asthma often develops during adulthood, also noted as late-onset

asthma, and lifestyle factors such as exercise, weight gain and environment are being recognized as potential triggers (Bantulà et al. 2021a; Peters et al. 2018). There is no cure for asthma, but patients with 'Th-2 high' phenotype are generally well responsive to asthma medications such as corticosteroids that keep the diseases under control by reversing airway narrowing and reducing inflammation.

Common asthma medications include inhaled corticosteroids, leukotriene modifiers and short and long-actin β_2 agonists. Corticosteroids and leukotriene modifiers work by reducing the airway inflammatory response induced by leukocytes, such as eosinophils. (Chauhan and Ducharme 2012). The short and long acting β_2 -agonists are bronchodilators and work by relaxing the smooth airway cells and widening the airways providing immediate relief (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 2023). However, persistent use of asthma medication can lead to side effect such as headache, tachycardia and muscle cramps, and increased reliance (Cates et al. 2014; Nelson 2006). Current medications focus on reducing, rather than preventing, symptoms. Therefore, there is need for alternative therapies that focus on the prevention both the flaring up of symptoms and the development to a severe form of asthma.



Fig. 2.1.1.1. The phenotypes of Asthma.

The asthma phenotypes classification can be divided based on inflammatory response into T helper cell 2 (Th-2) or non-Th2. The Th-2 inflammatory response or 'Th-2 high' can be eosinophilic (41%) or mixed granulocytic (3%). It is mainly associated with allergic asthma and early onset. The non th-2 inflammation or 'Th-2 low' can be neutrophilic (16%) or paucigranulocytic (40%) and it is associated with late onset. Neutrophilic asthma is associated with lifestyle factors such as obesity and smoking and less response to traditional asthma medication. (Figure from (Lad et al. 2021)).
2.2 Asthma comorbidities: Obesity

Asthma is often associated with other comorbidities that can worsen the condition, including other respiratory diseases (e.g. rhinitis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)), cardiovascular disease, anxiety, and metabolic conditions such as obesity. Patients with obesity appear to develop Th-2 low asthma, mediated by neutrophilic inflammation, and characterized by more severe symptoms, enhanced hospitalization, and poor response to asthma medication (Lugogo et al. 2010).

2.2.1 Obesity

Obesity is a global epidemic affecting over 650 million people worldwide, almost 13% of the global population (World Health Organization, 2020). Since 1975, the obesity prevalence almost tripled worldwide (OECD 2014) and according to recent projections from the World Obesity Atlas, almost 2 billion people will live with obesity by 2035 (World Obesity Atlas 2023). According to these projections, particular concern is observed for United states, Mexico, and U.K. where 58%, 47% and 46% of the population are expected to be obese by 2035, respectively. Moreover, a major study published by the Lancet reported that obesity is responsible for 4.77 million premature deaths worldwide every year, accounting for 8% of global deaths (Stanaway et al. 2018). Of these, about 56,000 deaths are in the U.K. where obesity represents the 4th cause of premature death after smoking, high blood pressure and high sugar intake (Stanaway et al. 2018). The NHS estimated a total annual cost of about £6 billion to treat overweightobese associated illness and this cost is projected to rise to £9.7 billion by 2050 ("Health Matters: Obesity and the Food Environment - GOV.UK" 2021). The U.K. hospitalization rate directly associated to obesity was over 11,000 in 2019, with an increase of 19%

compared to 2013 (NHS Digital 2020). In the same year, the number of hospitalizations with obesity as a cofactor rose to above 800,000, an increase of +140% compared to the hospitalization rate in 2013 (NHS Digital 2020). This increasing prevalence results in a large economic burden for the healthcare system.

2.2.2 Pathophysiology of obesity

Obesity is defined as an excessive fat accumulation that present risk to health (World Health Organisation (WHO), 2024). It is characterized by low-grade inflammation and as a risk factor of many diseases including diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and metabolic syndrome (Bastien et al. 2014; Frydrych et al. 2018; Ng et al. 2021). Body Mass Index (BMI), calculated by dividing a person's weight by their squared height (expressed in units of kg/m²), is used to diagnose obesity, with a BMI of more than 30 kg/m² considered obese. However, there are several limitations to using only BMI to diagnose obesity, since it does not distinguish between lean and fat mass and does not correlate with visceral fat accumulation. In addition to BMI, the national institute for health and clinical excellence (NICE) recommends the use of waist circumference measurement, indicator of abdominal visceral fat and assessed by placing a tape halfway between the lower rib and the iliac crest of the abdomen, to improve evaluation and diagnosis of obesity. According to the world health organization (WHO) and NICE, the combined use of BMI and waist measurement, helps to estimate the increased health risk of developing diseases including type 2 diabetes, hypertension or heart disease Table 2.2.2.1 (NICE 2022; World Health Organisation (WHO) 2008).

In most cases, the cause of obesity relies on prolonged excessive calorie intake and low physical activity. Regarding the nutritional aspect, Western diets, noted obesogenic, are

characterized by the consumption of high sugar and fat meals, ultra-processed food, and low consumption of fruit and vegetables and strongly associated with obesity and relative metabolic disorders (Ludwig, Peterson, and Gortmaker 2001; Rouhani et al. 2014). Whilst, sedentary lifestyle contributes to increased weight gain, several studies indicate that physical activity alone is not enough to prevent weight gain (Lee et al. 2010; Moholdt et al. 2014). For examples, a 13-year long study reported that women with a high BMI who had regular physical exercise but no calories restriction in their diet, did not experience weight loss (Lee et al. 2010).

A combined action of healthy balanced diet and physical activity is the most effective

way to prevent weight gain and developing obesity and associated metabolic disease.

Table 2.2.2.1. Increased health risk based on combined use of BMI and waist circumference.

Adults with lean BMI (<24.9 kg/m²) showed no increased risk of developing obesity associated disease, independently of waist circumference. Adults with overweight BMI (25-29.9 kg/m²), but waist circumference \leq 94 cm for man (M) and \leq 80 cm for women (W) have no increased risk of developing obesity associated disease. Adults with overweight BMI and waist circumference of 94-102 cm or \geq 102 cm for M, and 80-88 cm or \geq 88 cm for W, have an increased or high risk of developing obesity associated diseases, respectively. Adults with obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) but waist circumference \leq 94 cm for M, and \leq 80 cm for W, do not have increased risk of developing obesity associated diseases. Adults with BMI<30 and high (94-102 cm-M; 80-88 cm-F)- or very high (\geq 102 cm-M; \geq 88 cm-W) waist circumference have a high risk and very high risk to develop obesity associated diseases, respectively (World Health Organisation (WHO) 2008).

BMI (kg/m²)	BMI classification	Desirable waist circumference (cm)		High waist circumference (cm)		Very High waist circumference (cm)	
		Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women
				94-			
		≤94	≤80	102	80-88	≥102	≥88
BMI 18.5-				No increased			
24.9	Lean	No increased risk		risk		No increased risk	
BMI 25-29.9	Overweight	No increased risk		Increased risk		High risk	
BMI ≥30	Obese	No increased risk		high risk		Very high risk	

2.3 The obesity-asthma link

Obesity increases the risk of developing asthma in both adults and children (Peters et al. 2018; Reyes-Angel et al. 2022; Wong et al. 2022). In the USA, 11% of adults with obesity have asthma compared to 7% asthma prevalence in adult with lean BMI (National Centre for Health Statistics 2016). This association is even higher for women with obesity, with 15% suffering with asthma compared to 7% of women with lean BMI (National Centre for Health Statistics 2016). In addition, symptoms in females are more severe than in males resulting in a poorer quality of life, with females three times more likely to be hospitalized for asthma than males (Schatz, Clark, and Camargo 2006). Although numerous studies have been conducted to explain this phenomenon, the underlying mechanism has not yet been clarified. Both genetic and hormonal differences between the sexes have been proposed as possible reasons for this difference (Pignataro et al. 2017).

The association between obesity and asthma appears to be related to systemic chronic inflammation from increased adiposity. The adipose tissue is recognised as an organ that directly contributes to systemic inflammation by secreting inflammatory cytokines such as Interleukin (IL)-6 and Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α). This is exacerbated further through the secretion of adipokines leptin and adiponectin, which are noted markers of systemic inflammation in addition to their role as hormones. For instance, as a hormone, leptin regulates food intake and energy expenditure by acting on the central nervous system (Stofkova 2009), whilst as an adipokine it induces adipocytes to release proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-6, IL-12 and stimulates the activity of th-1 and th-17 cell (Cava & Matarese, 2004; Lord et al. 1998; Martín-Romero et al., 2000; Yu et al., 2013). On the contrary, adiponectin has anti-inflammatory properties by inhibiting the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , interferon-gamma (INF- γ) and IL-6 (Masaki et al. 2004; Wolf et al. 2004), yet also has a hormonal role in the regulation of glucose level and lipid metabolism (Wada et al. 2022).

Leptin and adiponectin have both been shown to have a relationship with asthma. Increased leptin concentrations were found in a cohort of adolescents with asthma and associated with poor lung function, in particular reduced levels of forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁), forced vital capacity (FVC) and FEV₁/FVC Ratio (Huang et al. 2017). In adults, analysis of visceral fat from patients with asthma revealed elevated levels of leptin associated with AHR (Sideleva et al. 2012). This suggests a major role of leptin in the obese-asthma phenotype.

Patients with obesity showed reduced levels of circulating adiponectin, which was associated with increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TNF- α (Achari & Jain, 2017; Esser et al., 2014). In addition, weight loss is associated with increased levels of adiponectin and higher concentrations of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Porter Starr et al. 2019; Takao et al. 2021). Although there is limited data on adiponectin levels in asthma patients, children with severe asthma have low levels independent of BMI (Dogru et al. 2015). However, in contrast a recent meta-analysis of 13 studies revealed that lower adiponectin was associated with asthma in adults but not children (Zhang et al. 2017). Further research and understanding of the role of adiponectin in asthma therefore is needed.

2.3.1 Lung mechanics change in obesity

Obesity induces changes in lung mechanics due to the expansion of the adipose tissue that accumulates around the thoracic and abdominal cavities, increasing pressure on the diaphragm and limiting movement of the chest wall, resulting in compression of the lungs (Dixon and Peters 2018). Theses changes can affect lung function, although findings differ as to whether this is associated with BMI or adipose tissue distribution. Previous studies have highlighted a reduced lung function in patients with obesity (Ciprandi et al. 2014; Schachter et al. 2001), while others did not find any association with high BMI (Bildstrup, Backer, and Thomsen 2015; Tang et al. 2022). Other evidence indicated that abdominal fat distribution is more strongly associated to lung function decline than BMI (Leone et al., 2009; Ochs-Balcom et al., 2006). In fact, a large French population-based cohort study of 121,965 participants found that abdominal obesity was a risk factor for lung function decline, independently of BMI (Leone et al. 2009).

Consequently, weight loss has been associated with improvements in asthma symptomatology (Dandona et al. 2014; Dias-Júnior et al. 2014; Nyenhuis, Dixon, and Ma 2018). Therefore strategies that focus on weight reduction including dietary intervention and physical activity should be included in the therapy used for asthma management in patients with obesity.

2.3.2 Systemic inflammation in obesity and asthma

Obesity is associated with low grade inflammation that can in turn affect the severity of asthma. This can be explained in part by pro-inflammatory adipokines, such as leptin, which are released by adipose tissue and are increased during obesity as discussed in

more detail in section 2.3. In addition, in the obese state, the adipose tissue hypertrophies and becomes infiltrated with proinflammatory macrophages, a type of white blood cell involved in the immune response, which in turn release further proinflammatory cytokines. In healthy conditions the number of macrophages are generally below 4%, however in the case of excess adiposity this percentage increases to 12% (Harman-Boehm et al. 2007). Raised macrophage infiltration has been reported before in patients with obesity and asthma and was associated with systemic inflammation (Sideleva et al. 2012). Macrophages drive inflammation via the activation of the nucleotide-binding domain, leucine-rich-containing family, pyrin domain-containing-3 (NLRP3) pathway by fatty acids, cholesterol, or oxidative stress. This induces the activation of caspase 1 which leads to the type 1 macrophage (M1) maturation. This in turn promotes the secretion of a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6, TNF- α and cytokines of Th-17 cells response (Fig. 2.3.2.1). The combination of adipokines and macrophages within adipose tissue have an active role in driving systemic inflammation which contribute to many diseases including asthma (Bantulà et al. 2021a; Bastien et al. 2014; Frydrych et al. 2018; Ng et al. 2021; Peters et al. 2018). In fact, analysis of visceral adipose tissue from 12 patients with obesity and asthma revealed an increased expression of leptin and macrophages infiltration, as well as a reduction in adiponectin compared to the control group (Sideleva et al. 2012). Moreover, a murine study revealed that a 12-week high fat diet led to a natural development of the AHR response, a key feature of asthma, without previous exposure to any allergen (Hye Young et al. 2014). AHR did not develop in knock out mice who were NLRP3 deficient (*Nlrp3^{-/-}*), suggesting a key role of NLRP3 in the development of AHR in obesity and asthma.

In summary, the evidence suggests that both asthma and obesity are associated with greater levels of systemic inflammation, which is likely to exacerbates symptoms and make disease difficult to control.



Fig. 2.3.2.1. Schematic representation of obesity-asthma inflammatory link.

Excess of adipose tissue leads to overproduction of the pro-inflammatory adipokine leptin. Additionally, adipocytes become infiltrated with macrophages which promote inflammation via activation of nucleotide-binding domain, leucine-rich-containing family, pyrin domain-containing-3 (NLRP3) pathway. This in turn leads to the activation of caspase 1 which promotes the maturation of macrophage (M1). This results in the production of proinflammatory cytokines that can translocate in the blood stream and increase inflammation in all organs including lungs. The combination of inflammatory cytokines and adipokines contribute to the exacerbation of disease.

2.4 The gut-microbiota and link with asthma and obesity

The human body is home to approximately 100 trillion microbes (the human microbiota)

which begin colonization of the body from the first breath at birth (Sender, Fuchs, and

Milo 2016; Turnbaugh and Gordon 2009). The microbiota represent all the living

microorganisms found in a defined environment such as the gut (Hou et al. 2022). Microorganisms include bacteria, the largest population in our body, yeast, parasites, and viruses. The microbiota is part of the human microbiome. This includes the microbiota, the anatomical sites where they reside, their genome, their microbial metabolites and their surrounding environmental conditions (Berg et al. 2020). The distribution and type of microbes vary greatly between body sites, with the highest concentration of microbes present in our gastrointestinal tract (GI) (Sartor 2008). The colon hosts ~10¹² microbes, predominantly composed by Bacteroides, *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Bifidobacterium*, while the stomach hosts only $\sim 10^2$ microbes divided between Lactobacillus, Candida, Streptococcus and Helicobacter Pylori (Sartor 2008).

The gut microbiota has an active role in host health contributing to the formation and education of our immune system, maintaining host energy balance, and digesting nondigestible carbohydrates (Maslowski et al. 2013). Previous studies in germ free (GF) mice, animals with no microorganisms living on or in them, raised in a sterile environment revealed that they had underdeveloped immune system, defects in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), a reduced response to pathogens and a consequent susceptibility to infections (Kamada and Núñez 2014; Khosravi et al. 2014; Mazmanian et al. 2005; Round and Mazmanian 2009). GF mice infected with the pathogen *Listeria monocytogenes* failed to develop an immune response to the pathogen. However, following inoculation of complex microbiota, mice were able to restore defect in immune response and were able to develop resistance to the pathogen within 72 hr (Khosravi et al. 2014). This highlights the essential contribution of microbiota in the correct development and function of the immune system.

Alterations in the composition of the gut microbiota community may lead to a loss of protection from the beneficial bacteria, increasing circulating levels of proinflammatory species in the blood stream, which can initiate inflammation (described in further detail in **6.2.5**) (Quigley 2017). Therefore, an ability to alter the gut microbiome to a healthier state and/or reduce the type of bacterial factors entering the circulation may have a positive impact, reducing symptoms and improving the quality of life of patients with obesity and asthma.

2.4.1 Asthma related changes in gut microbiome

Recent evidence highlights that changes in the gut microbiota can influence the immune system and consequently increase susceptibility to allergic disease (Herbst et al. 2011; Hill et al. 2012; Noverr et al. 2005; Russell et al. 2012). A previous murine model demonstrated how manipulation of the commensal bacterial community with 4-weeks antibiotic treatments led to an increase of immunoglobulin E (IgE), and overproduction of Th-2 related cytokines, commonly associated with asthma (Hill et al. 2012). Limited human studies have investigated the gut bacterial alterations in asthma. A recent metaanalysis reported an increased level of Acinetobacter baumannii and Pseudomonas aeruginosa strains in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma compared to healthy controls (Chai et al. 2022), suggesting a potential use of microbiota as a marker for diagnosis and treatment of respiratory diseases. Another study found raised level of histamine-secreting bacteria, commonly associated with allergic reaction, in adult with asthma indicating a role of microbiota in the burden of disease (Barcik et al. 2016). Altered microbiota composition was also associated with worse lung function; in fact, researchers observed a lower abundance of *Bacteroides/Firmicutes* in adults with asthma and this was strongly associated with reduced lung function, independently of BMI (Begley et al. 2018).

Diet can effectively modify the gut microbiota and affect asthma symptomatology. In an animal study, mice fed with low-fibre diet showed lower levels of circulating SCFA (acetate, 0.2-fold decrease; propionate, 0.8-fold decrease; butyrate, 0.3-fold decrease) greater concentrations of inflammatory cytokines including interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, 1L-13 and experienced an increase in airway hyper-reactivity (Trompette et al. 2014). In contrast, mice fed with high-fibre diet reported an increase level of SCFAs (acetate, 8.35fold increase; propionate, 1.45-fold increase; butyrate, 0.64-fold decrease) and an amelioration of asthma symptoms. The beneficial effect of three main SCFAs found in circulation (acetate, propionate, butyrate) was also demonstrated by another murine study where diet enriched with SCFAs (cocktails of 40 mM butyrate, 67.5 mM acetate plus 25.9 mM propionate) led to less severe symptoms of asthma compared to the control group (Cait et al. 2018). The low fibre diet was also associated with reduced richness of gut microbiota and an increase of Firmicutes strains, commonly raised in western obesogenic diet (Trompette et al. 2014). This was also found in a different study where mice were exposed to a western high-fat diet (Turnbaugh et al. 2008). In contrast, mice fed with high fibre diet showed a more diverse gut microbiota community with an increase of Bacteroidaceae and Bifidobacteriaceae strains, which have noted host health benefits (Trompette et al. 2014).

Overall, evidence indicates that gut microbiota composition is associated with respiratory disease. Although limited studies have been conducted in humans, these have shown a potential link between altered gut bacteria composition and asthma

disease. Further studies are needed to confirm these findings. Dietary manipulation of gut composition seems to have beneficial effects on asthma symptoms and therefore warrants further attention.

2.4.2 Obesity related changes in gut microbiome

Several factors can affect the gut microbiota composition such as antibiotic therapy, stress, environmental factors, weight gain and diet. Links between obesity and gut microbiota have been observed by experiments in germ free (GF) mice, where evidence revealed that GF mice were resistant to developing obesity following a western-style high-fat, high-sugar diet (Bäckhed et al. 2007; Rabot et al. 2010). Moreover, the transfer of an obesity-associated pathogen (*Enterobacter cloacae*) extracted from the gut of a volunteer and injected into a GF mouse, induced obesity, and altered glucose tolerance (Fei and Zhao 2013). Similarly, inoculation of microbiota from obese mice donors to GF mice induced an 20% increase in body fat compared to GF mice that received microbiota from lean donors (Turnbaugh et al. 2006), demonstrating the close relationship between microbiota, body fat and obesity. Finally, the microbiota of patients with obesity appear to extract more energy from food compared to the microbiota of patients who are lean, suggesting a role of microbiota in modulating fat storage (Bäckhed et al. 2007; Ridaura et al. 2014; Turnbaugh et al. 2008).

2.5 The gut epithelial barrier in health and disease

The gut epithelial barrier is an essential component of the gastrointestinal tract. It is a physical and immune barrier that allow the uptake of nutrients and immune cells while preventing the passage of pathogens. It is composed of several components: a mucus layer, a single layer of epithelial cells and the lamina propria (a thin layer of connective tissue). The mucus layer contains gut microbiota, secretory immunoglobulin A (IgA) and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). The single layer of epithelial cells is bound together by a specific group of proteins which form tight junctions, such as claudin and occludin and desmosomes that form stronger bonds, contributing to the integrity of the gut barrier and transporting small molecules. The lamina propria contains immune cells which are involved in the immunological defence of the intestinal barrier. The structure of the gut barrier is represented in **Fig. 2.5.1**.



Fig. 2.5.1. Schematic representation of the gut intestinal barrier.

The gut barrier is an essential component of the gastrointestinal tract. It is a semipermeable structure and plays a key role in the uptake of nutrients and immune sensing, while being restrictive against pathogens. It is formed by a mucus layer, a single continuous layer of epithelial cells and a lamina propria underneath. The mucus layer forms a structure overlying the epithelial cells and is composed of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), secretory IgA molecules (IgA) and gut microbiota. Underneath the mucus layer, there is a continuous monolayer of epithelial cells that is bound together by tight junction (TJ) and desmosomes. The lamina propria contains immune cells (e.g. T cells, B cells, macrophages and dendritic cells) from the adaptive and innate immune system which are essential mechanism of defence in the gut barrier.

The gut microbiota plays an essential role in maintaining the correct function of the gut barrier. In fact, commensal bacteria digest and ferment food that is not being digested by human enzymes, such as dietary fibre, and in turn release anti-inflammatory compounds noted as short chain fatty acids (SCFA). In addition, commensal bacteria play a role of defence against proinflammatory species by competing for nutrients and adhesion sites. Moreover, they can actively eliminate pathogens by releasing antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), small molecular peptides that contribute to host immune defence, or by releasing a particular virulent factor noted as fucose that limit pathogen reproduction and help to keep the gut barrier intact (Kamada et al. 2013). Finally, some bacteria species such as *Escherichia coli* contribute to strengthening the epithelial barrier by releasing specific signals called indoles which enhance the production of tight junctions (Bansal et al. 2010). In this condition, there is very little bacteria translocation, and that which does occur is rapidly contained by immune cells.

Factors such as diet, antibiotic use and stress can contribute to shift the gut microbiota towards a pathogenic predominance (Bokulich et al. 2016; Doré and Blottière 2015; Karl et al. 2018). Alteration in the gut microbiota towards pathogenic species can lead to prolonged inflammation around the gut barrier. This leads to a disruption in the tight junctions, creating holes around the barrier and compromising its integrity, in a condition noted as 'leaky gut' syndrome (Quigley 2017). Consequently, molecules such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS), an endotoxin located on the surface of gram-negative bacteria, translocate underneath in the submucosal compartment. Here, LPS can activate immune cells such as immune cells which in turn release inflammatory cytokines. Initially, the inflammation is contained in the submucosa, but over time LPS can enter the circulation, turning the inflammation from local to systemic (Fig. 2.5.2) (Quigley 2017). In particular, LPS has been recognized to have a key role in systemic inflammation and indirectly in disease decline. LPS is a glycolipid composed of Lipid A, a core oligosaccharide and a distal O-antigen. Lipid A represents the hydrophobic portion of the molecule, it is located in the outer part of gram-negative bacteria, and is responsible for its toxic activity. It contributes to inflammation via interaction with toll like receptor (TLR) 4 that lead to a cascade signalling pathway increasing production of

pro-inflammatory cytokines. Furthermore, binding of LPS to TLR4 can produce a cascade of signalling that reduce tight junction proteins such as zonulin and in consequence increasing gut permeability, promoting the translocation of more endotoxin into the gut mucosa (Tulkens et al. 2020).



Fig. 2.5.2. Comparison between integral gut barrier a) and impaired gut barrier b).

a) In normal condition the gut barrier is intact, meaning that the monolayer of epithelial cells are tightly attached one to another by tight junction. This prevents translocation of bacteria and/or bacterial components such as LPS into the lamina propria compartment where immune cells are. In this condition there is a balance between commensal and pathogenic species. Commensal bacteria digest non-digestible food such as dietary fibre and produce anti inflammatory compounds noted as short chain fatty acids (SCFA). This in turn provide a range of functions such as strengthening the gut barrier, regulation of immune response and production of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). Contributing to the correct function of gut barrier.

b) Impairment of gut barrier is characterized by disruption of tight junction integrity which allow bacterial component from altered gut microbiota such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS) to translocate in the lamina propria where activate an immune response, leading to the inflammatory response. If this condition is prolonged over time, LPS can translocate in the systemic circulation and turn inflammation from local to systemic. (Figure adapted from adapted from (Quigley, 2017).

2.5.1 Asthma and gut permeability

To date, there is some limited evidence of impaired gut barrier integrity in patients with asthma. Histological analysis of duodenum intestinal mucosa from patients with bronchial asthma showed a partial atrophy of intestinal villi, small projections that extent on the inner lining of the small intestine and play an essential role in the absorption of nutrient, and an increased infiltration of lymphocytes and eosinophils in the lamina propria compared to the control group (Wallaert et al. 1995). Limited human studies confirmed this view *in vivo*. Altered gut permeability in adults with asthma was reported in a group of 37 patients with moderate asthma which showed elevated level of gut permeability assessed with the use of ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (CrEDTA) urinary recovery technique, which should reflect the damage of gut mucosa (Benard and Desreumeaux 1996). Similar studies in children and adults with asthma reached the same conclusions (Hijazi et al. 2004; Walker et al. 2014).

Researchers suggested that there may be a defect of the gut mucosa in these patients, but it is not clear if this is a cause of consequence of asthma. Therefore, longer and larger studies are needed to confirm these findings. Whilst studies have suggested increased gut permeability in patients with asthma, there have been limited to no association made to asthma severity assessed measuring lung function, or disease control (Hijazi et al. 2004; Walker et al. 2014).

2.5.2 Markers of gut permeability and asthma

Limited studies have measured biomarkers of gut permeability in asthma. Between others, the biomarkers LPS, LBP, zonulin and the gut inflammatory marker calprotectin have been associated with asthma. Raised level of endotoxin LPS associated with enhanced airway inflammation, AHR and asthma severity (Berger et al. 2015; Curths et al. 2014; Michel et al. 1996; Ren et al. 2019). Furthermore, a murine model of LPS induced exacerbation revealed that these mice had reduced response to corticosteroids, a traditional asthma medication, and an abnormal production of airways inflammatory cytokines including TNF- α , IL-13 (Hadjigol et al. 2020). It has been suggested that LPS is able to cause a shift of inflammatory response from eosinophilic to neutrophilic, associated with more severe asthma (Zhao et al. 2017). Beside in vitro and animal studies, little is known about the role of LPS in human asthma cohorts. One of the main difficulties in detecting LPS in blood is due to the low reproducibility and sensitivity of enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits and high risk of contamination by endogenous endotoxins present in glassware or plastic which can lead to misleading results (Aisha Farhana; Yusuf S. Khan 2023; Stromberg, Mendez, and Mukundan 2017). However, Lipopolysaccharides binding protein (LBP) which play an important role in binding LPS to pattern recognition receptors such as tool like receptor (TLR) or cluster of differentiation 14 (CD14) and activating immune cells, (Schumann 1992; Tsukamoto et al. 2018) has been proved to be al alternative and reliable marker to identify LPS which showed high reliability re-test (Citronberg et al. 2017). Raised concentration of LBP was found in bronchoalveolar cleavage of patients with asthma (Dubin et al. 1996). Another murine study found that LBP-deficient mice did not develop airway bronchoconstriction

following allergen sensitization challenge compared to the control mice which showed a strong airway reactivity (Strohmeier et al. 2001). This suggests an involvement of LBP in asthma pathogenesis. However, studies are limited and there is currently no evidence of the role of LBP in asthma function and control. On the contrary, another marker of intestinal permeability, zonulin, was found upregulated in patients with asthma and associated with disease severity (Baioumy et al. 2021; Kim et al. 2023). However, similarly to LPS, the use of zonulin as a marker of gut permeability has been criticized before due to the non reliability of the commercially available ELISA kits. Several studies criticize the use of zonulin ELISA kits due to failing in detecting the concentration of zonulin and instead detect unknown protein levels that are structurally similar to it but currently not yet identified (Ajamian et al. 2019; Massier et al. 2021; Scheffler et al. 2018; Tatucu-Babet et al. 2020). Therefore, until new methodologies will be developed to correctly identify circulating level of zonulin, it necessary to be cautious when using zonulin as a marker of gut permeability.

Finally, a biomarker initially associated with gut impairment and recently associated with asthma severity is calprotectin. Calprotectin is a calcium and zinc protein of the S100 family, forming complex heterodimer with S100A8 and S100A9 monomers, and it is mainly secreted by neutrophil cells. It is often used as a marker of gut inflammatory disease such as bowel syndrome or colorectal cancer, which are characterized by neutrophilic cell infiltration (Kalla et al. 2016; Moris et al. 2016). In the recent years, calprotectin was also associated with asthma disease. In fact, increased serum and sputum level of calprotectin have been found in patients with asthma and associated with disease severity (Decaesteker et al. 2022; Lee et al. 2020). Moreover, a murine study showed high concentration of calprotectin correlated with the percentage of

neutrophils in the sputum, which may suggest a role of calprotectin in Th-2 low asthma phenotype (Lee et al. 2017). However, studies are limited and therefore further research is needed to further characterize the role of calprotectin in the pathology of asthma.

Evidence of gut permeability in asthma are limited but they suggest an alteration of gut barrier in these patients. Although it is not clear if this is a cause or consequence of the disease pathophysiology. Therefore, more studies with are needed to clarify the role of gut permeability in asthma.

2.5.3 Obesity and gut permeability

There are several studies that reported impaired gut barrier function in obesity (Genser et al. 2018; Pendyala, Walker, and Holt 2012; Wilbrink et al. 2020). Gastrointestinal permeability assessed with lactulose/mannitol test was associated with obese status in 27 adults patients hospitalized for a sleeve gastrectomy. However, following the surgery which resulted in significant weight loss, gut permeability was reversed to lean control levels. This suggest that the surgical procedure and/or weight loss help to improve gut barrier impairment (Wilbrink et al. 2020).

There are several blood circulating markers of gut permeability that are associated with obesity including LPS, LBP, zonulin and the gastrointestinal inflammatory marker calprotectin (Cani 2007; Genser et al. 2018; Lylloff et al. 2017; Trøseid et al. 2013). A recent study conducted in 38 patients with severe obesity revealed an elevated level of LBP in blood circulation together with zonulin, a marker of tight junction, associated with gut barrier impairment (Genser et al. 2018). Similarly, raised concentration of calprotectin was found in patients with obesity (Lylloff et al. 2017; Mortensen et al. 2009). A murine study found that calprotectin contributed to increase low-grade inflammation via interaction with TLR-4 (Nagareddy et al. 2014).

Diet can play a major role on the circulation of endotoxin in the blood stream. The first evidence of gut damage was reported in a murine study where they were fed for 4 weeks with a high fat diet (HFD) which led to a significant reduction in *Bifidobacterium* that protect the gut barrier and increased levels of circulating LPS (Cani et al., 2007). A later study investigated the effect of 15 weeks HFD in a murine model and reported elevated gut permeability in the region of jejunum and colon using a Ussing chamber technique, which measure gut barrier function of living tissue (Stenman, Holma, and Korpela 2012). The strong effect of diet in gut barrier impairment was confirmed in several human studies, which reported elevated post-prandial level of endotoxin LPS was post HF meal (Erridge et al. 2007; Harte et al. 2012; Lyte, Gabler, and Hollis 2016).

2.6 The gut-lung axis hypothesis

For long time lungs have been considered sterile, but with the introduction of next generation sequencing was possible to detect microbial DNA in the lungs of both healthy and ill patients (Bassis et al. 2015; Morris et al. 2013). However, as opposite of intestinal tract that host 10^{13} bacteria (Sender et al. 2016), the respiratory tract host between 10^2 (lungs) – 10^6 (oropharynx) bacteria, being the least populated surface in the human body (Man, De Steenhuijsen Piters, and Bogaert 2017). Interestingly, both intestine and respiratory tract present similar predominant bacteria composition of *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes* (Erb-Downward et al. 2011; Robles Alonso and Guarner 2013). Alteration in the airway microbiota has been reported in several airways' disease such as asthma

and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Huang et al., 2011; Pragman et al., 2012; Segal et al., 2013). In particular, patients with asthma showed a reduction in Bacteroides and an increase in Firmicutes and Proteobacteria compared to healthy controls (Hilty et al. 2010; Sze et al. 2012).

Several evidence reported that the gut and airway microbiota develop at the same time after birth and that they are in constant crosstalk (Madan et al. 2012). In fact, it has been observed that some bacteria species appear in the intestinal tract before appearing in the airways tract, suggesting a role of micro aspiration of gut bacteria into the lungs (Madan et al. 2012). Moreover, study conducted in a population of children with asthma revealed an impaired gut microbiota with an overproduction of *Clostridium* compared to the control group, which suggest a role in the asthma disease (Stiemsma et al. 2016).

External factors, such as changes in diet or weight gain has been proved to impact both airway and gut microbiota and affect both systems (**Fig. 2.6.1**) (Madan et al. 2012). This is supported by evidence linking altered gut microbiota composition with airway diseases, including asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Hufnagl et al. 2020; Li et al. 2021).

Shift in the gut bacteria towards harmful bacteria may led to the alteration of gut barrier and consequent translocation of endotoxin LPS in the blood stream which in turn can drive inflammation via activation of Toll like receptors and worsen the disease (described in more detail in section **2.5**). Another mechanism is via production of SCFA, which are the end-product of fibre fermentation from gut bacteria. SCFA have been proved to have anti-inflammatory properties by either activating free fatty acids

receptors (FFARs) or by inhibiting histone deacetylase (HDAC) which can contribute to ameliorate disease (described in more detail in section **2.7.1**).

Taken together this data show a correlation between the gut and airway microbiota and the association between microbiota disbalance and numerous airways diseases pointing out that the microbiota has a potential central role in the development of these diseases.



Fig. 2.6.1. The Gut-lung axis hypothesis.

During health condition there is a balance in the gut microbiota and a fully functional gut barrier which contributes to maintaining a homeostatic immune response. Commensal bacteria produce metabolites such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) that contribute to the regulation of immune responses and strengthening of gut barrier.

When there is an impairment on the gut microbiota due to several factors including weight gain, stress, antibiotic use, this leads to an altered immune response. Impaired gut microbiota is associated with disruption of gut barrier and translocation of endotoxin including LPS in the blood circulation. This can cause systemic inflammation and a further outgrowth of opportunistic pathogens, which can lead to chronic inflammation in distal organs including lungs.

2.6.1. Molecular link between obesity and asthma: mitochondria dysfunction

A key molecular link with between obesity and asthma diseases is mitochondrial dysfunction. Mitochondria are key organelles that play an essential role for cellular health and survival. They represent the powerhouse of the cell and have important roles in regulating stress signalling, sensing danger and combating cytotoxicity. (Bhatraju and Agrawal 2017a). Mitochondrial dysfunction, together with systemic inflammation and abnormal metabolic activity have been associated with obesity. Additionally, recent evidence suggest that mitochondrial dysfunction may induce a proinflammatory cascade which is critical for asthma development and exacerbations (Bhatraju and Agrawal 2017a). Evidence of mitochondrial dysfunction in asthma was first reported in the analysis of the bronchial epithelium from a cohort of children with asthma (Konrádová et al. 1985). Murine research revealed that mice with mitochondrial dysfunction exhibit an increased bronchial hyperresponsiveness and greater number of eosinophils in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (Aguilera-Aguirre et al. 2009).

Mitochondria are essential for cellular respiration and are sensitive to changes such as nutritional overload, stress and other triggers including LPS or toxins. As a response to these triggers, mitochondria secrete reactive oxygen species (ROS) to limit cell damage and reduce pathogen infection mainly via activation of NLRP3 or TLR pathway (West, 2017). If prolonged, this excessive production of ROS from the mitochondria can lead to a proinflammatory cascade that promote mitochondrial dysfunction, cell damage and ultimately worsening of disease. Evidence demonstrates that LPS can alter mitochondria morphology which in turn can led to mitochondria dysfunction. Mitochondria are dynamic organelles, and they continuously undergo fusion and fission. Balance of fusion and fission processes are essential for the correct mitochondria division and reorganization of their components in order to maintain healthy mitochondria. A shift towards upregulated fission processes leads to mitochondria fragmentation, while upregulated fusion processes leads to mitochondria elongation and swelling (**Fig. 2.6.1.1**) (van der Bliek, Shen, and Kawajiri 2013).

Therefore, alteration of fission/fusion balance can significantly alter mitochondria structure, leading to the accumulation of permanently damaged mitochondria which in turn promote ROS overproduction (Buck et al. 2016). Studies demonstrated that LPS can significantly shift the balance of these processes towards excess of fission process, leading to mitochondria fragmentation (Nair et al. 2019a). This in turn is associated with reduced mitochondrial activity and ROS over production. As a response to this damage, cells can activate several compensatory strategies including mitophagy (elimination of damaged mitochondria) and biogenesis (production of new mitochondria) (Widdrington et al. 2018a).

High fat diet and excess calories, noted obesogenic, can lead to the mitochondria dysfunction. In fact, similarly to LPS-induced damage, overfeeding is also associated with mitochondria fragmentation (Liesa and Shirihai 2013). This condition is linked with metabolic abnormalities such as insulin resistance, a protective mechanism activated by cells to prevent further damage to mitochondria by reducing insulin sensitivity, and therefore limiting nutrient uptake (Martin and McGee 2014). Such metabolic

abnormalities are seen in obesity and can represent an increased risk of asthma as described in more detail in section **2.6.2**.

Strategies that target mitochondria such as repair via scavenger of reactive oxygen species (ROS) or replacement of damaged mitochondria through upregulation of biogenesis may be beneficial for ameliorating asthma and obesity (Qian et al. 2022). Between others, nutritional strategies showed promising results in regulating mitochondrial activity, via interaction with microbiota (Donohoe et al. 2011b; Khalil et al. 2022; Memme et al. 2021). In fact, evidence suggests that SCFA, end-product of bacterial fermentation of dietary fibre, play a role in the regulation of mitochondrial homeostasis. In particular, butyrate, one of the most abundant SCFA together with acetate and propionate, can enter the Krebs cycle and reduce NAD+ to NADH, in a process that produces ATP, regulating energy production (Donohoe et al. 2011b). In vitro conducted using colonocytes from germ free (GF) mice, lacking SCFAs, reported a reduced level of NADH/NAD⁺ which resulted in reduced ATP production in the mitochondria (Donohoe et al. 2011b). Another in vitro study revealed that the SCFAs, acetate and butyrate, prevented mitochondria structure damage in β -cells, previously treated with a cell stressor noted as streptozotocin, by preventing the reduction of fission/fusion protein. These proteins are essential regulators of mitochondrial dynamics and are strongly associated with their bioenergetics (Hu et al. 2020).

This suggests that increased levels of circulating SCFAs may be a potential way to improve mitochondrial dysfunction and indirectly contribute to the amelioration of disease.



Fig. 2.6.1.1. Fission/fusion processes in mitochondria.

Mitochondria are dynamic organelles that are constantly rearranging themselves; a balance of fission and fusion events are essential for the correct functionality of mitochondria. a) Under homeostatic conditions, there is a balance of fusion and fission events and mitochondria undergo under a correct division. b) An upregulation of fission processes and a downregulation of fusion processes results in fragmentated mitochondria, increasing autophagy and leading to cells' death. c) A downregulation of fission and upregulation of fusion processes leads to large, elongated mitochondria which fuse together, inducing cell death.

2.6.2. Metabolic dysfunction in obesity and asthma

Metabolic dysfunction, noted in obesity, has recently been associated with increased asthma severity (Cottrell et al., 2011a; Husemoen et al., 2008; Karampatakis et al., 2017; Singh et al., 2015). Impaired glucose tolerance and insulin resistance have been associated with asthma exacerbations, including lung function decline and/or airway hyperresponsiveness in both children and adults (Cottrell et al. 2011b; Forno et (Hill et al. 2014)t al. 2009; Karampatakis et al. 2017). Altered glucose metabolism may drive inflammation in several ways including via activation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and cleavage of transforming growth factor (TGF)- β which in turn stimulates the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Johnson, Justin Milner, and Makowski 2012). Moreover,

studies in mice revealed that metabolic abnormalities, including insulin resistance, were associated with airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), independently of BMI (Singh et al., 2015). Similarly, in humans, insulin resistance was associated with risk of developing asthma in adults and adolescents (Forno et al., 2015; Husemoen et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2013).

Together with glucose impairment, obesity is associated with altered lipid metabolism including cholesterol and triglycerides. This was shown to drive inflammation by directly activating membrane-associated pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), including the toll-like receptor (TLR) family, or by acting as agonists for members of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) family of nuclear receptors, which are involved in the regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-6 (Andersen 2022; Cardoso and Perucha 2021; Hill et al. 2008; Köberlin, Heinz, and Superti-Furga 2016). This can in turn affect asthma severity. In fact, recent studies found elevated circulating level of triglycerides and low-density cholesterol (LDL) were associated with lung function decline in a cohort of patients with asthma (Barochia et al. 2015; Scichilone et al. 2013). Interestingly, raised levels of triglycerides and impaired glucose levels were associated with asthma, independently of BMI, in a cohort of children (Cottrell et al. 2011a). This is interesting because it may suggest that metabolic abnormalities can represent a predisposing factor for developing asthma, regardless of BMI.

Evidence indicate that metabolic dysfunction may further exacerbate asthma symptoms. However, it appears that obese status is not always a cause of metabolic alteration in asthma, indicating that this may be a consequence of asthma

pathophysiology. Further work is required to establish the role of multimorbidity in asthma severity.

2.7 Dietary strategies to target the gut microbiota to improve host health

Common dietary strategies to target the gut microbiota are prebiotics, probiotics, synbiotic (a combination of both) and postbiotic to manipulate the gut microbiota have seen a surge in their popularity and interest in their potential to support a range of disease management.

Probiotics are defined as 'live microorganism that confer health benefit to the host when assumed in adequate amount' (Hill et al. 2014). Prebiotic are defined as 'a non-digestible substrate that can be selectively used by the host microbes and induce health benefit' (Gibson et al. 2017). A combination of both noted as a synbiotic are defined as a combination of live microorganisms and substrates used by the gut microbiota and that confer a health benefit to the host (Swanson et al., 2020). Lastly, postbiotic are recently new and defined as preparation of inanimate microorganisms and/or their components that confers a health benefit on the host (Salminen et al. 2021).

2.7.1 Prebiotics and dietary fibre

A dietary strategy to target the gut microbiota could be to increase fibre intake. The latest recommendation from the Scientific advisor committee on Nutrition is to increase the daily fibre intake to 30 grams per day, which can be achieved with the consumption of 5 daily portion of fruits and vegetables (Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN) 2015). However, the last finding from the National Diet and Nutrition Survey Results showed that the average fibre consumption in the U.K. is about 19.7 grams per day, which is 33% less than the recommended daily intake (Public Health England 2020).

Although not all dietary fibre can be classed as prebiotic. There are a number of proposed prebiotic fibre often available in the form of powder or tablets which can be added to drinks and food such as yoghurt or smoothie bowl. Common noted prebiotics are fructo-oligosaccharides (FOS), inulin and galacto-oligosaccharides (GOS) which have demonstrated effect in promoting the growth of beneficial species of bacteria such as Lactobacillus and/or Bifidobacterium species (Gibson et al. 2017). FOS and Inulin are group of fructans while GOS is an oligosaccharide linked with a galactose. Prebiotics cannot be digested by human enzymes, and they reach the gastrointestinal tract indigested. Here they are metabolized by the bacteria as source of energy and as endproduct of their digestion they produce metabolites that exert a beneficial effect in the host. The main metabolites produced by bacteria are short chain fatty acids (SCFA) which are fatty acids with less than 6 atoms of carbons. The most abundant SCFA are Acetate (C2), propionate (C3) and butyrate (C4), with the highest distribution present in the colon (Macfarlane and Macfarlane 2003). Other SCFA are produced by the gut microbiota, such as formate, valerate, caproate, iso-butyrate, 2 methyl-butyrate and isovalerate, but in lesser amount (Macfarlane and Macfarlane 2003). Depending on the prebiotic used, bacteria can produce various amount of SCFA, with GOS previously demonstrating the greatest production (Holmes et al. 2020). The SCFA produced are then absorbed by epithelial cells by either H⁺-dependent monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), through binding to G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), also noted as free fatty acid receptors (FFARs), or by inhibiting histone deacetylase activity (HDAC) (Silva, Bernardi, and Frozza 2020). Activation of GPRCRs receptors and/or HDAC inhibition is

essential for modulate SCFA function. The 2 main GPCRs involved in humans are GPR-41 and GPR-43. Both receptors are present in airways epithelial cells, smooth cells and leukocytes with GPR-43 being expressed in the adipose tissue as well; they are the main receptors for acetate but can also recognize propionate and butyrate (Tan et al. 2014). Enhanced expression of these receptors has been found in sputum of patients with asthma following a high fibre meal and associated with amelioration in airway inflammation (Halnes et al. 2017). Interestingly, experiment in mice fed with low fibre diet have found reduced level of circulating SCFA and association with increased allergic reaction by activating Th-2 cell mediated inflammation pathways, suggesting a role of SCFA in the disease (Trompette et al. 2014). Reduced levels of SCFA have been found in the faeces of 44 patients with bronchial asthma compared to healthy controls, which suggest a reduced metabolic activity from SCFA producing bacteria (Ivashkin et al. 2019).

Although only a small fraction of SCFA reach the blood stream, their potential beneficial effect of system and peripheral organs have been reported. In particular, butyrate appears to influence systemic inflammation through the modulation of T regulatory (Treg) cells, which regulate the immune response and reduce proinflammatory cytokines production, playing a key role in maintaining homeostasis (Arpaia et al. 2013; Haghikia et al. 2015; Smith et al. 2013) (**Fig. 2.7.1.1**). Furthermore, *in vitro* and murine studies demonstrated that SCFA were able to limit the LPS induced inflammation by attenuating the expression of proinflammatory cytokines including TNF- α , IL-6 (Liu et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2017). These findings suggest that prebiotics are beneficial by increasing the levels of SCFAs produced by bacteria.

Furthermore, *In vitro* studies demonstrated a potential role of SCFA in ameliorating gut barrier by increasing the expression of tight junction such as occludin, zonulin-1 and claudin (Peng et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2012; Yan, Ajuwon 2017; Feng et al. 2018; Nielsen et al. 2018). In addition, experiment conducted using Caco-2 cells monolayers exposed to acetate, propionate and butyrate in combination with LPS, significantly improved transepithelial permeability damage induced by LPS and increased the expression of tight junctions occludin and claudin (Feng et al. 2018a).

Therefore, dietary prebiotic strategies that enhances the production of SCFA may be a potential adjunctive tool to mitigates asthma exacerbations.



Fig. 2.7.1.1. The mechanism of action of SCFA.

The short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) are the main metabolites produced by the gut microbiota via fermentation of indigestible food components such as dietary fibre, resistant starch or prebiotics. SCFA are then absorbed by epithelial cells, mainly via H⁺-dependent monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), through binding to G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) or by inhibiting histone deacetylases.

SCFAs play an important role in regulating intestinal mucosal immunity, barrier integrity and function. The SCFA can translocate in the blood stream and influence systemic inflammation by activating T regulatory cells (Treg) differentiation and by regulating the secretion of cytokines.

2.7.2 Prebiotic interventions in asthma and obesity

Limited animal studies have been conducted investigating the use of prebiotics in

obesity and asthma which demonstrate some encouraging findings. In a murine model

of allergic asthma, mice fed a diet enriched with 1% Galacto-oligosaccharide (GOS) for

two weeks demonstrated to prevent the development of airway hyperresponsiveness,

reduced pulmonary eosinophilic inflammation and concentration of proinflammatory

cytokine IL-13 (Verheijden et al. 2015).

Other studies showed how prebiotic can be used as additional tool to prevent inflammation and weight gain. Van Hul et al. showed that mice models fed with HFD supplemented with the prebiotic fructo-oligosaccharides had reduced level of the endotoxin LPS and lower levels of systemic inflammatory cytokines compared to mice with HFD only (Van Hul et al. 2020). A recent study showed that 16 weeks supplementation of GOS in rat fed with western diet showed reduced weight gain, amelioration of insulin tolerance and lower circulating level of cholesterol compared to the control group (Mistry et al. 2020).

In humans, limited studies are present on regards the use of prebiotic supplement in obesity an asthma, however they showed promising beneficial effect in the amelioration of diseases. Evidence demonstrated the efficacy of prebiotics in reducing marker of systemic inflammation in overweight and obese patients (Morel et al. 2015; Vulevic et al. 2013a). In particular, Morel et al. found out that two weeks of dose dependent prebiotic administration of GOS (6 g, 12 g, 18 g per day) in 88 overweight adults led to a led to a significant reduction of the appetite (greater reduction in the group who received the highest dose of prebiotic), which it may suggest a potential contribution of the prebiotic in maintaining weight loss over the time dose-dependent (Morel et al. 2015). Moreover, a reduction of plasma concentration of the endotoxin LPS was reported compared to the placebo group (Morel et al. 2015). Similarly, a 40% reduction of LPS levels was observed in a study investigating the effect of 12 weeks administration of prebiotic oligofructose (7 g, 3 times a day) in a cohort of 37 adults who were overweight or obese (Parnell, Klancic, and Reimer 2017b).

In asthma, evidence showed that 7 days dietary intervention trial of 12 g Inulin per day in 16 participants with stable asthma, significantly reduced level of sputum eosinophils, involved in airway inflammation and asthma control (McLoughlin et al., 2019). Moreover, Williams et al. showed for the first time in humans that three weeks of 5.5 g daily dose of prebiotic Bimuno Galacto-oligosaccharide (B-GOS) supplement reduced inflammation and asthma associated exacerbation in a cohort of 10 adults with exercise induced bronchoconstriction (EIB) (Williams et al. 2016).

This suggests a promising role of prebiotic in reducing inflammation and ameliorating asthma symptomatology. Although more studies in larger scale population are needed to reach a final conclusion on the role of prebiotic in asthma.

2.7.3 Non-fibre prebiotics and their role in obesity asthma

There are other dietary components that are also potential prebiotic such as polyphenols (e.g. resveratrol, curcumin, quercetin) and omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 PUFAs). Several evidence suggest a beneficial effect of non-fibre prebiotic in reducing and/or maintain weight loss (Albracht-schulte et al. 2020; Anhê et al. 2015; Boccellino and D'Angelo 2020).

Regarding asthma, studies investigating the role of non-fibre prebiotic in asthma are mixed. Numerous reports have suggested that consuming omega-3 fatty acids or polyphenols reduced the occurrence of asthma, the prevalence of symptoms related to asthma, or levels of exhaled nitric oxide (NO), while also enhancing lung function in adults (R. Barros et al. 2011; Kompauer et al. 2008; Patchen et al. 2023; Wu et al. 2024). In a four-week randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial, 22 adults with
symptomatic asthma were given either oral purple passion fruit peel (PFP) extract (150 mg/day), a novel blend of flavonoids containing quercetin, or placebo pills. The study demonstrated a reduction in coughing and wheezing following supplementation compared to the placebo group (Watson et al. 2008). A 20 years epidemiological study in 4162 young adults revealed that high intake of n-3 PUFA prevented asthma onset (Li et al. 2013). However, other studies found no beneficial effect of supplementation with non-fiber prebiotic in asthma disease (Lang et al. 2019; McKeever et al. 2008; Smith et al. 2017; Woods et al. 2004). A recent study investigating the effect of 24 weeks supplementation of fish oil 3-PUFA (4g/day) in 98 young adults who were obese and/or overweight and with uncontrolled asthma found no effect in the amelioration of asthma symptomatology, assessed with the use of asthma control questionnaire (ACQ-6) (Lang et al. 2019). In another randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled study, soy isoflavones were supplemented (50 mg, twice a day) to a cohort of 193 adults and adolescents (aged 12 years and older) with symptomatic asthma for 24 weeks, alongside standard control medications. However, there was no observed improvement in lung function, as assessed by spirometry, compared to the placebo group. (Smith et al. 2017).

In summary, while research has shown varying results, further investigation is needed to clarify their potential role of non fibre prebiotic in asthma management. Future studies should focus on elucidating the mechanisms of action, conducting larger clinical trials and assessing their impact on various asthma-related outcomes.

2.7.4 Probiotics interventions in obesity and asthma

The use of probiotic may be a further option to manipulate gut microbiota and increase the number of beneficial bacteria and improving microbiota diversity. This indirectly may play a role in reducing systemic inflammation.

In obesity, *in vitro* studies demonstrated the efficacy of the probiotic *Bifidobacterium* (1x10⁸ colony forming units (CFU)) improving gut permeability by preventing the disruption of tight junction (TJ) proteins (e.g. occludin, claudin-3 and zonula occludens) and reducing cytokines associated to systemic inflammation such as TNF- α and IL-6 model in a model of gut cells (Ca-co2) treated with LPS (Ling et al. 2016). Similarly, a subsequent *in vivo* study from the same research group showed that *Bifidobacterium* somministration in mice previously exposed to LPS, ameliorated gut barrier dysfunction induced by LPS and reduced circulating levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-6 (Ling et al. 2016).

Limited human clinical studies patients with obesity have been conducted so far, but results are encouraging. An 8-week treatment with the yogurt enriched with bacteria *Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus casei, Bifidobacterium lactis* (1x10⁷ CFU/mL each) was associated with reduced levels of inflammatory cytokines in a group of adult with obesity (n=25) (Zarrati et al. 2014). Conversely, a study conducted in 50 adolescents revealed that 12 weeks supplementation of probiotics strain *Lactobacillus salivarius* (1x10¹⁰ CFU/g) led to no significant changes in inflammatory markers compared to the control group (Gøbel et al. 2012).

Limited studies have been conducted in asthma and the majority of them have been conducted in children or infants. Previous studies demonstrate that probiotics administration of Lactobacillus (1x10⁸ CFU) for 9 months to a year at early life and/or school age children could either decrease asthma symptoms or reduce its incidence later in life (Abrahamsson et al. 2007; West, Hammarström, and Hernell 2009). However, follow up studies reported no difference in the prevalence of respiratory diseases between children who received probiotics and whom who received placebo during their infancy, suggesting that the effect of probiotics treatment was only transient (Abrahamsson et al. 2013; West, Hammarström, and Hernell 2013). The first study in 15 adults with moderate asthma revealed that 1 month supplementation with yogurt containing Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus bulgaricus, and Streptococcus thermophilus (7.6x10⁸, 3.4x10⁸, and 3.7x10⁸ bacteria/g, respectively) showed no changes in airway inflammation and asthma control (Wheeler et al. 1997). However, recent study conducted in 29 patients with stable asthma demonstrated that 3 months supplementation of probiotic Bifidobacterium Lactis Probio-M8 (one sachet per day of 2 g; 3.0x10¹⁰ CFU/sachet/day) together with the use of corticosteroid preventative inhaler, Symbicort Turbuhaler, improved asthma control and led to increase of circulating metabolites associated with anti-inflammatory properties including tryptophan and sphingomyelin compared to the placebo group using Symbicort Turbuhaler only (A. Liu et al. 2021). Similarly, 8-weeks supplementation of multistrains of probiotic containing 7 different strains of bacteria including Lactobacillus, *Bifidobacterium* and *Streptococcus* (minimum of 3x10⁹ CFU/g of each strain) in a cohort of 40 patients with moderate to severe asthma showed a significant improvement of

51

lung function and reduced circulating levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-17 and Treg cells (Sadrifar et al. 2023).

So far, few studies have been conducted to evaluate the potential benefit of probiotic in both obesity and asthma. Different strains were used to conduct the studies and both animals and clinicals trials differ for study length. Also, there is a lack of follow up studies that prevent us to know what are the long-term effect of probiotics somministration. More studies, longer trials and more homogeneity in the strains used are needed to evaluate the potential benefit of probiotics in both obesity and asthma. Furthermore, possible problematic of probiotic supplementation are associated with nutritional status of the host. In order to exert their beneficial properties, it is essential that probiotics have access to adequate nutritional sources, in the form of dietary fibre. Therefore, it is fundamental to have an adequate diet in parallel with probiotic supplementation to obtain optimal results.

2.7.5 Synbiotic interventions in obesity and asthma

Studies have tried to use a combination of prebiotic and probiotics, noted as synbiotic to test whether they can have a synergistic effect in ameliorating the disease, although findings are controversial.

A recent study conducted in a cohort of 94 adults with obesity showed that a 3-week dietary intervention trial with the prebiotic GOS had a beneficial effect in improving gut permeability. However, when the GOS was used in synergism with the probiotic *Bifidobacterium lactis BB-12* (1x10⁹ CFU), no effects were seen (Krumbeck et al. 2018).

In asthma, a murine asthma model supplemented with 1% fructo-oligosaccharides and probiotic Bifidobacterium breve M-16V (2x10⁹ CFU) for two weeks demonstrated effective in reducing airway eosinophilia in lungs and concentration of proinflammatory cytokines including IL-6, IL-10, IL-4 when compared to control (Verheijden et al. 2016). Amelioration of asthma symptoms and airways associated inflammation was also reported in a murine study following supplementation with a combination of prebiotic fructo-oligosaccharides and probiotic *Bifidobacterium* (1x10⁹ CFU) (Sagar et al. 2014). In humans, a dietary intervention using a mix of prebiotic Inulin and probiotic Lactobacillus (1x10⁸ CFU) led to a reduction of inflammation in a cohort of 29 patients with stable asthma (Halnes et al. 2017). Similarly, a cohort of 29 patients with asthma that received 4-week supplementation with synbiotic composed of prebiotic (90% short-chain galacto-oligosaccharides, 10% long-chain fructo-oligosaccharides) and the probiotics *Bifidobacterium breve* M-16V (1x10¹⁰ CFU), significantly reduced the production of Th-2 associated cytokines and improve peak respiratory flow (Van De Pol et al. 2011). Conversely, other studies showed no synbiotic effect when prebiotic and probiotics were administrated together (Krumbeck et al., 2018; McLoughlin et al., 2019). In fact, supplementation of prebiotic Inulin ameliorated asthma condition in 17 adults when administrated alone but showed no effect in combination with multi strain probiotic containing Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium (>7.0x10⁹ each CFU) (McLoughlin et al., 2019).

This could be due to antagonistic effect for competition of nutrients in the gut or suboptimal conditions for probiotic absorption due to poor participants' diet.

53

Despite the promising findings of prebiotic and probiotic supplementation on gut barrier integrity and endotoxin levels, no study considered the use of prebiotic to reduce circulating level of endotoxin and/or ameliorate gut permeability in asthma cohort. Therefore, studies should consider including these markers as a possible outcome measure of dietary intervention in patients with asthma.

2.7.6 Postbiotic in obesity and asthma

Postbiotic are recently new generation of supplement, which is gaining growing interest due to their potential beneficial effects for the host. The international scientific association of probiotics an prebiotics (ISAPP) defined postbiotic as a preparation of inanimate microorganisms and/or their components that confers a health benefit on the host (Salminen et al. 2021). Postbiotic may have a number of beneficial effect for the host such as boosting immune system, lower the risk of respiratory infections, and help with weight loss (Byrne et al. 2015a; Chambers, Morrison, and Frost 2015; Kotani et al. 2010; Di Sabatino et al. 2005).

At the moment there are no studies looking at the effect of postbiotic on asthma, however one study addressed a potential beneficial effect of postbiotic on the amelioration of atopic dermatitis disease, commonly associated with asthma. The study administered the postbiotic (heat-killed *Lactobacillus paracasei* K71) to 34 adults suffering with atopic dermatitis for 8 weeks and showed a significant reduction in the severity of disease compared to the placebo group (Moroi et al. 2011).

More evidences are available regarding the effect of postbiotics in obesity. Recent studies have shown that postbiotic SCFA and in particular butyrate and propionate, help

reduce body weight by suppressing the hunger signal in animal studies (Byrne et al. 2015b; Goswami, Iwasaki, and Yada 2018). Another postbiotic, KetoA, a metabolite produced from linoleic acid by lactic acid bacteria in the gut, showed promising results in reducing body weight by increasing energy expenditure in a mice model (Canfora et al. 2019).

Initial studies on the efficacy of postbiotic showed promising host health benefit, however large-scale studies in humans are needed in order to evaluate their beneficial metabolic effects.

Chapter 3: Material and Methods

3.1. Cell culture

3.1.1 Human epithelial airway cells culture and treatments used

Human bronchial epithelial airway cell line (BEAS2B-R1) are an immortalised cell line taken from the bronchus of healthy volunteers. This cell line has been validated as a good model of airway biology studies and to evaluate airways damage induced by inflammation and/or lipopolysaccharides (LPS) insult (Hou et al. 2021; Si and Zhang 2021).

Cells were seeded on to 6 well plates, unless otherwise specified, and grown until 80% confluent in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Life Technologies, U.K., #41965-039) with 10% of foetal bovine serum (FBS, Labtech, USA, #FCS-SA/500) and 0.5 mg/mL penicillin-streptomycin-Glutamine (Pen-strep) (Thermofisher, U.K., #10378016), referred to as cell culture media. Once confluent, cells were treated at 6, 12 and 24 hr with or without Lipopolysaccharides (LPS, from Escherichia coli O55:B5, Sigma, U.K. # L2880-10MG) as follow:

- LPS 10 ng/mL
- LPS 100 ng/mL
- Short Chain Fatty Acids (SCFA) mix (details of the mix below)
- LPS 10 ng/mL + SCFA
- LPS 100 ng/mL + SCFA

In addition to the above treatments, cells were pre-treated with SCFA mix for 24hr and then treated with:

- LPS 10 ng/mL +SCFA
- LPS 100 ng/mL+ SCFA

The SCFA mix was prepared at a final concentration of Acetate 2 mM (Sigma, U.K., #S5636-250G), Butyrate 0.25 mM (Sigma, U.K.#303410-100G), Propionate 0.25 mM (Sigma, U.K., #P1880-100G) in a ratio of 80:10:10 respectively, which is the highest molar ratio found in the peripheral venous blood in healthy individual (Ktsoyan et al. 2016). This ratio was chosen to reflect human physiological condition.

Treatments details are listed in the Table 3.1.1.1.

Following the initial western blot experiments, all subsequent investigations were conducted using the higher dose of LPS (100 ng/mL) and cells pre-treated cells with SCFA.

Treatment	Stock solution	Final	Supplier	Catalogue
		concentration		Number
LPS	1 mg/mL	100 ng/mL	Sigma	L2880-10MG
Acetate	200 mM	2 mM	Sigma	S5636-250G
Propionate	200 mM	0.25 mM	Sigma	P1880-100G
Butyrate	200 mM	0.25 mM	Sigma	303410-100G

Table 3.1.1.1. Treatments and concentration used.(LPS = Lipopolysaccharides).

3.1.2 Protein extraction and quantification

Cultured epithelial airway cells ($1x10^5$; BEAS2B-R1) were harvested using 250 µL of Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer (Millipore U.K., #20-188) containing 2% of protease and phosphatase inhibitors (reagent preparation was listed in **Table 3.1.2.1**). Samples were then vortexed and left on ice for 30 minutes, spinning the samples down every 10 minutes. The samples were then centrifuged at $16x10^3$ rfc for 15 minutes, aliquoted and stored at -80 °C until assayed.

Protein concentrations of sample were quantified using a Bradford assay. To carry out this assay, a calibration curve was prepared using a bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma, #A9418-10G), starting from a stock solution of 1 μ g/mL, with increasing quantities of BSA from 1 μ g to 8 μ g. One blank reference sample was also prepared.

Bio-rad protein assay reagent (Bio-Rad Laboratories, U.K., #5000006), 1 mL, was added to each test tube and then 2 μ L of samples were added. Samples were then immediately vortexed to allow the reaction to develop. All samples were assayed in triplicate using a spectrophotometer (Tecan, infinite M plex, Switzerland) at a wavelength of 596 nm, from which the relative absorbance of each sample was obtained based on the amount of total protein. The standard curve generated was used to quantify the protein concentrations.

Table 3.1.2.1. Protease and phosphatase inhibitors preparation.

Solution	Volume used	Company	Catalogue number
1x RIPA buffer	2 mL	Millipore U.K.	20-188
Roche complete	2 tablets	Sigma, U.K.	11836153001
Mini protease			
inhibitor cocktails			
Sodium Fluoride	8 mg	Fisher Scientific	10528070
(NaF)			
Sodium	20 mg	Acros Organics	WZ-88219-57
orthovanadate			
(Na3VO4)			

(RIPA= Radioimmunoprecipitation assay).

3.1.3 Western Blot analysis

Western blotting analyses were used to detect the expression of specific proteins in the harvested BEAS2B-R1 cells. Proteins present in the samples were separated based on their molecular weight by electrophoretic separation in the polyacrylamide gel and were subsequently transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane. A primary antibody was used to detect the protein of interest which in turn was recognized by a secondary antibody to which an enzyme such as horseradish peroxidase (HRP) has been conjugated to enable its detection. The use of an enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) substrate for HRP allowed detection of the amount of antigen by using an imagining method. The luminescence arising from its conjugation to the antibody complex, is directly proportional to the amount of protein of interest present. The luminescence can be captured quantitively using a sensitive system such Syngene Genesys with image acquisition software. A schematic representation of the Western blotting reaction is shown in **Fig. 3.1.3.1**.



Fig. 3.1.3.1. Schematic representation of Western Blot reaction.

Primary antibody specifically binds the protein of interest. Following an incubation period, a secondary antibody was added to the membrane which specifically recognizes the primary antibody and to which an enzyme horseradish peroxidase (HRP) is linked. The addition of an enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) substrate allowed the detection of the antigen by imaging method.

Briefly, once the protein concentration of each BEAS2B-R1 sample was determined through Bradford assay, each extracted protein treatment was subsequently prepared to be loaded onto the polyacrylamide gel. Each sample loaded on to the Western blot contained 5 μ L of Laemmli buffer (Thermofisher Scientific, U.K., #J60015), 20-30 μ g of protein with a variable volume of sterile water up to a volume of 20 μ L. All samples were then heated at 95°C for 10 minutes and then left on ice for 5 minutes to completely denature the proteins. After carrying out these steps, the samples were loaded onto polyacrylamide gel. Running samples through the gel separates the protein of interest

based on its molecular weight by separation in the electric field. The polyacrylamide gels were prepared at a final concentration of either 8, 10 or 12.5%, based on the protein molecular weight. Subsequently, samples were loaded into the gel, together with the protein ladder (Thermofisher, U.K., #11862124). The electrophoretic run took place by setting the constant voltage to 100 V for the first 15/20 minutes and subsequently, when the ladder entered the running gel, this was adjusted to 120 V for each gel and left until the marker had run off the bottom of the gel. Once the migration of the samples was complete, the separated proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane with 0.45 µm pore (Merck, Germany, #IPVH00010) by wet transfer for 90 minutes at 100V. At the end of the transfer, the membranes were briefly stained with Ponceau S to ensure the transfer has worked properly and then washed in water to remove any trace of the dye. Subsequently, membranes were incubated in either 0.2% I-BLOCK (Thermofisher, U.K., #T2015) or 5% Tris Buffered Saline Tween 20 (TBS-T), based on the antibody manufacturer's instruction, with the purpose to use the solutions to block the non-specific protein-binding sites across the membrane surface.

The primary antibody for the protein of interest was then diluted into either 0.2% I-BLOCK or 5% BSA TBST together with the membrane of interest and the samples were placed at 4°C overnight under constant agitation. The concentration of primary antibodies utilised for Westen blotting were optimised noting the guidelines of the manufacturer with similar cellular protein extracts (**Table 3.1.3.1**).

Following an overnight incubation (approximately 12 hr), the primary antibody was removed, and 3 washes consisting of 10 minutes each in either PBST or TBS-T were performed. Subsequently, the secondary antibody was diluted in either 0.2% I-BLOCK or

5% BSA TBS-T and added to the membrane for 60 minutes under constant agitation at room temperature. Following this period, the secondary antibodies were removed and a further 3 washes were performed in PBST or TBS-T as previously described. Finally, the proteins of interest were detected using a Bio-Rad chemiluminescence detection kit (ECL, GeneFlow, #K1-0096), mixed in a 1:1 ratio prior to addition to the membrane. Subsequently, the image was immediately acquired using Syngene G-BOX with GeneSys image acquisition software.

Table 3.1.3.1. Primary antibodies used and related dilution for primary and secondary antibodies.

(SOD-2 = superoxide dismutase 2; FIS1 = mitochondrial fission 1; DPR1 = Dynamin-1-like protein; MNF2 = Mitofusin-2; OPA1 = optic atrophy 1; TFAM= Mitochondrial transcription factor A; POLG = DNA polymerase subunit gamma; NRF1 = Nuclear respiratory factor 1; PGC1- α = Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator- alpha; β -actin = beta-actin).

Primary antibody	Primary antibody Dilution	Secondary antibody dilution	Supplier	Catalogue Number
SOD-2	1:1000	Anti-Rabbit 1:100.000	Cell-Signaling	13194S
FIS1	1:1000	Anti-Rabbit 1:50.000	Abcam	ab156865
DPR1	1:500	Anti-Rabbit 1:100.000	Cell-Signaling	5391S
MNF2	1:500	Anti-Rabbit 1:50.000	Cell-signaling	83667S
OPA1	1:500	Anti-Rabbit 1:50.000	Cell-signaling	80471S
TFAM	1:1000	Anti-Rabbit 1:100.000	Cell-signaling	8076S
POLG	1:1000	Anti-Rabbit 1:100.000	Cell-signaling	13609S
NRF1	1:1000	Anti-Rabbit 1:100.000	Cell-signaling	69432S
PGC1-α	1:1000	Anti-Rabbit 1:5.000	Cell-signaling	2178S
β-Actin	1:5000	Anti-Rabbit 1:100.000	Cell-signaling	4970S

3.1.4 RNA extraction and qPCR

For RNA extraction, cells were lysed in 350 μ L Buffer RLY (Bioline, U.K., #BIO-52079) containing 3.5 μ L β -mercaptoethanol (β -ME) (Sigma, U.K.). RNA was extracted from cell culture samples using Isolate II RNA Mini Kit (Bioline, U.K., #BIO-52073) according to manufacturer's instructions.

Briefly, the cell lysate was filtered through an ISOLATE II filter for 1 minute at 11,000 rcf. Then 350 μ L ethanol (70%) was added to the lysate and the mix was transferred to an RNA binding column and centrifuged for 30 seconds at 11,000 rcf. The membrane was desalted by adding 350 μ L to the column and centrifuging for 1 minute at 11,000 rcf. The next step was preparing the DNase I reaction mixture by adding 10 μ L DNase I to 90 μ L Reaction Buffer, then 95 μ L of the DNase I reaction mixture was added to the membrane and incubated at room temperate for 15 minutes. Next, the membrane was washed by adding 200 μ L wash buffer RW1 and then it was centrifuged for 30 seconds at 11,000 rcf, then 600 μ L wash buffer RW2 was added and centrifuged for 2 minutes at 11,000 rcf. Finally, 250 μ L wash buffer RW2 was added and centrifuged for 2 minutes at 11,000 rcf. The final step consisted in 60 μ L of RNA being eluted in RNase-free water. Finally, the concentration and purity of the RNA samples was calculated by measuring 1 μ L of RNA using the Nanodrop ND-100 (Labtech, UK).

Synthesis of cDNA was performed using 100 ng RNA, 1 μ L of random hexamers (Fisher Scientific, U.K., #SO142), and 1 μ L of dNTP (Fisher Scientific, U.K., #R0191) per sample. Each tube was left at 70°C for 10 minutes and then transferred immediately to ice for 2 minutes. A master mix solution composed of 2 μ L 10x reverse transcriptase (RT) buffer (Merck, Germany, #M1302-40KU), 1 μ L M-MLV (Merck, Germany, #M1302-40KU), 0.5 μ L Rnase OUT (Fisher Scientific U.K., #10777019) and 4.5 μ L ultra-pure distilled water were added per sample to make a total volume of 20 μ L. Samples were then incubated in a thermocycler at 25°C for 20 minutes, 37°C for 50 minutes and 80°C for 10 minutes to obtain cDNA.

Gene expression was performed using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR). Each reaction was prepared to 20 µL final volume containing Taqman Universal PCR mastermix (Applied Biosystems, U.K., #4304437),1 µL sample cDNA and specific commercially available Taqman gene expression assay (ThermoFisher Scientific, U.K., **Table 3.1.4.1**). All samples were assayed in triplicate and multiplexed using 18S (ribosomal Ribonucleic acid (RNA)) as a pre-optimised control probe. Reactions were carried out at 50°C for 2 minutes,95°C for 10 minutes, and then 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds and then 60°C for 1 minute according to the manufacturer's instructions. For data analysis, gene expression was calculated based on the following formula:

mRNA expression = $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$

Where $\Delta\Delta$ Ct= (Gene of interest- 18s)-Average of control.

Gene	Gene assay ID	Company	Catalogue number
FIS1	Hs00211420_m1	Thermofisher	#4351370
OPA1	Hs01047013_m1	Thermofisher	#4351370
18s	Hs99999901_s1	Thermofisher	#4351368

Table 3.1.4.1. Genes considered and catalogue number.

(FIS1 = mitochondrial fission 1; OPA1 = optic atrophy 1; 18s = Ribonucleic acid (RNA) subunit 18s).

3.1.5. Nanolive imaging

Nanolive microscope was used to visualize a single live cells and study mitochondria morphological changes with time.

For imaging the BEAS2BR1 cells were seeded, in a high glass bottom μ -Dish 35mm, (Thistle Scientific, U.K., #41122107) at concentration of 25,000 cells/mL and left to grow until 80% confluent. Once ready, the cells were treated with either 100 ng/mL of LPS or SCFA mix or a combination of these for either 6, 12, or 24 hr.

After treatment, cell culture media was replaced with 50 nM of Mitotracker Red (Invitrogen[™], Thermofisher Scientific, U.K., #M7512) and 25 nM of Mitotracker Green (Invitrogen[™], Thermofisher Scientific, U.K., #M7514), diluted in a phenol free, FBS free media (DMEM.F-12, Gibco, U.K., #11039-021), and cells were incubated for 25 minutes at 37°C in CO₂ incubator. Next, cells were washed 3 times with media and imaged using Nanolive microscope (Nanolive SA, 3-D cell explorer, Switzerland). Analysis of the images were performed using image J software following Stuart lab protocol (Valente et al. 2017).

3.1.6. EVOS imaging

Cells were seeded at the concentration of 25,000 cells/mL on a 6 well-plate, grown and treated with 100 ng/mL of LPS or SCFA or combination of both for either 6, 12 or 24 hr. Following their respective incubations Mitotracker Green FM (25 nM; Invitrogen[™], Thermo Fisher, U.K., #M7514) and Mitotracker Red (50 nM; Invitrogen[™], Thermo Fisher, U.K., #M7512) were added into the phenol-free media (DMEM/F-12, Gibco, U.K.,#11039-021) without FBS, and left in the incubator for 25 minutes at 37°C.

Cells were subsequently washed three times with media and imaged using EVOS[™] M7000 Imaging System (Thermofisher, UK). A minimum of 50 cells per condition were analysed. Data were then reported as a ratio between the relative red fluorescence and the relative green fluorescence, to provide a measurement of the mitochondria activity according to the following formula:

$$Mitocondria \ activity = \frac{[Red \ fluorescence - cell \ background]}{[Green \ fluorescence - cell \ background]}$$

3.1.7. Mitochondria stress test

Mitochondrial respiration rate was measured using a Seahorse XF24 Extracellular Flux analyser (Seahorse Bioscience, Agilent technologies). For this assessment BEAS2B-R1 cells were seeded in a 24-well plate (Seahorse Bioscience, USA, #100777-004) at density of 20,000 cells per well and grown. One experimental group was pre-treated with SCFA mix on the day the cells were seeded. After 24 hr, cells were treated for 6, 12 or 24 hr with LPS 100 ng/mL or SCFA mix or a combined treatment of LPS 100 ng/mL and SCFA mix. Each experimental group consisted of 5 replicates and the assay was repeated on 1-3 separate occasions. Cells were assessed using an assay media made from combining Seahorse XF DMEM medium, pH 7.4, (Seahorse Bioscience, USA, #103575-100) supplemented with Sodium Pyruvate (1 mM, Agilent technologies, USA, #103578-100), Glucose (10 mM, Agilent technologies, USA, #103577-100) and L-Glutamine (2 mM, Agilent Technologies, USA, #103579-100). BEAS2-BR1 cell media was then replaced with assay media and incubated for 1 hr at 37°C in the absence of CO2 before being assayed. The protocol consisted in an initial 30 minutes calibration step and 30 minutes equilibration step, followed by 3 repeated cycle steps for each compound injected: 3 minutes mix, followed by 2 minutes wait and 3 minutes measure, in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The compounds used, injected in the listed order, at the start of each cycle were: Oligomycin, Carbonyl cyanide-4 (trifluoromethoxy) phenylhydrazone (FCCP) ad Rotenone/antimycin (Seahorse Bioscience, Mitochondria stress kit, #103010-100).

Reagents were injected to make a final solution of 1.5 μ M Oligomycin, 2 μ M FCCP and 0.5 μ M Rotenone/Antimycin. WAVE software (Seahorse bioscience, Agilent technologies) was used to calculate oxygen consumption rate (OCR) and extracellular acidification rate (ECAR). The data were normalized by the basal respiration of each experimental group and shown as a percentage of change of the baseline to account for cell number variability between wells.

3.2 Human Trials

3.2.1. Investigation of body weight and gut permeability across asthma severity: The NTU-WATCH collaboration study-Ethics and study design.

The Nottingham Trent University (NTU) -Southampton study was approved by the Ethics Committee of NTU (ethics protocol: #689). All study participants provided written and informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

NTU received a database and blood samples previously collected from patients who were clinically evaluated to suffer from severe asthma by a GP and collected with the Wessex AsThma CoHort of difficult asthma (WATCH) study at Southampton University Hospital (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03996590). Patients had a body mass index (BMI) between 18-50.4 kg/m² and most of them were overweight or obese. Blood samples (n=98) were collected from patients as described in **3.3.3** and serum and plasma were stored at -80°C until use. Samples were then transferred to NTU on dry ice and stored at -80°C until required. An anonymised participant database of the WATCH samples clinical information was maintained on the NTU DataStore. The DataStore project folder was protected by a multi-layer password system, meeting all necessary General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) safeguards in accordance with relevant ethical approval guidance and good clinical practice.

At NTU, further recruitment of participants with a GP diagnosis of well-controlled asthma (n=26) and participants with no underlying diseases, referred as controls (n=34) was undertaken. As with the WATCH participants, all study participants recruited within NTU provided written and informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Each participant completed an informed consent form and a self-reported health screen questionnaire to confirm that the inclusion and exclusion criteria were met. There were differences in the inclusion and exclusion criteria between the WATCH and NTU participants. The inclusion criteria for the WATCH participants was to be on "high dose therapies" and/or "continuous or frequent use of oral steroids", according to the BTS Adult Asthma Management Guidelines 2016. The exclusion criteria was to be diagnosed with asthma but not use "high dose therapies" and/or "continuous or frequent use of oral steroids", according to the BTS Adult Asthma Management Guidelines 2016. These criteria can be found in the published protocol of the WATCH study (Azim et al. 2019). The NTU participants were required to have a body mass index (BMI) of 18-34.9, be a non-smoker, not being admitted to hospital during the past 12 months for your asthma, not suffering of pulmonary hypertension, embolism, or other pulmonary heart disease, have not taken antibiotics in the past 3 months and had a history or current evidence of gastrointestinal disease (e.g. chronic constipation, diarrhoea, irritable bowel syndrome, Crohn's disease). A full list of inclusion and exclusion criteria can be found in **Appendix 1: WATCH participant information sheet and consent form**. Pulmonary function, anthropometric measurement, asthmacontrolled questionnaire (ACQ-6) and venous blood samples was assessed during the visit.

3.2.2. Human Nutritional intervention trial

The study was approved by the Nottingham Trent University Human Ethics Committee (ethics application: #675), and all procedures were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

The study was a double-blinded, placebo-controlled cross-over design whereby participants with asthma were randomly assigned to consume either the prebiotic Bimuno containing 2.9 g galacto-oligosaccharide per day for 21 days in the form of one sachet (3.65 g) of Bimuno[®] Daily (Clasado Biosciences Ltd) or one placebo sachet containing 3.65 g of maltodextrin (Clasado Biosciences Ltd) for 21 days. This was followed by 14 days washout period before switching to the other treatment. The prebiotic and placebo were given to participants in single dose sachets and were in the form of a white powder that could be dissolved in liquids.

Participants with a GP diagnosis of well-controlled asthma (n=18: 4 males; 14 females) volunteered to take part in the study and provided written informed consent. A full list of the inclusion and exclusion criteria are listed in **Appendix 2: Prebiotic trial participant information sheet and consent form**. The main inclusion criteria were that participants were diagnosed with well-controlled asthma by a GP, had a BMI between 18-35 kg/m², were non-smokers, had no gastrointestinal diseases and had not consumed antibiotics in the past 3 months. Two participants declined to participate further. Three participants did not meet the inclusion criteria and therefore were excluded. Of the initial 18 participants recruited, a total of 13 participants successfully completed the study.

Participants visited the laboratory on 4 different occasions (days 0, 21, 35 and 56) and pulmonary function, anthropometric measurements and venous blood samples was assessed during each visit. Asthma related questionnaires (ACQ-6, Nijmegen, SNOT-22, Hull airways reflux, HADS, Epworth questionnaires) were completed at each visit. Blood collection and questionnaires were described in section **3.3**.

3.3 Human Trial Measurements

3.3.1. Anthropometric measurements

Body mass was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg using calibrated electronic scales (SECA 877 Scale, SECA, U.K.), wearing lightweight clothing and barefoot. Height was measured with a stadiometer (SECA stadiometer, SECA, U.K.). Participants stood bare foot with heels together with arms by their side. Hip and waist circumference were measured using a medical tape. Waist measurement was taken halfway between the lower rib and

the iliac crest point, and hip circumference as the widest point. Participants were instructed to breathe out gently while the measurements were taken.

Waist to hip ratio was calculated by dividing the waist by the hip circumference and used to estimate body fat distribution.

3.3.2. Pulmonary functions

Pulmonary function was conducted in accordance with the American Thoracic Society (ATS) and European Respiratory Society (ERS) guidelines (Miller et al. 2005) using a spirometer (Pneumotrac; Vitalograph, U.K.) calibrated with a 3L syringe. Participant's body mass, height, age, sex, ethnicity and smoker status were entered in the spirometry software in order to determine the personal predicted lung capacity value based on the predicted equation of Quanjer et co-workers and approved by the European Respiratory Society (Quanjer et al. 2013).

Participants performed the test in a standing position and wearing a nose clip.

Maximal flow-volume loops to determine absolute and percentage predicted forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁), peak expiratory flow rate (PEF), forced expiratory flow rate from 25-75 of FVC (FEF₂₅₋₇₅), forced expiratory flow rate 75-85 of FVC (FEF₇₅₋₈₅) and FEV₁/FVC ratios were performed by the participants. Before the test, participants were instructed to inhale maximally, place their mouth around the mouthpiece filter and exhale as quickly as possible for six seconds. After six seconds participants were instructed to rapidly inhale to full inspiration, keeping the mouth on the mouthpiece. During each visit, participants performed a minimum of three flow-volume loops for pulmonary function measures. The test was accepted when the two highest values for the measurements of FEV₁ and FVC were within 0.150 L, with

the highest values taken for subsequent analysis (Graham et al. 2019). Data were reported as a % of the predicted lung capacity values.

3.3.3. Blood sampling

Venous blood was drawn from a vein in the antecubital fossa region of the elbow using a 23-gauge butterfly needle (Becton Dickinson (BD) Vacutainer Safety Lok Blood Set 23g x 7" Tubing, U.K.).

At each visit, blood (8 mL) was drawn into a Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) plasma vacutainer (BD, U.K.) for the measurement of cytokines in blood plasma, and a further 10 mL into a serum separating tube (BD, U.K.) for the measurement of cytokines in blood serum.

EDTA plasma vacutainers were gently inverted and immediately centrifuged for 15 minutes at 1,500 g at 4°C. The plasma layer was aliquoted and subsequently stored at - 80°C until analysis. Serum separating tubes were gently inverted and left to stand for 30 minutes at room temperature and then centrifuged for 15 minutes at 1,000 g at 4°C. The serum layer was then aliquoted and stored at -80°C until analysis. After blood sampling, the butterfly needle was removed, and firm pressure was applied on the puncture site to avoid hematoma.

Blood samples were collected, processed and stored in the exact same way from WATCH and NTU participants.

3.3.4. Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent assays

Commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) were used to determine concentrations of cytokines from human blood serum and plasma samples. ELISAs were used to quantify lipopolysaccharides binding protein (LBP; Hycult Biotech, #HK315), Calprotectin (Bio-techne; #DS8900), and neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) (Bio-techne; #DLCN20) levels in serum/plasma samples. All ELISAs were performed according to the manufacturers' instructions. Samples, reagents, and standards were prepared using the appropriate dilutions as instructed by the manufacturer (Table 3.3.4.1). For calprotectin and NGAL, the standards and samples were introduced into each well containing the capture antibody and incubated at room temperature to allow the antigen to bind with the capture antibody. The plate was washed with wash buffer and then the enzyme-linked polyclonal antibody, specific for the protein of interest, was added and the plate was incubated at room temperature under constant stirring. The plate was then washed again before adding the substrate solution and colours developed in proportion to the amount of protein bound in the initial step. Finally, the stop solution was added to stop the reaction and the plate was read immediately on a plate reader (Tecan Infinite M plex, Switzerland).

For the LBP assay, the same steps were followed but before adding the linked antibody, a biotinylated tracer was added to the plate (to bind the captured LBP antibody) and incubated at room temperature under constant stirring.

According to manufacturer's, the lower limits of detection for the assays were 4.4 ng/mL for LBP, 0.086 ng/mL for Calprotectin and 0.012 ng/mL for NGAL. The intra-assay and

75

inter-assay coefficient of variation (CV) were 2.2% and 4.1% for LBP, 3.4% and 4.6% for

Calprotectin and 3.7% and 6.5% for NGAL, respectively.

All samples were analysed in duplicate on one 96-well plate.

Marker considered	Company	Catalogue number	Sediment used	Dilution
LBP	Hycult Biotech	HK315	Plasma	1:2000
Calprotectin	Bio-techne	DS8900	Plasma	1:100
NGAL	Bio-techne	DLCN20	Serum	1:40

Table 3.3.4.1. Elisa assays kit, catalogue number and relative dilution used.

(LBP= lipopolysaccharide binding protein; NGAL= neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin).

3.3.5. Analysis of blood plasma inflammatory cytokines

Blood cytokine levels (pg/mL) were measured in plasma from 98 WATCH study participants using a human magnetic Luminex[®] multiplex assay for C-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 3 (CCL3), Chemokine Ligand 4 (CCL4), Chemokine Ligand 11 (CCL11), Interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, Periostin, Chitinase-3like-1, Neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin (NGAL), Leptin, Adiponectin, Granzyme A, Granzyme B and Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha (TNF- α) according to the manufacturer's instructions (R&D Systems, Bio-Techne Ltd, Abington, UK).

3.3.6. Nutritional intervention trial: serum markers analysis

A Pentra C400 (Horiba, U.K.) was used to measure serum biomarker (mmol/L) from participants with asthma who attended the prebiotic intervention trial to assess changes in biomarkers between each visit. The measured biomarkers were Glucose (Horiba, U.K., #1220001668), high-density lipoprotein (HDL) direct (Horiba, U.K., #1220001636), lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL) (Horiba, U.K., #1220001638), total cholesterol (Horiba, U.K., #A11A01634), C-reactive protein (CRP) (Horiba, U.K., #A11A01611) and Triglycerides (Horiba, U.K., #1220001640).

All samples were measured in duplicate and run together to avoid batch variations. Variation between repeats was <0.01 mmol/L.

3.3.7. Self-reported questionnaires:

3.3.7.1 Asthma Control Questionnaire (ACQ)-6

The ACQ-6 test is a validated questionnaire designed to assess asthma control and participants had to recall their symptoms over the past week (Juniper et al. 1999).

The ACQ-6 includes six items which are scored on a 6-point scale (0 = never/no symptoms/none; 6 = all the time/very severe symptoms/totally limited) and a total maximum score of 36. The total raw score is then divided by the number of items in the questionnaire (6) and results were used for analysis.

Optimal cut-offs to identify poorly controlled asthma were set at a score \geq 1.5 and those deemed to represent well controlled asthma were set at a score \leq 0.75 with a minimal significant difference being a 0.5 change in score (Juniper et al. 1999). The questionnaire has shown good test reproducibility in stable asthma patients (intraclass correlation coefficient = 0.9) (Juniper et al. 1999).

The ACQ-6 questionnaire is displayed in **Appendix 4.1: Asthma control questionnaire** (ACQ-6).

3.3.7.2 Nijmegen questionnaire

The Nijmegen score questionnaire is a validated tool used for screening symptoms associated with dysfunctional breathing pattern and for hyperventilation syndrome in asthmatics from mild to severe asthma conditions (Grammatopoulou et al. 2014). It comprises of a16 symptoms checklist to be answered on a 0 to 4 scale (0=never; 4=very often) and a total score of 64. A score above 23 suggests a positive diagnosis of hyperventilation.

The Nijmegen questionnaire is displayed in Appendix 4.2: Nijmegen questionnaire.

3.3.7.3 The Hull airway reflux questionnaire

The Hull airways reflux questionnaire is used to assesses symptoms associated with airways reflux. It is used by clinicians to diagnose non-acid gaseous reflux impacting on the airway leading to bronchospasm and shortness of breath. It is self-administered and comprises 14 questions with a maximum score of 70. Each question is rated on a scale (0= no problem; 5=severe/frequent problem). The average score for healthy people is 4 out of 70 and the upper limit of normal is 13, whereas a score higher than 13 indicate presence of airway reflux (Morice, Spriggs, and Bell 2011).

The Hull airways questionnaire can be found in **Appendix 4.3: Hull airway reflux** questionnaire.

3.2.7.4 Sino-nasal outcome test (SNOT)-22

The sino-nasal outcome test is a self-reported questionnaire with an outcome measure for patients with chronic rhinosinusitis. It was originally used and validated to distinguish patients with Chronic rhinosinusitis and to correlate high score SNOT-22 score with reduced quality of life (Hopkins et al. 2009). The SNOT-22 assesses a patient's symptoms over the preceding 2-week period, which increases its ability to detect significant clinical changes over time.

More recently the SNOT-22 questionnaire was used as a widespread outcome assessment tool to evaluate patient self-reported outcomes measure in diseases such as allergic rhinitis (Husain et al. 2020), obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) (Bengtsson et al. 2020), nasal septum deviation (Buckland, Thomas, and Harries 2003) and asthma (C. Huang et al. 2017). However, the SNOT-22s usefulness in clinical practice is limited to a snapshot in time. The SNOT-22 consists of 22 questions ranging from 0 ('no problem') to 5 ('problem as bad as it can be'), with the total score of 110.

Any value above 8 is considered abnormal and indicates worse symptoms (Questionnaire cut-off scores are listed in **Table 3.3.7.4.1**).

The SNOT-22 is displayed in **Appendix 4.4: SNOT-22 questionnaire.**

SNOT-22 score	outcome
0-7	normal
8-20	mild
21-50	moderate
>50	severe

Table 3.3.7.4.1.	. SNOT-22 related	score and sever	ty of disease.
------------------	-------------------	-----------------	----------------

3.3.7.5 Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS questionnaire)

The HADS is a self-reported questionnaire to detect anxiety disorders and depression among patients in nonpsychiatric hospital clinics (Zigmond and Snaith 1983). It is useful to detect states of depression and anxiety as well as the severity of emotional disorder (Zigmond and Snaith 1983). It was initially developed for hospital setting use but numerous studies conducted around the world have confirmed its validity for the general population use, as confirmed by a review of 747 papers that used HADS in various settings (Bjelland et al. 2002). It is divided into an Anxiety subscale (HADS-A) and a Depression subscale (HADS-D) both containing seven questions each.

For each section, the normal value range is between 0-7, a value between 8-10 is considered borderline, while a subscale scores above 11 is considered abnormal and may require medical attention.

The HADS questionnaire is displayed in **Appendix 4.5: HADS questionnaire**.

3.2.7.6 Epworth scale

Epworth scale is a validated test used to measure sleepiness. It was developed by Murry W. Johns in 1991 and it provides a measurement of the subject's general level of daytime sleepiness (Johns 1991). The Epworth scale evaluates if the participants experience excessive sleepiness that may require clinical attention. The scale has been correlated with respiratory disturbances and obstructive sleep apnoea, which are diseases frequently correlated with asthma (Dixit 2018).

The questionnaire comprises 7 items with a total score ranging from 0 to 24. In healthy adults the normal value of sleepiness is below 10, while values above 16 represent an abnormal day time sleepiness. The detailed cut-off values are listed in **Table 3.3.7.6.1**. The Epworth scale is displayed in **Appendix 4.6: Epworth questionnaire**.

Epworth scale interpretation:		
0-5	lower normal daytime sleepiness	
6-10	normal daytime sleepiness	
11-12	mild excessive daytime symptoms	
13-15	moderate excessive daytime	
	symptoms	
16-24	severe excessive daytime	
	symptoms	

 Table 3.3.7.6.1. Epworth scale interpretation scale.

3.4. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR)

Metabolomic analysis of human plasma samples was conducted using a bench top lowfield Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (bNMR).

NMR is a chemistry technique that uses magnetic field and electromagnetic frequencies to study molecular structure. There are different methods of NMR used, but the most common and the one considered in this study was ¹H NMR due to the high abundance of ¹H isotope in the atoms of molecules. There are several types of NMR available, but they can be divided in two main categories: high field and low-field NMR. High-field NMR operates at the frequency of above 300MHz offering both high sensitivity and resolution spectrum that allows accurate identification of compounds in samples. Although, the high cost and the complexity of the equipment limit its use (Castaing-Cordier, Bouillaud, et al. 2021). Low-field NMR operates at a frequency between 40 and 100mHz; it is less sensitive and has lower resolution than high field NMR, which results in a poorly resolved spectra making difficult to distinguish between metabolites (Castaing-Cordier, Ladroue, et al. 2021). Although advanced data processing and optimised pulse sequences have made it possible to improve structural and quantitative information obtained from the spectrum (Castaing-Cordier, Bouillaud, et al. 2021; Giberson et al. 2021). Other advantages of low-field NMR are its contained cost in terms of maintenance and support cost and a minimal samples preparation.

The bNMR, considered in this study, used a low-field frequency of 60MHz and had the advantage of being compact and therefore requiring a minimal space.

There are three main components to consider when looking at the spectrum: chemical shift, integration, and spin-spin coupling.

Chemical shift provides information about the chemical environment of a protons. If the spectrum is more downfield, this means that the proton is closer to the electronegative atoms. If the peak is upfield, the proton is further way from the electronegative elements (Fig.1).

Chemical shift is expressed in part per million (ppm) and common reference peak used is Trimethylsilylpropanoic acid (TSP) that has a chemical shift of 0.

Samples's integration represents the area under the curve of the peak which give information on regards how many chemically equivalent protons are generating that peak.

Spin-spin coupling represent how the orientation of neighbouring nuclei affect the magnetic field causing a splitting of the signal for each nucleus in two or more lines. The number of splitting generated indicates the number of chemically bonded nuclei in the vicinity of the observed nucleus. A schematic NMR spectrum is represented in **Fig.3.4.1**.



Fig.3.4.1. Schematic representation of NMR spectra.

Schematic representation of NMR spectra showing the three major component of the peak: spin-spin coupling, samples' integration, and chemical shift. The scale is expressed in δ , which represents frequency of the signal- the frequency of the spectrophotometer. Other abbreviations are part per million (ppm) and Trimethylsilyl propanoic acid (TSP).

3.4.1. Samples preparation for bNMR and analysis

A total of 12 human plasma samples, 6 belonging to subjects with no underlying disease

and 6 with well-controlled asthma, were collected from participants as described in

section 3.3.3 and stored at -80°C until use. Before proton benchtop nuclear magnetic

resonance (¹H-bNMR) experiment, samples were thawed on ice until defrosted. Then, 450 μ L of each plasma sample was mixed with 50 μ L of Trimethylsilylpropanoic acid (TSP) (Acros organics, U.K.) (0.05% w/v), 25 μL of Sodium azide (Sigma Aldrich, U.K.) (18.8mg in 10 mL Deuterium) (Thermofisher Scientific) and 25 µL of Phosphate Buffer (7.1pH) (Sigma Aldrich, U.K.). The mixture was then transferred into an 8" NMR tube (WILMAD 5mm 100mHz NMR benchtop tube, U.S.A., #WG-BTNMR-8) for analysis. Following bNMR spectrophotometer (X-pulse 60MHz, Oxford Instruments, U.K.) calibration, each sample spectra was acquired using the pulse sequence noted as (Water suppression Enhancement though T1) WET-180°- Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill (CPMG). The WET °180 was used for water suppression, while CPMG was a spin-echo pulse sequence used to reduce protein signals. Each sample were run on the ¹H-bNMR for 23 hr using 4096 scans at the acquisition time of 3.14 seconds. Once completed, the spectra were binned into 0.01 part per million (ppm) wide regions and the regions of the spectrum containing no signal were removed. The area considered were between 0-4 ppm regions as they contained the majority of peaks and, therefore, used for statistical analysis.

The data was processed using Mestrenova software where baseline correction, phase correction and reference alignment was completed. Metabolites identification was conducted using human metabolome database (HMDB) website and existing literature. Metabolites comparison between bNMR and high field NMR were conducted by visual inspection of the stacked spectra. Statistical analysis was conducted using MetaboAnalyst 5.0. Data were normalized by sum and filtered by the mean intensity value. Pareto scaling was applied and then Principal Component Analysis (PCA) and Orthogonal Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (OrthoPLS-DA) were performed.
To confirm results obtained from low-field bNMR, plasma samples were analysed using high-field NMR (HF-NMR) (400MHz, Oxford Instruments, Jeol consol). Once the samples was prepared (the same sample prepared and used for the bNMR was re-used for the HF-NMR), they were loaded onto the autosampler of the 400MHz spectrometer. The samples followed an automatic quick shim (adjusting the resolution of the signal by optimizing the homogeneity of the magnetic field), tuning and matching (optimises the efficiency of the radio frequency pulses and maximises sensitivity). The parameters and exact pulse sequence used for bNMR was used for HF-NMR (WET-180°-CPMG with 4096 scans at the acquisition time of 3.14 seconds).

The data obtained were then processed and statistically analysed with the same method described above for bNMR data. In addition, to assess differences in metabolites levels between groups, a t-test was performed on selected metabolites.

3.5. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 9.5.1 software, unless otherwise specified. All graphs were reported as mean±standard error of the mean (SEM) unless otherwise specified. Statistical analysis test analysis was based on normality test using Shapiro-Wilks criteria.

For cell culture work, mainly one-way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test or independent samples t-test were used to determine difference between the treatments used.

For the WATCH-NTU collaboration study, multiple linear regression and Pearson r correlation was used to identify correlation between BMI and inflammatory cytokines

and lung function. To determine association between BMI and/or gut permeability and lung function, one-way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test or Kruskal-Wallis nonparametric test were used, based on normality test outcome. Comparison between two groups was performed using unpaired t-test or Mann-Whitey test, based on normality test outcome.

For the NMR pilot study, data were analysed using MetaboAnalyst 5.0. Statistical analysis was performed as descripted in section **3.4.1**. Briefly, following data normalization, PCA and OrthoPLS-DA analysis were used to identify difference in the spectra region between participants with asthma and healthy controls.

For the prebiotic human intervention trial, mainly two-way ANOVA plus Šidàk multiple comparison test was used to compare results before and after the supplementation. Data were presented as a mean±Standard Deviation (SD) unless otherwise specified.

The % of change between day 0 and day 21 for each parameter was calculated as follow:

$$\% change = \frac{(Outcome \ day \ 21 - outcome \ day \ 0)}{Outcome \ day \ 21} * 100$$

For human studies, data analysed with the ANOVA test, partial eta squared (η^2) effect sizes was calculated as:

$$\eta^{2} = \frac{Sum of the squares between groups (SSE)}{Sum of the squared total (SST)}$$

Effect size for Kruskal-wallis test was Epsilon squared (ϵ^2), calculated as follow:

$$\epsilon^2 = \frac{H}{(n^2 - 1)/(n+1)}$$

Where

H= outcome value obtained from the Kruskal-Wallis test.

N=Total sample size.

Cohen d (d) effect sizes were calculated for variables assessed by unpaired t-test as:

$$Cohen d (d) = \frac{Mean \, Value \, group \, 1 \, (M1) - Mean \, Value \, group \, 2 \, (M2)}{SDpooled}$$

Where pooled standard deviation (SD):

$$\sqrt{\frac{SD1^2 + SD2^2}{2}}$$

Statistical significance was considered to be p<0.05, and reported as *p<0.05, **p<0.01, **p<0.001; **** p<0.0001.

Chapter 4: The role of LPS and SCFA on mitochondria morphology and function in airway cells

4.1 Introduction

Mitochondria are essential organelles that are involved in several processes including regulation of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production, autophagy, key process that remove damaged material from the cell, and stress responses (Shen et al. 2022). This makes mitochondria essential to a cell's life by regulating its growth, homeostasis, and movement. Mitochondria are dynamic organelles that are constantly reorganising themselves by fission, fusion and biogenesis processes, and autophagy; a balance of these processes are essential to maintain a healthy mitochondrion (Wai and Langer 2016). Dysregulation of mitochondrial function can compromise the cell, which may promote excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and inflammation. ROS are generated as byproducts of oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria. They play a dual role as destructive and constructive species. Specifically, ROS are involved in many redox-governing activities of the cells for the preservation of cellular homeostasis (for example protection against invaders, regulation of autophagy) (Bardaweel et al. 2018). However, ROS overproduction has been reported to result in oxidative stress, a deleterious process involved in the damage of cell structures that is linked with various disease states including asthma (Bhatraju and Agrawal 2017a; Mabalirajan and Ghosh 2013). ROS overproduction can lead to oxidative damage to mitochondrial proteins, membranes and DNA, impairing the ability of mitochondria to synthesize ATP and to carry out their metabolic functions, including the Krebs acid cycle and fatty acid oxidation (Bardaweel et al. 2018).

Altered mitochondrial metabolism has recently been linked with asthma disease. In fact, an aberrant mitochondria metabolism can negatively affect oxidative stress, airway contractility, apoptosis, and proliferation, all of which can exacerbate the disease (Bhatraju and Agrawal 2017b). Additionally, altered mitochondria function have been associated with low metabolic activity which is a key characteristic of obesity (Bhatraju and Agrawal 2017b).

The gut microbiota can also positively or negatively affect mitochondrial activity and production of ROS (Hu et al. 2020; Saint-Georges-Chaumet et al. 2015a). One of the mechanisms by which the microbiota may increase healthy mitochondrial function is through the release of short chain fatty acids (SCFA), the end-product of intestinal microbial fermentation of carbohydrates. Prior studies using the SCFA, butyrate, one of the major SCFA found in humans, along with propionate and acetate, has shown that it may regulate mitochondrial activity by rescuing oxidative phosphorylation and improving ATP levels. In the study conducted by Donohoe et al., they observed a reduction in tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle activity in germ-free (GF) mice, assessed by transcriptomic and proteomic data(Donohoe et al. 2011a). The TCA cycle plays a crucial role in cellular energy metabolism by converting NAD+ to NADH, which fuels the electron transport chain for ATP production via oxidative phosphorylation. The diminished TCA cycle activity in GF colonocytes led to a lower NADH/NAD+ ratio in mitochondria.

To directly attribute this energy deficit to the absence of gut microbes, the researchers colonized GF mice with microbiota from control mice. Additionally, they investigated the specific impact of butyrate, by colonizing GF mice with a butyrate-producing bacterial strain called *Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens* (Diez-Gonzalez et al. 1999; Rumney et al. 1995). Their experiments demonstrated that both complete microbiota and colonization with *B. fibrisolvens* rescued oxidative phosphorylation in colonocytes compared to GF mice.

90

Importantly, this restoration of microbial colonization, especially with butyrateproducing bacteria, led to improved ATP levels in the colonocytes (Donohoe et al. 2011a).

Another in vitro study using β -cells investigated the role of acetate on cell metabolism. Hu et all. treated β -cells with 1mM of acetate and evaluated its effect on oxygen consumption rate (OCR), indicator of mitochondrial respiration, compared to control group. Data showed an increase of 22% of OCR compared to control cells, assessed using a mitochondria stress test kit (Hu et al. 2020). Furthermore, acetate appears to reduce the production of ROS in cells during cellular induced stressed conditions (Hu et al. 2020).

However, in cases where there is an imbalance in the microbiota population there can be a rise in gut-derived lipopolysaccharide (LPS) which can enter the circulation and initiate inflammation throughout the body, turning inflammation from local to systemic. LPS can induce the release of ROS from mitochondria, contributing to an increase in the inflammatory response and cellular oxidative stress (Saint-Georges-Chaumet et al. 2015b). Following an increase in ROS production, mitochondria release superoxide dismutase 2 (mtSOD2) to limit the damage caused by the oxidative stress (Ning et al. 2021).

Yet beyond LPS-induced mitochondrial functional effects, recent studies have observed LPS to modify mitochondria morphology with the overexpression of fission processes which in turn leads to mitochondrial fragmentation in at least primary neuronal immune cells, microglia (Nair et al. 2019b). In contrast, SCFAs appear to mitigate LPS-induced change in fission and fusion ratio, protecting mitochondrial structure as observed with

91

in vitro study using a combination of human islet cells and mouse insulinoma cell line MIN6 (Hu et al. 2020). Fusion and fission processes are essential to regulate mitochondrial division, hence fundamental to maintain mitochondrial quality and function. In order to regulate the mitochondrial division, balance of fission and fusion process are essential (van der Bliek et al. 2013). An alteration in fission/fusion ratio could significantly affect mitochondria structure leading to mitochondria fragmentation and the possible accumulation of irreversibly damaged mitochondria, which in turn may lead to excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS) and pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Andrieux et al. 2021; Liesa and Shirihai 2013).

One mechanism through which the mitochondria can respond to a gut derived LPS insult is by increasing biogenesis and autophagy of mitochondria. This mechanism is used to replace the damaged mitochondria with new ones to clear damaged material and allow the cell to perform its normal function as observed in a recent study investigating the effect of LPS in monocytic cells (Widdrington et al. 2018b).

Although the mechanism of action of LPS and SCFA has been studied in several cell types, little is known about the effect of LPS and SCFA on airway cells (BEAS2B-R1) and how this may provide a mechanism for how gut-derived LPS may impact lung function.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

Thus, the aim of this chapter was to:

• Evaluate whether in airway cells LPS and/or SCFA could affect mitochondrial functionality (expression of fusion and fission genes and proteins) and

morphology (by imaging live mitochondria to determine if alterations in mitochondrial branching and size occur).

 Determine how airway cell mitochondrial function may be compromised by LPS and rescued by SCFA treatments (acetate, butyrate and propionate mix at a ratio of 80:10:10 (2mM:0.25mM:0.25mM)).

Define whether mitochondrial biogenesis is enhanced by LPS or SCFA treatments.

4.2 Material and Methods

4.2.1 Cell culture: BEAS2B-R1 cells

The human epithelial lung cell line BEAS2B-R1 was cultured in a growth media composed of 500 mL Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) cell culture media (Gibco U.K.) containing 10% Foetal Bovine Serum (FBS) and 0.5 mg/mL penicillin-streptomycin-Glutamine (Pen strep), referred as cell culture media. Briefly, 1x10⁵ cells were seeded on to 6-well plates unless otherwise specified and grown to 80% confluence. Once confluent, cells were treated for 6, 12 or 24 hr with either 10 or 100 ng/mL of LPS with or without SCFA mix composed of acetate, butyrate, and propionate at a ratio of 80:10:10 (2mM:0.25mM:0.25mM).

In addition to the above treatments, 2 plates were pre-treated with SCFA for 24hr and then treated with:

- •LPS 10 ng/mL +SCFA
- •LPS 100 ng/mL+ SCFA

Following the initial results obtained with the Western Blot analysis, all subsequent experiments were conducted using a high dose of LPS (100 ng/mL), SCFA and the SCFA pre-treated cells treated with LPS 100 ng/mL and SCFA at 6, 12 and 24 hr.

4.2.2 Protein extraction and Western blot

For protein extraction, $1x10^5$ BEAS2B-R1 cells were collected in 250 μ L of 1x radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA) (Millipore U.K.), with dissolved protease and phosphatase inhibitor solutions (Roche Complete Mini protease inhibitor cocktail

tablets) and sodium fluoride (NaF, Fisher Scientific, U.K.) and sodium vanadate (Na₃VO₄, Acros Organics, U.K.).

A Bio-Rad detergent protein assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA) and plate reader (Infinite m plex, U.K.) were used to quantify protein concentrations.

As previously described in section **3.1.3** for Western blot analyses, 20-30 µg of protein was loaded onto a polyacrylamide gel, transferred on to a nitrocellulose membrane and then incubated with a primary antibody diluted in either 0.2% I-block phosphate buffer saline -tween (PBS-T) or 5% BSA 1x tris-buffer saline tween (TBST) at 4°C overnight. The next day, the primary antibody was removed, and the membrane was then washed 3 times with PBS-T or TBS-T. The secondary antibody was then added and incubated for 60 minutes under constant stirring. A chemiluminescence detection system (ECL Plus, GeneFlow, U.K.) was used to visualize protein bands, and densitometry was conducted using ImageJ Software. Equal protein loading was confirmed by examining β-actin protein expression.

Primary antibodies utilized were listed in Table 3.1.3.1.

4.2.3 RNA isolation and qRT-PCR

For RNA extraction, BEAS2B-R1 cells were harvested by adding 350 μ L of RNA lysis buffer (RLY) (Bioline U.K.) and 3.5 μ L β -mercaptoethanol (β -ME) (Sigma) to each well. RNA was extracted from cell culture samples using Isolate II RNA Mini Kit (Bioline U.K., #BIO-52073) according to manufacturer's instructions. Synthesis of cDNA was carried using 1 μ g of RNA as described in section **3.1.4**.

Gene expression was assayed through quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR). Each reaction was prepared to 20 μ L final volume containing Taqman Universal PCR mastermix (Applied Biosystems, U.K.), 1 μ L sample cDNA, a specific Taqman gene expression primer of interest (Applied Biosystems, UK) and 20x 18s (ribosomal RNA) as a control. The primer sequences and commercial catalogue numbers used in this project are listed in **Table 3.1.4.1**. All samples were assayed in triplicate. The assay reaction was performed according to the manufacturer instructions at 50 °C for 2 minutes, 95 °C for 10 minutes and then 40 cycles of 95 °C for 15 seconds and then 60 °C for 1 min.

The data were analysed using Δ Ct that was calculated by subtracting the difference between 18s and the target gene.

Finally, gene expression was calculated as: $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$

where $\Delta\Delta Ct$ = (Gene of interest- 18s)-Average of control

4.2.4 Mitochondria Stress Test

Seahorse XF24Extracellular Flux Analyzer (Seahorse Bioscience, Agilent Technologies) was used to measure mitochondrial respiration rate. Bronchial epithelial cells BEAS2B-R1 were seeded onto 24-well plates (Seahorse Bioscience, Agilent technologies) at a density of 20,000 cells/well, grown until 80% confluent and then treated for 6, 12 or 24 hours with or without LPS 100 ng or SCFA.

Each experimental group was assayed in 5 replicates on at least 2 separate occasions.

Seahorse buffer media, prepared as instructed by the manufacturer, was used to run the experiment. The mitochondria stress test consisted of a 30 minute calibration step and a 30 minutes equilibrium step, followed by cycles repeated 3 times: 3 minutes mix, 2 minutes wait and 3 minutes measure. The order of the reagents injected for each cycle were Oligomycin, Carbonyl cyanide-p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone (FCCP) and Rotenone/Antimycin (Agilent technologies, Mitochondria stress kit). The reagents were injected at the final concentration of 1.5 μ M for Oligomycin, 2 μ M FCCP and 0.5 μ L Rotenone/Antimycin, according to manufacturer's instruction.

The WAVE software calculated Oxygen consumption rate (OCR) and extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) (Seahorse Bioscience, Agilent Technologies).

4.2.5 Mitochondrial activity analysis

To determine mitochondrial activity, fluorescent imaging of live cells was conducted using a EVOS microscope.

BEAS2B-R1 cells were seeded at the concentration of 25,000 cells/mL in a 6 well-plate and left to grow until 80% confluent. The following day, cells were treated with either LPS 100 ng, SCFA or a combination of them for 6, 12 or 24 hr. Once ready, DMEM cell culture media (Gibco U.K.) was replaced with serum free, phenol-free media (DMEM, F-12, Gibco, U.K.) containing 50 nM Mitotracker red (Invitrogen, Thermofisher Scientific, U.K.) and 25 nM of Mitotracker green (In vitrogen, Thermofisher Scientific, U.K.). Cells were incubated for 25 minutes at 37°C. Following this, cells were washed 3 times using with serum free, phenol-free media and live imaged using an EVOS microscope. Images are shown at 20x magnification and are representative of 3 independent experiments and a minimum of 100 cells analysed of each experimental group. To quantify mitochondrial activity, ratios between red Mito tracker staining cells and green Mito tracker-stained cells were calculated using ImageJ.

4.2.6 Nanolive Imaging

Analysis of the mitochondrial morphology network was performed through live cell imaging using a Nanolive microscope. BEAS2B-R1 cells were seeded at the concentration of 25,000 cells/mL in a μ -Dish 35 mm, high Glass Bottom (Thistle Scientific, U.K.) and left to grow until 80% confluent. Cells were then treated for 6, 12 or 24 hr with or without LPS.

After completion of treatment, culture media was replaced with 50 nM of Mitotracker Red (Invitrogen, Thermofisher Scientific) and 25 nM of Mitotracker Green (In vitrogen, Thermofisher Scientific) and cells were incubated for 25 minutes at 37 °C. Cells were then washed 3 times with serum-free, phenol-free media (DMEM F-12, Gibco, U.K.,) and imaged using Nanolive microscope (Nanolive SA, 3-D cell explorer). Morphological assessment of mitochondria was conducted using Nanolive images with image J software as previously described by Stuart lab (A. J. Valente et al. 2017). The data evaluated were: mitochondria number, area, branches, average branches length and fragmentation (ratio between mitochondria area and perimeter). Images are shown at 20x magnification and are representative of 3 independent experiments and a minimum of 30 cells counted for each experimental group.

4.2.7 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 9.5.1 software. Data analysis was based on normality test outcome, assessed by using Shapiro-Wilks test criteria. All graphs are reported as mean±standard error of the mean (SEM) unless otherwise specified. Comparison between multiple groups were made using one way ANOVA analysis plus Tukey's post hoc test. Comparison between two groups were made with independent samples t-test, if passed the normality distribution test. If not, analysis was conducted using a Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test. Statistical significance was considered to be p<0.05 and reported as follow: *<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 LPS altered mitochondria fusion/fission genes

A preliminary analysis was performed to look at gene expression of one fission gene, mitochondrial fission 1 (FIS1), and one fusion gene, optic atrophy 1 (OPA1), following treatment of BEAS2-BR1 cells with 100 ng/mL of LPS with or without SCFA for 6, 12 or 24 hr.

LPS treated cells showed a significant overexpression of the fission gene, FIS1, at 6 hr (*p<0.05) and 12 hr (**p<0.01) compared to the basal level, while it remained elevated at 24hr but not statistically significant (Fig. 4.3.1.1-b), d), f)). Cells treated with SCFA alone resulted in an overexpression of FIS1 at 6 hr (****p<0.0001) compared to control, while it returned to baseline levels at 12 hr and 24 hr. SCFA pretreated cells in combination with LPS ((P)LPS100+SCFA) exhibited a level of FIS1 similar to the control level in all the timepoints considered.

LPS did not change the expression of the fusion gene OPA1 at any of the timepoints considered, although OPA1 tended to be more highly expressed at 24 hr compared to baseline (**Fig. 4.3.1.1-Fig. 4.3.1.2** -a), c), e)). SCFA alone had no significant effect on the expression of OPA1 at the considered timepoints. However, SCFA tended to increase the expression of OPA1 at 6 hr compared to the control. Pre-treating cells in combination with LPS led to an overexpression of the OPA1 gene at 12hr (**p<0.01) compared to the control group, while no other changes were reported at the other timepoints (**Fig. 4.3.1.1**--a), c), e)).



Fig. 4.3.1.1. FIS1 and OPA1 gene expression in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS \pm SCFA. Gene expression was assessed for FIS1 and OPA1 at 6 hr (a, (b), 12 hr (c, d), 24 hr (e, f) (n=3)). Data are presented as the mean with standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc analysis. p-values are displayed as follows: (*=control vs other treatments; += LPS 100ng vs other treatment; ^=SCFA vs other treatments) *p<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

A ratio analysis between FIS1/OPA1 was performed to evaluate if there was an alteration in the fission/fusion levels and the results were reported as a % of change from the control group. LPS treated cells showed a 200% increase in the FIS1/OPA1 ratio at 6 hr and 12 hr compared to the basal level (6hr, 12hr: *p<0.05) (**Fig. 4.3.1.2**-a) b)). At 6hr, although not significant, combined treatment of LPS and SCFA appeared to partially restore FIS1/OPA1 ratio to basal levels (p=ns, **Fig. 4.3.1.2**-a)). At 12 hr, combined treatment of LPS and SCFA significantly reduce FIS1/OPA1 ratio compared to LPS (**p<0.01) (**Fig. 4.3.1.2**-b)). No differences in FIS1/OPA1 ratio were observed at 24 hr (p=ns, **Fig. 4.3.1.2**-c)).



Fig. 4.3.1.2. Ratio summary for FIS1/OPA1 gene expression in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS ± SCFA.

Summary graph of ratio analysis between fission protein FIS1 and fusion genes OPA1 at a) 6, b)12, c)24 hr (n=3). Data are presented as the mean with standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test. p-values are displayed as follows: (*=control vs other treatments; += LPS 100ng vs other treatment) *p<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

4.3.2 LPS induced imbalance in mitochondrial fusion/fission protein expression

Protein expression studies were conducted to confirm findings obtained with the gene expression analysis observed in **4.3.1**. To best evaluate the effect of LPS on mitochondrial structure, 2 mitochondrial fission proteins (FIS1, DPR1) and 2 fusion proteins (OPA1, MNF2) were measured in airway epithelial cells (BEAS2B-R1) using different concentration of LPS. Cells were treated with low or high doses of LPS (10 ng/mL or 100 ng/mL respectively), with or without SCFA, for 6, 12 or 24 hr.

4.3.2.1 Changes in mitochondrial fusion proteins following LPS treatment

Cells treated with 100 ng/mL of LPS showed a trend of decreasing the level of fusion protein, mitofusin 2 (MNF2) at 6 hr (p=ns), while it led to an increase at 12 hr (p=ns) and 24 hr (**p<0.01) compared to basal levels. Although not significant, cells treated with 100 ng/mL of LPS treated cells showed an increased trend in the concentration level of the fusion protein OPA1 at all the time points considered. No significant differences were observed for OPA1 and MNF2 following treatment with the lower concentration of LPS (10 ng/mL) with or without SCFA. (P)LPS100+SCFA treated cells, reduced levels of MNF2 at 6 hr (*p<0.05) compared to control cells, while it was restored to basal levels at 12 hr and 24 hr. Similar basal levels of OPA1 were observed in the (P)LPS100+SCFA treated cells at all the timepoints considered (**Fig.4.3.2.1**; **Fig.4.3.2.2**; **Fig.4.3.2.4**).

4.3.2.2 Changes in mitochondrial fission proteins following LPS treatment

Cells treated with 100 ng/mL of LPS showed no changes in the fission proteins dynamin related protein (DPR1) and mitochondrial fission protein FIS1 compared to control levels at 6 hr, while an increase of both were observed at 12 hr (FIS1, DPR1: p=ns) and 24 hr (DPR1: ns, FIS: ***p<0.001) compared to basal levels. (P)LPS100 ng+SCFA treated cells showed a decreased level of FIS1 (**p<0.01) and un-changed level of DPR1 at 6 hr compared to basal levels, while no changes were observed at 12 hr or 24 hr (p=ns). No significant changes were observed for DPR1 and FIS1 with the lower concentration of LPS (10 ng/mL) with or without SCFA (p=ns) (**Fig.4.3.2.1; Fig.4.3.2.2; Fig.4.3.2.3)**.



Fig.4.3.2.1. Level of fission/fusion proteins in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS \pm SCFA at 6 hr timepoint.

Data are presented as the mean with standard error of the mean (SEM) (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test. p-values are displayed as follows: (*=control vs other treatments; += LPS 100ng vs other treatment; ^=LPS 10ng vs other treatments; f=(P)LPS+SCFA vs treatments; #=LPS100ng+SCFA vs treatment) *p<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.





Data are presented as the mean with standard error of the mean (SEM) (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test. p-values are displayed as follows: (*=control vs other treatments; += LPS 100ng vs other treatment; ^=LPS 10ng vs other treatments; f=(P)LPS+SCFA vs treatments; #=LPS100ng+SCFA vs treatment) *p<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.





Data are presented as the mean with standard error of the mean (SEM) (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test. p-values are displayed as follows: (*=control vs other treatments; += LPS 100ng vs other treatment; ^=LPS 10ng vs other treatments; f=(P)LPS+SCFA vs treatments; #=LPS100ng+SCFA vs treatment; δ =(P)LPS10+SCFA) P-values: *p<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

4.3.2.3 Changes in fission/fusion ratio

A ratio between the fission protein, FIS1, and the fusion protein, OPA1, was undertaken to measure the overall level of fission and fusion proteins for each treatment. Data were expressed as a % of change from the control (**Fig.4.3.2.4**).

Results were not significant but trend in the data showed that 100 ng/mL LPS treated cells showed a reduction of 30% in the FIS1/OPA1 ratio compared with the control at 6 hr, while an increase of 40% and 60% of FIS1/OPA1 ratio was observed at 12 hr and 24 hr respectively, compared to the basal level (**Fig.4.3.2.4**-a) b) c)).

Cells treated with only SCFA did not lead to any changes at the considered timepoints compared to the basal level.

Pre-treating cells with SCFA appeared to mitigate the effect observed with LPS 100 ng/mL reducing FIS1/OPA1 ratio by 30% at both 12 and 24 hr and restoring basal level of FIS/OPA1 Ratio, however data were not statistically significant (p=ns). No significant differences were observed with 10 ng/mL of LPS with or without SCFA (**Fig.4.3.2.4**-b), c)).

The highest dose of LPS 100 ng and the SCFA pre-treated cells caused the greatest effect on mitochondria dynamics. Therefore, all other experiments for this study have been performed using these treatments. a) 6 hr

b) 12 hr











Summary graph of ratio analysis between fission protein FIS1 and fusion protein OPA1 at a) 6, b)12, c)24 hr. Data are presented as the mean with standard error of the mean (SEM) (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc analysis. Data were not significant (p=ns).

4.3.3 The effect of LPS on mitochondria morphology

To look at changes in the morphological network of the mitochondria, treated cells were live imaged using a nano live microscope. These images showed the nucleus of single cells and the mitochondrial network around it (**Fig. 4.3.3.1**). Results were not significant (p=ns) (**Fig. 4.3.3.1**).

Initially at 6hr, mitochondria in LPS treated cells tended to be 30% more fragmentated (ratio between mitochondria area and perimeter) and 60% larger in size than the control group (p=ns) (**Fig. 4.3.3.1** a)). In the SCFA treated cells, there were no change in size and fragmentation compared to the basal level, however a 30% increase in the number and length of branches were observed (**Fig. 4.3.3.1** c) d)). The LPS+SCFA group mitochondria tended to be larger in size and with a higher number of branches, both with a 40% increase compared with the control group (p=ns). Fragmentation and branch length remained similar to control levels (p=ns) (**Fig. 4.3.3.1**).

No major changes were noted at 12 hr. At 24 hr, visually, the mitochondria in the control appeared elongated and highly interconnected, which are signs of a healthy mitochondria network. In the LPS treated cells, alterations in the mitochondria network were observed. Mitochondria were more fragmentated and less organized than the control group, as showed by the annotation (**Fig.4.3.3.3**).

Similarly to what had been observed in the Nanolive images, quantitative analysis of the cells at 24 hr revealed that LPS-treated cells showed a trend towards having more fragmented (**Fig. 4.3.3.3.**, b)) and smaller mitochondria (**Fig. 4.3.3.3**, a)) compared with the control group.

110

In addition, no significant changes were observed in the number of mitochondrial branches between the LPS and control groups. However, % change analysis showed a trend of 30% increase in mitochondrial branches in both SCFA and (P)LPS+SCFA treated cells compared to the control (p=ns). Moreover branch length was approximately 30% shorter in the LPS treated cells compared to the control group, while LPS+SCFA partially restored branch length, showing a 20% branches length increase compared with the LPS treated cells (p=ns) (**Fig. 4.3.3.3.**, d)).







Fig. 4.3.3.1. Nanolive images and quantitative analysis of mitochondria morphology in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS ± SCFA at 6 hr timepoint.

Representative images of Mito tracker green-stained BEAS2B-R1 cells after 6 hr treatment. Images are representative of 30-40 images taken in 3 independent experiments. Images are shown at 40x magnification, scale bar represents 20µm. Images were analysed using Image J software to determine a) mitochondria area; b) mitochondria fragmentation; c) number of mitochondria branches; d) branch length. Data are shown as a % of change from the control and reported as mean with standard error of the mean (SEM). Data were analysed using one-way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc analysis. Data were not significant (p=ns).





Fig. 4.3.3.2. Nanolive images and quantitative analysis of mitochondria morphology in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS ± SCFA at 12 hr timepoint.

Representative images of Mito tracker green-stained BEAS2B-R1 cells after 6 hr treatment. Images are representative of 30-40 images taken in 3 independent experiments. Images are shown at 40x magnification, scale bar represents 20µm. Images were then analysed using Image J software to determine a) mitochondria area; b) mitochondria fragmentation; c) number of mitochondria branches; d) branches length. Data are shown as a % of change from the control and reported as mean with standard error of the mean (SEM). Data were analysed using one-way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc analysis. Data were not significant (p=ns).



Fig. 4.3.3.3. Nanolive images of mitochondria morphology in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS ± SCFA at 24 hr timepoint.

Representative images of Mito tracker green-stained BEAS2B-R1 cells after 24 hr treatment. Images are representative of 30-40 images taken in 3 independent experiments. Images are shown at 40x magnification, scale bar represent 20µm. The insert shows a higher magnification detail of part of the main image.



Fig. 4.3.3.4. Nanolive quantitative analysis of mitochondria morphology in BEAS2B-R1 cells treated with LPS ± SCFA at 24 hr timepoint.

Images were then analysed using Image J software to determine a) mitochondria area; b) mitochondria fragmentation; c) number of mitochondria branches; d) branches length. Data are shown as a % of change from the control and reported as mean with standard error of the mean (SEM). Data were analysed using one-way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc analysis. P values are displayed as follows: p<0.05; p<0.01, p<0.01.

4.3.4 SOD2 protein expression

Mitochondrial SOD2 (mtSOD2) is a protein noted to be a scavenger of ROS and it is released by the mitochondria following an insult in the cell (Lu et al. 2015; Ning et al. 2021). The expression of mtSOD2 protein was increased following treatment with low and high doses of LPS, with the highest increase observed using 100ng of LPS at 6 (***p<0.001), 12 (****p<0.0001) and 24 hr (****p<0.0001) timepoints (Fig. 4.3.4.1). Combined treatment of LPS 100ng and SCFA led to a significant reduction of mtSOD2 levels compared to LPS (100ng) treated cells at 12 hr (***p<0.001) and 24 hr (****p<0.001) (Fig. 4.3.4.1 b) c)). At 6hr, mtSOD2 expression remained elevated in all treated groups, except SCFA treated cells (Fig. 4.3.4.1-a)). No changes in mtSOD2 was observed in the SCFA treated cells compared to the baseline level at all considered timepoint (Fig. 4.3.4.1-a)b)c)).



Fig. 4.3.4.1. mtSOD2 expression in BEAS2BR1 cells treated with LPS ± SCFA.

Data are presented as the mean with standard error of the mean (SEM) (n=4). Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test. p-values are displayed as follows: (*=control vs other treatments; ^=LPS10ng vs other treatments; += LPS 100ng vs other treatment; f=LPS10ng+SCFA vs treatments; #=LPS100ng+SCFA vs treatment) *p<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

4.3.5 The effect of LPS on mitochondrial activity

To determine whether mitochondrial activity was affected by LPS or SCFA treatments, cells were live imaged using two mitochondria dyes. The red dye, MitoTracker Red, stained the mitochondria dependent on membrane potential, while Green MitoTracker stained all mitochondrial independently of membrane potential.

LPS led to reduced mitochondrial activity at 6hr (*p<0.05), and 24hr (**p<0.01) compared to the control, while SCFA mitigated the effect induced by LPS, improving mitochondrial potential when combined with LPS at 6 hr (**p<0.01) (**Fig. 4.3.5.4**). Although results were not significant, combined treatments appeared to increase mitochondrial activity at 24 hr (Fig. 4.3.5.4-a, c)). Treatment with SCFA only appeared to reduce mitochondrial activity at 24 hr compared to the control cells, but to a lesser extent then LPS treated cells (*p<0.05) (**Fig. 4.3.5.4**-c)).

No differences were observed between treatments at the 12 hr timepoint (Fig. 4.3.5.4b).





BEAS2B-R1 airway epithelial cells treated with either LPS100 ng/mL, SCFA or LPS+SCFA at 6 hr (n=150 cells per treatment). Images are shown at 20x magnification, scale bar represents 150 μ m. Cells were stained with Mitotracker dyes to distinguish the total mitochondria (green) and the active mitochondria (red). Experiments were conducted on 3 separate occasions.



Fig. 4.3.5.2. Mitochondria activity in BEAS2BR1 cells at 12 hr.

BEAS2B-R1 airway epithelial cells treated with either LPS100 ng/mL, SCFA or LPS+SCFA at 12 hr (n=150 cells per treatment). Images are shown at 20x magnification, scale bar represents 150 μ m. Cells were stained with Mitotracker dyes to distinguish the total mitochondria (green) and the active mitochondria (red). Experiments were conducted on 3 separate occasions.



Fig. 4.3.5. 3. Mitochondria activity in BEAS2B-R1 cells at 24 hr.

BEAS2B-R1 airway epithelial cells treated with either LPS100 ng/mL, SCFA or LPS+SCFA at 24 hr (n=150 cells per treatment). Images are shown at 20x magnification, scale bar represents 150 μ m. Cells were stained with Mitotracker dyes to distinguish the total mitochondria (green) and the active mitochondria (red). Experiments were conducted on 3 separate occasions.


Fig. 4.3.5.4. Mitochondrial activity in BEAS2BR1 cells treated with LPS \pm SCFA at 6, 12 and 24 hr.

BEAS2B-R1 airway epithelial cells treated with either LPS100 ng/mL, SCFA or LPS+SCFA at 6, 12, and 24 hr (n=150 cells per treatment). Cells were stained with Mitotracker dyes to distinguish the total mitochondria (green) and the active mitochondria (red). Experiments were conducted on 3 separate occasions. Statistical analysis using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test was performed and data are shown as mean with SEM. (p values are displayed as follows; *p<0.05; **p<0.01).

4.3.6 The effect of LPS on mitochondrial function

To understand the implications of the LPS± SCFA treatments when mitochondria are under stress, the Seahorse Mito Stress Test was performed using live BEAS2B-R1 cells to measure basal oxygen consumption rate (OCR) and extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) that are respectively indicators of aerobic and anaerobic respiration. Briefly, the test provides key measurements to assess mitochondrial respiration by systematically injecting 3 compounds that deteriorate the electron transport chain. The first compound was Oligomycin that inhibits the ATP synthase, then FCCP that destroys the membrane potential and lastly rotenone/antimycin A that inhibits the complex I action.

There were no differences in either OCR or ECAR between control, LPS, SCFA or LPS/SCFA treated cells at any time point (Fig. 4.3.6.1; Fig. 4.3.6.2).







The oxygen consumption rate (OCR) was measured using a mitochondrial Stress test on a Seahorse analyser XFe analyser (6 hr,12 hr: n=2; 24 hr: n=3). The compounds used in this assay were: 1.5 μ M, Oligomycin (Oligo), 2 μ M, Carbonyl cyanide-p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone (FCCP) and 0.5 μ M, Rotenone and Antimycin A (Rot/AA). Data are presented as the mean±standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post-hoc test was performed (p=ns).



Fig. 4.3.6.2. The extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) of BEAS2BR1 cells treated with either LPS100ng, SCFA or combination of both for a)6 hr, b)12 hr, c) 24 hr.

The extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) was measured using a mitochondrial Stress test on a Seahorse analyser Xfe analyser (6 hr,12 hr: n=2; 24 hr: n=3). The compounds used in this assay were: 1.5 μ M, Oligomycin (Oligo), 2 μ M, Carbonyl cyanide-p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone (FCCP) and 0.5 μ M, Rotenone and Antimycin A (Rot/AA). Data are presented as the mean±standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post-hoc test was performed (p=ns).

4.3.7 Investigation of the effect of LPS on mitochondrial biogenesis-related protein expression

To further investigate the role of LPS in the regulation of mitochondria function, mitochondrial biogenesis proteins have been investigated in BEAS2B-R1 cells at 6, 12 and 24 hr.

The mitochondrial biogenesis-related proteins considered were: mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM), nuclear respiratory factor (NRF1), DNA polymerase gamma (POLG) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator (PGC-1α).

LPS treated cells showed an increase in TFAM, a key regulator of mitochondria biogenesis, at 6 hr (*p<0.05) and again at 24 hr (***p<0.001) compared to basal level (Fig. 4.3.7.1). LPS also tended to increase levels of other mitochondrial biogenesis markers, NGF1 and POLG, at 6 hr (NGF1, POLG: ns) and again at 24 hr (NGF1: *p<0.05, POLG: ns) (**Fig. 4.3.7.1**).

SCFA treated cells showed a significant decrease in TFAM (**p<0.01) at 12hr and an increase in TFAM (***p<0.001) at 24hr compared to the baseline level. Moreover, SCFA tended to increase level of NRF1 and POLG at 6, 12 and 24 hr compared to baseline level, but results were not significant (**Fig. 4.3.7.1**).

Combined treatment of LPS+SCFA led to a decreased level of TFAM at 6 hr (####p<0.0001), 12 hr (##p<0.01) and 24 hr (####p<0.0001) compared to LPS treated cells. A similar trend was observed with NGF1 and POLG at all the considered timepoints, although only NGF1 at 24 hr was statistically significant (##p<0.01).

124

No changes were observed in PGC1- α , a mitochondria transcription factor, over time with any treatments (**Fig. 4.3.7.1**).



Fig. 4.3.7.1. Levels of biogenesis proteins in BEAS2BR1 cells treated with LPS \pm SCFA at 6, 12, 24 hr timepoints.

Data are presented as the mean with standard error of the mean (SEM) (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA plus Tukey's post hoc test. p values are displayed as follows: (*=control vs other treatments; #=LPS100ng vs other treatments; ^=SCFA vs other treatments;) *p<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

4.4 Discussion

In this chapter, it was hypothesized that LPS could affect mitochondrial morphology and function in airways cells, while SCFA may help limit the negative effects induced by LPS. To investigate this, airway epithelial cells, BEAS2B-R1, were treated with LPS with and without SCFA, and mitochondrial structure and function was assessed by several different approaches. From these investigations, this study suggested that: 1) LPS induced mitochondrial dysfunction by altering mitochondrial dynamics and activity; 2) it induced an overexpression of mtSOD2; 3) SCFA partially mitigated the LPS-induced damage on mitochondria.

4.4.1 The effect of LPS and SCFA on mitochondrial dynamics

Mitochondrial health is maintained by a balance of dynamic related proteins and genes (van der Bliek et al. 2013). Alteration of these can lead to fragmented and damaged mitochondria which in turn can lead to proinflammatory cytokine production and excessive ROS production from mitochondria (Andrieux et al. 2021; Liesa and Shirihai 2013).

This study reported that LPS induced an acute overexpression on the fission gene 1 (FIS1) at 6 and 12 hr, while combined treatments of LPS and SCFA appeared to restore it to basal level.

When looking at protein expression, LPS (100 ng/mL) tend to increase the fission/fusion ratio at 12 and 24 hr, whist combined treatment with SCFA partially restored basal level

127

of mitochondria dynamics proteins. No acute change was reported in proteins expression at 6 hr.

Discrepancies between protein and gene expression results can be explained by the various post-transcriptional mechanisms that regulate and control protein function (Santoni 2017; Liu, Beyer, and Aebersold 2016a; Tang and Amon 2013; Wethmar, Smink, and Leutz 2010; McManus, Cheng and Vogel 2015). Protein synthesis requires time and during the process the transcript can change affecting the protein level with a temporal delay (Liu, Beyer, and Aebersold 2016b). In addition, spatial variations in protein transport physically separate protein from the transcript from which it was originally synthesized (Liu et al. 2016b). These processes strongly influence the relationship between protein expression and mRNA level and may explain the delay that we observed with respect to protein expression.

Overall, LPS tend to induce an overexpression of fission protein, FIS1 at 12 and 24 hr.

Chronic LPS-induced damage was also confirmed via live imaging which revealed a trend towards a more fragmentated and smaller mitochondria network compared to the control group. In contrast, SCFA appeared to protect mitochondria from fragmentation, by partially restoring a basal mitochondria network. A recent study reported that SCFA helped to prevent alteration of fusion and fission proteins, protecting mitochondria in stressful conditions in β -cells (Hu et al. 2020), similarly to what was found in this study with airway cells.

This suggests that cells were able to cope with LPS insult at the early stage but over time the LPS-induced chronic damage began to affect mitochondria dynamics.

128

4.4.2 The effect of LPS and SCFA on mitochondrial function

Alteration in mitochondria structure, following a triggering insult such as LPS, can lead to ROS overproduction which in turn could impair the ability of mitochondria to produce ATP, damage mitochondrial proteins and affect a range of mitochondria function (Murphy, 2009).

MtSOD2 is an enzyme located in the mitochondrial matrix that plays a key role as a scavenger of ROS (Ning et al. 2021). MtSOD2 functions include the conversion of superoxide dismutase, which represent the vast majority of the ROS produced and are highly toxic for cells, to hydrogen peroxide, a less reactive enzyme that passively diffuses away from mitochondrial matrix (Flynn and Melovn 2013). This process is extremely important for cell's health as it prevents the production of highly aggressive ROS such as peroxynitrite which can lead to mitochondria dysfunction as described before.

LPS treated cells exhibited an acute and chronic overexpression of mtSOD2 compared to control. Combined treatment with both LPS and SCFA returned MtSOD2 levels to basal levels. ROS are released from the cells as a response to various insults occurring in cells such as inflammation response, bacteria, xenobiotics, stress. Between those, LPS is one stimulus that is known to increase ROS production (Ali et al. 2020; Qu et al. 2019). Previous research found high expression of mtSOD2 in rat primary microglia that were previously treated with LPS (Ishihara et al. 2015). Moreover, mtSOD2 increased the tolerance to ROS production in the same cell lines (Ishihara et al. 2015). Therefore, from the data obtained in the present study, it can be speculated that the high expression of mtSOD2 was an attempt from the cell to deal with the ROS production from LPS. In fact, cells treated with SCFA appeared to return levels of mtSOD2 to control levels. Previous studies reported that acetate and butyrate, the main SCFA present in the human body, reduced ROS generation in β -cells (Hu et al. 2020). A reduction in the ROS level could explain the reduced mtSOD2 expression in the LPS+SCFA treated group. Although ROS levels were not investigated during this project, further studies that take ROS production into consideration are needed to better elucidate this pathway.

Mitochondrial respiration was not affected by LPS or SCFA, but considering that it is an essential function, it can be speculated that cells activate a range of compensatory strategies to meet cellular demands. A previous study reported similar findings in adipose cells line; cells treated with LPS showed an increase in mitochondrial biogenesis protein as a compensatory mechanism to cope with LPS insult, which led to an overall increase in mitochondrial oxidation rate (Widdrington et al. 2018a). In the present study, airway cells appeared to activate the same compensatory mechanism to mitigate the LPS-induced stress as reflected in a reduced mitochondrial activity, acutely and chronically, and by enhanced mitochondrial biogenesis as was seen with the significant increase of TFAM and NRF1. NRF1 is a transcription factor that activate TFAM which in turn is an essential mtDNA protein that regulates mitochondria transcription initiation and replication (Campbell, Kolesar, and Kaufman 2012).

The activation of the NRF1/TFAM pathway may lead to a production of new mitochondria that do not compromise mitochondrial respiration but lead to less active mitochondria as seen with the cell imaging.

4.4.3 Conclusions

Taken together, this study has shown that LPS induced a chronic damage in mitochondrial dynamics that can be partially restored by SCFA. The cells responded to the LPS insult by increasing mtSOD2 levels to cope with ROS production and by producing new mitochondria to meet the mitochondrial respiration requirement yet the mitochondria in the airway cells still appear to be less active and responsive to LPS stimuli.

The LPS induced damage on mitochondria may exacerbate inflammation and therefore may represent a contributing factor to the worsening of asthma symptoms. Chapter 5: Characterising a cohort of patients with difficult to control asthma: Impact of BMI on asthma severity and inflammation

5.1 Introduction

Asthma is a chronic disease of the airways, and is characterised by airway hyperresponsiveness, wheezing, breathlessness, and chest tightness (World Health Organization 2020). The U.K. has one of the highest rates of asthma in Europe with approximately 1 in 12 adults diagnosed. This results in an estimated cost for the National Health Service (NHS) of at least £1 billion per annum (NHS England 2020). Obesity is a commonly reported comorbidity of asthma. Obesity is a metabolic disease characterised by excess body fat accumulation and low-grade inflammation; it is associated with several comorbidities including asthma (Bantulà et al. 2021a; Gibeon et al. 2013; Gomez-Llorente et al. 2017; Peters et al. 2018). In recent years, the association between asthma and obesity has gained growing interest as it has been established that people with obesity and asthma have exacerbated asthma symptoms, poorer disease control and are less responsive to medication compared with people who are lean with asthma (Lugogo et al. 2010).

Patients with asthma and obesity can show an alternative phenotype, characterized by low eosinophils and high neutrophil cell counts in the blood, with greater concentrations of T helper (Th)-17 cytokines and systemic low-grade inflammation, noted as "Th-2 low" or neutrophilic asthma (Hinks et al. 2020). Furthermore, patients with asthma and obesity are 4-6 times more likely to be hospitalised for asthma than patients with a lean BMI (Vortmann and Eisner 2008). The underlying mechanism by which obesity affects asthma is still poorly understood. Therefore, there is a greater need to understand inflammatory and phenotypic characteristics of patients with obesity and asthma to help support future disease management strategies.

5.1.1. The WATCH-NTU collaboration study

In an attempt to better understand the characteristics of patients with obesity and asthma a collaboration study was established between NTU and the Wessex AsThma CoHort (WATCH) of difficult asthma. The WATCH is an ongoing prospective study started in 2015 and conducted by researchers and clinicians at Southampton University Hospital. The aim of the WATCH cohort is to give a better understanding of mechanisms underlying difficult asthma representing a valuable tool to improve disease management. "Difficult to control asthma" is defined by the British Thoracic Society (BTS) as a condition that remains problematic even with the treatment of high dose inhaled therapies and/or it requires frequent or continuous use of oral corticosteroids (British Thoracic Society (BTS) 2019). The asthma of these patients is characterized by regular exacerbations, poor quality of life and increased morbidity/mortality (Sastre et al. 2016b; Smith et al. 1997).

To date, the WATCH study team have recruited over 500 patients and collected anthropometric and detailed clinical health data, disease-related questionnaires, lung function testing, and collection of serum and plasma biological samples (Azim et al. 2020). Thus, the NTU-Southampton study draws upon data and blood samples previously collected from patients with severe asthma across a range of body mass index (BMI) from the WATCH team at Southampton University Hospital.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aims of this collaborative study were to characterize a subset of the WATCH cohort examining patients with difficult to control asthma to investigate the contribution of BMI and fat mass (FM) on 1) lung function and asthma control; 2) biomarkers of systemic inflammation.

5.2 Material and Methods

5.2.1. Ethics and study design

The collaboration study between NTU and the WATCH team was approved by the NTU Human Invasive Ethics Committee (protocol: #689), and developed in accordance with the WATCH clinical trial NHS ethical approval (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03996590). Following a material transfer agreement, NTU received ninety-eight serum and plasma samples previously collected from patients with difficult to control asthma across a range of BMIs and associated data from the WATCH database. Samples were shipped to NTU via courier and stored at -80°C until use. The database was transferred to a NTU Data Store via project folder, protected with password and all necessary safeguards in accordance with any relevant laws, statutes, regulations, and good practice.

5.2.2. Participant recruitment

Patients attending the University Hospital Southampton Foundation Trust (UHSFT) Difficult Asthma Clinic were recruited through an approach by a clinician for enrolment to the WATCH Study. To take part in the study the patients had to be diagnosed with difficult to control asthma and be able to provide informed consent (Appendix 1: WATCH participant information sheet and consent form). Asthma is defined as difficult to control when patients exhibit symptoms such as severe breathlessness requiring clinical attention, even if managed with "high dose therapies" and/or "continuous or frequent use of oral steroids", according to the British Thoracic Society (BTS) Adult Asthma Management Guidelines 2016 (British Thoracic Society (BTS) 2019). If the patient met the inclusion criteria and agreed to take part in the study, they were invited to attend one research visit. The visit involved the participant completing an asthma-related questionnaire, anthropometric measurements (height, weight, body composition), lung function assessment and venous blood sample collection.

5.2.3. Anthropometric measurements

Participants body mass was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg using calibrated electronic scales (SECA, Birmingham, UK), wearing lightweight clothing and barefoot. Participants' height was measured with a stadiometer (SECA, Birmingham, UK). Participants stood bare foot with heels together with arms by their side. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)². BMI categories were listed in **Table 5.2.3.1**.

A Medical Body Composition Analyser (SECA, Hamburg Germany) was used to analyse body composition of patient with difficult to control asthma based on Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis (BIA), and Fat mass (FM) was recorded.

	Body mass index (BMI)- categories (kg/m ²)	Number of participants per group
LEAN	<25	18
OVERWEIGHT	25-30	28
OBESE	≥30	52

Table 5.2.3.1. Participant's body mass index (BMI) categories and number of participants per group.

5.2.4. Lung Function

Lung function parameters of forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) and the ratio of the forced expiratory volume in the first one second to the forced vital capacity (FEV₁/FVC Ratio) were assessed using a spirometer (Vitalograph, U.K.) as described in section **3.3.2**. Patients were asked, where possible, to refrain from using their bronchodilator inhaler for 12 hr before performing the test. On arrival, patients inhaled a 200 µg dose of their bronchodilator therapy via a spacer device 15-minutes before performing a pulmonary function test, registered as a "postbronchodilator" measurement. If subjects were unable to withhold regular inhaler therapy prior to visit, then spirometry results were recorded as "post-bronchodilator". Data were reported as a % of the predicted calculated value. Predicted values were calculated based on participants' height, weight, age, sex and ethnicity according to the modelling equation approved by the European Respiratory Society (ERS) (Quanjer et al. 2013).

5.2.5. Asthma Control Questionnaire (ACQ)-6

The ACQ-6 test is a validated questionnaire to assess symptoms of asthma control (Juniper et al. 1999). The ACQ-6 includes six items which are scored on a 6-point scale (0 = never/no symptoms/none; 6 = all the time/very severe symptoms/totally limited) that assess symptoms and the rescue by bronchodilator use over the previous week. The total maximum score of the questionnaire is 36. The total raw score was then divided by the 6 items and results were used for analysis. Optimal cut-offs to identify poorly controlled asthma are set at a score \geq 1.5 and well controlled asthma is set at a score \leq 0.75 (Juniper et al. 2005).

138

5.2.6. Blood collection

Venous blood was drawn from a vein in the antecubital fossa region of the forearm using a 23-gauge butterfly needle (BD Vacutainer Safety Lo k Blood Set 23g x 7" Tubing, Plymouth, UK). Approximately 18 mL of blood was drawn and 8 mL of it was immediately transferred into a EDTA plasma vacutainer (BD, Plymouth, UK) for the subsequent assessment of plasma cytokines, the remaining 10 mL was transferred into a serum separating tube (BD, Plymouth, UK) for the assessment of serum cytokines. Tubes were gently inverted and centrifuged as described in section **3.3.3** and safely stored in the -80°C freezer until use. After blood sampling, the needle was removed, and medical tissue was applied under pressure to prevent a superficial hematoma.

5.2.7. Analysis of blood plasma inflammatory cytokines

Blood cytokine levels (pg/mL) were measured in plasma from 98 WATCH study participants using a human magnetic Luminex[®] multiplex assay for, C-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 3 (CCL3), Chemokine Ligand 4 (CCL4), Chemokine Ligand 11 (CCL11), Interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, Periostin, Chitinase-3like-1, Neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin (NGAL), Leptin, Adiponectin and Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha (TNF- α) according to the manufacturer's instructions (R&D Systems, Bio-Techne Ltd, Abington, UK).

5.2.8. Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Blood serum Lipocalin-2 (NGAL) was measured using enzyme linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) (Bio-techne, #DLCN20). ELISA's were performed according to the manufacturer's instruction as described in section **3.3.4**. According to manufacturer's claim the sensitivity of the assay was 0.04 ng/mL. The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 3.7% and the inter-assays coefficient of variation was 6.4%. All samples were analysed in duplicate on one 96-well plate.

5.2.9. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Graphpad Prism 9.5.1 software. Data were reported as mean ± standard deviation (SD), unless otherwise specified. Data were examined for normality according to the Shapiro-Wilks criteria. Correlation between BMI, FM and lung function, ACQ-6, inflammatory cytokines were performed using correlation matrix and r Pearson analysis.

The 98 participants were grouped based on their BMI into three groups (Lean: BMI <25 kg/m²; Overweight: BMI 25-30 kg/m²; Obese: BMI ≥30 kg/m²) or two groups for asthma management questionnaire (ACQ-6 score_low or ACQ-6 score_high). Cut-off score for ACQ-6 group division was 1.5.

Between group differences in lung function were assessed using one-way ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey's multiple comparison test. To assess variation of ACQ-6 score across BMI or FM, an unpaired t-test was performed. Differences between BMI and inflammatory cytokines were conducted based on normality test using either one-way ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey multiple comparison test or Kruskal-Wallis test plus post hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test.

For data analysed from the two- way ANOVA, partial eta squared (η^2) effect sizes were calculated as:

$$\eta^{2} = \frac{Sum of the squares between groups (SSE)}{Sum of the squared total (SST)}$$

Effect size for Kruskal-wallis test was Epsilon squared (ϵ^2), calculated as follow:

$$\epsilon^2 = \frac{H}{(n^2 - 1)/(n+1)}$$

Where:

H= value obtained from the Kruskal-Wallis test.

N=Total number of samples

Cohen d (d) effect sizes were calculated for variables assessed by unpaired t-tests as:

$$Cohen d (d) = \frac{Mean \, Value \, ACQ6high(M1) - Mean \, Value \, ACQ6low(M2)}{SDpooled}$$

Where pooled standard deviation (SD):

$$\sqrt{\frac{SD1^2 + SD2^2}{2}}$$

5.3 Results

5.3.1. Participants characteristics

A total of 98 patients (n=69 female; n=29 male) from the WATCH cohort were included in the current study. The mean age at recruitment was 48.3±15yo with an average BMI of 31±7.11kg/m². Detailed demographics of patients are presented in **Table 5.3.1.1** and

Table 5.3.1.2.

	Number of patients	Mean	SD
Demographics			
Total participant enrolled	98		
- female	69		
-male	29		
Age at the enrolment(yr)	98	48.3	15
Age at asthma			
diagnosis(yr)	88	26	19
BMI (kg/m²)	98	31	7.11
-lean (kg/m²)	18	22.6	1.7
-overweight (kg/m²)	28	27.3	1.4
-obese (kg/m ²)	52	36.6	5.4
FM	97	36	14
Smoker Status	98		
-smoker	4		
-non smoker	48		
-ex-smoker	46		

'	Table 5.3.1.1. General characteristics of participants.
	(BMI=body mass index; FM= fat mass).

Table 5.3.1.2. General asthma related information of patients from WATCH cohort.

(GORD=gastro-oesophageal reflux disease; FEV_1 =forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC=forced vital capacity; ACQ6= asthma control questionnaire).

	Number of patients	Mean	SD	% missing data
Comorbidities				
Patients with history of Rhinitis	49			
Patients diagnosed with GORD	60			
Patients diagnosed with Depression	29			
Patients diagnosed with Anxiety	18			
Patients diagnosed with Dysfunctional Breathing	44			
Patients diagnosed with Vocal Cord				
Dysfunction	13			
Health care utilization:				
Been in Intubated	16			
≥1 Admission to hospital in the last 12				
months	67			
≥1 Asthma attacks in the last 12 months	73			
Asthma Treatments				
Use of long-term oral corticosteroids	26			
Biologic therapy	16			
Lung function Test Results:				
Post Bronchodilator use %FEV ₁	66	78	22	31.3
Post Bronchodilator use %FVC	65	91	18	32
Post Bronchodilator use %FEV ₁ /FVC				
Ratio	65	68	17	32
Questionnaire:				
ACQ6 score	93	2.51	1.27	4.9

5.3.2. The role of BMI on lung function and asthma symptoms

A correlation analysis was undertaken between BMI, fat mass (FM) and lung function parameters and asthma management (ACQ-6) (**Fig. 5.3.2.1**). Correlation analysis showed a significant positive relationship between BMI, FM with %FEV₁/FVC ratio (BMI: r=0.32, **p<0.01; FM: r=0.27, *p<0.05). There was no relationship between BMI, FM with %FEV₁, %FVC or %FEF₂₅₋₇₅. For asthma control, both BMI and FM were positively correlated with ACQ-6 score (BMI: r = 0.23, *p<0.05; FM: r = 0.24, *p<0.05).

One-way ANOVA analysis was conducted to investigate differences in lung function between the three BMI groups (**Fig. 5.3.2.2**). The analysis revealed that the overweight asthma group had a greater %FEV₁ compared to the lean (*p<0.05; η^2 =0.10). %FVC was lower in the obese asthma group compared to the overweight asthma group (*p<0.05; η^2 =0.15). No between group differences were observed for %FEV₁/FVC Ratio (p=ns; η^2 =0.10).





a) r squared heat map for BMI and lung function parameters. Blue squares represented a positive correlation, values close to 1 were strongly correlated. Values between 0 to -1, indicated negative correlation between the parameters considered. b) p-value heat map. The white squares represent non-significant p value. Red squares represent significant p value. The darker the red, the stronger the significance was (measured as p values: p=0-p=0.05; n=98).

a)

b)



Fig. 5.3.2.2. The role of BMI on lung function. The role of BMI on %FEV₁ (blue dots; η^2 =0.10), %FVC (red dots; η^2 =0.15), %FEV₁/FVC Ratio (purple dots; η^2 =0.10). Data were displayed as mean±standard deviation (SD). Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey's multiple comparison test. P values are showed as follows: *p<0.05. (lean BMI: n=15; overweight BMI: n=18; obese BMI: n=28).

For asthma control, participants were grouped depending on their ACQ-6 score (ACQ-6 score low<1.5; ACQ-6 score_high \geq 1.5), and subsequent independent T-tests revealed that patients with high ACQ-6 score had higher BMI and FM than patients with a low ACQ-6 score (BMI,:**p<0.01, d=0.87; FM:**p<0.01, d=0.93) (**Fig. 5.3.2.3**).



Fig. 5.3.2.3. The role of BMI and FM on asthma control. The role of BMI a) and FM b) on asthma control assessed with ACQ-6 questionnaire. Data were reported as mean±standard deviation (SD). Statistical analyses were performed using un-paired t-test. P-value was showed as follow: *p<0.05, **p<0.01; ***p<0.001. BMI: Cohen d=0.87; FM: Cohen d= 0.93. (ACQ-6_low group: n= 19; ACQ-6_high group: n=74).

5.3.3. The role of BMI on inflammatory markers

Correlation matrix was conducted to establish relationships between BMI, FM with the blood biomarkers of inflammation (**Fig. 5.3.3.1**). Patients with both high BMI and FM were significantly associated with increased concentrations of plasma inflammatory cytokines: Granzyme A (BMI: r=0.34, **p<0.01; FM: r=0.30, **p<0.01), IL-4 (BMI: r=0.33, *p<0.05; FM: r=0.34, *p<0.05), IL-6 (BMI: r= 0.48, ****p<0.0001; FM: r=0.45, ****p<0.0001), IL-5 (BMI: r=0.64,****p<0.0001; FM: r= 0.68, ****p<0.0001), chemokine ligands 4 (CCL4) (BMI: r=0.39, ***p<0.0001; FM: r=0.40, ***p<0.001) and Leptin (BMI: r=0.55,****p<0.0001, FM: r=0.53, ****p<0.0001). However, no correlations were observed between BMI, FM with NGAL, adiponectin, CCL3, CCL11, IL-4, Periostin, CCL2, Chitinase3like1, Granzyme B, IL-8, TNF- α (p=ns).

a)



b)



a) r squared heat map for BMI, FM and markers of inflammation. Blue squares represented a positive correlation with values close to 1 were strongly correlated. Values between 0 to -1, indicated negative correlation between the parameters considered. b) p-value heat map. The white squares represented non-significant p value. Red squares showed significant p value. The darker the red, the stronger the significance was (measured as p values: p=0-p=0.05; n=70except IL-4; IL-4=41).

To evaluate the differences in biomarker concentrations between BMI groups a series of one-way ANOVA was performed (**Fig. 5.3.3.2**). This analysis revealed that patients with asthma and obesity had a greater concentrations of: IL-5 (****p<0.0001; η^2 =0.4), IL-6 (**p<0.001; η^2 =0.15), Leptin (****p<0.0001; (ϵ^2 =0.50), Granzyme A (**p<0.01; (ϵ^2 =0.15), Granzyme B (*p<0.05; (ϵ^2 =0.10) and CCL4 (**p<0.01; η^2 =0.15) compared to the patients with lean and overweight BMI. However, no major differences in level of inflammatory markers were observed between patients with lean BMI and patients with an overweight BMI.























Fig. 5.3.3.2. The role of BMI in markers of inflammation.

The effect of BMI on systemic inflammation was evaluated with the following cytokines: a) Interleukin (IL)-6 (n2=0.15), b) IL-5 (n2=0.40), c) Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)- α (n2=0.10), d) Leptin (ϵ 2 =0.50), e) Granzyme B (ϵ 2 =0.10), f) Granzyme A (ϵ 2 =0.15), g) Chitinase3like1 (n2=0.05), h) chemokine CC motif ligand 4 (CCL4) (n2=0.15), i) Periostin (n2=0.05), l) CCL11 (n2=0.05), m) CCL3 (n2=0.05), n) Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) (n2=0.01), o) Adiponectin (ϵ 2 =0.10), p) IL-8 (ϵ 2 =0.05). Data are shown as a mean±standard error of the mean (SEM). One-way ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey multiple comparison test or Kruskal-Wallis plus post hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test were performed, based on normality test. P values were showed as follow: *<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.0001, ****p<0.0001. (Lean BMI <25 kg/m2: n=13; overweight BMI 25-30 kg/m2 group: n=19; obese BMI ≥30kg/m2: n=39.

5.4 Discussion

The characterisation of a subset of the WATCH cohort of difficult to control asthma established that increasing BMI and FM: 1) were associated with poorer asthma control; 2) were associated with greater concentrations of systemic inflammatory blood biomarkers; 3) there was no clear relationship between BMI and FM with lung function.

5.4.1. The role of BMI on lung function and asthma control

Analysis of this cohort demonstrated that higher BMI and FM were not correlated to worse lung function, but they were significantly associated with poorer asthma control, evaluated by the ACQ-6 questionnaire. Association between lung function and BMI is controversial. Several studies have previously reported an association between obesity and poor lung function (Biring 1999; Ciprandi et al. 2014; Gibeon et al. 2013) while others reported no association (Bildstrup et al. 2015; Klepaker et al. 2021; Tang et al. 2022). Indeed, in the current study the lean asthma group had lower %FEV₁ predicted values compared to patients who were overweight. This may be indicative of high Th-2 driven asthma predominating in lean asthma patients who exhibit poor asthma control. As demonstrated in Fig. 5.3.2.2, this may have been driven by three very severe and poorly controlled patients in this group. On the contrary, patients with obese BMI exhibited a lower %FVC compared to the overweight patients, but a similar level to participants with lean BMI. This suggest that higher BMI may not be involved in lung function decline as previously reported (Bildstrup et al. 2015). However, spirometry may not be the most sensitive method to detect lung dysfunction driven by obesity. Salome et al. investigated lung function mechanics in a cohort of patients with asthma with and without obesity and showed no difference in spirometry parameters between groups.

However, the obese group had higher respiratory system resistance and reduced respiratory system reactance, a measure of airways closure, when assessed via oscillometry technique (Salome et al. 2008). This was then confirmed in similar subsequent studies (Al-Alwan et al. 2014; Chapman et al. 2014). Researchers concluded that obesity may be involved in peripheral airway closure and a standard method such as spirometry may not be able to detect this change. Therefore, a combined use of spirometry and other methods that evaluate airway narrowing such us impulse oscillometry may be a more sensitive way to evaluate lung dysfunction. Moreover, most previous studies conducted lung function tests prior to bronchodilator use, while the WATCH cohort performed pulmonary function assessments post-bronchodilator use. The β_2 agonist bronchodilators used by patients will relax the airway smooth muscles allowing widening of the airways, which is likely to have reduced any potential between group differences. Finally, a review paper by Dixon and Peters concluded that body fat distribution had a stronger association with lung function than BMI (Dixon and Peters 2018). However, the current study failed to demonstrate any relationship between FM and lung function. This may be due to the low participant numbers and uneven distribution of participants across BMI groups in the current cohort.

Although there were no functional differences between groups, BMI and FM were strongly associated with the subjective reporting of asthma control assessed with ACQ-6 score questionnaire. The current data supports a previous study conducted in 382 patients with mild or severe asthma demonstrating that those with higher BMI had poorer asthma control which was independent from asthma severity, age, sex and asthma treatment (Lavoie et al. 2006). Similar findings were also reported in a later study conducted in a cohort of 508 patients with severe asthma (L. L. Barros et al. 2011).

153

In both studies the BMI was associated with declining asthma control, but lung function was unaffected. This may suggest a direct role of obesity in lack of asthma control and poor quality of life, independent of a decline in lung function. One mechanism through which BMI may affect asthma control may be via mediation of markers of systemic inflammation such as Leptin, IL-5 and IL-13 (Zhang et al. 2018). In the present study, increased plasma levels of Leptin and IL-5 were strongly correlated with BMI and FM, supporting the theory that obesity and greater adiposity may play a key role in the lack of asthma control. As a further contribution to this hypothesis, weight loss has been reported as a successful strategy for the amelioration of asthma symptoms and reduction of medication used (Bantulà et al. 2022; Eneli, Skybo, and Camargo 2008; Maniscalco et al. 2008). The findings of the present study contribute to previously published literature supporting the theory that BMI and symptom.

5.4.2. The role of BMI on systemic inflammation

Significant correlations were identified between patients with high BMI and FM with greater concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines IL-5, CCL4, Granzyme A, Granzyme B, IL-6, and Leptin.

The cytokines IL-5, Granzyme A, Granzyme B and CCL4 are markers of eosinophilic inflammation involved in the classic form of asthma known as Th-2 asthma (Annoni et al. 2015; Desai et al. 2014; Tschopp et al. 2006). However, the cytokine IL-5, commonly associated with systemic inflammation, was elevated in a previous cohort of patients with obesity and severe asthma (Boulet 2013; Desai et al. 2014), similarly to what was found in the present study. Additionally, granzyme B, generally associated with airway

inflammation, was recently shown to be expressed by visceral adipose tissue in patients with obesity and associated with adiposity derived inflammation (Cimini et al. 2020). Therefore, this suggests that although a subgroup of the WATCH patients examined in the present study may have exhibited a Th-2 high phenotype of asthma, the strong correlations between some of the Th-2 cytokines considered with high BMI and FM, indicate a contributing role of adiposity in the expression of airway inflammatory cytokines.

Greater BMI and FM were also significantly correlated with high levels of IL-6 and Leptin, commonly associated with Th-2 low asthma phenotype. Both IL-6 and Leptin are mostly released by the white adipose tissue and associated with low grade inflammation (Sideleva et al. 2012; Sutherland et al. 2008). Previous reports support that IL-6 could play a major role in the pathogenesis of asthma (Marini et al. 1992; Rincon and Irvin 2012; Yokoyama et al. 2012), while high level of Leptin was associated with airway hyperresponsiveness and reduced asthma control (Shore et al. 2005; Zhang et al. 2018). This suggests that the current cohort the patients with obesity and asthma showed low grade inflammation which may contribute to poorer asthma control. Although not reaching significance, patients with obesity and asthma demonstrated a trend with a medium effect size for greater circulating levels of TNF- α . The pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α is involved with systemic inflammation in obesity (Alzamil 2020; Popko et al. 2010) and lung function impairment in asthma.

The strong correlation between FM, BMI and IL-6, Leptin and the trend of TNF- α support the theory that obesity may contribute to the worsening of asthma disease via mediation of systemic inflammation.

Overall, this study contributes to the developing understanding that increasing BMI and FM will worsen asthma control, especially in a cohort of difficult-to-control asthma patients. Although BMI did not influence lung function directly, it was associated with poorer asthma control. BMI was also associated with increased circulating levels of proinflammatory cytokines involved in both Th-2 high (IL-5, Granzyme A, Granzyme B and CCL-4) and Th-2 low (IL-6 and Leptin) asthma phenotypes. This suggests a key role for obesity in asthma, perhaps independent of being Th-2 low or Th-2 high driven and highlight the complexity of the interaction between obesity and asthma which goes beyond the simple phenotype classification. Llorente et al. suggested that other factors such as inflammation, shifts in the microbiota community and alteration of metabolic status such as insulin resistance can all contribute to the pathophysiology of asthma (Gomez-Llorente et al. 2017). The combination of the underlying inflammation going on in both asthma and obesity may contribute to the worsening of disease. In addition, obesity is a complex disease associated with metabolic disorders such as impaired glucose, insulin resistance and/or cholesterol level which may likely impact asthma control too (Cardoso and Perucha 2021; Cottrell et al. 2011b; DeChristopher and Tucker 2018; Forno et al. 2015; Hill et al. 2008; Karampatakis et al. 2017). Moreover, obesity is associated with increased circulation of endotoxin such as LPS via gut barrier disruption which may further enhance inflammation and poor asthma control (Clemente-Postigo et al. 2019; Tulkens et al. 2020) Therefore a more integrated approach that takes into consideration the effect of obesity and asthma on metabolic impairment and gut barrier
integrity may support developments in understanding disease complexity and help to support future disease management strategies.

5.4.3. Conclusion

In conclusion, characterisation of a subset of the difficult to control WATCH cohort showed that BMI and FM were correlated with poor asthma control and increased inflammatory cytokines related to Th-2 high and Th-2 low inflammation. This suggests a direct role for obesity on asthma control via mediation of systemic inflammation. This provides evidence to suggest that dietary strategies, and physical activity that target weight loss may have a beneficial effect on asthma control and therefore warrant future investigation. Chapter 6: Comparison of gut permeability markers in mild wellcontrolled and difficult to control asthma cohorts

6.1 Introduction

Asthma is an inflammatory disease of the airways characterized by transient bronchoconstriction, wheezing and chest tightness. It can be generally managed with the use of asthma medications, although several factors such as lifestyle, environmental triggers and genetics can worsen asthma symptoms and lead to severe asthma condition. Obesity increases the risk of developing asthma and patients with obesity and asthma have worse symptoms, poorer disease control and are less responsive to medication (Bantulà et al. 2021a). Asthma in patients with obesity is characterized by higher levels of markers of T helper (Th)-17 inflammation, normal level of Th-2 cytokines, elevated neutrophil blood cell counts and are associated with neutrophilic airway inflammation. This differs from the conventional form of asthma, characterized by elevated Th-2 cytokines and elevated eosinophils blood cells.

Obesity is also linked with changes in the gut microbiota composition (Gérard 2016; Gomes, Hoffmann, and Mota 2018; Liu et al. 2021). The gut microbiota represents the collection of microorganisms that populate the human gastro-intestinal tract and actively contributes to developing a healthy immune system, helping food digestion and supporting energy harvest (Maslowski et al. 2013). In healthy conditions, bacteria are confined in the intestinal lumen of the gastrointestinal tract by the gut barrier. The intestinal barrier represents a semi-permeable structure that prevents proinflammatory bacteria species and molecules from reaching the lamina propria where the immune system cells are located. Alteration in the gut microbiota composition can lead to the disruption of gut barrier and subsequent translocation of proinflammatory bacteria and related fragments, such as Lipopolysaccharides (LPS) into the gut lumen which in turn increase systemic inflammation (Quigley 2017). Limited studies investigated biomarkers of gut permeability in asthma. Between others, the biomarkers lipopolysaccharides binding protein (LBP) and calprotectin have been recently associated with asthma.

LBP plays an important role in binding LPS to pattern recognition receptors such as tool like receptor (TLR), which is essential for initiating inflammation (Schumann 1992; Tsukamoto et al. 2018). Raised plasma concentration of LBP has been previously reported in bronchoalveolar cleavage of patients with asthma (Dubin et al. 1996), but there is currently no evidence for a role of LBP in asthma function and control.

The gut inflammation marker noted as calprotectin has been recently linked with asthma severity (Decaesteker et al. 2022; Lee et al. 2020). Calprotectin is a protein secreted from neutrophils and macrophages, with known antimicrobial and proinflammatory properties, but its role in the inflammation response is still not well characterized. Additional information on LBP and Calprotectin can be found in section

2.5.2.

Studies often group patients with severe or mild well-controlled asthma conditions together making harder to assess which factors contribute to disease severity. Therefore, the present study aims to compare markers of gut permeability in two separate cohorts of asthma based on asthma disease progress: a cohort with wellcontrolled asthma and a cohort of patients with difficult-to-control asthma.

160

AIMS OF THE STUDY

This study aimed to test whether plasma concentrations of gut permeability markers, (LBP and Calprotectin) differed across the whole cohort recruited in terms of BMI and lung function.

A further aim of the study was to explore whether plasma concentrations of gut permeability markers differed in the three populations:

- 1. mild well-controlled asthma
- 2. difficult to control asthma
- 3. healthy controls.

6.2 Material and Methods

6.2.1 NTU-WATCH Study Design

The NTU-Southampton study was approved by the NTU Ethics Committee (protocols: #689). All procedures were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. NTU received 98 serum and plasma samples previously collected from patients with difficult to control asthma across a range of BMIs and their related database from the WATCH at Southampton University Hospital (Ethical approval: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03996590). Samples were shipped to NTU via courier and stored at -80°C until use. The database is stored in the NTU Data Store and protected by password with all necessary safeguards in accordance with any relevant laws, statutes, regulations and good practice.

A total of 67 participants were recruited at NTU: 28 participants with well-controlled asthma and 39 healthy controls. From the initial cohort of participants, 60 subjects met the criteria and were used for analysis as showed in the consort chart in **Fig. 6.2.1.1**. In accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki all participants were provided with a participant information sheet at least 24 hr before commencing the study. All participants completed a self-reported health screen questionnaire to assess whether inclusion or exclusion criteria were met. A full list of inclusion and exclusion criteria can be found in Appendix 1: WATCH participant information sheet and consent form. Briefly, a GP asthma diagnosis was required, and participants were asked to refrain from asthma medication 24 hr before the testing session. There were differences in the inclusion and exclusion criteria between the WATCH and NTU participants, highlighted in 3.2.1. Participants from the WATCH cohort were defined as patients with difficult to control asthma (DCA) and referred to as such from now on. Asthma is defined as difficult to control when patients continue to be symptomatic following the use of high dose inhaled corticosteroids therapies and/or use of frequent oral corticosteroids (British Thoracic Society (BTS) 2019). This type of asthma is characterized by frequent exacerbations, poor quality of life and elevated morbidities (Sastre et al. 2016a). Participants recruited at NTU were defined as mild well-controlled asthma (WCA) and referred to as such from now on. Well-controlled asthma participants were on steps 1 to 5 based on the British Thoracic Society guidelines (British Thoracic Society (BTS)

2019).

Healthy control (C) participants were defined as participants with no underlying diseases evaluated with the use of the health screen questionnaire given to the participants during the visit (health screen questionnaire can be found in **Appendix 3: Self-reporting Health screen**).

Participants recruited at NTU attended the lab for one visit lasting approximately 60 minutes for the collection of blood samples, spirometry, anthropometry and completion of asthma related questionnaires.



Fig. 6.2.1.1. Consort chart for participants recruited at NTU.

6.2.2 Anthropometric measurements

Participants' body mass was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg using calibrated electronic scales (SECA 877 Scale, SECA, Birmingham, UK), wearing lightweight clothing and barefoot while their height was measured using a stadiometer (SECA stadiometer, SECA, Birmingham, UK). BMI was then calculated as mass (kg)/height (m)².

6.2.3 Pulmonary function

Pulmonary function was conducted in accordance with the ATS/ERS guidelines using a spirometer (Pneumotrac; Vitalograph, Buckingham, UK) calibrated with a 3L syringe

(Miller et al. 2005). Participants performed the test a minimum of 3 times in a standing position and wearing a nose clip.

Participant's mass, height, age, sex, ethnicity and smoking status were entered in the Spirometry software to calculate their personal predicted lung function based on the predictive equations of Quanjer and co-workers (Quanjer et al. 2013).

Participants performed maximal flow-volume loops to determine absolute and percentage predicted forced vital capacity (%FVC), forced expiratory volume in 1 second (%FEV₁), forced expiratory flow rate from 25-75% of FVC (%FEF₂₅₋₇₅), forced expiratory flow rate 75-85% of FVC (%FEF₇₅₋₈₅) and %FEV₁/FVC ratio. Before the test, participants were instructed to inhale to their maximum capacity, place their mouth around the mouthpiece filter and to exhale as quickly as possible for six seconds. After six seconds participants were instructed to rapidly inhale to full inspiration.

Participants performed a minimum of three flow-volume loops for pulmonary function measures. The two highest values for the measure of FEV₁ had to be within 0.150 L and the highest values were taken for the analysis. Participants with asthma performed spirometry twice: an initial test was performed on the arrival, before the use of the inhaler, and a second test was performed 15 minutes after using their inhaler and registered as a "post-bronchodilator" measurement. The dose inhaler used was 200 µg, inhaled via a spacer device between tests.

6.2.4 Blood collection

Blood was drawn from a vein in the antecubital fossa region of the elbow using a 23gauge butterfly needle (BD Vacutainer, Plymouth, UK).

165

For plasma, 8 mL of whole blood was collected and immediately transferred into an EDTA plasma vacutainer (BD, Plymouth, UK), gently inverted and immediately centrifuged for 15 minutes at 1500g at 4°C. For serum, 10 mL of whole blood was collected and transferred into a serum separating tube (BD, Plymouth, UK), gently inverted and left to clot for 30 minutes at room temperature, begore centrifugation for 15 minutes at 1000g at 4°C. After centrifugation, plasma and serum layers were then aliquoted and subsequently stored at -80°C until use. After blood sampling the butterfly needle was removed, and firm pressure was applied upon the puncture site to avoid hematoma.

6.2.5 Enzyme linked Immune sorbent assays

Commercially available enzyme linked immune-sorbent assays (ELISAs) were used to determine concentrations of proteins from human blood serum and plasma samples. ELISAs were used to quantify lipopolysaccharides binding protein (LBP) (Hycult Biotech) and Calprotectin (R&D System). All ELISAs were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Samples, reagents, and standards were prepared using the appropriate dilutions as instructed by the manufacturer.

According to the manufacturer, the lower limits of detection for the assays were 4.4 ng/mL for LBP and 0.086 ng/mL for Calprotectin. The intra-assay and inter-assay coefficient of variation (CV) were 2.2% and 4.1% for LBP, 3.4% and 4.6% for Calprotectin, respectively. All samples were analysed in duplicate on one 96-well plate.

6.2.6 Asthma control Questionnaire (ACQ-6)

The ACQ-6 test is a validated questionnaire used to assess symptoms of asthma control (Juniper et al. 1999). It is composed of six questions about asthma symptoms experienced during the previous week and inhaler use. Questions included frequency of asthma symptoms upon waking, awakening due to asthma during the night, frequency of breathlessness and wheezing, limitation of daily activity due to asthma and use of inhaler. The ACQ-6 includes six items which are scored on a 6-point scale with a total score of 36. Final participant score was obtained by dividing the total raw score by 6 (number of items in the questionnaire). Optimal cut-offs to identify poorly controlled asthma were set at a score ≥ 1.5 (Juniper et al. 2005).

6.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Graphpad Prism 9.5.1 software. Data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilks criteria. Differences in asthma control between mild well-controlled asthma and difficult to control asthma cohorts were assessed using independent samples t-tests. Correlation between LBP, Calprotectin and BMI, lung function was performed using correlation matrix and r Pearson analysis. Correlation between LBP, Calprotectin and ACQ-6 score were performed using simple linear regression.

Differences between gut permeability markers and lung function were conducted based on a normality test using Kruskal-Wallis test plus post hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test. Data were reported as mean ± standard deviation (SD), unless otherwise specified. A further Mann-Whitney non-parametric test was conducted between groups to evaluate differences in plasma concentration of calprotectin or LBP.

Effect size used for ANOVA test was eta squared (η^2) and calculated as follows:

$$\eta^{2} = \frac{Sum of the squares between groups (SSE)}{Sum of the squared total (SST)}$$

Effect size for Kruskal-Wallis test was Epsilon squared (ϵ^2), calculated as follow:

Where:

$$\epsilon^2 = \frac{H}{(n^2 - 1)/(n+1)}$$

H= value obtained from the Kruskal-Walli test.

N=Total samples' size.

Effect size for the Mann-Whitney test was Cohen d (d) and calculated as follow:

$$Cohen d (d) = \frac{Mean \, Value \, (WCA \, or \, DCA) - Mean \, Value \, (C)}{SDpooled}$$

Where pooled standard deviation (SD):

$$\sqrt{\frac{SD1^2 + SD2^2}{2}}$$

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Participant characterization

Participants were split into three groups based on the presence and control of asthma: healthy controls (C), participants with well-controlled asthma (WCA) and participants with difficult to control asthma (DCA) (**Table 6.3.1.1**).

	Healthy Controls <u>(C)</u> 34		Participants with well- controlled asthma (WCA) 26		Participants with difficult to control asthma <u>(DCA)</u> 98	
n=						
	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	±SD
Age(yr)	27.5	±5	26	±8	48	±15
Sex	13F;21M		18F;8M		69F;29M	
BMI(kg/m ²):						
Lean BMI (kg/m ²) <25	(n=29)21.9	±1.6	(n=21)23.1	±1.7	(n=18)22.6	±1.7
Overweight BMI (kg/m ²) 25-30	(n=4)28.4	±1.4	(n=5)28.0	±1.80	(n=28)27.3	±1.4
Obese BMI(kg/m²) ≥30	(n=2)30.2	±0.17	-	-	(n=52)36.7	±5.4
Age at Asthma diagnosis(yr)	-	-	11.6	±9.9	24	±19.6
	%	%missing data	%	%missing data	%	%missing data
Asthma medication:						
Oral Corticosteroids (tablets)	-	-	0	0	26%	0
Biological treatment	-	-	0	0	16%	0
Inhaler Corticosteroids	-	-	100%	0	57%	0
Smoker Status	100%non- smoker	-	100% non- smokers	-	94% non- smokers; 4% smokers	2%
Diagnosis of Anxiety	100%No	-	25%Yes; 75%No	-	13%Yes; 56%No	30%
Diagnosis of Depression	100% No	-	10%Yes; 90%No	-	32% Yes; 50%No;	18%

 Table 6.3.1.1. Participant characterization of healthy controls, well-controlled asthma and difficult to control asthma cohorts.

6.3.2 Assessment of lung function and asthma control of healthy controls, well-controlled and difficult to control asthma groups.

One way ANOVA analysis was used to investigate lung function of the different groups (Fig. 6.3.2.1). the DCA all lung function parameters In group, (%FVC, %FEV₁, %FEV₁/FVC, %FEF₂₅₋₇₅) were significantly lower compared to the control group (%FVC: **p<0.01; %FEV1: ****p<0.0001; %FEV1/FVC: ****p<0.0001; %FEF25-75: ****p<0.0001). In the DCA group, lung function parameters were significantly lower than WCA group (%FVC: p=ns; %FEV₁: ***p<0.001; %FEV₁/FVC: ****p<0.0001; %FEF₂₅₋ 75: **p<0.01). No differences in lung function were observed between healthy controls and the WCA group Fig. 6.3.2.1.





Lung function characterization of C, WCA and DCA asthma assessed by spirometry and with the evaluation of a) %FVC ($\eta^2=0.2$), b) %FEV₁ ($\eta^2=0.3$), c) %FEV₁/FVC ($\eta^2=0.4$), d) %FEF₂₅₋₇₅ ($\eta^2=0.2$), Data are shown as a mean±standard deviation (SD). One-way ANOVA plus post hoc Tukey multiple comparison test was performed. P values are shown as follows: **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001, ****p<0.0001. -(Healthy control: n=34; well-controlled asthma: n=26; difficult to control asthma: n=98.

Patients with DCA had a significantly higher ACQ-6 score compared to WCA group (****p<0.0001; d=1.63) (Fig. 6.3.2.2).



Fig. 6.3.2.2. Differences in ACQ-6 asthma score between participants with well controlled asthma (WCA) and difficult to control asthma (DCA).

Statistical analysis was performed using an independent samples t-test. p-value was shown as follows: ****p<0.0001. Data were reported as mean±standard deviation (SD). Cohen d=1.63; (ACQ-6_well controlled asthma group: n= 26; ACQ-6_difficult to control asthma: n=91).

6.3.3 The role of LBP and Calprotectin in BMI and lung function

A correlation analysis was undertaken between LBP, Calprotectin and BMI and lung function parameters for all 3 groups considered (healthy controls, well-controlled asthma and difficult to control asthma) (**Fig. 6.3.3.1**). Significant strong correlation was found between LBP and BMI and between calprotectin and BMI (LBP: r=0.49, ****p<0.0001; Calprotectin: r=0.36, ****p<0.0001). Circulating levels of LBP were negatively correlated with lung function parameters: %FEV₁ (r=0.27, **p<0.01), %FEV₁/FVC Ratio (r=0.31, ***p<0.001) and %FEF₂₅₋₇₅ (r=0.24, *p<0.05).

There was no relationship between Calprotectin and lung function parameters %FEV₁, %FVC, %FEV₁/FVC Ratio or %FEF₂₅₋₇₅ (p=ns) (Fig. 6.3.3.1).

The high BMI was negatively correlated with lung function parameters FEV_1 (r=0.23, **p<0.01), %FVC (r=0.35, ****p<0.0001), %FEV₁/FVC Ratio (r=0.31, ***p<0.001). No correlation was observed between BMI and %FEF₂₅₋₇₅ (r=0.11, p=ns) (**Fig. 6.3.3.1**).



Fig. 6.3.3.1. Heatmap correlation matrix showing relationship between LBP, Calprotectin and BMI and lung function parameters in all 3 groups considered (Difficult to control asthma, wellcontrolled asthma and healthy controls).

a) r squared heat map for LBP, Calprotectin and BMI and lung function parameters. Blue squares represented a positive correlation with values close to 1 were strongly correlated. Values between 0 to -1, indicated a negative correlation between the parameters considered. b) p-value heat map. The white squares represented non-significant p values. Red squares show significant p values. The darker the red, the stronger the significance was (measured as p values: p=0-p=0.05; n=158).

b)

6.3.4 The simple linear regression analysis between LBP, Calprotectin and asthma control

A simple regression analysis was conducted between LBP, Calprotectin and the ACQ-6 score to evaluate correlation in asthma control for the asthma groups (difficult to control and well-controlled asthma). The circulating level of LBP was positively correlated with ACQ-6 score (r=0.06, **p<0.01) while there was no correlation between Calprotectin and ACQ-6 score (r=0.02, p=ns) (**Fig. 6.3.4.1**).



Fig. 6.3.4.1. Simple linear regression analysis showing correlation between a) LBP, b) Calprotectin and ACQ-6 score in asthma groups.

Correlation analysis between a) LBP (r=0.06; **p<0.01), b) Calprotectin (r=0.02, p=ns) and ACQ-6 score in the asthma groups. (n= 111). p-value was shown as follows: **p<0.01.

6.3.5 Differences in LBP and Calprotectin biomarkers between controls, well-controlled asthma and difficult to control asthma groups.

The concentration of gut permeability biomarkers was evaluated across the 3 groups

(Fig. 6.3.5.1). Kruskal-Wallis analysis revealed significantly greater concentrations of LBP

and calprotectin in the DCA group compared to the control group (LBP: ****p<0.0001;

calprotectin: ***p<0.001). No differences were seen between DCA and WCA groups

(p=ns, d=0.3).

The Mann-Whitney test revealed statistical differences in LBP levels between C and WCA (**p<0.01) and the Cohen d effect size between groups was 0.97. No significant difference was shown for Calprotectin between WCA and C group (p=ns), but an effect size of 0.5 was observed.





The serum level of a) LBP ($\epsilon^2 = 0.20$) and b) Calprotectin ($\epsilon^2 = 0.10$) in the three groups considered. Data are reported as a mean±standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis was performed using Kruskal-Wallis plus post hoc Dunn's multiple comparison test. Next, Mann-Whitney analysis was conducted between pair-group. p-value was shown as follows: **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; ****p<0.0001._(Healthy controls: n=34; well-controlled asthma group: n= 26; difficult to control asthma: n=91).

a)

6.4 Discussion

The main findings of this study were that: 1) Raised plasma concentration of LBP was negatively correlated with lung function in the whole population considered and positively correlated with poor asthma controls in the asthma groups; 2) LBP and Calprotectin were significantly raised in the DCA cohort compared to the controls group; 3) Raised concentrations of both LBP and Calprotectin were positively correlated with high BMI.

6.4.1 The role of gut permeability markers in lung function and asthma control

The gut permeability marker LBP was negatively correlated with lung function and positively correlated with poor asthma control in the whole population considered. On the contrary, no correlations were observed between calprotectin and lung function or asthma control.

No previous study looked at the role of LBP in lung function or asthma control. However, a previous murine study reported a role for LBP in sensitizing alveolar macrophages to LPS during bronchoconstriction, process following antigen sensitization (Strohmeier et al. 2001). This suggests a contributing role of LBP in asthma exacerbation that in turn may enhance severity of asthma. On the contrary, in this study, calprotectin did not correlate with lung function decline or asthma control. This is in contrast with findings from two recent studies where raised concentrations of serum calprotectin were found to be negatively correlated with lung function, specifically with lower FEV₁/FVC Ratio, in a cohort of patients with severe asthma (Decaesteker et al. 2022; Lee et al. 2020). However, to date there are few studies exploring the role of gut permeability markers in obesity and asthma and therefore more studies are needed to clarify their role in the disease.

In the present study, raised plasma concentrations of both LBP and calprotectin were observed in patients with DCA compared to C group, suggesting a link between severity of asthma and gut permeability. No previous study reported an association between difficult to control asthma and raised LBP levels, while there is previous evidence of raised concentrations of calprotectin in difficult to control asthma (Decaesteker et al. 2022; Quoc et al. 2021). High level of LBP was found in the WCA group compared to the C group. Additionally, although not significant, trends in the data indicated a raised levels of Calprotectin in the WCA group compared to C group. This may suggest an initial damage of the gut barrier when the asthma is well controlled, which then further deteriorates as the disease progresses. Histological analysis of duodenum intestinal mucosa from patients with bronchial asthma revealed architectural abnormalities of gut mucosa and increased infiltration of lymphocytes and eosinophils compared to the control group (Wallaert et al. 1995). Limited human studies have supported this view, finding high levels of gut permeability in asthma patients using various methods including the dual sugar test or a chromium 51-labeled ethylenediaminetetraacetatic acid (CrEDTA) urinary recovery test (Benard et al. 1996; Hijazi et al. 2004; Walker et al. 2014). However, it is unclear whether gut mucosal defects are a result of, or cause of, asthma. The present study found a trend towards raised levels of LBP and calprotectin in the WCA group compared to C, supporting the view that gut mucosal defects can

177

potentially worsen with the severity of asthma. This may be due to more frequent asthma exacerbation or asthma attack in the DCA group or due to enhanced systemic inflammation or a combination of both that may affect gut barrier and consequently increase circulating gut permeability markers. However, due to uneven group distribution between WCA (n=26) and DCA (n=98) groups, modest changes in gut integrity in the WCA group may have been more difficult to detect. Therefore, from the data obtained in this study, it's not possible to elucidate whether gut permeability is a cause or consequence of asthma. Future studies should look to recruit larger cohort of participants across the severity of asthma and use interventions trial such as prebiotic supplementations to see if it has a positive impact on asthma.

6.4.2 The role of gut permeability in obesity and asthma

Both LBP and Calprotectin markers were positively correlated with high BMI. The link between obesity and asthma is well known (Bantulà et al. 2021a; Gibeon et al. 2013; Wipt and George 2012). This may be due to low grade inflammation, excess adipose tissue around the lungs and/or alteration of markers of metabolic health, which can in turn affect disease decline as discussed in more detail in **Chapter 5**: Characterising a cohort of patients with difficult to control asthma: Impact of BMI on asthma severity and inflammation.

The association between obesity and impaired gut barrier has been reported in several animal and human studies (Boutagy et al. 2016; Cani 2007; Dey et al. 2019; Fuke et al. 2019). Obesity appears to influence the composition of the gut microbiota, shifting the gut microbiota community towards harmful bacteria and affecting the gut barrier integrity, which in turn may worsen diseases including asthma (Hufnagl et al. 2020; Li et al. 2021; Martel et al. 2022). Raised plasma concentrations of LBP and calprotectin were strongly correlated with high BMI, which in turn was negatively correlated with lung function. This may suggest a key role for obesity in driving gut permeability and leading to disease severity. However, raised levels of gut permeability markers in the systemic circulation may in turn further contribute to increased systemic inflammation and consequently influence severity of asthma as observed with the correlation analysis between LBP and lung function and ACQ-6 score.

Due to recruitment limitations, patients with obesity represented the majority of the participants recruited (n=52) and they all suffer with DCA, while participants with WCA formed a smaller group (n=26), and 20 of them had a lean BMI. This is likely to have considerably affected the results. Therefore, future studies need to consider larger cohort across a range of BMI to further elucidate the role of gut permeability in asthma severity.

Considering the impact of high BMI on asthma, a potential strategy to improve the disease may be weight loss. Several studies have reported an improvement in spirometry indices following weight loss (Pakhale et al. 2015; Santos et al. 2019; Sekine et al. 2021). This could be due to a reduction in mechanical impairment of adipose tissue surrounding the lungs or due to a reduction in systemic inflammation (Dixon and Peters 2018).

Physical activity and weight loss nutritional strategies can help to reach this goal. Regarding the nutritional approach, a diet rich in fruits and vegetables and use of supplementation (e.g. prebiotics, probiotics) may be beneficial for host health through the production of short chain fatty acids (SCFA), end-products of bacterial fermentation.

179

An increased level of circulating SCFAs, particularly butyrate, has been reported to have potential beneficial effects in reducing systemic inflammation and protecting the gut barrier from impairment as described in detail in section **2.7.1** ((Hamer et al. 2009; Sahagún et al. 2015; Ye et al. 2018).

6.4.3. Conclusion

Taken together these results suggest that gut barrier impairment may be present when disease is well controlled but more pronounced in difficult to control asthma. However, BMI appears to be the main driver of gut permeability and the major contributor to asthma severity. Therefore, weight loss and dietary strategies that target the intestinal barrier could be potential way to improve disease and worth it future investigations. Chapter 7: Pilot study on metabolomics: Comparative methods to identify metabolites in plasma of adults with well-controlled asthma

7.1 Introduction

Asthma is a chronic disease of the airways, and several inflammatory pathways are involved which may contribute to a variation of its clinical phenotypes (Payne et al. 2001; Van Den Toorn et al. 2001). Several studies have argued that asthma, particularly the obesity-associated asthma, is driven by an altered metabolic status (Cottrell et al. 2011c; Singh et al. 2013).

Metabolomics is the study of small molecules, noted as metabolites, within cells, tissue or biofluids such as blood or urine. Metabolites can be direct reporters of diseases because their abundance in biofluids might be directly associated with the underlying pathological mechanism of the disease (Gerszten and Wang 2008). Thus, the use of metabolomics represents a powerful technique to unravel disease mechanism, monitoring and diagnostics. The main techniques used for metabolomic analysis are mass spectroscopy which can be used in conjunction with gas chromatography, liquid chromatography or supercritical fluid chromatography and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR), which is the one taken in consideration in the present study.

There are many types of NMR, but it can generally be divided into high and low-field. The high-field NMR offers high sensitivity and resolution spectra that allow accurate recognition of compounds in the samples. It has been used in several studies to assess metabolomic differences between subjects with asthma and healthy controls demonstrating the powerful use of this technique for clinical purposes (Jung et al. 2013; Saude et al. 2009; Xu, Panettieri, and Jude 2022). A study investigating metabolic profile of 39 patients with asthma using high field NMR revealed an increased serum levels of histamine and histidine, correlated with immune response, compared to the control group (Jung et al. 2013). In addition glucose, arginine and acetate were decreased, associated with impaired metabolic function, common in asthma (Jung et al. 2013). However, the high maintenance cost and complexity of the equipment make its use in health care setting impractical (Castaing-Cordier, Bouillaud, et al. 2021).

The low-field NMR is less sensitive and has lower resolution than high-field NMR, which results in a poorly resolved spectra making it challenging to distinguish between metabolites (Castaing-Cordier, Ladroue, et al. 2021). However, advances in data processing and optimized pulse sequences have made it possible to improve structural and quantitative information obtained from a spectrum (Castaing-Cordier, Bouillaud, et al. 2021; Giberson et al. 2021).

The bench top NMR (bNMR), which uses low-field frequency (45-100MHz), has been developed ~15 years ago and has several advantages over high-field NMR. For instance, bNMR is portable, more compact and user-friendly compared to high-field NMR. Due to its reduced dimensions and related low-cost, the bNMR has the potential to be used at locations (e.g. in clinics and bedside) where high-field NMR would have been financially burdensome or physically impractical. The bNMR has a broad range of applications. It was firstly used in metabolomic studies in a cohort of patients with diabetes to study biomarkers associated with the disease (Percival et al. 2019). The use of data processing made it possible to discriminate between healthy and diabetic subjects (Percival et al. 2019). This unveils the potential role of bNMR for the clinical use in terms of diagnosis.

AIM OF THE STUDY

The aim of this pilot study was to establish if bNMR can be used to discriminate differences in metabolomic profiles between healthy controls and participants with well-controlled asthma and whether there was a cluster separation between groups. Therefore, evaluate whether bNMR technique could offer qualitative analysis of samples at a reduced cost compared to high-field NMR.

7.2 Methods

7.2.1. Participants recruitment

The study was approved by the NTU Ethics Committee (protocols: #689) and all procedures were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. A total of 12 participants were recruited for the study, of which 6 had asthma. All study participants were provided with the participant information sheet a minimum of 24 hr before taking part in the study and completed a self-reported health screen on arrival. If participants met the inclusion criteria, they were enrolled to the study. Briefly, participant with wellcontrolled asthma must had a prescription from a GP and they were asked to refrain from asthma medication 24 hr before the testing session. All participants had to be not smokers and refrain from consuming caffeine in the 24 hr before the visit. A full list of inclusion and exclusion criteria can be found **in Appendix 1: WATCH participant information sheet and consent form**.

The study was conducted in collaboration with Medical Technologies Innovation Facility (MTIF) at NTU campus where bench top nuclear magnetic field (bNMR) and high field NMR analysis were conducted.

7.2.2. Blood samples collection

Venous blood was drawn from a vein in the antecubital fossa region of the elbow using a 23-gauge butterfly needle (BD Vacutainer, Plymouth, UK).

An 8 mL of whole blood was collected and immediately transferred into a EDTA plasma vacutainer (BD, Plymouth, UK) gently inverted and immediately centrifuged for 15

185

minutes at 1500g at 4°C. Following the centrifugation, plasma aliquoted and subsequently stored at -80°C until use. After blood sampling the butterfly needle was removed, and firm pressure was applied upon the puncture site to avoid hematoma.

7.2.3. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance analysis

Before proton benchtop nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H-bNMR) experiment, samples were thawed on ice until defrosted. Then, 450 μ L of each plasma sample was mixed with 50 μ L of Trimethylsilylpropanoic acid (TSP) (Acros organics, U.K.) (0.05% w/v), 25 μ L of Sodium azide (Sigma Aldrich, U.K.) (18.8mg in 10ml Deuterium) (Thermofisher Scientific) and 25 μ L of Phosphate Buffer (7.1pH) (Sigma Aldrich, U.K.).

The mixture was then transferred into an 8" NMR tube (WILMAD 5mm 100mHz NMR benchtop tube, U.S.A., #WG-BTNMR-8) for analysis.

Following bNMR spectrophotometer (X-pulse 60MHz, Oxford Instruments, U.K.) calibration, each sample spectra was acquired using the pulse sequence noted as (Water suppression Enhancement though T1) WET-180°- Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill (CPMG). More information on the pulse sequence can be found in **3.4.1**. Once completed, the spectra were binned into 0.01 part per million (ppm) wide regions and the regions of the spectrum containing no signal were removed. The area considered were between 0-4 ppm regions as they contained the majority of peaks and, therefore, used for statistical analysis. In order to confirm the results obtained with bNMR, were analysed using high-field NMR (400MHz, Oxford Instruments, Jeol consol).

7.2.4. Statistical analysis

The data was processed using Mestrenova software where baseline correction, phase correction and reference alignment was completed. Metabolites identification was conducted using human metabolome database (HMDB) website and existing literature. Comparison between NMR spectrum peaks obtained from participants with asthma and controls were based on visual evaluation of the spectra. Comparison between bNMR and high field NMR was conducted by visual inspection of the spectra.

Statistical analysis was conducted using MetaboAnalyst 5.0. Data were normalized by sum and filtered by the mean intensity value. Pareto scaling was applied and then Principal Component Analysis (PCA) and Orthogonal Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (OrthoPLS-DA) were performed.

The high-field NMR (400MHz, Oxford Instruments, Jeol consol) data obtained were processed and statistically analysed with the same method described above for bNMR data. In addition, to assess differences in metabolites levels between groups, an unpaired t-test was performed on selected metabolites.

Due to limited numbers of participants all analysis were qualitative.

7.3 Results

7.3.1. Participants characteristics

A total of 12 participants, 6 controls and 6 with well-controlled asthma have been considered for the pilot study. Participants from the two groups have been matched based on their BMI and age (**Table 7.3.1.1**). An uneven sex distribution was present in the two groups due to limited number of participants available at the time of the analysis.

Table 7.3.1.1 General characteristics of subjects considered for the bNMR pilot study. Anthropometric data in each of the groups are presented as the mean ± standard deviation (SD). F=female; M=male.

	Healthy co	ntrols	Subjects with asthma		
n	6		6		
	Average	SD	Average	SD	
Age(yr)	29	±3	24	±4	
Sex	2F; 4M	n/a	4F; 2M	n/a	
BMI (kg/m ²)	21.3	±1	21.6	±1.6	

7.3.2. Evaluation of metabolites in participants with asthma using bNMR

The analysis of the spectra led to the identification of several metabolites, summarized in **Table 7.3.2.1**. The preliminary observations from the stacking spectra of participants with or without asthma revealed that the asthma group appeared to have an increased levels of the Glycine, Creatine, Histidine, Bulk sugars, Glutamate, Citrate, Acetate, Alanine, Lactate, Branched-Chain Amino Acids (BCAAs) and Cholesterol compared to the control group (**Fig. 7.3.2.1**). Table 7.3.2.1. Summary table of the identified metabolites from spectra of 60MHz ¹H bNMR. Metabolites were identified by visual observation of spectra using HMDB website and existing literature. The metabolites ID represents the metabolite identified on the spectra. Black arrow (\uparrow) represented metabolites that appeared increased in the asthma group (control: n=6; participants with asthma: n=6).

Metabolites ID	Metabolites	Regions (ppm)	Metabolites upregulated compared to control
1	Glycine	3.5-3.0	1
2	Bulk sugars	3.5-3.0	↑
3	Creatinine, Histidine	3.0-2.5	Î
4	Glutamate	3.0-2.5	↑
5	Citrate	3.0-2.5	↑
6	Acetate	2.0-1.5	<u>↑</u>
7	Alanine	1.5-1.0	↑
8	Lactate	1.5-1.0	↑
9	BCAAs: Valine, Leucine, Isoleucine	1.0-0.5	Î
10	Cholesterol	1.0-0.5	



Fig. 7.3.2.1. Representative one dimensional spectra from 60MHz ¹H bNMR of plasma from a) control (red line); b) participant with asthma (blue line).

To confirm the data obtained with the bNMR, plasma samples were analysed using highfield NMR (400 MHz, Oxford Instruments). The analysis of the spectra confirmed the identification of the metabolites detected with bNMR (**Fig. 7.3.2.2**). The observational evaluation of the spectra from control and asthma groups confirmed the trend observed with the bNMR with several metabolites who appeared increased in participants with asthma. Participants with asthma appeared to have an elevated level of Histidine, Creatinine, Citrate, BCAAs and Cholesterol compared to the control group. Moreover, participants with asthma had a peak that appeared elevated in the region of Glycine or

The stacked spectra are representative of 1 healthy control participant (red line) and 1 participant with asthma (blue line). Metabolites identified in the spectra were: 1) Glycine, Methanol; 2) Bulk sugars; 3) Creatinine, Histidine; 4) Glutamate; 5) Citrate; 6) Acetate; 7) Alanine; 8) Lactate; 9) BCAACs; 10) Cholesterol.

Glucose or Methanol. The peaks of these metabolites were very close to each other, and this made it difficult to evaluate which metabolite they belonged to. The peaks belonging to acetate, glutamate, alanine and lactate were unchanged between the two groups considered.



Fig. 7.3.2.2. Representative one dimensional spectra from 400MHz ¹H high field NMR of plasma from a) control (red line); b) participant with asthma (blue line).

The stacked spectra are representative of 1 healthy control participant (red line) and 1 participant with asthma (blue line). Metabolites identified in the spectra were: 1) Glycine, Glucose, Methanol; 2) Histidine; 3) Creatinine; 4) Glutamate; 5) Citrate; 6) Acetate 7) Alanine; 8) Lactate; 9) BCAAs; 10) Cholesterol.

7.3.3. Cluster analysis between control and participants with asthma using bNMR

Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was used to identify the pattern difference between healthy controls and participants with asthma, based on group samples variation in the spectra (**Fig. 7.3.3.1**). The PCA conducted was not significant. Although initial observation revealed a separation between the control and the asthma groups across the spectrum (**Fig. 7.3.3.1** a, c, e; p=ns). The vector graphs represented the values on the spectra that caused the pattern difference between the considered groups (**Fig. 7.3.3.1** b, d, f).






Fig. 7.3.3.1. Principal component analysis (PCA) score plot a) c) e) and vectors graphs b), d), f) derived from the ¹H bNMR spectra of plasma obtained from control subjects (green circles) and participants with asthma (red circles).

The preliminary analysis of the bNMR spectra showed a cluster separation between healthy controls and participants with asthma. (Healthy control: n=6; participants with asthma: n=6). Result was not significant (p=ns).

Further analysis was conducted to determine which regions caused separations between the two groups considered. Orthogonal Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (OPLS-DA) revealed no statistical differences between groups. Although, initial observation revealed a potential cluster separation between the control and asthmatic groups (p=ns) (**Fig. 7.3.3.2**). The Variable Importance in Projection (VIP) plot (**Fig. 7.3.3.2** b) obtained from the OrthoPLS-DA indicated which metabolites were responsible for the cluster separation between group and showed tended to be upregulated (red squares) or downregulated (blue squares) in the spectra (**Fig. 7.3.3.2** b; p=ns). According to the VIP plot, metabolites related to the regions of BCAAs, cholesterol, glutamine and histidine (1.0-0 ppm) appeared to be increased in the group of participant with asthma (p=ns) (**Fig. 7.3.3.2** b).



Fig. 7.3.3.2. Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) score plot a) and Variable Importance in Projection (VIP) plot b) derived from the ¹H bNMR spectra of plasma obtained from control subjects (green circles) and participants with asthma (red circles). a) OrthoPLS-DA showed a clear cluster division between healthy controls and subjects with asthma. b) VIP plot represented the variables that influenced the predictive components. (Healthy control: n=6; participants with asthma: n=6). Results were not significant (p=ns).

7.3.4. Data analysis from high-field NMR spectra

Statistical analysis on the high-field spectra confirmed the cluster separation trend observed with the bNMR between control and asthma group (p=ns) (**Fig. 7.3.4.1**). There were no statistical differences between groups. Although trend in data from the PCA and OPLS-DA analysis revealed a potential cluster separation between groups. The VIP score plot obtained from the OPLS-DA revealed that the metabolites responsible for cluster separations between groups tended to be lower in the asthma group compared to the control. Only one region that appeared to be upregulated in the asthma group was related to Glycine or Glucose or Methanol region (3.65-3.90 ppm). The metabolites most involved in cluster separation were Lactate (1-1.3 ppm), BCAAs or Cholesterol (0.65-0.85ppm), Acetate (1.8-2.0 ppm), Glycine or Glucose or Methanol (3.65-3.90 ppm) (p=ns) (**Fig. 7.3.4.1** d). An unpaired t-test was then performed on these metabolites to assess differences between the two groups considered (**Fig. 7.3.4.1**). The analysis revealed no differences between groups but trend in data showed a reduction of Lactate, BCAAs or Cholesterol (it can be any of these metabolites due to peaks being close to each other, that made difficult to identify the specific metabolite); Acetate; Glycine or Glucose or Methanol (peaks close to each other) metabolites in the asthma groups compared to the control (p=ns) (**Fig. 7.3.4.2**).



Fig. 7.3.4.1. Principal component analysis (PCA) score plot a), vectors graph b), Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) score plot c) and Variable Importance in Projection (VIP) plot d) derived from the ¹H bNMR spectra of plasma obtained from control subjects (green circles) and participants with asthma (red circles).

The preliminary analysis of the bNMR spectra showed a cluster separation between healthy controls and participants with asthma. VIP plot represented the variables that influenced the predictive components (healthy control: n=6; participants with asthma: n=6). Results were not significant (p=ns).



Fig. 7.3.4.2. Differences in metabolites levels in participants with asthma and control. The metabolites considered were: a) Lactate (1.3-1.0 ppm); b) BCAAs or Cholesterol (0.65-0.85 ppm); c) Acetate (1.8-2.0 ppm); d) Glycine or Glucose or Methanol (2.95-3.06 ppm). Data were reported as mean±standard deviation (SD). Statistical analyses were performed using un-paired t-test. (healthy control: n=6; participants with asthma: n=6). Results were not significant (p=ns).

7.4 Discussion

The preliminary results obtained from the analysis of 12 plasma samples with the bNMR showed: 1) comparative identification of metabolites between bNMR and high field NMR; 2) no changes in metabolite concentrations were observed in the asthma group compared to the control group; 3) potential cluster separation between groups.

Metabolic profiling of plasma samples successfully identifies metabolites involved in asthma pathophysiology including histamine, BCAAs, methanol, glycine, acetate and cholesterol.

Initial observation from the metabolic profiling of plasma samples, confirmed with highfield NMR, revealed that participants with asthma tend to have upregulated levels of histamine, BCAAs, methanol, glucose, glycine, creatine, acetate, citrate and cholesterol compared to the control group. The metabolite histidine is an essential amino acid, and it is responsible for the production of histamine which is the key player in allergic reactions in asthma (Ohtsu 2012). Similarly, high BCAAs level are often correlated to allergic reaction in asthma (Chiu et al. 2020). Raised levels of this metabolites are common in allergic phenotype of asthma, driven by Th-2 response. Therefore, the trend observed in this study may be an indicator to distinguish the asthma phenotype.

Impaired lipid profile has been linked with asthma severity and the preliminary observation from this study reported raised level of cholesterol which may be an early marker of metabolic impairment. However, evidence suggested that this effect may be due to the use of inhaled corticosteroids (Su et al. 2018; Yiallouros et al. 2014; Azofra et

199

al. 2019). Other studies using high-field NMR technique revealed metabolites such as alanine, methanol, acetate and glycine were associated with asthma pathways (Jung et al. 2013; Motta et al. 2014; Saude et al. 2011).

If confirmed in large cohort, the observations conducted in the present study may contribute to understand the underlying mechanism of asthma disease or provide a better method for diagnosis or monitoring patients.

The PCA revealed a possible cluster separation between control and asthma groups. A previous study revealed that the differences between groups were caused by a lower level of metabolites such as histamine, glucose, valine and leucine in the asthma group (Jung et al. 2013). In the present study, analysis conducted in bNMR and high-field NMR led to opposite results showing a tendency in upregulation of metabolites in the asthma group with bNMR and a downregulation with high-field NMR. In addition, the metabolites responsible for the cluster separation were different in the two techniques used. The method used is prone to overfitting and on both occasions the results were not significant, therefore no conclusion can be made at this stage. An increased number of participants could help gain a better understanding of technique and disease. Recent studies showed a distinct metabolic profile between biofluids such as blood and urine, therefore an integrated approach would be ideal to evaluate metabolic pathways underlying asthma disease (Chiu et al. 2020; Kelly et al. 2017). Moreover, if cluster separation will be confirmed in large cohort, this will open ideas for the potential use of bNMR in clinical settings for several applications such as diagnosis discrimination, as previously reported (Percival et al. 2019).

200

7.4.1 Limitation and Future works

The limited number of participants considered for this pilot study were not sufficient to reach statistical significance between groups. The next stage of this study will be to analyse plasma samples from a large cohort of 98 patients with difficult to control asthma, previously recruited as part of this PhD project, using both bNMR and high field NMR. This will provide a better understanding of use of bNMR for metabolites identification and metabolic discrimination between asthma and control.

7.4.2 Conclusion

These preliminary results obtained with the analysis of the small cohort considered showed promising potential for the use of bNMR in metabolomic analysis. If confirmed in larger cohorts, these results can contribute to help with monitoring and diagnostics of disease. Chapter 8: The effect of a 21-day dietary prebiotic supplement on asthma management, gut permeability and biomarkers of health in adults with well-controlled asthma

8.1 Introduction

The pathophysiology of asthma is characterized by airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR), airway remodelling, and airway inflammation (Global Initiative for Asthma 2022). Based on symptoms, asthma can be defined as well-controlled or difficult to control. Wellcontrolled asthma is defined as a condition characterized by low frequency of symptoms including wheezing, shortness of breath or coughing, no limitation on daily activity including exercise and infrequent exacerbations (BTS 2014). If symptoms are not monitored, adults with well-controlled asthma can develop asthma attack and/or more severe condition similar to patients with difficult to control asthma. Therefore, it is important to monitor the symptoms and keep the disease under control. Triggers such smoke, exercise, stress, weight gain or irritants, can cause airways as hyperresponsiveness, an over-reaction from the airways causing bronchoconstriction in patients with asthma (Stoodley et al. 2019; Vernon et al. 2012). If left untreated, these symptoms can exacerbate and cause airway obstructions and/or permanent airway remodelling, such as airway hypertrophy and membrane thickening which can limit responsiveness to common asthma medications (Suzanne Bollmeier 2017).

Alteration of gut microbiota composition is considered to influence various diseases including asthma. Changes in the composition of the gut microbiota can lead to a shift towards an overgrowth of harmful bacteria commonly associated with increased inflammation, which in turn may exacerbate a number of diseases including obesity and asthma (Amabebe et al. 2020; Chiu et al. 2019; Gurung et al. 2020; Sankararaman et al. 2023). One mechanism by which harmful bacteria may contribute to systemic

inflammation is by altering the gut barrier, a semipermeable structure that separates the intestinal lumen from the body. High levels of *Firmicutes* and *Proteobacteria* strains are associated with altered tight junctions (essential proteins that hold together the epithelial cells that make up the gut barrier) expression, leading to altered transepithelial permeability (Allam-Ndoul et al. 2020). This alteration of the gut barrier allows gut bacteria fragments such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS) to translocate across the gut mucosa and promote inflammation through activation of the nuclear factor kappa B (NFkB) pathway via toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) (Lad et al. 2021). Moreover, LPS stimulation of TLR-4 can activate an inflammatory cascade that can lead to reduced transcription of the tight junction proteins, which can further increase gut barrier damage and allow more LPS to cross (Nighot et al. 2017, 2019). From here LPS may enter the systemic circulation and turn inflammation from local to systemic.

Raised serum concentrations of LPS-binding protein (LBP), which plays a key role in enhancing the sensitivity of immune cells to LPS (Hailman et al., 1994), and calprotectin, a marker of gut inflammation, are observed in metabolic conditions such as obesity and linked with systemic inflammation (Calcaterra et al. 2018; Gonzalez-Quintela et al. 2013; Moreno-Navarrete et al. 2012; Mortensen et al. 2009). Similarly, studies have reported high levels of circulating serum calprotectin in patients with asthma compared to controls (Lee et al. 2020; Decaesteker et al. 2022), while the concentration of LBP was found to be significantly elevated in bronchoalveolar fluid of patients with asthma compared to control (Dubin et al. 1996), and associated with chronic airway response in murine models (Strohmeier et al. 2001). In addition to gut barrier impairment, asthma has been associated with metabolic dysfunction, characterized by insulin resistance and altered lipid profile (Barochia et al. 2015; Cottrell et al. 2011a; Singh et al. 2015). A murine study reported an association between impaired glucose metabolism, insulin resistance and greater AHR (Singh et al. 2015;). Studies demonstrating this link are limited and further study is warranted.

Prevention strategies such as dietary interventions that target the gut microbiota may be beneficial to improve health and reduce the risk of developing severe symptoms of asthma. Common supplements include probiotics, defined as a live microorganisms that confer health benefit to the host when consumed in adequate amounts (Hill et al. 2014); and prebiotics, substrates that are selectively utilized by host microorganisms conferring a health benefit (Gibson et al. 2017). Prebiotics are a dietary strategy to target the gut microbiota, resulting in increased activity and abundance of beneficial microbes such as Lactobacillus or Bifidobacterium (Gibson et al. 2017). When prebiotics are metabolized by gut bacteria, short chain fatty acids (SCFA) are produced as an end-product which can have beneficial effects on human health (Gibson et al. 2017). Limited studies have investigated the role of prebiotics in adults with asthma (McLoughlin et al. 2019a; Williams et al. 2016a). It has been shown that 3 weeks supplementation with 5.5 g of prebiotic Bimuno-galacto-oligosaccharides (B-GOS) attenuated airways hyperresponsiveness and reduced markers of airway inflammation such as TNF- α , CRP and eosinophil levels (Williams et al. 2016). Similar findings have been reported in murine studies, where a 14-day diet supplemented with 1% prebiotic galactooligosaccharides (GOS) led to reduced markers of airway inflammation and prevented airway hyperresponsiveness in allergic asthma models (Verheijden et al. 2016;

205

Verheijden et al. 2015). Prebiotics can also indirectly contribute to the maintenance of gut barrier integrity through an increase in the circulating level of SCFA. Previous studies using the human intestinal epithelial cell line, CaCo-2, demonstrated that the SCFA butyrate, can improve gut barrier integrity by enhancing tight junction assembly via inhibition of nucleotide-binding domain, leucine-rich-containing family, pyrin domaincontaining-3 (NLRP3) inflammasome and activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) (Feng et al. 2018b; Peng et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2020). Other studies demonstrated a direct effect of prebiotics in enhancing gut barrier integrity via activation of the AMPK pathway, independently of surrounding microbiota (Akbari et al. 2017; Wongkrasant et al. 2020). In these studies, researchers pre-treated a Caco-2 cell monolayer with different types and concentration of prebiotics, specifically GOS, inulin and fructo-oligosaccharides (FOS), before challenging the cells with a viral compound to induce gut permeability. The prebiotic GOS showed the most protective results on gut barrier by increasing tight junction assembly, in a concentration dependent manner. Researchers concluded that the effect of different prebiotics on gut barrier may be due to the particular molecular structure of the prebiotic and/or its concentration (Akbari et al. 2017). These studies are limited to cell work and further investigations are needed. So far, no studies have investigated the effect of prebiotic on gut permeability in adults with asthma.

Finally, prebiotic supplementation (Inulin, Oligofructose) was also associated with improved markers of metabolic health including glucose, triglycerides and cholesterol (Aliasgharzadeh et al. 2015; Sabico et al. 2017, 2019). However, studies are limited to cohorts of patients with obesity and diabetes, and none examined the effect of prebiotic administration in patients with asthma.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

Therefore, a prebiotic intervention trial was conducted in a double-blind placebo control cross-over design in a cohort of adults with mild well-controlled asthma. The aims of the study were to evaluate if 3 weeks supplementation with 2.9 g/day of commercially available prebiotic B-GOS would: 1) influence plasma concentrations of LBP and calprotectin; 2) improve serum biomarkers of health (glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides) and inflammation (CRP); and/or 3) improve lung function and asthma control.

8.2 Material and Methods

8.2.1 Experimental design

The study was approved by the Nottingham Trent University Human Ethics Committee, and all procedures were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

A total of 18 adults with asthma (4 male, 14 female) volunteered for the study and provided written informed consent. Inclusion of participants was dependent upon a diagnosis of mild well-controlled asthma by a GP and a BMI ranging between 18-35 kg/m². A full list of inclusion and exclusion criteria can be found in **Appendix 2: Prebiotic trial participant information sheet and consent form**. Two participants declined to participate further. Three participants did not meet the inclusion criteria and therefore were excluded from the study. A total of 13 participants completed the study.

Following a double blind, placebo controlled cross over design, participants were assigned to either the prebiotic intervention of 2.9 g galacto-oligosaccharide per day for 21 days in the form of one sachet (3.65 g) of Bimuno[®] Daily (Clasado Biosciences Ltd) (n= 13) or one placebo sachet (3.65 g maltodextrin) (Clasado Biosciences Ltd) (n= 13) for 21 days (**Fig. 8.2.1.1**). Participants visited the lab on four different occasions (days 0, 21, 35 and 56). At each visit, anthropometric measurements (height, weight, hip, waist circumferences) were collected, pulmonary function assessed, asthma-related questionnaires completed, and venous blood samples were collected.

Adherence to the supplement was calculated as follows:

% supplement taken =
$$\frac{N^{\circ} days supplement was taken}{N^{\circ} days supplementation (21)} * 100$$

208



Fig. 8.2.1.1. CONSORT flow chart for the prebiotic intervention trial.

A total of 18 adults with mild well-controlled asthma were initially recruited to the study. Of the initial 18 participants, 15 made it to the first visit and 13 completed the trial. A total of 5 participants were excluded for not meeting criteria or declined to participate further.

8.2.2 Anthropometric measurement

Participants' height, body mass and wait hip circumference were measured at each visit.

Participants' body mass was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg using calibrated electronic scales (SECA 877 Scale, SECA, UK), wearing lightweight clothing and barefoot while their height was measured using a stadiometer (SECA stadiometer, UK). BMI was then calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)².

Hip and waist circumference were measured using a medical tape. Waist was taken halfway between the lower rib and the iliac crest point, and hip circumference as the widest point. Participants wore light clothes and were instructed to breath out gently while the measurements were taken. Waist to hip ratio was calculated by dividing the waist by the hip circumference and used to estimate body fat distribution (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 2022).

8.2.3 Blood collection

Venous blood was collected at each visit. Resting blood was drawn from a vein in the antecubital fossa region in the forearms using a 23-gauge butterfly needle (BD Vacutainer, Plymouth, UK) and serum and plasma were collected. For serum, 5 mL of blood was collected in a serum separating tube (BD, Plymouth, UK), gently inverted and left to clot for approximately 30 minutes. The tube was then centrifuged at 1,000g for 15 minutes at 4°C. For plasma, 4 mL of blood was collected into an EDTA tube (BD, Plymouth, UK), gently inverted, and immediately centrifuged at 1,500g for 15 minutes at 4°C. Following centrifugation, both serum and plasma were aliquoted and stored in

the -80°C freezer until use. After blood sampling, the needle was removed, and medical tissue was applied under pressure to prevent a superficial hematoma.

8.2.4 Pulmonary function

Pulmonary function was assessed via spirometry. Participants performed maximal flowvolume loops to determine absolute and percentage predicted: forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁), peak expiratory flow rate (PEF), forced expiratory flow rate from 25-75 of FVC (FEF₂₅₋₇₅), forced expiratory flow rate 75-85 of FVC (FEF₇₅₋₈₅) and FEV₁/FVC ratios. Each participant performed a minimum of 3 tests and if the values were within 0.150 L of each other, the highest value was taken for the analysis. Data were reported as a % of the predicted calculated value. Predicted values were calculated based on participants' height, weight, age, sex and ethnicity based on equation approved by the European Respiratory Society (Quanjer et al. 2013). Pulmonary function was conducted in accordance with the procedures outlined in section **3.3.2**.

8.2.5 Blood serum markers analysis

Pentra C400 (Horiba, U.K.) was used to assess the concentration of serum biomarkers of health. These biomarkers were glucose, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), total Cholesterol, C-reactive protein (CRP) and triglycerides (Horiba, U.K.). All samples were measured in duplicate and run together to avoid batch variations. Variation between repeats was <0.01 mmol/L.

8.2.6 Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Plasma LBP and Calprotectin were measured on each visit using enzyme linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) (LBP: Hycult; Calprotectin: Bio-techne). ELISAs assays were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. The lower limits of detection for the assays were 4.4 ng/mL for LBP and 0.086 ng/mL for Calprotectin. The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 2.2 % for LBP and 3.4% for Calprotectin. All samples were analysed in duplicate on one 96-well plate for both assays. Further details of these procedures are outlined in **3.3.4**.

8.2.7 Self-reported questionnaires:

8.2.7.1 Asthma control questionnaire (ACQ)-6

The ACQ-6 test is a self-reported asthma symptoms questionnaire, validated and designed by Juniper, O'byrne, Guyatt, Ferrie, & King to assess asthma control (Juniper et al. 1999). The ACQ-6 includes six questions referring to asthma control symptoms (frequency of night-time awakening due to asthma, symptoms on morning-waking, daily activities limitation, breathlessness and wheeze frequency, and rescue by short-acting β 2-agonist use), scored on a 6-point scale (0 = never/no symptoms/none; 6 = very severe symptoms). The total maximum score is 36. The total participant score was then divided by the number of items in the questionnaire to obtain the final participant score. Uncontrolled asthma is set at a cut-off score of \geq 1.5, while well-controlled asthma is set at score of \leq 0.75, with a minimal change in score of 0.5 (Juniper et al. 2005).

8.2.7.2 Nijmegen questionnaire

The Nijmegen score questionnaire screens for symptoms associated with dysfunctional breathing pattern, for hyperventilation syndrome in asthma patients from mild to severe asthma conditions (Grammatopoulou et al. 2014). The questionnaire is composed of a 16-symptom checklist using a 0 to 4 scale (0=never; 4=very often) giving a total score of 64. A score above 23 suggests a positive diagnosis of hyperventilation.

8.2.7.3 Hull airways reflux questionnaire

The Hull airways reflux questionnaire (HARQ) is a validated tool used to assess symptoms associated with airways reflux. It is used by clinicians to diagnose non-acid gaseous reflux impacting on the airway, leading to bronchospasm and shortness of breath. It consists of 14 questions each rated on a scale of 0 to 5 (0=no problem; 5= severe/frequent problem) with a maximum score of 70. The upper limit of normal is 13 out 70, whereas a score higher than 13 indicates the presence of airway reflux (Morice et al. 2011).

8.2.7.4 Sino-nasal outcome test

The Sino-nasal outcome test (SNOT-22) is a self-reported questionnaire with outcome measures to assess rhinosinusitis. The SNOT-22 assesses a patient's symptoms during the previous 2-week period, and it is marked out of a total score of 110. Normal values

are between 0 and 7, mild values are >8 and \leq 20, moderate values >20 and severe symptoms are over>50.

8.2.7.5 Hospital anxiety and depression scale

The hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS) is a self-reported questionnaire, as developed by Zigmond and Snaith in 1983, to detect anxiety disorders and depression among patients in nonpsychiatric hospital clinics (Zigmond and Snaith 1983). Despite its initial use in clinical setting, many studies confirmed its validity for the general population use (Bjelland et al. 2002). It is currently used to detect states of depression and anxiety and to assess the severity of emotional disorder. It is divided into an Anxiety subscale (HADS-A) and a Depression subscale (HADS-D) each containing seven questions. Normal values range is between 0 and 7 for each section, while values between 8 and 10 are considered borderline and scores above 11 are considered abnormal.

8.2.7.6 Epworth scale

The Epworth scale is a validated test used to measure sleepiness. It was developed by Murry W. Johns in 1991 and it provides a measurement of the subject's general level of daytime sleepiness (Johns 1991). It is correlated with respiratory disturbance and obstructive sleep apnoea, which is a disease frequently correlated with asthma (Dixit 2018). The scale ranges from 0 to 24, with normal values below 7 and severe symptoms considered above 16.

8.2.8 Statistical analysis

The minimum sample size was calculated as 12 participants. This was made using the Massachusetts General Hospital Biostatistics sample size calculator, based on results previously obtained from a B-GOS intervention trial in adults with exercise induced asthma (Williams et al. 2016a). A minimum sample size of 12 was calculated using the outcome of a change in serum CRP following prebiotic intervention. Using previously published data showing changes in serum CRP following prebiotic interventions a sample size calculation revealed that with a power = 0.95 and α =0.05 a sample size of 12 would be required to detect a significant reduction (>1.5mg/L) of serum CRP in asthma patients. Accounting for a 15-20% dropout of participants a final sample size of 14 was the initial target.

Data analyses were performed using Graph Pad Prism 9.5.1. Data were tested for normality and then two-way ANOVA plus Sidàk multiple comparison test was used to compare changes between treatments pre and post intervention. Data were expressed as a mean±standard deviation (SD) unless otherwise specified. At day 0 of each treatment, baseline differences for all the parameters considered were evaluated using a paired samples t-test.

Effect size was conducted using Cohen's d and calculated as follow:

 $Cohen's d (d) = \frac{Mean \ value \ day \ 21 \ (M2) - Mean \ value \ day \ 0 \ (M1)}{pooled \ SD}$

Where pooled standard deviation (SD)=

$$\left[\sqrt{\frac{(SD1^2 + SD2^2)}{2}}\right]$$

The % of change between day 0 and day 21 for each parameter was calculated as follow:

$$\%$$
change = $\frac{(Outcome \ day \ 21 - outcome \ day \ 0)}{Outcome \ day \ 21} * 100$

The % change analysis was then performed using two-way ANOVA plus Sidàk multiple comparison test.

Statistical significance was considered to be p<0.05 and was reported as follows; * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001, **** p<0.0001.

8.3 Results

8.3.1 Participants characterization

A total of 18 participants were recruited, of which 13 successfully completed the trial.

All participants had mild well-controlled asthma and their anthropometric

characteristics are summarized in Table 8.3.1.1. Participant adherence to supplement

was 98.4% for B-GOS and 97.7% for maltodextrin.

Table 8.3.1.1. Participants characterization.

A total of 13 adults (n= 9 female (F); n=4 male (M)) with well-controlled asthma were recruited in the study. Waist circumference cut-off : low: <94cm (M), <80cm (F); high: 94-102cm (M), 80-88cm (F); very high: \geq 102cm (M), \geq 88cm (F) (Moody and Neave 2020). Cut-off for waist/hip ratio: increased risk of developing metabolic disease: >1 (M), >0.85 (F) (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) 2006). The data in the table represents baseline measurements collected at visit 1. Data is presented as a mean \pm standard deviation (SD).

Parameters	Average	SD
Age (yr)	27	6
Mass (kg)	70.46	8.17
Height (m)	1.67	0.09
BMI (kg/m²)	25.36	2.22
Waist circumference (cm)-F	77.80	6.01
Waist circumference (cm)-M	84.0	2.20
Hip circumference (cm)- F	103.90	4.13
Hip circumference (cm)- M	101.2	2.21
waist/hip ratio-F	0.74	0.04
waist/hip ratio-M	0.83	0.02

8.3.2 Changes in gut permeability markers following B-GOS supplementation

At day 0, there was no difference in the concentration of LBP between conditions (day 0 maltodextrin 11.1 \pm 4.3 µg/mL vs day 0 B-GOS 10.2 \pm 4.3 µg/mL; p=ns). Likewise there

was no difference in the concentration of calprotectin at day 0 (day 0 maltodextrin 715±500 ng/mL vs day 0 B-GOS 458±299 ng/mL, p=ns). Descriptive data measurements each gut permeability marker at day 0 and day 21, pre and post treatments, % change post treatments and their normative threshold level, can be found in Error! Reference source not found..

At day 21, no changes were observed in circulating LBP following either B-GOS supplementation (p=ns, d=0.08) or maltodextrin (p=ns, d=0.21) (**Fig. 8.3.2.1**-a)). Similarly, calprotectin levels were unchanged after treatment with either maltodextrin (p=ns, d=0.14) or B-GOS (p=ns, d=0.17). (**Fig. 8.3.2.1**-b).





Plasma concentration of selected gut biomarkers was assessed at each visit, before (Day 0) and after (Day 21) supplementation with either maltodextrin or B-GOS. The gut permeability markers assessed were a) LBP, b) Calprotectin. Graphs display participants' gut permeability marker levels before and after supplementation with either maltodextrin or B-GOS. Statistical analysis performed was two-way ANOVA plus Sidàk multiple comparison test. Data were expressed as a mean±Standard Deviation (SD). Data were not significant (p=ns, d<0.40) (n=13).

Table 8.3.2.2. 1.	Descriptive	measurements	of gut	permeability	markers	before	and	after
supplementation	, % change ar	nd normative th	reshol	d levels.				

Circulating level of gut permeability markers were assessed at each visit, before and after supplementation with either maltodextrin or B-GOS. Data are expressed as mean±standard deviation (SD). Lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP).

Gut permeabil ity markers	Thresho ld levels	Maltodext rin day 0 (mean±SD)	Maltodextr in-day 21 (mean±SD)	% change- Maltodext rin	B-GOS- day 0 (mean±SD)	BGOS-day 21 (mean±SD)	% chang e- B- GOS
LBP (µg/mL)	<15	11.07±4.10	9.98±3.98	-6.30%	10.24±4.30	9.90±4.16	-3.00%
Calprotect in (ng/mL)	<1,600	714.51±512. 75	627.22±505. 46	-1.50%	457.62±298. 68	418.00±257. 75	-1.40%

a)

b)

8.3.3 The effect of prebiotic on serum biomarkers of health

Serum glucose, cholesterol (HDL, LDL, Total), triglyceride and CRP were measured at day 0 and day 21 of each intervention. At day 0 of each treatment there were no differences in baseline levels of the health markers (p=ns).

Changes between day 0 and 21 was evaluated with 2-way ANOVA analysis and it revealed no statistical differences in metabolic biomarkers with either maltodextrin or B-GOS (p=ns) (**Fig. 8.3.3.1**). Descriptive data measurements each biomarkers at day 0 and day 21, pre and post treatments, and their normative threshold level, can be found in **Table 8.3.3.2 1**.

Although not significant, the percentage change analysis demonstrated that both maltodextrin and B-GOS supplementation reduced circulating triglycerides level by ~5% (Maltodextrin: p=ns, d=0.2; B-GOS: p=ns, d=0.30). Circulating glucose levels appeared to increase by 6% with maltodextrin (p=ns, d=0.20) compared to B-GOS leading to a 7% reduction (p=ns, d=0.60). Circulating CRP levels appeared to increase by 2% with maltodextrin (p=ns, d=0.30), while it was reduced by 12% with B-GOS (p=ns, d=0.20). Maltodextrin tended to increase HDL level by 2% (p=ns, d=0.03), whereas B-GOS caused an increase of 7% (p=ns, d=0.20). Circulating LDL and total cholesterol levels remained unchanged between treatments.





Circulating levels of selected biomarkers were assessed at each visit, before (Day 0) and after (Day 21) supplementation with either maltodextrin or B-GOS. The health markers considered were a) Total Cholesterol, b) LDL, c) HDL, d) Triglycerides, e) Glucose, f) CRP. Graphs display participants' biomarker levels before and after supplementation with either maltodextrin or B-GOS. Statistical analysis performed was two-way ANOVA plus Sidàk multiple comparison test. Data were expressed as a mean±standard deviation (SD). Data were not significant (p=ns, d<0.40) (n=12).

Table8.3.3.21Descriptive measurements of health biomarkers before and aftersupplementation, % change and normative threshold levels.

Circulating level of health biomarkers were assessed at each visit, before and after supplementation with either maltodextrin or B-GOS. Data are expressed as mean±standard deviation (SD). Cholesterol, low-density protein (LDL), Cholesterol, high-density protein (HDL), C-reactive protein (CRP).

Blood Biomarker	Thresh old levels	Maltodextri n- day 0 (mean±SD)	Maltodextri n-day 21 (mean±SD)	% change- Maltodextr in	B-GOS- day 0 (mean±S D)	BGOS- day 21 (mean±S D)	% change- B-GOS
Cholesterol	-6	1 28+0 62	4 25+0 64	-1 00%	4.34±0.6	4.27±0.5	0 50%
	N	4.38±0.05	4.33±0.04	-1.0076	2 32+0 5	2 27+0 4	0.3070
(mmol/L)	<3	2.44±0.60	2.40±0.67	-2.00%	1	0	-1.00%
HDL					1.54±0.3	1.62±0.3	
(mmol/L)	<1	1.52±0.37	1.55±0.37	2.00%	7	7	7.00%
Triglycerides					1.08±0.6	0.92±0.3	
(mmol/L)	<2	1.09±0.45	1.01±0.47	-7.00%	8	8	-5.80%
Glucose					4.53±0.8	4.08±0.6	
(mmol/L)	<6	4.53±0.79	4.72±0.76	6.00%	8	4	-7.00%
CRP					0.99±1.0	0.78±1.1	
(mmol/L)	<10	1.5±1.66	1.00±1.03	2.40%	9	0	-12%

8.3.4 The effect of prebiotic on lung function

Lung function was assessed using spirometry measurements at day 0 and day 21 of both interventions. There was no difference in day 0 pulmonary function values (p=ns) between interventions, confirming that participants had stable asthma, no exacerbation and there was no carry over effect after the two-week washout period.

Descriptive data measurements each lung function parameter at day 0 and day 21, pre and post treatments, % of change and their normative threshold level, can be found in **Table 8.4.3.2. 1**.

Two-way repeated measures ANOVAs revealed no significant changes in %FEV₁, FVC, FEV₁/FVC, PEF, FEF₂₅₋₇₅, FEF₇₅₋₈₅ within (day 0 and 21), or between interventions (p=ns) (**Fig. 8.3.4.1**). Although not significant, the % of change analysis showed a 12% improvement in %FEF₇₅₋₈₅ following B-GOS supplementation with a small/medium effect size (p=ns, d=0.30), while there was no change after maltodextrin (p=ns, d=0.06) (**Error! Reference source not found.**).





Lung function was assessed with spirometry at each visit before (Day 0) and after (Day 21) supplementation with either prebiotic B-GOS or maltodextrin. Data measured were a) FVC, b) FEV₁, c) FEV₁/FVC Ratio, d) PEF, e) FEF₂₅₋₇₅, f) FEF₇₅₋₈₅. Graphs represent data for each participant before and after the maltodextrin and B-GOS supplementation. Statistical analysis used was two-way ANOVA plus Sidàk multiple comparison test. Data are displayed as a mean±standard deviation (SD). Data were not significant (p=ns; d<0.40) (n=12).

Table 8.4.3.2. 1. Descriptive measurements of lung function parameters before and after supplementation, % change, and normative threshold levels

Lung function was assessed with spirometry at each visit before and after supplementation with either maltodextrin or B-GOS. Data are expressed as a % of change of either maltodextrin or prebiotic B-GOS ± standard deviation (SD). Forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1), forced vital capacity (FVC), peak expiratory flow (PEF), forced expiratory flow between 25% and 75% (FEF25-75), forced expiratory flow between 25% and 75% (%FEF75-85).

Spirometr y- paramete rs	Threshold levels (%)	Maltodex trin- day 0 (mean± SD)	Maltodex trin-day 21 (mean± SD)	% change- Maltodex trin	B-GOS- day 0 (mean± SD)	BGOS- day 21 (mean± SD)	% change- B-GOS
		93.25±10	92.60±10		93.25±9.		
%FEV1	<80	.50	.10	0.70%	80	93±10.10	-0.20%
		99.30±11	97.01±11		100±10.0	99.30±10	
%FVC	<80	.80	.30	-0.80%	0	.80	-1.40%
%FEV1/		94.30±6.	94.10±6.		93.20±6.	94.40±5.	
FVC ratio	<80	60	60	-0.40%	60	90	0.50%
		10.5.10±	100.80±1		105.00±1	105.30±1	
%PEF	<80	15.25	6.40	-4.00%	7.60	5.50	0.20%
		81.00±22	81.00±19		78.10±25	78.80±25	
%FEF ₂₅₋₇₅	<80	.00	.30	0.00%	.10	.20	0.00%
		66.00±18	65.00±18		61.00±23	68.10±22	
%FEF ₇₅₋₈₅	<80	.10	.50	-1.00%	.00	.40	-12%

8.3.5 The effect of prebiotic on asthma symptoms questionnaires

The effects of prebiotic on self-reported asthma symptoms and asthma associated symptoms were measured through questionnaires, assessed at each visit, and scores were used for analysis (**Fig. 8.3.5.1**). There were no differences in baseline score between interventions at day 0 (p=ns).

Descriptive data measurements each asthma related questionnaires at day 0 and day 21, change in score and their normative threshold level, can be found in **Table 8.3.5.2**.

1.

No changes were observed at day 0 and day 21 of prebiotics or maltodextrin in selfreported symptoms of asthma (ACQ-6) (Maltodextrin, B-GOS: p=ns, d=0.1). The hyperventilation score assessed through the Nijmegen questionnaire, went down by 2 points following the supplementation of both maltodextrin (p=ns, d=0.30) and B-GOS (p=ns, d=0.20) but this did not reach significance. The HARQ score went up by 3 points following maltodextrin, (p=ns, d=0.30), while it went down by 2 points after B-GOS administration (p=ns, d=0.20). A slight decrease in the nasal disorder questionnaire score, SNOT-22, was observed with both supplements but a larger decrease with B-GOS (maltodextrin: -2 points, p=ns, d=0.10; B-GOS: -5 points, p=ns, d=0.30). Next, the HADS-A score was slightly reduced with maltodextrin (-2 points, p=ns, d=0.20), while no changes were observed after B-GOS supplementation (p=ns, d=0.10). Finally, no differences in scores were observed in HADS-D (maltodextrin: p=ns, d=0.1; B-GOS: p=ns, d=0.2) and Epworth (maltodextrin: p=ns, d=0.2; B-GOS: p=ns, d=0.1) with either treatment.





Questionnaires were completed by participants at each visit. The questionnaires used were a) ACQ-6, b) Nijmegen, c) HARQ, d) SNOT-22, e) HADS-A, f) HADS-D, g) Epworth. Graphs display participants scores before (Day 0) and after (Day 21) supplementation with either maltodextrin or B-GOS. Statistical analysis performed was two-way ANOVA plus Sidàk multiple comparison test. Data were expressed as a mean±standard deviation (SD). Data were not significant (p=ns, d<0.40) (n=13).

 Table 8.3.5.2. 1. Descriptive measurements of asthma related questionnaire before and after supplementation. % change and normative threshold levels.

Asthma related questionnaires were assessed at each visit, before and after supplementation with either maltodextrin or B-GOS. Data are expressed as mean change in score of either maltodextrin or prebiotic B-GOS±standard deviation (SD). Hull Airways Reflux questionnaire (HARQ), Sino-nasal Outcome Test (SNOT-22), Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale-Depression (HADS-D), Hospital Anxiety and Depression *Scale- Anxiety (HADS-A)*.

Question naires	Threshold levels	Maltodex trin day 0 (mean±S D)	Maltodex trin-day 21 (mean±S D)	Change in score- Maltodex trin (mean±S D)	B-GOS- day 0 (mean±S D)	B-GOS- day 21 (mean±S D)	Change in score-B- GOS (mean±S D)
ACQ-6	<1.5	0.65±0.5 0	0.74±0.7 2	0.1±0.40	1.09±0.9 5	1.02±0.7 8	-0.1±0.6
Nijmege n	<23	12.31±7. 17	10.08±8. 43	- 2.23±3.1 6	13.85±10 .85	11.93±6. 93	- 1.92±6.5 5
HARQ	<13	7.23±4.6 8	10.46±12 .94	3.23±11. 34	11.92±13 .48	9.85±8.7 1	- 2.1±7.53
SNOT-22	<7	19.61±12 .57	18.00±18 .43	- 1.61±17. 73	26.23±22 .21	18.25±16 .44	- 4.92±9.5 2
HADS-D	<7	2.92±3.0 4	2.77±3.1 1	- 0.15±1.1 0	2.85±3.1 8	3.08±3.2 0	0.23±2.2 4
HADS-A	<7	10.23±8. 19	8.54±8.5 1	- 1.53±3.3 3	9.38±8.3 8	10.08±8. 76	- 0.24±1.9 2
Epworth	<10	7.00±2.9 4	6.00±3.1 1	-1±2.90	6.62±1.7 6	6.00±2.5 8	- 0.62±1.8 0
8.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to evaluate if 21 days of daily intake of prebiotic B-GOS in a cohort of mild well-controlled asthma could improve lung function and asthma control, influence plasma concentration of gut permeability markers (LBP and calprotectin), improve serum biomarkers of health (glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides) and inflammation (CRP).

This study showed that 21 days daily intake of prebiotic B-GOS did not affect pulmonary function, asthma related symptoms or circulating biomarkers of gut permeability. Similarly, no changes in health biomarkers (glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides) or systemic inflammation (CRP) were observed, following B.GOS supplementation.

The gut microbiota has a key role in the development of the gut immune system and in the development of immune tolerance (McLoughlin and Mills 2011). Associations between altered gut microbiota and respiratory disease have been highlighted in the past (Begley et al. 2018; Cait et al. 2018; Chai et al. 2022; Russell et al. 2012). Therefore, it is plausible that prebiotic B-GOS may have a beneficial effect on asthma symptoms and improvements in metabolic health. It was previously reported that a 5.5 g/day B-GOS intervention successfully reduced the level of bronchoconstriction and systemic inflammation in a cohort of physically active patients with exercise induced bronchoconstriction (EIB) (Williams et al. 2016a). The aim of this study was to evaluate if daily dose of B-GOS could be used to improve lung function and affect gut permeability and markers of metabolic health in mild well-controlled asthma patients at resting conditions. Furthermore, the previous study used a 5.5 g/day B-GOS dose (Williams et al. 2016) which has been shown to have a potent Bifidogenic effect, increasing the number of beneficial bacteria at the expense of the less beneficial ones, as well as leading to a reduction in pro-inflammatory cytokines (Vulevic et al. 2008). In contrast, the present study used a 2.9 g/day dose of B-GOS to match the existing commercially available dose of prebiotic.

Findings from this study increases the knowledge of B-GOS in cohort of patients with mild well-controlled asthma. However, further investigations are needed to confirm these findings.

8.4.1 Effect of prebiotic on blood biomarkers of gut permeability

This was the first study to investigate the effect of a prebiotic on intestinal permeability in a cohort of adults with mild well-controlled asthma. The results obtained in this study reported no changes in gut permeability markers. However, baseline levels of LBP and calprotectin were not elevated at rest in this cohort. Normal circulating levels for LBP ranges from 5-15 μ g/mL (Gonzalez-Quintela et al. 2013; Zweigner et al. 2001) while serum calprotectin levels range from 100-1,600 ng/mL (Jarlborg et al. 2020) with only one participant exceeding this level at day 0. This suggests that there was little to no impairment in the gut barrier of the mild well-controlled asthma patients in the current study and therefore little room for improvement. This may be due to young age of participants, lean BMI or mild well-controlled asthma status which may have impacted changes. It also suggests that gut permeability may not be an early marker of change in mild well-controlled asthma. However, high levels of circulating gut permeability markers have been found in metabolic conditions such as obesity (Martel et al. 2022; Calcaterra et al. 2018; Moreno-Navarrete et al. 2012). The use of prebiotics in improving circulating levels of gut marker was demonstrated in a cohort of adults that were overweight or obese, in which 12 weeks prebiotic supplementation resulted in a 40% reduction of circulating levels of LPS (Parnell et al. 2017a). Another study showed that 3-weeks prebiotic treatment in a cohort of adults with obesity ameliorated colonic permeability, but it did not reduce circulating levels of LPS and LBP (Krumbeck et al. 2018). These studies demonstrated a beneficial effect of prebiotic supplementation in improving gut permeability levels and therefore may suggest that patients with abnormal gut permeability resulting from comorbidities such as obesity, may benefit from prebiotic supplementation and therefore warrant future investigation.

8.4.2 Effect of prebiotics on blood biomarkers of metabolic and inflammatory health

B-GOS supplementation did not significantly affect blood biomarkers of health. An initial trend towards reduced circulating levels of glucose (by 7% with a large effect size of 0.60), triglycerides (by 5% with a small effect size of 0.30), HDL (by 6% with a small effect size of 0.20) and circulating CRP (by 12% with a small affect size of 0.20) following B-GOS supplementation was observed. However, these were only small changes and therefore further analysis are needed to confirm the trend observed in this study.

B-GOS supplementation showed a small reduction in circulating glucose levels from day 0 to day 21. However, participants were not screened for pre-diabetes condition and

therefore it cannot be excluded that elevated concentration of glucose were due to this condition.

Previous studies showed an association between impaired glucose levels and worse asthma symptoms such as airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation (Cottrell et al. 2011b; Gulcan et al. 2009; Karampatakis et al. 2017). The prebiotic B-GOS can selectively stimulate the growth of *Bifidobacterium* (Depeint et al. 2008) and it has been demonstrated that some of these species are specialized in the digestion of carbohydrates, therefore suggesting a potential beneficial effect in improving carbohydrate digestion within the gut and ameliorating glucose uptake (Hosaka et al. 2020; Kikuchi, Ben Othman, and Sakamoto 2018; Milani et al. 2015; Zhu et al. 2018). In the present study, there were no significant changes in glucose levels following B-GOS treatment.

Similarly, higher concentrations of cholesterol LDL and lower levels of cholesterol HDL have been reported before in participants with asthma (Azofra et al. 2019; Su et al. 2018). In the present study the LDL and total cholesterol levels were unchanged, but a tendency of a 7% increase in HDL was reported following B-GOS supplementation. Previous studies demonstrated improvements in markers of metabolic health such glucose, cholesterol and triglycerides in obesity and type 2 diabetes diseases following supplementation with prebiotics or probiotics for two or more months (Sabico et al. 2019; Aliasgharzadeh et al. 2015; Sabico et al. 2017). The present study showed a potential improvement in glucose levels and HDL after 21 days of B-GOS supplementation, which may suggest a potential beneficial effect of prebiotics on improving markers of metabolic health. Therefore, further investigations into the role of B-GOS in a cohort of participants with asthma and obesity are warranted.

High circulating CRP levels are commonly associated with airway inflammation and systemic inflammation in asthma (Kony et al. 2004; Takemura et al. 2006; Williams et al. 2016a). A previous study reported a reduction in serum CRP concentration following 3-weeks supplementation with 5.5 g/day B-GOS in a cohort of asthma participants with EIB (Williams et al. 2016a). In contrast to the present study, Willliams et al. conducted the trial in a specific phenotype cohort of EIB and used a larger dose of B-GOS (5.5 g/day), which may have contributed to the differences in CRP levels seen between studies.

CRP is also a well-known marker of systemic inflammation in metabolic diseases such as obesity (Thomson et al. 2003; de Jesus et al. 2018; Barros et al. 2011; Bantulà et al. 2021). Previous research reported a reduction in plasma CRP concentration in a cohort of adults with obesity, following B-GOS (5.5g/day) supplementation (Vulevic et al. 2013b). However, the reduction in plasma concentration of CRP was significant only after prolonged use of B-GOS (12 weeks), while no difference compared to placebo was observed after the first 6 weeks of B-GOS administration (Vulevic et al. 2013b). This may suggest that prolonged use of prebiotic and higher dose could have potential benefit in reducing markers of systemic inflammation and should be investigated further in asthma.

Moreover, in the present study baseline CRP levels were all within physiological range (<10 mmol/L) (Wium-Andersen et al. 2013). This suggests that there was no systemic inflammation in the mild well-controlled asthma patients in the current study and therefore little room for improvement. This may be due to young age of participants, lean BMI or mild well-controlled asthma status which may have impacted changes.

8.4.3 The effect of prebiotics on lung function and asthma symptoms

The 21 days of supplementation with B-GOS did not significantly affect resting lung function. Even if not significant, the % of change analysis showed an increase of 12% in the %FEF₇₅₋₈₅ parameter with a 0.3 effect size, following B-GOS supplementation. The %FEF_{75-85 is} an indicator of small airways dysfunction and is used mostly to assess obstructive respiratory diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Chattopadhyay et al. 2007; Pittman et al. 2012; Sorbello et al. 1981). That said, increased peripheral airway resistance, which can lead to bronchoconstriction or wheeze in patients with asthma (Dekerlegand et al. 2007), was increased in patients with mild asthma with apparently normal lung function compared to a control group (Martin 2002) and correlated with poorer quality of life (Takeda et al. 2010) and increased asthma exacerbation (Veen et al. 2000). Increased airway resistance was an important observation because it demonstrated that there is a disease activity even in mild well-controlled asthma patients with no apparent lung function impairment. Although not statistically significant, the results obtained from the present study suggest a potentially protective effect of B-GOS on the function of small airways that could be indirectly mediated by an increase in circulating SCFA, which have anti-inflammatory properties, and/or due to an increase in beneficial Bifidobacterium, following B-GOS supplementation. (Vulevic et al. 2013b; Williams et al. 2016a) Further investigations are needed to confirm the potential beneficial effect of B-GOS on lung function and to disclose its mechanistic effects.

Beyond the trend in amelioration of %FEF₇₅₋₈₅, no other improvement in lung function was found in the present study. This contrasts with previous findings that demonstrated

improvement in lung function in adults with hyperpnoea-induced an bronchoconstriction (HIB), a surrogate for exercise-induced bronchoconstriction, following 3-weeks supplementation with B-GOS (Williams et al. 2016a). However, unlike the current study, participants in Williams et al. (2016) used higher dose of prebiotic (5.5 g/day) and underwent a bronchoprovocation challenge noted as eucaphic voluntary hyperphoea (EVH) to induce bronchoconstriction and airway inflammation. This challenge resulted in a reduction in pulmonary function and increases in inflammation, which may have provided a window of opportunity to see improvements as a result of B-GOS. The participants in the current study were only tested at rest and had very mild well-controlled asthma as demonstrated by resting %FEV1 values of >80%, potentially limiting any small effects that may be seen from a dietary B-GOS intervention. It could be speculated that dietary prebiotics may only show effects during periods of asthma exacerbations, when the airways are exposed to a trigger (e.g. exercise, allergens etc.).

Asthma severity and related symptoms were assessed at each visit with questionnaires. The prebiotic B-GOS did not significantly improve any of these factors. However, there was a statistical trend (with a small effect size) towards a reduction in nasal disorder (SNOT-22) score, an asthma associated symptom, following B-GOS supplementation. Questionnaires are an easy way to report a broad range of symptoms, although there are several issues that may affect the results. Questionnaire scores could have been affected by external factors such as stress, hay fever or illness. Considering the 3-week supplementation period, any of these factors could have influenced the self-reporting of symptoms. With self-reporting questionnaires there is potential bias, and alterations in perceptions of symptoms at the specific time the participants completed the questionnaire. Although questionnaires are a useful tool to detect changes in symptoms, the relatively short supplementation period and the well-controlled asthma cohort being studied made it difficult to evaluate changes.

8.4.4 Conclusion

The results of this double-blind, placebo controlled cross-over study did not show improvement in markers of metabolic health, inflammation and/or lung function in mild well-controlled participants with asthma, following B-GOS supplementation. Therefore, it would be of interest to explore the effects of B-GOS in a cohort of patients with asthma and obesity. Chapter 9: General Discussion and conclusions

9.1 Introduction

Asthma represents a rising public health and financial burden. In the U.K., 4.3 million adults suffer of asthma with an annual cost for the NHS of around 1 billion pound per year (NHS England 2020). Several factors can increase the risk of developing asthma. Between others obesity appear to be associated with a more severe subtype of asthma characterized by severe exacerbation and less response to traditional medication (Lugogo et al. 2010; Peters et al. 2018; Wong et al. 2022). Obesity is characterized by systemic low-grade inflammation and altered metabolic profile which can contribute to the severity of asthma. However, the underlying mechanism by which obesity affects asthma is still poorly understood. Therefore, there is a greater need to understand phenotypic characteristics of patients with obesity and asthma to help support future disease management strategies.

Dysregulation in the gut microbiota, known in obesity, has been previously linked with asthma exacerbation (Ashique et al. 2022; Li et al. 2021; Sokolowska et al. 2018). Specifically, alteration of gut bacteria composition towards harmful species may lead to the disruption of gut barrier and potential translocation of gut derived endotoxin such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS) in the blood circulation. This in turn can activate a proinflammatory cascade pathway leading to systemic inflammation as well as alteration of metabolic health markers. Greater understanding of the role of LPS at molecular and human level are needed to evaluate the consequence of gut barrier disruption on asthma severity.

Long term use of medication can cause common side effects including headaches, muscle cramps and increased heart rate and for these reasons asthma medications are not always well tolerated by patients (Cates et al. 2014; Cates and Cates 2012; Nelson 2006). Moreover, asthma treatments focus on reducing symptoms by supressing the activity of leukocytes such as eosinophils, which subsequently leads to reduction of inflammation and reversal of bronchoconstriction, rather than preventing them (Chauhan and Ducharme 2012; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 2023). Therefore alternative strategies need to be investigated. Nutritional supplements such as the use prebiotic has been showed to improve asthma symptoms and reduce inflammation (McLoughlin et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2016). However, no human study investigated the effect of prebiotics in strengthening gut barrier in cohort of asthma.

These gaps in the literature build up the rationale for this PhD thesis. A summary of key finding of the thesis are detailed below.

Chapter 4 evaluated the role of short chain fatty acids (SCFA), end-product of prebiotic fermentation by gut bacteria, in airway epithelial cells to study their mechanism of action in preventing LPS-induced damage in a particular pathway leading to inflammation (mitochondria dysfunction). In particular, airway cells responded to the LPS insult by increasing mtSOD2 levels to cope with ROS production and by producing new mitochondria to meet the mitochondrial respiration requirement yet the mitochondria in the airway had structural damage and were less responsive to LPS stimuli. SCFAs partially restored LPS-induced chronic mitochondrial structural damage in airway cells.

Chapter 5 aimed to characterize a cohort of difficult to control asthma and investigate the role of BMI on asthma severity. This chapter found high BMI positively correlated with poor asthma control and risen plasma concentration of inflammatory cytokines related to Th-2 high and Th-2 low phenotype. This may suggest a key role of obesity in driving asthma severity via mediation of inflammation.

Chapter 6 aimed to assess whether levels of gut permeability markers differed between participants with well-controlled asthma and difficult to control asthma across a range of BMIs were considered. Trend in data reported an increased plasma concentration of gut permeability markers, LBP and calprotectin, in participants with well-controlled asthma suggesting an impairment of gut barrier when the disease is well-controlled which further deteriorate with the progress of disease. However, obesity appeared to be the main driver of asthma severity, while gut permeability is likely to be a contributing factor to the disease.

Chapter 7 was a pilot study to compare the use of two metabolic techniques: low-field bench top nuclear magnetic field (bNMR) and high field NMR. The aim was to evaluate whether bNMR could be used as an alternative method to high field NMR to discriminate metabolic profile between participants with and without asthma at a reduced cost. Preliminary findings from this chapter revealed a potential cluster separation between asthma and control group. If confirmed in large cohorts of participants, bNMR could be used as an additional tool to facilitate disease diagnosis.

Chapter 8 evaluated the role of 2.9 g/day of B-GOS prebiotic supplementation for 21 days in asthma to assess whether it reduced asthma symptoms, improved metabolic health and help strengthening gut barrier. Prebiotic administration did not affect lung

function or asthma control, but it showed a potential beneficial effect in improving markers of metabolic health (CRP and glucose) in participants with well-controlled asthma. This result paves the way for extending the study in a cohort of participants with obesity and asthma which may benefit more of the supplementation.

9.2 Experimental findings

The potential effect of gut microbiota manipulation on inflammation and asthma management was investigated using a combination of *in vitro* and human *in-vivo* trials. Previous findings reported promising results of prebiotic supplementation in ameliorating asthma symptoms and improving airway inflammation (McLoughlin et al. 2019a; Williams et al. 2016b), but none have yet explored the role of prebiotics in strengthening the gut barrier. Therefore chapter 8 of this thesis investigated for the first time the effect of dietary prebiotics on biomarkers of gut barrier integrity as well as asthma symptoms, systemic inflammation and metabolic health in participants with well controlled asthma. In parallel with this, chapter 4 evaluated the mechanistic activity of SCFA, (the metabolic by-products of prebiotic fermentation) at molecular level using airway cells to assess their effect in limiting LPS-related damage.

In chapter 4, initial experiments aimed to evaluate the role of SCFA in reducing the harmful effects of LPS on mitochondria structure and function. Mitochondria are essential organelles that respond to negative stimulus by producing reactive oxygen specie (ROS) to protect cells from damage, although an aberrant mitochondrial response may lead to a proinflammatory cascade that in turn worsening the disease (Bhatraju and Agrawal 2017a). Findings from this study revealed that SCFA was able to partially protect

mitochondria from structural and functional decline. In fact, cells treated with LPS had a reduced mitochondria activity which in turn can make mitochondria less responsive to stimulus such as LPS. Cells treated with SCFA appeared to limit the mitochondrial activity decline as evaluated with live imaging. In addition, SCFA protected mitochondria structure from fragmentation by partially restoring levels of mitochondrial dynamic proteins to control levels. However, mitochondria were able to cope with LPS stimulus by enhancing the production of the anti-inflammatory compound, superoxide dismutase 2 (mtSOD2), and by increasing the production of new mitochondria. This allowed the cells to carry on essential activity as observed with the mitochondria respiration assay. This could be explained by the natural resistance of this airways cell that they may have acquired due to their position in the epithelium of the lungs which expose them to external environmental agents. This means epithelial airway cells are in constant contact with all sorts of inflammatory stimulus such allergens and LPS strains. As a response to this, cell probably developed some sort of resilience to this stimulus to avoid being in a constant inflammatory state which in turn could significantly affect cellular system and human health. However, no previous studies have demonstrated so, therefore future investigations are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

The next step was to evaluate the role of obesity in asthma severity. To do so, chapter 5 aimed to characterize a cohort of difficult to control asthma cohort across a range of BMI. It appeared that patients exhibited common characteristics from Th-2 low and Th-2 high phenotypes suggesting a complex pathophysiological interaction between obesity and asthma. This can be a result of low-grade inflammation and the metabolic dysregulation ongoing in both diseases (Forno et al. 2015; Husemoen et al. 2008; Sideleva et al. 2012; Singh et al. 2015). In fact, the metabolic pilot study (Chapter 7) revealed a potential cluster separation between participants with well-controlled asthma and healthy controls within a lean BMI. This may suggest an underlying metabolic dysfunction in asthma which can further deteriorate disease progression. Therefore, a broader approach that takes in consideration the impact of obesity, systemic inflammation and metabolic dysregulation is needed to better understand the pathophysiology of asthma and improve diagnosis and treatment.

To further evaluate the role of gut and LPS-induced damage in asthma severity, chapter 6 investigated whether concentrations of gut permeability markers differ between participants with well-controlled and difficult to control asthma across a range of BMI. Due to uneven group distribution, it was not possible to reach a final conclusion and therefore warrant further investigation. However, trend in data suggest an impairment of gut barrier when the disease is well controlled, and a further progress with disease severity. Moreover, the findings do suggest that the combination of asthma and obesity is associated with a more permeable gut barrier which likely exacerbates disease severity and asthma control. Therefore, strategies that target gut barrier such as the use of prebiotic may be a beneficial for these patients.

After the initial molecular evaluation of the role of SCFA on airways cells and the further human study analysis highlighting the importance of the gut barrier in asthma and obesity, the final study of this thesis (chapter 8) explored the effect of gut microbiota manipulation on asthma with the dietary prebiotic intervention trial. The aim of the study was to evaluate the effect of daily intake of 2.9 g of prebiotic B-GOS for 21 days on asthma control, asthma function, metabolic health and gut permeability in a cohort of participants with well-controlled asthma. The results from the current study did not show any amelioration on lung function, asthma control and gut permeability. However, B-GOS did demonstrate a potential to reduce circulating levels of glucose (by 7%) and Creactive protein (CRP) (by 12%). These results did not reach significance but considering that the cohort had very mild well-controlled asthma and the vast majority of participants were young, healthy and within lean BMI, it was promising to see these changes. Similarly, the fact that there were no changes in lung function, asthma control and gut permeability was probably due to the cohort studied. Thus, a cohort of patients with more severe symptoms and impaired gut barrier such as the difficult to control asthma cohort (e.g. chapter 5) may benefit more from adjunctive treatment with prebiotic supplementation, and this warrant further studies.

9.3 Limitation

Due to Covid pandemic, the initial plan of this study was significantly affected. For the first 9 months of the PhD, access to the laboratory was restricted and limited staff members were allowed. This meant that the first year, which should have been used to learn molecular techniques in the laboratory and optimize the concentration of LPS and SCFA for cells treatment to further develop experimental plans in subsequent years, was not possible due to time constraints.

Both human studies, were affected by Covid pandemic. The initial studies plan required NHS ethics which would allow recruitment of patients from hospital and including the use of other technique such as (dual x-ray absorptiometry) DEXA to allow deep evaluation of body composition on asthma disease. Due to Covid and time limitation this

was not possible and both studies were approved with a simplified protocol via NTU human invasive ethics committee instead, following considerable delay. This limited the recruitment process to a university population, which were young, healthy and wit with a lean BMI.

9.4 Future work

The results obtained in this thesis provide initial evidence for a number of future experiments. Firstly, it would be interesting to replicate the experiments performed using airway cells in different cell lines such as adipose cells and human colon epithelium cells line. This would be beneficial to explore the mechanism of action of SCFA in different compartment and gain better insight of the complex interaction between gut, obesity and asthma disease.

In order strengthened the results obtained from the WATCH-NTU study, it would be beneficial to continue recruitment of participants with well-controlled asthma with a broad range of BMIs. This will allow better evaluation of the role of gut permeability in asthma severity. In addition, considering the potential cluster separation noted with the metabolomic pilot study, it would be of interest to expand this analysis to the rest of the cohorts studied from patients with difficult to control and well-controlled asthma. This will allow for comparisons to be made in metabolomic profiles which could provide evidence for future treatment options and targets. Given the promising results obtained from the prebiotic study, it would be beneficial to expand the recruitment to patients with asthma who are overweight or obese. This will allow further evaluation of the role of SCFA in obese state. Ideally, DEXA measurement could be introduced for a more in-depth assessment of body composition and its association with disease severity. Furthermore, it would be of interest exploring prebiotic supplementation in a cohort of patients with difficult-to-control asthma, especially during exacerbations, as this may provide more room for the prebiotic to exert its effects.

This would be possible by submitting the study for NHS ethics, which will also allow for the recruitment of participants from hospitals settings.

9.5 Final conclusion

At molecular level, the SCFA showed a beneficial effect in limiting LPS related damage by protecting mitochondria dysfunction in airway cells. In the human study, characterization of a cohort of patients with difficult to control asthma revealed a complex pathophysiology and suggest that an integrated approach that takes into account the impact of systemic inflammation and metabolic dysfunction is needed to enable a better strategy of treatments. Furthermore, combination of obesity and asthma appeared to alter gut barrier which in turn can further contribute to disease severity. Finally, the prebiotic supplementation to adults with well-controlled asthma did not improve lung function and asthma control but showed the potential to improve glucose and CPR levels.

References

- Abrahamsson, Thomas R., Ted Jakobsson, Bengt Björkstén, Göran Oldaeus, and Maria C. Jenmalm. 2013. "No Effect of Probiotics on Respiratory Allergies: A Seven-Year Follow-up of a Randomized Controlled Trial in Infancy." *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology* 24(6):556–61. doi: 10.1111/pai.12104.
- Abrahamsson, Thomas R., Ted Jakobsson, Malin Fagerås Böttcher, Mats Fredrikson, Maria C. Jenmalm, Bengt Björkstén, and Göran Oldaeus. 2007. "Probiotics in Prevention of IgE-Associated Eczema: A Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial." Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 119(5):1174–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.01.007.
- Aguilera-Aguirre et al. 2009. "Mitochondrial Dysfunction Increases Allergic Airway Inflammation." *J Immunol.* doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900228.
- Ahmed, Bulbul, Rifat Sultana, and Michael W. Greene. 2021. "Adipose Tissue and Insulin Resistance in Obese." *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy* 137(February):111315. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111315.
- Aisha Farhana; Yusuf S. Khan. 2023. "Biochemistry, Lipopolysaccharide." *StatPearls Publishing*. Retrieved October 26, 2023 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK554414/).
- Ajamian, Mary, David Steer, Gennaro Rosella, and Peter R. Gibson. 2019. "Serum Zonulin as a Marker of Intestinal Mucosal Barrier Function: May Not Be What It Seems." *PLoS ONE* 14(1):1–14. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210728.
- Akbari, Peyman, Johanna Fink-Gremmels, Rianne H. A. M. Willems, Elisabetta Difilippo, Henk A. Schols, Margriet H. C. Schoterman, Johan Garssen, and Saskia Braber. 2017.
 "Characterizing Microbiota-Independent Effects of Oligosaccharides on Intestinal Epithelial Cells: Insight into the Role of Structure and Size: Structure–Activity Relationships of Non-Digestible Oligosaccharides." *European Journal of Nutrition* 56(5):1919–30. doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1234-9.
- Al-Alwan, Ali, Jason H. T. Bates, David G. Chapman, David A. Kaminsky, Michael J. DeSarno, Charles G. Irvin, and Anne E. Dixon. 2014. "The Nonallergic Asthma of Obesity: A Matter of Distal Lung Compliance." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 189(12):1494–1502. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201401-01780C.
- Albracht-schulte, Kembra, Nishan Sudheera Kalupahana, Latha Ramalingam, Shaikh Mizanoor Rahman, Jacalyn Robert-mccomb, Naima Moustaid-, and Sri Lanka. 2020. "Omega-3 Fatty Acids in Obesity and Metabolic Syndrome: A Mechanistic Update." 1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2018.02.012.Omega-3.
- Ali, Tahir, Shafiq Ur Rahman, Qiang Hao, Weifen Li, Zizhen Liu, Fawad Ali Shah, Iram Murtaza, Zaijun Zhang, Xifei Yang, Gongping Liu, and Shupeng Li. 2020. "Melatonin Prevents Neuroinflammation and Relieves Depression by Attenuating Autophagy Impairment through FOXO3a Regulation." *Journal of Pineal Research* 69(2):1–18. doi: 10.1111/jpi.12667.
- Aliasgharzadeh, Akbar, Mohammad Khalili, Elham Mirtaheri, Bahram Pourghassem Gargari, Farnaz Tavakoli, Mahdieh Abbasalizad Farhangi, Hossein Babaei, and Parvin Dehghan.

2015. "A Combination of Prebiotic Inulin and Oligofructose Improve Some of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors in Women with Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial." *Advanced Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 5(4):507–14. doi: 10.15171/apb.2015.069.

- Allam-Ndoul et al. 2020. "Gut Microbiota and Intestinal Trans-Epithelial Permeability." *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* doi: 10.3390/ijms21176402.
- Alzamil, Hana. 2020. "Elevated Serum TNF- α Is Related to Obesity in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Is Associated with Glycemic Control and Insulin Resistance." *Journal of Obesity* 2020:5–9. doi: 10.1155/2020/5076858.
- Amabebe, Emmanuel, Faith O. Robert, Tarimoboere Agbalalah, and Ebiowei S. F. Orubu. 2020.
 "Microbial Dysbiosis-Induced Obesity: Role of Gut Microbiota in Homoeostasis of Energy Metabolism." *British Journal of Nutrition* 123(10):1127–37. doi: 10.1017/S0007114520000380.
- Andersen, Catherine J. 2022. "Lipid Metabolism in Inflammation and Immune Function." Nutrients 14(7):2–5. doi: 10.3390/nu14071414.
- Andrieux, Pauline, Christophe Chevillard, Edecio Cunha-Neto, and João Paulo Silva Nunes.
 2021. "Mitochondria as a Cellular Hub in Infection and Inflammation." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 22(21):1–29. doi: 10.3390/ijms222111338.
- Anhê, Fernando F., Thibault V. Varin, Mélanie Le Barz, Yves Desjardins, Emile Levy, Denis Roy, and André Marette. 2015. "Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis in Obesity-Linked Metabolic Diseases and Prebiotic Potential of Polyphenol-Rich Extracts." *Current Obesity Reports* 4(4):389–400. doi: 10.1007/s13679-015-0172-9.
- Annoni, Raquel, Luiz Fernando F. Silva, Yvonne Nussbaumer-Ochsner, Annemarie Van Schadewijk, Thais Mauad, Pieter S. Hiemstra, and Klaus F. Rabe. 2015. "Increased Expression of Granzymes A and B in Fatal Asthma." *European Respiratory Journal* 45(5):1485–88. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00213814.
- Anon. 2017. "Public Health England-GOV.UK." Retrieved July 9, 2021 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-obesity-and-the-foodenvironment/health-matters-obesity-and-the-food-environment--2).
- Arpaia, Nicholas, Clarissa Campbell, Xiying Fan, Stanislav Dikiy, Joris Van Der Veeken, Paul Deroos, Hui Liu, Justin R. Cross, Klaus Pfeffer, Paul J. Coffer, and Alexander Y. Rudensky. 2013. "Metabolites Produced by Commensal Bacteria Promote Peripheral Regulatory T-Cell Generation." *Nature* 504(7480):451–55. doi: 10.1038/nature12726.
- Ashique, Sumel, Gabriele De Rubis, Ekta Sirohi, Neeraj Mishra, Mohd Rihan, Ashish Garg, Ruby Jean Reyes, Bikash Manandhar, Shvetank Bhatt, Niraj Kumar Jha, Thakur Gurjeet Singh, Gaurav Gupta, Sachin Kumar Singh, Dinesh Kumar Chellappan, Keshav Raj Paudel, Philip M. Hansbro, Brian G. Oliver, and Kamal Dua. 2022. "Short Chain Fatty Acids: Fundamental Mediators of the Gut-Lung Axis and Their Involvement in Pulmonary Diseases." *Chemico-Biological Interactions* 368(October):110231. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2022.110231.
- Azim, Adnan, Anna Freeman, Audrey Lavenu, Heena Mistry, Hans Michael Haitchi, Colin Newell, Yueqing Cheng, Yvette Thirlwall, Matthew Harvey, Clair Barber, Katarina Pontoppidan, Paddy Dennison, S. Hasan Arshad, Ratko Djukanovic, Peter Howarth, and

Ramesh J. Kurukulaaratchy. 2020. "New Perspectives on Difficult Asthma; Sex and Age of Asthma-Onset Based Phenotypes." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice* 8(10):3396-3406.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2020.05.053.

- Azim, Adnan, Heena Mistry, Anna Freeman, Clair Barber, Colin Newell, Kerry Gove, Yvette Thirlwall, Matt Harvey, Kimberley Bentley, Deborah Knight, Karen Long, Frances Mitchell, Yueqing Cheng, Judit Varkonyi-Sepp, Wolfgang Grabau, Paddy Dennison, Hans Michael Haitchi, S. Hasan Arshad, Ratko Djukanovic, Tom Wilkinson, Peter Howarth, and Ramesh J. Kurukulaaratchy. 2019. "Protocol for the Wessex AsThma CoHort of Difficult Asthma (WATCH): A Pragmatic Real-Life Longitudinal Study of Difficult Asthma in the Clinic." BMC Pulmonary Medicine 19(1):1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12890-019-0862-2.
- Azofra, Ana Sánchez, Carolina Cisneros Serrano, Beatriz Aldave Orzaiz, Elena Ávalos Pérez-Urria, Ana Martínez Meca, Carmen Acosta Gutierrez, Adrián Martinez Vergara, Marta Erro Iribarren, Ana Roca Noval, María Teresa Sanz Pastor, Joan B. Soriano, and Julio Ancochea Bermúdez. 2019. "Can High Doses of Inhaled Corticosteroids Increase the Level of Total Serum Cholesterol?: A Retrospective Cohort Study." *European Respiratory Journal* 54(suppl 63):PA2555. doi: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2019.PA2555.
- Bäckhed, Fredrik, Jill K. Manchester, Clay F. Semenkovich, and Jeffrey I. Gordon. 2007.
 "Mechanisms Underlying the Resistance to Diet-Induced Obesity in Germ-Free Mice." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104(3):979–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605374104.
- Baioumy, Shereen A., Aya Elgendy, Shereen M. Ibrahim, Sara I. Taha, and Shaimaa H. Fouad. 2021. "Association between Serum Zonulin Level and Severity of House Dust Mite Allergic Asthma." Allergy, Asthma and Clinical Immunology 17(1):1–10. doi: 10.1186/s13223-021-00586-7.
- Bansal, Tarun, Robert C. Alaniz, Thomas K. Wood, and Arul Jayaraman. 2010. "The Bacterial Signal Indole Increases Epithelial-Cell Tight-Junction Resistance and Attenuates Indicators of Inflammation." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America 107(1):228–33. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906112107.
- Bantulà, M., V. Tubita, J. Roca-Ferrer, J. Mullol, A. Valero, I. Bobolea, M. Pascal, A. de Hollanda, J. Vidal, C. Picado, and E. Arismendi. 2022. "Weight Loss and Vitamin D Improve Hyporesponsiveness to Corticosteroids in Obese Asthma." *Journal of Investigational Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 33(6):1–25. doi: 10.18176/jiaci.0861.
- Bantulà, Marina, Jordi Roca-Ferrer, Ebymar Arismendi, and César Picado. 2021a. "Asthma and Obesity: Two Diseases on the Rise and Bridged by Inflammation." *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 10(2):1–21. doi: 10.3390/jcm10020169.
- Bantulà, Marina, Jordi Roca-Ferrer, Ebymar Arismendi, and César Picado. 2021b. "Asthma and Obesity: Two Diseases on the Rise and Bridged by Inflammation." *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 10(2):1–21. doi: 10.3390/jcm10020169.
- Barcik, Weronika, Benoit Pugin, Patrick Westermann, Noelia Rodriguez Perez, Ruth Ferstl, Marcin Wawrzyniak, Sylwia Smolinska, Marek Jutel, Edith M. Hessel, David Michalovich, Cezmi A. Akdis, Remo Frei, and Liam O'Mahony. 2016. "Histamine-Secreting Microbes Are Increased in the Gut of Adult Asthma Patients." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 138(5):1491-1494.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.05.049.

- Bardaweel, Sanaa K., Mustafa Gul, Muhammad Alzweiri, Aman Ishaqat, Husam A. Alsalamat, and Rasha M. Bashatwah. 2018. "Reactive Oxygen Species: The Dual Role in Physiological and Pathological Conditions of the Human Body." *Eurasian Journal of Medicine* 50(3):193–201. doi: 10.5152/eurasianjmed.2018.17397.
- Barochia, Amisha V., Maryann Kaler, Rosemarie A. Cuento, Elizabeth M. Gordon, Nargues A. Weir, Maureen Sampson, Joseph R. Fontana, Sandra MacDonald, Joel Moss, Vincent Manganiello, Alan T. Remaley, and Stewart J. Levine. 2015. "Serum Apolipoprotein A-I and Large High-Density Lipoprotein Particles Are Positively Correlated with Fev1 in Atopic Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 191(9):990–1000. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201411-1990OC.
- Barros, Luísa L., Adelmir Souza-Machado, Luciana B. Corrêa, Jéssica S. Santos, Constança Cruz, Mylene Leite, Lourdes Castro, Ana Carla Coelho, Paula Almeida, and Alvaro A. Cruz. 2011.
 "Obesity and Poor Asthma Control in Patients with Severe Asthma." *Journal of Asthma* 48(2):171–76. doi: 10.3109/02770903.2011.554940.
- Barros, Renata, André Moreira, João Fonseca, Luís Delgado, M. Graça Castel-Branco, Tari Haahtela, Carla Lopes, and Pedro Moreira. 2011. "Dietary Intake of α-Linolenic Acid and Low Ratio of n-6:N-3 PUFA Are Associated with Decreased Exhaled NO and Improved Asthma Control." *British Journal of Nutrition* 106(3):441–50. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511000328.
- Bassis, Christine M., John R. Erb-Downward, Robert P. Dickson, Christine M. Freeman, Thomas M. Schmidt, Vincent B. Young, James M. Beck, Jeffrey L. Curtis, and Gary B. Huffnagle.
 2015. "Analysis of the Upper Respiratory Tract Microbiotas as the Source of the Lung and Gastric Microbiotas in Healthy Individuals." *MBio* 6(2):1–10. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00037-15.
- Bastien, Marjorie, Paul Poirier, Isabelle Lemieux, and Jean Pierre Després. 2014. "Overview of Epidemiology and Contribution of Obesity to Cardiovascular Disease." *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases* 56(4):369–81. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2013.10.016.
- Begley, Lesa, Siddharth Madapoosi, Kristopher Opron, Ogechukwu Ndum, Alan Baptist, Kelly Rysso, John R. Erb-Downward, and Yvonne Jean Huang. 2018. "Gut Microbiota Relationships to Lung Function and Adult Asthma Phenotype: A Pilot Study." *BMJ Open Respiratory Research* 5(1). doi: 10.1136/bmjresp-2018-000324.
- Benard, Anne, and Pierre Desreumeaux. 1996. "ALLERGY CLINICAL IMMUNOLOGY Clinical Aspects of Allergic Disease Increased Intestinal Permeability in Bronchial Asthma." 97:1173–78.
- Benard, Anne, Pierre Desreumeaux, Damien Huglo, Anne Hoorelbeke, André Bernard Tonnel, and Benoît Wallaert. 1996. "Increased Intestinal Permeability in Bronchial Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 97(6):1173–78. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6749(96)70181-1.
- Bengtsson, Caroline, Lars Jonsson, Jenny Theorell-Haglöw, Mats Holmström, Christer Janson, and Eva Lindberg. 2020. "Sinonasal Outcome Test-22 and Peak Nasal Inspiratory Flow – Valuable Tools in Obstructive Sleep Apnoea." *Rhinology* 58(4):341–48. doi: 10.4193/Rhin19.189.

- Berg, Gabriele, Daria Rybakova, Doreen Fischer, Tomislav Cernava, Marie-Christine Champomier Vergès, Trevor Charles, Xiaoyulong Chen, Luca Cocolin, Kellye Eversole, Gema Herrero Corral, Maria Kazou, Linda Kinkel, Lene Lange, Nelson Lima, Alexander Loy, James A. Macklin, Emmanuelle Maguin, Tim Mauchline, Ryan McClure, Birgit Mitter, Matthew Ryan, Inga Sarand, Hauke Smidt, Bettina Schelkle, Hugo Roume, G. Seghal Kiran, Joseph Selvin, Rafael Soares Correa de Souza, Leo van Overbeek, Brajesh K. Singh, Michael Wagner, Aaron Walsh, Angela Sessitsch, and Michael Schloter. 2020. "Correction to: Microbiome Definition Re-Visited: Old Concepts and New Challenges." *Microbiome* 8(1):1–22. doi: 10.1186/s40168-020-00905-x.
- Berger, M., J. D. de Boer, P. Bresser, T. van der Poll, R. Lutter, P. J. Sterk, and J. S. van der Zee. 2015. "Lipopolysaccharide Amplifies Eosinophilic Inflammation after Segmental Challenge with House Dust Mite in Asthmatics." *Allergy* 70(3):257–64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/all.12544.
- Bhatraju, Naveen K., and Anurag Agrawal. 2017a. "Mitochondrial Dysfunction Linking Obesity and Asthma." Annals of the American Thoracic Society 14(November):S368–73. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201701-042AW.
- Bhatraju, Naveen K., and Anurag Agrawal. 2017b. "Mitochondrial Dysfunction Linking Obesity and Asthma." *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 14(November):S368–73. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201701-042AW.
- Bildstrup, Line, Vibeke Backer, and Simon Francis Thomsen. 2015. "Increased Body Mass Index Predicts Severity of Asthma Symptoms but Not Objective Asthma Traits in a Large Sample of Asthmatics." *Https://Doi.Org/10.3109/02770903.2015.1005840* 52(7):687–92. doi: 10.3109/02770903.2015.1005840.
- Biring, M. et al. 1999. "Pulmonary Physiological Changes of Morbid Obesity."
- Bjelland, Ingvar, Alv A. Dahl, Tone Tangen Haug, and Dag Neckelmann. 2002. "The Validity of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale." *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 52(2):69– 77. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3999(01)00296-3.
- van der Bliek, Alexander M., Qinfang Shen, and Sumihiro Kawajiri. 2013. "Mechanisms of Mitochondrial Fission and Fusion." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 5(6):1–16. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011072.
- Boccellino, Mariarosaria, and Stefania D'Angelo. 2020. "Anti-Obesity Effects of Polyphenol Intake: Current Status and Future Possibilities." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21(16):1–24. doi: 10.3390/ijms21165642.
- Bokulich et al. 2016. "Antibiotics, Birth Mode, and Diet Shape Microbiome Maturation during Early Life." *Sci Transl Med* (1):343ra82. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aad7121.Antibiotics.
- Boulet, L. P. 2013. "Asthma and Obesity." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 43(1):8–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2012.04040.x.
- Boutagy, Nabil E., Ryan P. McMillan, Madlyn I. Frisard, and Matthew W. Hulver. 2016. "Metabolic Endotoxemia with Obesity: Is It Real and Is It Relevant?" *Biochimie* 124:11–20. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2015.06.020.

- British Thoracic Society (BTS). 2019. British Thoracic Society Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network British Guideline on the Management of Asthma A National Clinical Guideline.
- BTS, Asthma Guidelines. 2014. "Asthma Guidelines BTS -." (October):13.
- Buck, Michael D. D., David O'Sullivan, Ramon I. I. Klein Geltink, Jonathan D. D. Curtis, Chih Hao Chang, David E. E. Sanin, Jing Qiu, Oliver Kretz, Daniel Braas, Gerritje J. J. W. van der Windt, Qiongyu Chen, Stanley Ching Cheng Huang, Christina M. M. O'Neill, Brian T. T. Edelson, Edward J. J. Pearce, Hiromi Sesaki, Tobias B. B. Huber, Angelika S. S. Rambold, and Erika L. L. Pearce. 2016. "Mitochondrial Dynamics Controls T Cell Fate through Metabolic Programming." *Cell* 166(1):63–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.035.
- Buckland, J. R., S. Thomas, and P. G. Harries. 2003. "Can the Sino-Nasal Outcome Test (SNOT-22) Be Used as a Reliable Outcome Measure for Successful Septal Surgery?" *Clinical Otolaryngology and Allied Sciences* 28(1):43–47. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2273.2003.00663.x.
- Byrne, C. S., E. S. Chambers, D. J. Morrison, and G. Frost. 2015a. "The Role of Short Chain Fatty Acids in Appetite Regulation and Energy Homeostasis." *International Journal of Obesity* 39(9):1331–38. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.84.
- Byrne, C. S., E. S. Chambers, D. J. Morrison, and G. Frost. 2015b. "The Role of Short Chain Fatty Acids in Appetite Regulation and Energy Homeostasis." *International Journal of Obesity* 39(9):1331–38. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.84.
- Cait, A., M. R. Hughes, F. Antignano, J. Cait, P. A. Dimitriu, K. R. Maas, L. A. Reynolds, L. Hacker, J. Mohr, B. B. Finlay, C. Zaph, K. M. McNagny, and W. W. Mohn. 2018. "Microbiome-Driven Allergic Lung Inflammation Is Ameliorated by Short-Chain Fatty Acids." *Mucosal Immunology* 11(3):785–95. doi: 10.1038/mi.2017.75.
- Calcaterra, Valeria, Mara De Amici, Maureen M. Leonard, Annalisa De Silvestri, Gloria Pelizzo, Nicoletta Buttari, Alexandre Michev, Miriana Leggio, Daniela Larizza, and Hellas Cena. 2018. "Serum Calprotectin Level in Children: Marker of Obesity and Its Metabolic Complications." Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism 73(3):177–83. doi: 10.1159/000492579.
- Campbell, Christopher T., Jill E. Kolesar, and Brett A. Kaufman. 2012. "Mitochondrial Transcription Factor A Regulates Mitochondrial Transcription Initiation, DNA Packaging, and Genome Copy Number." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms* 1819(9–10):921–29. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2012.03.002.
- Canfora, Emanuel E., Ruth C. R. Meex, Koen Venema, and Ellen E. Blaak. 2019. "Gut Microbial Metabolites in Obesity, NAFLD and T2DM." *Nature Reviews Endocrinology* 15(5):261–73. doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0156-z.
- Cani, P. D. et al. 2007. "Metabolic Endotoxemia Initiates Obesity and Insulin Resistance." Diabetes 56(July):1761–1772. doi: https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-1491.
- Cardoso, Diana, and Esperanza Perucha. 2021. "Cholesterol Metabolism: A New Molecular Switch to Control Inflammation." *Clinical Science* 135(11):1389–1408. doi: 10.1042/CS20201394.

- Castaing-Cordier, Thomas, Dylan Bouillaud, Jonathan Farjon, and Patrick Giraudeau. 2021. *Recent Advances in Benchtop NMR Spectroscopy and Its Applications*. Vol. 103. 1st ed. Elsevier Ltd.
- Castaing-Cordier, Thomas, Virginie Ladroue, Fabrice Besacier, Audrey Bulete, Denis Jacquemin, Patrick Giraudeau, and Jonathan Farjon. 2021. "High-Field and Benchtop NMR Spectroscopy for the Characterization of New Psychoactive Substances." *Forensic Science International* 321:110718. doi: 10.1016/j.forsciint.2021.110718.
- Cates, Christopher J., and Matthew J. Cates. 2012. "Regular Treatment with Formoterol for Chronic Asthma: Serious Adverse Events." *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012(4). doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006923.pub3.
- Cates, Christopher J., L. Susan Wieland, Marta Oleszczuk, and Kayleigh M. Kew. 2014. "Safety of Regular Formoterol or Salmeterol in Adults with Asthma: An Overview of Cochrane Reviews." *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014(2). doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010314.pub2.
- C.C. Thomson et al. 2003. "Body Mass Index and Asthma Severity Among Adults Presenting to the Emergency Department."
- Chai, Lan, Qi Wang, Caijuan Si, Wenyan Gao, and Lun Zhang. 2022. "Potential Association Between Changes in Microbiota Level and Lung Diseases: A Meta-Analysis." *Frontiers in Medicine* 8(January):1–12. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.723635.
- Chambers, Edward S., Douglas J. Morrison, and Gary Frost. 2015. "Control of Appetite and Energy Intake by SCFA: What Are the Potential Underlying Mechanisms?" *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 74(3):328–36. doi: 10.1017/S0029665114001657.
- Chapman et al. 2014. "The Influence of Distinct Asthma Phenotypes on Lung Function Following Weight Loss in the Obese." *Respirology*. 1170–1177. doi: 10.1111/resp.12368.
- Chattopadhyay, B. P., A. Mahata, S. Kundu, J. Alam, S. Das, and A. Roychowdhury. 2007. "A Study on Blood Eosinophil Level and Ventilatory Pulmonary Function of the Workers Exposed to Storage Grain Dust." *Indian Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 11(1):21–25. doi: 10.4103/0019-5278.32460.
- Chauhan, Bhupendrasinh F., and Francine M. Ducharme. 2012. "Anti-Leukotriene Agents Compared to Inhaled Corticosteroids in the Management of Recurrent and/or Chronic Asthma in Adults and Children." *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012(5). doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002314.pub3.
- Chiu, Chih Yung, Yi Ling Chan, Ming Han Tsai, Chia Jung Wang, Meng Han Chiang, and Chun Che Chiu. 2019. "Gut Microbial Dysbiosis Is Associated with Allergen-Specific IgE Responses in Young Children with Airway Allergies." World Allergy Organization Journal 12(3):100021. doi: 10.1016/j.waojou.2019.100021.
- Chiu, Chih Yung, Mei Ling Cheng, Meng Han Chiang, Chia Jung Wang, Ming Han Tsai, and Gigin Lin. 2020. "Metabolomic Analysis Reveals Distinct Profiles in the Plasma and Urine Associated with Ige Reactions in Childhood Asthma." *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 9(3). doi: 10.3390/jcm9030887.

- Cho, Youngji, and Stephanie A. Shore. 2016. "Obesity, Asthma, and the Microbiome." *Physiology* 31(2):108–16. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00045.2015.
- Cimini, Flavia Agata, Ilaria Barchetta, Valentina Ceccarelli, Caterina Chiappetta, Alberto Di Biasio, Laura Bertoccini, Federica Sentinelli, Frida Leonetti, Gianfranco Silecchia, Claudio Di Cristofano, Marco Giorgio Baroni, Francesca Velotti, and Maria Gisella Cavallo. 2020. "Granzyme B Expression in Visceral Adipose Tissue Associates With Local Inflammation and Glyco-Metabolic Alterations in Obesity." *Frontiers in Immunology* 11(November):1–7. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.589188.
- Ciprandi et al. 2014. "Overweight and Obesity as Risk Factors for Impaired Lung Function in Patients with Asthma: A Real-Life Experience." *Allergy and Asthma Proceedings* 35(4).
- Citronberg et al. 2017. "Reliability of Plasma Lipopolysaccharide-Binding Protein (LBP) from Repeated Measures in Healthy Adults." 27(9):1163–66. doi: 10.1007/s10552-016-0783-9.Reliability.
- Clemente-Postigo, Mercedes, Wilfredo Oliva-Olivera, Leticia Coin-Aragüez, Bruno Ramos-Molina, Rosa María Giraldez-Perez, Said Lhamyani, Juan Alcaide-Torres, Pablo Perez-Martinez, Rajaa El Bekay, Fernando Cardona, and Francisco J. Tinahone. 2019. "Metabolic Endotoxemia Promotes Adipose Dysfunction and Inflammation in Human Obesity." *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism* 316(2):E319–32. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00277.2018.
- Cottrell, Lesley, William A. Neal, Christa Ice, Miriam K. Perez, and Giovanni Piedimonte. 2011a. "Metabolic Abnormalities in Children with Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 183(4):441–48. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201004-0603OC.
- Cottrell, Lesley, William A. Neal, Christa Ice, Miriam K. Perez, and Giovanni Piedimonte. 2011b. "Metabolic Abnormalities in Children with Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 183(4):441–48. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201004-0603OC.
- Cottrell, Lesley, William A. Neal, Christa Ice, Miriam K. Perez, and Giovanni Piedimonte. 2011c. "Metabolic Abnormalities in Children with Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 183(4):441–48. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201004-0603OC.
- Curths, Christoph, Judy Wichmann, Sarah Dunker, Horst Windt, Heinz Gerd Hoymann, Hans D. Lauenstein, Jens Hohlfeld, Tamara Becker, Franz Josef Kaup, Armin Braun, and Sascha Knauf. 2014. "Airway Hyper-Responsiveness in Lipopolysaccharide-Challenged Common Marmosets (Callithrix Jacchus)." *Clinical Science* 126(2):155–62. doi: 10.1042/CS20130101.
- Dandona, Paresh, Husam Ghanim, Scott V. Monte, Joseph A. Caruana, Kelly Green, Sanaa
 Abuaysheh, Teekam Lohano, Jerome Schentag, Sandeep Dhindsa, and Ajay Chaudhuri.
 2014. "Increase in the Mediators of Asthma in Obesity and Obesity with Type 2 Diabetes:
 Reduction with Weight Loss." *Obesity* 22(2):356–62. doi: 10.1002/oby.20524.
- Decaesteker, T., S. Bos, N. Lorent, S. Everaerts, J. Vanoirbeek, D. Bullens, and L. J. Dupont. 2022. "Elevated Serum Calprotectin (S100A8/A9) in Patients with Severe Asthma." *Journal of Asthma* 59(6):1110–15. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2021.1914649.

DeChristopher, Luanne R., and Katherine L. Tucker. 2018. "Excess Free Fructose, High-Fructose Corn Syrup and Adult Asthma: The Framingham Offspring Cohort." *British Journal of Nutrition* 119(10):1157–67. doi: 10.1017/S0007114518000417.

Dekerlegand et al. 2007. Respiratory Failure. Vol. 27. Elsevier Inc.

- Depeint, Flore, George Tzortzis, Jelena Vulevic, Kerry l'Anson, and Glenn R. Gibson. 2008.
 "Prebiotic Evaluation of a Novel Galactooligosaccharide Mixture Produced by the Enzymatic Activity of Bifidobacterium Bifidum NCIMB 41171, in Healthy Humans: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Crossover, Placebo-Controlled Intervention Study." American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 87(3):785–91. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/87.3.785.
- Desai, D., C. Newby, Symon Fa, P. Haldar, S. Shah, S. Gupta, A. Singapuri, S. Siddiqui, and J. Woods. 2014. "Obese Individuals with Asthma Preferentially Have a High IL-5/IL-17A/IL-25 Sputum Inflammatory Pattern." 189(10).
- Dey, Priyankar, Geoffrey Y. Sasaki, Ping Wei, Jinhui Li, Lingling Wang, Jiangjiang Zhu, Dana McTigue, Zhongtang Yu, and Richard S. Bruno. 2019. "Green Tea Extract Prevents Obesity in Male Mice by Alleviating Gut Dysbiosis in Association with Improved Intestinal Barrier Function That Limits Endotoxin Translocation and Adipose Inflammation." Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry 67:78–89. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2019.01.017.
- Dias-Júnior, Sérvulo Azevedo, Monica Reis, Regina Maria De Carvalho-Pinto, Rafael Stelmach, Alfredo Halpern, and Alberto Cukier. 2014. "Effects of Weight Loss on Asthma Control in Obese Patients with Severe Asthma." *European Respiratory Journal* 43(5):1368–77. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00053413.
- Diez-Gonzalez, Francisco, Daniel R. Bond, Elizabeth Jennings, and James B. Russell. 1999. "Alternative Schemes of Butyrate Production in Butyrivibrio Fibrisolvens and Their Relationship to Acetate Utilization, Lactate Production, and Phylogeny." Archives of Microbiology 171(5):324–30. doi: 10.1007/s002030050717.
- Dixit, Ramakant. 2018. "Asthma and Obstructive Sleep Apnea: More than an Association!" Lung India 35(1):41–46. doi: 10.4103/lungindia.lungindia.
- Dixon, Anne E., and Ubong Peters. 2018. "The Effect of Obesity on Lung Function." *Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine* 12(9):755. doi: 10.1080/17476348.2018.1506331.
- Dogru, Mahmut, Sukriye Ozde, Alev Aktas, and Elif Yuksel Karatoprak. 2015. "The Adiponectin Levels and Asthma Control in Non-Obese Children with Asthma." *Journal of Asthma* 52(8):772–76. doi: 10.3109/02770903.2015.1014100.
- Donohoe, D. R., N. Garge, X. Zhang, W. Sun, T. M. O'Connell, M. K. Bunger, and S. J. Bultman. 2011a. "Microbiome, The Regulate, Butyrate Metabolism, Energy." *Cell Metabolism* 13(5):517–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011.02.018.The.
- Donohoe, D. R., N. Garge, X. Zhang, W. Sun, T. M. O'Connell, M. K. Bunger, and S. J. Bultman. 2011b. "The Microbiome and Butyrate Regulate Energy Metabolism and Autophagy in the Mammalian Colon." *Cell Metabolism* 13(5):517–26.
- Doré, Joël, and Hervé Blottière. 2015. "The Influence of Diet on the Gut Microbiota and Its Consequences for Health." *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 32:195–99. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2015.01.002.

- Dubin, W., T. R. Martin, P. Swoveland, D. J. Leturcq, A. M. Moriarty, P. S. Tobias, E. R. Bleecker,
 S. E. Goldblum, and J. D. Hasday. 1996. "Asthma and Endotoxin: Lipopolysaccharide-Binding Protein and Soluble CD14 in Bronchoalveolar Compartment." *The American Journal of Physiology* 270(5 Pt 1):L736-44. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.1996.270.5.L736.
- Eneli, I. U., T. Skybo, and C. A. Camargo. 2008. "Weight Loss and Asthma: A Systematic Review." *Thorax* 63(8):671–76. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.086470.
- Erb-Downward, John R., Deborah L. Thompson, Meilan K. Han, Christine M. Freeman, Lisa McCloskey, Lindsay A. Schmidt, Vincent B. Young, Galen B. Toews, Jeffrey L. Curtis, Baskaran Sundaram, Fernando J. Martinez, and Gary B. Huffnagle. 2011. "Analysis of the Lung Microbiome in the 'Healthy' Smoker and in COPD." *PLoS ONE* 6(2). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016384.
- Erridge, Clett, Teresa Attina, Corinne M. Spickett, and David J. Webb. 2007. "A High-Fat Meal Induces Low-Grade Endotoxemia: Evidence of a Novel Mechanism of Postprandial Inflammation." *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 86(5):1286–92. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/86.5.1286.
- Fei, Na, and Liping Zhao. 2013. "An Opportunistic Pathogen Isolated from the Gut of an Obese Human Causes Obesity in Germfree Mice." ISME Journal 7(4):880–84. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2012.153.
- Feng, Yanhai, Yu Wang, Pei Wang, Yalan Huang, and Fengjun Wang. 2018a. "Short-Chain Fatty Acids Manifest Stimulative and Protective Effects on Intestinal Barrier Function Through the Inhibition of NLRP3 Inflammasome and Autophagy." *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 49(1):190–205. doi: 10.1159/000492853.
- Feng, Yanhai, Yu Wang, Pei Wang, Yalan Huang, and Fengjun Wang. 2018b. "Short-Chain Fatty Acids Manifest Stimulative and Protective Effects on Intestinal Barrier Function Through the Inhibition of NLRP3 Inflammasome and Autophagy." *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 49(1):190–205. doi: 10.1159/000492853.
- Flynn, James M., and Simon Melovn. 2013. "SOD2 in Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Neurodegeneration." *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 62:4–12. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.05.027.
- Forno et al. 2015. "Insulin Resistance, Metabolic Syndrome, and Lung Function in U.S. Adolescents with and without Asthma." *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2(1):1–17. doi: :10.1016/j.jaci.2015.01.010.
- Frydrych, Lynn M., Guowu Bian, David E. O'Lone, Peter A. Ward, and Matthew J. Delano. 2018.
 "Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Drive Immune Dysfunction, Infection Development, and Sepsis Mortality." *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 104(3):525–34. doi: 10.1002/JLB.5VMR0118-021RR.
- Fuke, Nobuo, Naoto Nagata, Hiroyuki Suganuma, and Tsuguhito Ota. 2019. "Regulation of Gut Microbiota and Metabolic Endotoxemia with Dietary Factors." *Nutrients* 11(10). doi: 10.3390/nu11102277.
- Genser, Laurent, Doriane Aguanno, Hédi A. Soula, Liping Dong, Laurence Trystram, Karen Assmann, Joe Elie Salem, Jean Christophe Vaillant, Jean Michel Oppert, Fabienne Laugerette, Marie Caroline Michalski, Philippe Wind, Monique Rousset, Edith Brot-

Laroche, Armelle Leturque, Karine Clément, Sophie Thenet, and Christine Poitou. 2018. "Increased Jejunal Permeability in Human Obesity Is Revealed by a Lipid Challenge and Is Linked to Inflammation and Type 2 Diabetes." *Journal of Pathology* 246(2):217–30. doi: 10.1002/path.5134.

- Gérard, Philippe. 2016. "Gut Microbiota and Obesity." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 73(1):147–62. doi: 10.1007/s00018-015-2061-5.
- Gerszten, Robert E., and Thomas J. Wang. 2008. "The Search for New Cardiovascular Biomarkers." *Nature* 451(7181):949–52. doi: 10.1038/nature06802.
- Gibeon, David, Kannangara Batuwita, Michelle Osmond, Liam G. Heaney, Chris E. Brightling, Rob Niven, Adel Mansur, Rekha Chaudhuri, Christine E. Bucknall, Anthony Rowe, Yike Guo, Pankaj K. Bhavsar, Kian Fan Chung, and Andrew Menzies-Gow. 2013. "Obesity-Associated Severe Asthma Represents a Distinct Clinical Phenotype Analysis of the British Thoracic Society Diffi Cult Asthma Registry Patient Cohort According to Bmi." *Chest* 143(2):406–14. doi: 10.1378/chest.12-0872.
- Giberson, Janelle, Julia Scicluna, Nicole Legge, and James Longstaffe. 2021. *Developments in Benchtop NMR Spectroscopy 2015–2020*. Vol. 102. 1st ed. Elsevier Ltd.
- Gibson, Glenn R., Robert Hutkins, Mary Ellen Sanders, Susan L. Prescott, Raylene A. Reimer, Seppo J. Salminen, Karen Scott, Catherine Stanton, Kelly S. Swanson, Patrice D. Cani, Kristin Verbeke, and Gregor Reid. 2017. "Expert Consensus Document: The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) Consensus Statement on the Definition and Scope of Prebiotics." *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 14(8):491–502. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.75.
- Global Initiative for Asthma. 2022. "Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention 2022 Update." *Global Initiative for Asthma* 1–225.
- Gøbel, Rikke Juul, Nadja Larsen, Mogens Jakobsen, Christian Mølgaard, and Kim Fleischer Michaelsen. 2012. "Probiotics to Adolescents with Obesity: Effects on Inflammation and Metabolic Syndrome." *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 55(6):673–78. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e318263066c.
- Gomes, Aline Corado, Christian Hoffmann, and João Felipe Mota. 2018. "The Human Gut Microbiota: Metabolism and Perspective in Obesity." *Gut Microbes* 9(4):308–25. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2018.1465157.
- Gomez-Llorente, Ma Amelia, Raquel Romero, Natalia Chueca, Ana Martinez-Cañavate, and Carolina Gomez-Llorente. 2017. "Obesity and Asthma: A Missing Link." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 18(7):1–12. doi: 10.3390/ijms18071490.
- Gonzalez-Quintela, Arturo, Manuela Alonso, Joaquin Campos, Luis Vizcaino, Lourdes Loidi, and Francisco Gude. 2013. "Determinants of Serum Concentrations of Lipopolysaccharide-Binding Protein (LBP) in the Adult Population: The Role of Obesity." *PLoS ONE* 8(1):1–8. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054600.
- Goswami, Chayon, Yusaku Iwasaki, and Toshihiko Yada. 2018. "Short-Chain Fatty Acids Suppress Food Intake by Activating Vagal Afferent Neurons." *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 57:130–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2018.03.009.

- Graham, Brian L., Irene Steenbruggen, Igor Z. Barjaktarevic, Brendan G. Cooper, Graham L.
 Hall, Teal S. Hallstrand, David A. Kaminsky, Kevin McCarthy, Meredith C. McCormack,
 Martin R. Miller, Cristine E. Oropez, Margaret Rosenfeld, Sanja Stanojevic, Maureen P.
 Swanney, and Bruce R. Thompson. 2019. "Standardization of Spirometry 2019 Update an
 Official American Thoracic Society and European Respiratory Society Technical
 Statement." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 200(8):E70–88.
 doi: 10.1164/rccm.201908-1590ST.
- Grammatopoulou, Eirini P., Emmanouil K. Skordilis, Georgios Georgoudis, Aikaterini Haniotou, Afroditi Evangelodimou, George Fildissis, Theodoros Katsoulas, and Panagiotis Kalagiakos.
 2014. "Hyperventilation in Asthma: A Validation Study of the Nijmegen Questionnaire-NQ." Journal of Asthma 51(8):839–46. doi: 10.3109/02770903.2014.922190.
- Gulcan, Erim, Ismet Bulut, Aysun Toker, and Aynur Gulcan. 2009. "Evaluation of Glucose Tolerance Status in Patients with Asthma Bronchiale." *Journal of Asthma* 46(2):207–9. doi: 10.1080/02770900802627302.
- Gurung, Manoj, Zhipeng Li, Hannah You, Richard Rodrigues, Donald B. Jump, Andrey Morgun, and Natalia Shulzhenko. 2020. "Role of Gut Microbiota in Type 2 Diabetes Pathophysiology." *EBioMedicine* 51:102590. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.11.051.
- Hadjigol, Sara, Keilah G. Netto, Steven Maltby, Hock L. Tay, Thi H. Nguyen, Nicole G. Hansbro, Fiona Eyers, Philip M. Hansbro, Ming Yang, and Paul S. Foster. 2020. "Lipopolysaccharide Induces Steroid-Resistant Exacerbations in a Mouse Model of Allergic Airway Disease Collectively through IL-13 and Pulmonary Macrophage Activation." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 50(1):82–94. doi: 10.1111/cea.13505.
- Haghikia, Aiden, Stefanie Jörg, Alexander Duscha, Johannes Berg, Arndt Manzel, Anne
 Waschbisch, Anna Hammer, De Hyung Lee, Caroline May, Nicola Wilck, Andras Balogh,
 Annika I. Ostermann, Nils Helge Schebb, Denis A. Akkad, Diana A. Grohme, Markus
 Kleinewietfeld, Stefan Kempa, Jan Thöne, Seray Demir, Dominik N. Müller, Ralf Gold, and
 Ralf A. Linker. 2015. "Dietary Fatty Acids Directly Impact Central Nervous System
 Autoimmunity via the Small Intestine." *Immunity* 43(4):817–29. doi:
 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.09.007.
- Halnes, Isabel, Katherine J. Baines, Bronwyn S. Berthon, Lesley K. Macdonald-Wicks, Peter G. Gibson, and Lisa G. Wood. 2017. "Soluble Fibre Meal Challenge Reduces Airway Inflammation and Expression of GPR43 and GPR41 in Asthma." doi: 10.3390/nu9010057.
- Harman-Boehm, Ilana, Matthias Blüher, Henry Redel, Netta Sion-Vardy, Shira Ovadia, Eliezer Avinoach, Iris Shai, Nora Klöting, Michael Stumvoll, Nava Bashan, and Assaf Rudich. 2007.
 "Macrophage Infiltration into Omental versus Subcutaneous Fat across Different Populations: Effect of Regional Adiposity and the Comorbidities of Obesity." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 92(6):2240–47. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1811.
- Harte, Alison L., Madhusudhan C. Varma, Gyanendra Tripathi, Kirsty C. Mcgee, Nasser M. Al-Daghri, Omar S. Al-Attas, Shaun Sabico, Joseph P. O'Hare, Antonio Ceriello, Ponnusamy Saravanan, Sudhesh Kumar, and Philip G. Mcternan. 2012. "High Fat Intake Leads to Acute Postprandial Exposure to Circulating Endotoxin in Type 2 Diabetic Subjects." *Diabetes Care* 35(2):375–82. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1593.

- Herbst, Tina, Anke Sichelstiel, Corinne Schär, Koshika Yadava, Kurt Bürki, Julia Cahenzli, Kathy McCoy, Benjamin J. Marsland, and Nicola L. Harris. 2011. "Dysregulation of Allergic Airway Inflammation in the Absence of Microbial Colonization." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 184(2):198–205. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201010-1574OC.
- Hijazi, Z., A. M. Molla, H. Al-Habashi, W. M. R. A. Muawad, A. M. Mollo, and P. N. Sharma.
 2004. "Intestinal Permeability Is Increased in Bronchial Asthma." *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 89(3):227–29. doi: 10.1136/adc.2003.027680.
- Hill, Colin, Francisco Guarner, Gregor Reid, Glenn R. Gibson, Daniel J. Merenstein, Bruno Pot, Lorenzo Morelli, Roberto Berni Canani, Harry J. Flint, Seppo Salminen, Philip C. Calder, and Mary Ellen Sanders. 2014. "Expert Consensus Document: The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics Consensus Statement on the Scope and Appropriate Use of the Term Probiotic." *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 11(8):506–14. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66.
- Hill et al. 2008. "Obesity and Diabetes: Lipids, 'nowhere to Run to"." *Clinical Science* 116(2):113–23. doi: 10.1042/CS20080050.
- Hill et al. 2012. "Commensal Bacterial–Derived Signals Regulate Basophil Hematopoiesis and Allergic Inflammation." *Nat Med.* 176(5):139–48. doi: 538–546. doi:10.1038/nm.2657.
- Hilty, Markus, Conor Burke, Helder Pedro, Paul Cardenas, Andy Bush, Cara Bossley, Jane Davies, Aaron Ervine, Len Poulter, Lior Pachter, Miriam F. Moffatt, and William O. C. Cookson. 2010. "Disordered Microbial Communities in Asthmatic Airways." *PLoS ONE* 5(1). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008578.
- Hinks, Timothy SC, Stewart J. Levine, and Guy G. Brusselle. 2020. "Treatment Options in Type-2 Low Asthma." *European Respiratory Journal* 2000528. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00528-2020.
- Holmes, Zachary C., Justin D. Silverman, Holly K. Dressman, Zhengzheng Wei, Eric P. Dallow, Sarah C. Armstrong, Patrick C. Seed, John F. Rawls, and Lawrence A. David. 2020. "Short-Chain Fatty Acid Production by Gut Microbiota from Children with Obesity Differs According to Prebiotic Choice and Bacterial Community Composition." *MBio* 11(4):1–15. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00914-20.
- Hopkins, C., S. Gillett, R. Slack, V. J. Lund, and J. P. Browne. 2009. "Psychometric Validity of the 22-Item Sinonasal Outcome Test." *Clinical Otolaryngology* 34(5):447–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-4486.2009.01995.x.
- Hosaka, Hiroki, Mai Kawamura, Takako Hirano, Wataru Hakamata, and Toshiyuki Nishio. 2020. "Utilization of Sucrose and Analog Disaccharides by Human Intestinal Bifidobacteria and Lactobacilli: Search of the Bifidobacteria Enzymes Involved in the Degradation of These Disaccharides." *Microbiological Research* 240(July). doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2020.126558.
- Hou, Jing, Jun Wang, Jingyi Meng, Xiaoting Zhang, Yuanjing Niu, Jianping Gao, Yun'e Bai, and Jiangtao Zhou. 2021. "Zanthoxylum Bungeanum Seed Oil Attenuates LPS-Induced BEAS-2B Cell Activation and Inflammation by Inhibiting the TLR4/MyD88/NF- B Signaling Pathway." *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine* 2021. doi: 10.1155/2021/2073296.

- Hou, Kaijian, Zhuo Xun Wu, Xuan Yu Chen, Jing Quan Wang, Dongya Zhang, Chuanxing Xiao, Dan Zhu, Jagadish B. Koya, Liuya Wei, Jilin Li, and Zhe Sheng Chen. 2022. "Microbiota in Health and Diseases." *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy* 7(1). doi: 10.1038/s41392-022-00974-4.
- Hu, Shuxian, Rei Kuwabara, Bart J. de Haan, Alexandra M. Smink, and Paul de Vos. 2020.
 "Acetate and Butyrate Improve β-Cell Metabolism and Mitochondrial Respiration under Oxidative Stress." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21(4). doi: 10.3390/ijms21041542.
- Huang, Chien-chia, Po-hung Chang, Pei-wen Wu, Chun-hua Wang, Chia-hsiang Fu, Chi-che Huang, Hsiao-jung Tseng, and Ta-jen Lee. 2017. "Impact of Nasal Symptoms on the Evaluation of Asthma Control."
- Huang, Fengyang, Blanca Estela del-Río-Navarro, Saúl Torres-Alcántara, José Alfredo Pérez-Ontiveros, Eliseo Ruiz-Bedolla, Omar Josué Saucedo-Ramírez, Santiago Villafaña, Fausto Sánchez Muñoz, Guadalupe Bravo, and Enrique Hong. 2017. "Adipokines, Asymmetrical Dimethylarginine, and Pulmonary Function in Adolescents with Asthma and Obesity." *Journal of Asthma* 54(2):153–61. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2016.1200611.
- Huang, Yvonne J., Craig E. Nelson, Eoin L. Brodie, Todd Z. Desantis, Marshall S. Baek, Jane Liu, Tanja Woyke, Martin Allgaier, Jim Bristow, Jeanine P. Wiener-Kronish, E. Rand Sutherland, Tonya S. King, Nikolina Icitovic, Richard J. Martin, William J. Calhoun, Mario Castro, Loren C. Denlinger, Emily Dimango, Monica Kraft, Stephen P. Peters, Stephen I. Wasserman, Michael E. Wechsler, Homer A. Boushey, and Susan V. Lynch. 2011. "Airway Microbiota and Bronchial Hyperresponsiveness in Patients with Suboptimally Controlled Asthma." Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 127(2):372-381.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.10.048.
- Hufnagl, Karin, Isabella Pali-Schöll, Franziska Roth-Walter, and Erika Jensen-Jarolim. 2020.
 "Dysbiosis of the Gut and Lung Microbiome Has a Role in Asthma." Seminars in Immunopathology 42(1):75–93. doi: 10.1007/s00281-019-00775-y.
- Van Hul, Matthias, Kavita Karnik, Kirstie Canene-Adams, Mervyn De Souza, Pieter Van Den Abbeele, Massimo Marzorati, Nathalie M. Delzenne, Amandine Everard, and Patrice D. Cani. 2020. "Comparison of the Effects of Soluble Corn Fiber and Fructooligosaccharides on Metabolism, Inflammation, and Gut Microbiome of High-Fat Diet-Fed Mice." American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism 319(4):E779–91. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00108.2020.
- Husain, Qasim, Lloyd Hoehle, Katie Phillips, David S. Caradonna, Stacey T. Gray, and Ahmad R. Sedaghat. 2020. "The 22-Item Sinonasal Outcome Test as a Tool for the Assessment of Quality of Life and Symptom Control in Allergic Rhinitis." *American Journal of Rhinology* and Allergy 34(2):209–16. doi: 10.1177/1945892419884789.
- Husemoen, L. L. N., C. Glümer, C. Lau, C. Pisinger, L. S. Mørch, and A. Linneberg. 2008.
 "Association of Obesity and Insulin Resistance with Asthma and Aeroallergen Sensitization." *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 63(5):575– 82. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2007.01613.x.

- Hye Young et al. 2014. "IL-17 Producing Innate Lymphoid Cells and the NLRP3 Inflammasome Facilitate Obesity-Associated Airway Hyperreactivity." *Nat Med. 2014* 54–61. doi: 10.1038/nm.3423.
- Ishihara, Yasuhiro, Takuya Takemoto, Kouichi Itoh, Atsuhiko Ishida, and Takeshi Yamazaki. 2015. "Dual Role of Superoxide Dismutase 2 Induced in Activated Microglia: Oxidative Stress Tolerance and Convergence of Inflammatory Responses." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 290(37):22805–17. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.659151.
- Ivashkin, Vladimir, Oxana Zolnikova, Nino Potskherashvili, Alexander Trukhmanov, Natalia Kokina, Natiya Dzhakhaya, Alla Sedova, and Elena Bueverova. 2019. "Metabolic Activity of Intestinal Microflora in Patients with Bronchial Asthma." *Clinics and Practice* 9(1):1–5. doi: 10.4081/cp.2019.1126.
- Jarlborg, Matthias, Delphine S. Courvoisier, Céline Lamacchia, Laura Martinez Prat, Michael Mahler, Chelsea Bentow, Axel Finckh, Cem Gabay, and Michael J. Nissen. 2020. "Serum Calprotectin: A Promising Biomarker in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Axial Spondyloarthritis." *Arthritis Research and Therapy* 22(1):1–11. doi: 10.1186/s13075-020-02190-3.
- de Jesus, Juliana Pires Viana, Aline Silva Lima-Matos, Paula Cristina Andrade Almeida, Valmar Bião Lima, Luane Marques de Mello, Adelmir Souza-Machado, Eduardo Vieira Ponte, and Álvaro Augusto Cruz. 2018. "Obesity and Asthma: Clinical and Laboratory Characterization of a Common Combination." *Jornal Brasileiro de Pneumologia* 44(3):207–12. doi: 10.1590/s1806-3756201700000034.
- Johns, M. W. 1991. "A New Method for Measuring Daytime Sleepiness: The Epworth Sleepiness Scale." *Sleep* 14(6):540–45. doi: 10.1093/sleep/14.6.540.
- Johnson, Amy R., J. Justin Milner, and Liza Makowski. 2012. "The Inflammation Highway: Metabolism Accelerates Inflammatory Traffic in Obesity." *Immunological Reviews* 249(1):218–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01151.x.
- Jung, J., S. H. Kim, H. S. Lee, G. S. Choi, Y. S. Jung, D. H. Ryu, H. S. Park, and G. S. Hwang. 2013.
 "Serum Metabolomics Reveals Pathways and Biomarkers Associated with Asthma Pathogenesis." *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 43(4):425–33. doi: 10.1111/cea.12089.
- Juniper, E. F., P. M. O'Byrne, G. H. Guyatt, P. J. Ferrie, and D. R. King. 1999. "Development and Validation of a Questionnaire to Measure Asthma Control." *European Respiratory Journal* 14(4):902–7. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-3003.1999.14d29.x.
- Juniper, Elizabeth F., Klas Svensson, Ann Christin Mörk, and Elisabeth Ståhl. 2005.
 "Modification of the Asthma Quality of Life Questionnaire (Standardised) for Patients 12
 Years and Older." *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 3:1–6. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-3-58.
- Kalla, Rahul, Nicholas A. Kennedy, Nicholas T. Ventham, Ray K. Boyapati, Alex T. Adams, Elaine R. Nimmo, Micaela R. Visconti, Hazel Drummond, Gwo-Tzer Ho, Rebecca J. Pattenden, David C. Wilson, and Jack Satsangi. 2016. "Serum Calprotectin: A Novel Diagnostic and Prognostic Marker in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases." Official Journal of the American College of Gastroenterology | ACG 111(12).

- Kamada, Nobuhiko, and Gabriel Núñez. 2014. "Regulation of the Immune System by the Resident Intestinal Bacteria." *Gastroenterology* 146(6):1477–88. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.01.060.
- Kamada, Nobuhiko, Sang Uk Seo, Grace Y. Chen, and Gabriel Núñez. 2013. "Role of the Gut Microbiota in Immunity and Inflammatory Disease." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 13(5):321–35. doi: 10.1038/nri3430.
- Karampatakis, Nikolaos, Theodoros Karampatakis, Assimina Galli-Tsinopoulou, Eleni P.
 Kotanidou, Katerina Tsergouli, Maria Eboriadou-Petikopoulou, and Katerina Haidopoulou.
 2017. "Impaired Glucose Metabolism and Bronchial Hyperresponsiveness in Obese
 Prepubertal Asthmatic Children." *Pediatric Pulmonology* 52(2):160–66. doi:
 10.1002/ppul.23516.
- Karl, Philip J., Adrienne M. Hatch, Steven M. Arcidiacono, Sarah C. Pearce, Ida G. Pantoja-Feliciano, Laurel A. Doherty, and Jason W. Soares. 2018. "Effects of Psychological, Environmental and Physical Stressors on the Gut Microbiota." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 9(SEP):1–32. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02013.
- Kelly, Rachel S., Amber Dahlin, Michael J. McGeachie, Weiliang Qiu, Joanne Sordillo, Emily S.
 Wan, Ann Chen Wu, and Jessica Lasky-Su. 2017. "Asthma Metabolomics and the Potential for Integrative Omics in Research and the Clinic." *Chest* 151(2):262–77. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2016.10.008.
- Khalil, Mohamad, Harshitha Shanmugam, Hala Abdallah, Jerlin Stephy John Britto, Ilaria
 Galerati, Javier Gómez-Ambrosi, Gema Frühbeck, and Piero Portincasa. 2022. "The
 Potential of the Mediterranean Diet to Improve Mitochondrial Function in Experimental
 Models of Obesity and Metabolic Syndrome." Nutrients 14(15). doi:
 10.3390/nu14153112.
- Khosravi, Arya, Alberto Yáñez, Jeremy G. Price, Andrew Chow, Miriam Merad, Helen S. Goodridge, and Sarkis K. Mazmanian. 2014. "Gut Microbiota Promote Hematopoiesis to Control Bacterial Infection." *Cell Host and Microbe* 15(3):374–81. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.02.006.
- Kikuchi, Keita, Mahmoud Ben Othman, and Kazuichi Sakamoto. 2018. "Sterilized Bifidobacteria Suppressed Fat Accumulation and Blood Glucose Level." *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 501(4):1041–47. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.05.105.
- Kim, Na Young, Eun Shin, Sun Ju Byeon, Seok Jin Hong, Sung Hun Kang, Taehoon Lee, Tae Bum Kim, and Jeong Hee Choi. 2023. "Serum Zonulin Is a Biomarker for Severe Asthma." *Allergy, Asthma and Immunology Research* 15(4):526–35. doi: 10.4168/aair.2023.15.4.526.
- Klepaker, Geir, Paul Keefer Henneberger, Jens Kristoffer Hertel, Øystein Lunde Holla, Johny Kongerud, Anne Kristin, and Møller Fell. 2021. "Influence of Asthma and Obesity on Respiratory Symptoms, Work Ability and Lung Function: Findings from a Cross-Sectional Norwegian Population Study." doi: 10.1136/bmjresp-2021-000932.
- Köberlin, Marielle S., Leonhard X. Heinz, and Giulio Superti-Furga. 2016. "Functional Crosstalk between Membrane Lipids and TLR Biology." *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 39:28–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2016.01.010.

- Kompauer, Iris, Hans Demmelmair, Berthold Koletzko, Gabriele Bolte, Jakob Linseisen, and Joachim Heinrich. 2008. "Association of Fatty Acids in Serum Phospholipids with Lung Function and Bronchial Hyperresponsiveness in Adults." *European Journal of Epidemiology* 23(3):175–90. doi: 10.1007/s10654-007-9218-y.
- Konrádová, V., C. Copová, B. Suková, and J. Houstěk. 1985. "Ultrastructure of the Bronchial Epithelium in Three Children with Asthma." *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1(4):182–87. doi: 10.1002/ppul.1950010403.
- Kony, S., M. Zureik, F. Driss, C. Neukirch, B. Leynaert, and F. Neukirch. 2004. "Association of Bronchial Hyperresponsiveness and Lung Function with C-Reactive Protein (CRP): A Population Based Study." *Thorax* 59(10):892–96. doi: 10.1136/thx.2003.015768.
- Kotani, Yoshifumi, Shoji Shinkai, Hiroshi Okamatsu, Masamichi Toba, Kishiko Ogawa, Hiroto Yoshida, Taro Fukaya, Yoshinori Fujiwara, Paulo H. M. Chaves, Keiji Kakumoto, and Noriyuki Kohda. 2010. "Oral Intake of Lactobacillus Pentosus Strain B240 Accelerates Salivary Immunoglobulin A Secretion in the Elderly: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind Trial." *Immunity and Ageing* 7:1–11. doi: 10.1186/1742-4933-7-11.
- Krumbeck et al. 2018. "Probiotic Bifidobacterium Strains and Galactooligosaccharides Improve Intestinal Barrier Function in Obese Adults but Show No Synergism When Used Together as Synbiotics." *Microbiome* 41(16):5748–54. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0494-4.
- Ktsoyan, Zhanna A., Mkhitar S. Mkrtchyan, Magdalina K. Zakharyan, Armine A. Mnatsakanyan, Karine A. Arakelova, Zaruhi U. Gevorgyan, Anahit M. Sedrakyan, Alvard I. Hovhannisyan, Arsen A. Arakelyan, and Rustam I. Aminov. 2016. "Systemic Concentrations of Short Chain Fatty Acids Are Elevated in Salmonellosis and Exacerbation of Familial Mediterranean Fever." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 7(MAY):1–10. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00776.
- Lad, Nikita, Alice M. Murphy, Cristina Parenti, Carl P. Nelson, Neil C. Williams, Graham R. Sharpe, and Philip G. Mcternan. 2021. "Asthma and Obesity: Endotoxin Another Insult to Add to Injury?" *Clinical Science* 135:2729–48. doi: 10.1042/CS20210790.
- Lambrecht, Bart N., Hamida Hammad, and John V. Fahy. 2019. "The Cytokines of Asthma." Immunity 50(4):975–91. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.018.
- Lang, Jason E., Edward B. Mougey, Md Jobayer Hossain, Floyd Livingston, P. Babu Balagopal, Scott Langdon, and John J. Lima. 2019. "Fish Oil Supplementation in Overweight/Obese Patients with Uncontrolled Asthma a Randomized Trial." *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 16(5):554–62. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201807-446OC.
- Lavoie, Kim L., Simon L. Bacon, Manon Labrecque, André Cartier, and Blaine Ditto. 2006.
 "Higher BMI Is Associated with Worse Asthma Control and Quality of Life but Not Asthma Severity." *Respiratory Medicine* 100(4):648–57. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2005.08.001.
- Lecube, A., G. Sampol, X. Muñoz, R. Ferrer, C. Hernández, and R. Simó. 2011. "TNF-α System and Lung Function Impairment in Obesity." *Cytokine* 54(2):121–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.01.010.
- Lee, I. Min, Luc Djoussé, Howard D. Sesso, Lu Wang, and Julie E. Buring. 2010. "Physical Activity and Weight Gain Prevention." *JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association* 303(12):1173–79. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.312.

- Lee, Tae Hyeong, Hun Soo Chang, Da Jeong Bae, Hyun Ji Song, Myung Sin Kim, Jong Sook Park, Ji Ae Jun, Si Young Lee, Soo Taek Uh, Soo Hyun Kim, and Choon Sik Park. 2017. "Role of S100A9 in the Development of Neutrophilic Inflammation in Asthmatics and in a Murine Model." *Clinical Immunology* 183:158–66. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2017.08.013.
- Lee, Yun Gi, Jisu Hong, Pureun Haneul Lee, Junehyuk Lee, Sung Woo Park, Do Jin Kim, and An Soo Jang. 2020. "Serum Calprotectin Is a Potential Marker in Patients with Asthma." *Journal of Korean Medical Science* 35(43):1–11. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e362.
- Leone, Nathalie, Dominique Courbon, Frédérique Thomas, Kathy Bean, Bertrand Jégo, Bénédicte Leynaert, Louis Guize, and Mahmoud Zureik. 2009. "Lung Function Impairment and Metabolic Syndrome the Critical Role of Abdominal Obesity." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 179(6):509–16. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200807-1195OC.
- Li, Naijian, Zhouli Dai, Zhang Wang, Zhishan Deng, Jiahuan Zhang, Jinding Pu, Weitao Cao, Tianhui Pan, Yumin Zhou, Zhaowei Yang, Jing Li, Bing Li, and Pixin Ran. 2021. "Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis Contributes to the Development of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease." *Respiratory Research* 22(1):1–15. doi: 10.1186/s12931-021-01872-z.
- Li, Xun P., Zamora D., Sood A., Liu K., Daviglus M., Iribarren C., Jacobs Jr. D., and Shikany J.M.
 2013. "Intakes of Long-Chain Omega-3 (n-3) PUFAs and Fish in Relation to Incidence of Asthma among American Young Adults: The CARDIA Study." *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 97:173–78. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.041145.Am.
- Liesa, Marc, and Orian S. Shirihai. 2013. "Mitochondrial Dynamics in the Regulation of Nutrient Utilization and Energy Expenditure." *Cell Metabolism* 17(4):491–506. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.002.
- Ling, Xiang, Peng Linglong, Du Weixia, and Wei Hong. 2016. "Protective Effects of Bifidobacterium on Intestinal Barrier Function in LPS-Induced Enterocyte Barrier Injury of Caco-2 Monolayers and in a Rat NEC Model." *PLoS ONE* 11(8):1–17. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161635.
- Liu, Ailing, Teng Ma, Ning Xu, Hao Jin, Feiyan Zhao, Lai-Yu Kwok, Heping Zhang, Shukun Zhang, and Zhihong Sun. 2021. "Adjunctive Probiotics Alleviates Asthmatic Symptoms via Modulating the Gut Microbiome and Serum Metabolome." *Microbiology Spectrum* 9(2). doi: 10.1128/spectrum.00859-21.
- Liu, Bing Nan, Xiao Tong Liu, Zi Han Liang, and Ji Hui Wang. 2021. "Gut Microbiota in Obesity." World Journal of Gastroenterology 27(25):3837–50. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i25.3837.
- Liu, Tengfei, Jing Li, Yuxin Liu, Nan Xiao, Haitao Suo, Kun Xie, Chunliu Yang, and Chen Wu. 2012. "Short-Chain Fatty Acids Suppress Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Production of Nitric Oxide and Proinflammatory Cytokines through Inhibition of NF-?B Pathway in RAW264.7 Cells." Inflammation 35(5):1676–84. doi: 10.1007/s10753-012-9484-z.
- Liu, Yansheng, Andreas Beyer, and Ruedi Aebersold. 2016a. "On the Dependency of Cellular Protein Levels on MRNA Abundance." *Cell* 165(3):535–50. doi: 10.1016/J.CELL.2016.03.014.
- Liu, Yansheng, Andreas Beyer, and Ruedi Aebersold. 2016b. "On the Dependency of Cellular Protein Levels on MRNA Abundance." *Cell* 165(3):535–50. doi: 10.1016/J.CELL.2016.03.014.
- Lu, Jiaqi, Kuoyuan Cheng, Bo Zhang, Huan Xu, Yuanzhao Cao, Fei Guo, Xudong Feng, and Qing Xia. 2015. "Novel Mechanisms for Superoxide-Scavenging Activity of Human Manganese Superoxide Dismutase Determined by the K68 Key Acetylation Site." *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 85:114–26. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2015.04.011.
- Ludwig, David S., Karen E. Peterson, and Steven L. Gortmaker. 2001. "Relation between Consumption of Sugar-Sweetened Drinks and Childhood Obesity: A Prospective, Observational Analysis." *Lancet* 357(9255):505–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04041-1.
- Lugogo, Njira L., Monica Kraft, and Anne E. Dixon. 2010. "Does Obesity Produce a Distinct Asthma Phenotype?" *Journal of Applied Physiology* 108(3):729–34. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00845.2009.
- Lylloff, Louise, Lise Bathum, Sten Madsbad, Josefine Liv Gilling Grundtvig, Inge Nordgaard-Lassen, and Mogens Fenger. 2017. "S100A8/A9 (Calprotectin), Interleukin-6, and C-Reactive Protein in Obesity and Diabetes before and after Roux-En-Y Gastric Bypass Surgery." Obesity Facts 10(4):386–95. doi: 10.1159/000478097.
- Lyte, Joshua M., Nicholas K. Gabler, and James H. Hollis. 2016. "Postprandial Serum Endotoxin in Healthy Humans Is Modulated by Dietary Fat in a Randomized, Controlled, Cross-over Study." *Lipids in Health and Disease* 15(1):1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12944-016-0357-6.
- Mabalirajan, Ulaganathan, and Balaram Ghosh. 2013. "Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Metabolic Syndrome and Asthma." *Journal of Allergy* 2013:1–12. doi: 10.1155/2013/340476.
- Macfarlane, Sandra, and George T. Macfarlane. 2003. "Regulation of Short-Chain Fatty Acid Production." *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 62(1):67–72. doi: 10.1079/pns2002207.
- Madan, J. C., D. C. Koestle, B. A. Stanton, L. Davidson, L. A. Moulton, M. L. Housman, J. H. Moore, M. F. Guill, H. G. Morrison, M. L. Sogin, T. H. Hampton, M. R. Karagas, P. E. Palumbo, J. A. Foster, P. L. Hibberd, and G. A. O'Toole. 2012. "Serial Analysis of the Gut and Respiratory Microbiome in Cystic Fibrosis in Infancy: Interaction between Intestinal and Respiratory Tracts and Impact of Nutritional Exposures." *MBio* 3(4):1–10. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00251-12.
- Man, Wing Ho, Wouter A. A. De Steenhuijsen Piters, and Debby Bogaert. 2017. "The Microbiota of the Respiratory Tract: Gatekeeper to Respiratory Health." *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 15(5):259–70. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2017.14.
- Maniscalco, Mauro, Anna Zedda, Stanislao Faraone, Maria Rosaria Cerbone, Stefano Cristiano, Cristiano Giardiello, and Matteo Sofia. 2008. "Weight Loss and Asthma Control in Severely Obese Asthmatic Females." *Respiratory Medicine* 102(1):102–8. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2007.07.029.
- Marini, Maurizio, Enza Vittori, Jan Hollemborg, and Sabrina Mattoli. 1992. "Expression of the Potent Inflammatory Cytokines, Granulocyte-Macrophage-Colony-Stimulating Factor and Interleukin-6 and Interleukin-8, in Bronchial Epithelial Cells of Patients with Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 89(5):1001–9. doi: 10.1016/0091-6749(92)90223-0.

- Martel, Jan, Shih Hsin Chang, Yun Fei Ko, Tsong Long Hwang, John D. Young, and David M. Ojcius. 2022. "Gut Barrier Disruption and Chronic Disease." *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 33(4):247–65. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2022.01.002.
- Martin, Richard J. 2002. "Therapeutic Significance of Distal Airway Inflammation in Asthma." Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 109(2 SUPPL). doi: 10.1067/mai.2002.121409.
- Martin, Sheree D., and Sean L. McGee. 2014. "The Role of Mitochondria in the Aetiology of Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - General Subjects* 1840(4):1303–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.09.019.
- Masaki, Takayuki, Seiichi Chiba, Hiroshi Tatsukawa, Tohru Yasuda, Hitoshi Noguchi, Masataka Seike, and Hironobu Yoshimatsu. 2004. "Adiponectin Protects LPS-Induced Liver Injury through Modulation of TNF-Alpha in KK-Ay Obese Mice." *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)* 40(1):177–84. doi: 10.1002/hep.20282.
- Maslowski, Kendle M., Charles R. MacKay, Donghyun Kim, Melody Y. Zeng, Gabriel Núñez, Maria Rescigno, Nobuhiko Kamada, Sang Uk Seo, Grace Y. Chen, Gabriel Núñez, Alexander V. Chervonsky, Thomas T. MacDonald, Giovanni Monteleone, F. Purchiaroni, A. Tortora, M. Gabrielli, F. Bertucci, G. Gigante, G. Ianiro, V. Ojetti, E. Scarpellini, A. Gasbarrini, Danping Zheng, Timur Liwinski, Eran Elinav, Alessia Pascale, Nicoletta Marchesi, Cristina Marelli, Adriana Coppola, Livio Luzi, Stefano Govoni, Andrea Giustina, Carmine Gazzaruso, Yasmine Belkaid, Timothy W. Hand, Mairi C. Noverr, Gary B. Huffnagle, Andrew L. Kau, Philip P. Ahern, Nicholas W. Griffin, Andrew L. Goodman, I. Jeffrey, and Andrew H. Liu. 2013. "Role of the Gut Microbiota in Immunity and Inflammatory Disease." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 12(1):321–35. doi: 10.1038/nri3430.
- Massier, Lucas, Rima Chakaroun, Peter Kovacs, and John T. Heiker. 2021. "Blurring the Picture in Leaky Gut Research: How Shortcomings of Zonulin as a Biomarker Mislead the Field of Intestinal Permeability." *Gut* 70(9):1801–2. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-323026.
- Mazmanian, Sarkis K., Hua Liu Cui, Arthur O. Tzianabos, and Dennis L. Kasper. 2005. "An Immunomodulatory Molecule of Symbiotic Bacteria Directs Maturation of the Host Immune System." *Cell* 122(1):107–18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.007.
- McKeever, T. M., S. A. Lewis, P. A. Cassano, M. Ocké, P. Burney, J. Britton, and H. A. Smit. 2008. "The Relation between Dietary Intake of Individual Fatty Acids, FEV 1 and Respiratory Disease in Dutch Adults." *Thorax* 63(3):208–14. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.090399.
- McLoughlin and, and Mills. 2011. "Influence of Gastrointestinal Commensal Bacteria on the Immune Responses That Mediate Allergy and Asthma." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 127(5):1097–1107. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.02.012.
- McLoughlin, Rebecca, Bronwyn S. Berthon, Geraint B. Rogers, Katherine J. Baines, Lex E. X. Leong, Peter G. Gibson, Evan J. Williams, and Lisa G. Wood. 2019a. "Soluble Fibre Supplementation with and without a Probiotic in Adults with Asthma: A 7-Day Randomised, Double Blind, Three Way Cross-over Trial." *EBioMedicine* 46:473–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.07.048.
- McLoughlin, Rebecca, Bronwyn S. Berthon, Geraint B. Rogers, Katherine J. Baines, Lex E. X. Leong, Peter G. Gibson, Evan J. Williams, and Lisa G. Wood. 2019b. "Soluble Fibre Supplementation with and without a Probiotic in Adults with Asthma: A 7-Day

Randomised, Double Blind, Three Way Cross-over Trial." *EBioMedicine* 46:473–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.07.048.

- McManus, Joel, Zhe Cheng, and Christine Vogel. 2015. "Next-Generation Analysis of Gene Expression Regulation – Comparing the Roles of Synthesis and Degradation." *Molecular BioSystems* 11(10):2680–89. doi: 10.1039/C5MB00310E.
- Memme, Jonathan M., Avigail T. Erlich, Geetika Phukan, and David A. Hood. 2021. "Exercise and Mitochondrial Health." *Journal of Physiology* 599(3):803–17. doi: 10.1113/JP278853.
- Michel, O., J. Kips, J. Duchateau, F. Vertongen, L. Robert, H. Collet, R. Pauwels, and R. Sergysels.
 1996. "Severity of Asthma Is Related to Endotoxin in House Dust." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 154(6):1641–46. doi:
 10.1164/ajrccm.154.6.8970348.
- Milani, Christian, Gabriele Andrea Lugli, Sabrina Duranti, Francesca Turroni, Leonardo Mancabelli, Chiara Ferrario, Marta Mangifesta, Arancha Hevia, Alice Viappiani, Matthias Scholz, Stefania Arioli, Borja Sanchez, Jonathan Lane, Doyle V. Ward, Rita Hickey, Diego Mora, Nicola Segata, Abelardo Margolles, Douwe Van Sinderen, and Marco Ventura.
 2015. "Bifidobacteria Exhibit Social Behavior through Carbohydrate Resource Sharing in the Gut." Scientific Reports 5:1–14. doi: 10.1038/srep15782.
- Miller, M. R., J. Hankinson, Vito Brusasco, F. Burgos, R. Casaburi, A. Coates, R. Crapo, P. Enright, C. P. M. van der Grinten, P. Gustafsson, R. Jensen, D. C. Johnson, N. MacIntrye, R. McKay, D. Navajas, O. F. Pedersen, R. Pellegrino, G. Viegi, and J. Wagner. 2005. "Standardisation of Spirometry." *European Respiratory Journal* 26(2):319–38. doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.00034805.
- Mistry, Rima H., Fan Liu, Klaudyna Borewicz, Mirjam A. M. Lohuis, Hauke Smidt, Henkjan J. Verkade, and Uwe J. F. Tietge. 2020. "Long-Term β-Galacto-Oligosaccharides
 Supplementation Decreases the Development of Obesity and Insulin Resistance in Mice Fed a Western-Type Diet." *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research* 64(12):1–11. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201900922.
- Moholdt, Trine, Ulrik Wisløff, Stian Lydersen, and Javaid Nauman. 2014. "Current Physical Activity Guidelines for Health Are Insufficient to Mitigate Long-Term Weight Gain: More Data in the Fitness versus Fatness Debate (The HUNT Study, Norway)." *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 48(20):1489–96. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2014-093416.
- Moody, Alison, and Alison Neave. 2020. "Health Survey for England 2019 Overweight and Obesity in Adults and Children Health Survey for England 2019: Overweight and Obesity in Adults and Children." *NHS Digital - National Statistics* 12.
- Morel, Fanny B., Qiuping Dai, Jiayi Ni, Doneal Thomas, Patricia Parnet, and Pascale Fança-Berthon. 2015. "A-Galacto-Oligosaccharides Dose-Dependently Reduce Appetite and Decrease Inflammation in Overweight Adults." *Journal of Nutrition* 145(9):2052–59. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.204909.
- Moreno-Navarrete, J. M., F. Ortega, M. Serino, E. Luche, A. Waget, G. Pardo, J. Salvador, W. Ricart, G. Frühbeck, R. Burcelin, and J. M. Fernández-Real. 2012. "Circulating Lipopolysaccharide-Binding Protein (LBP) as a Marker of Obesity-Related Insulin Resistance." *International Journal of Obesity* 36(11):1442–49. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2011.256.

- Morice, Alyn, Joanne Spriggs, and Amanda Bell. 2011. "Utility of the Hull Airways Reflux Questionnaire in the Assessment of Patients in the Acute Admissions Unit." *European Respiratory Journal* 38(Suppl 55):p3513.
- Moris, Demetrios, Eleftherios Spartalis, Anastasios Angelou, Georgios Antonios Margonis, Alexandros Papalambros, Athanasios Petrou, Antonios Athanasiou, Dimitrios Schizas, Dimitrios Dimitroulis, and Evangelos Felekouras. 2016. "The Value of Calprotectin S100A8/A9 Complex as a Biomarker in Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review." Journal of B.U.ON. 21(4):859–66.
- Moroi, Miki, Sahori Uchi, Kenjiro Nakamura, Saori Sato, Nobuyuki Shimizu, Mikio Fujii, Takehisa Kumagai, Mariko Saito, Kimiko Uchiyama, Toshiyuki Watanabe, Hideyo Yamaguchi, Tetsuro Yamamoto, Satoshi Takeuchi, and Masutaka Furue. 2011. "Beneficial Effect of a Diet Containing Heat-Killed Lactobacillus Paracasei K71 on Adult Type Atopic Dermatitis." *Journal of Dermatology* 38(2):131–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1346-8138.2010.00939.x.
- Morris, Alison, James M. Beck, Patrick D. Schloss, Thomas B. Campbell, Kristina Crothers, Jeffrey L. Curtis, Sonia C. Flores, Andrew P. Fontenot, Elodie Ghedin, Laurence Huang, Kathleen Jablonski, Eric Kleerup, Susan V. Lynch, Erica Sodergren, Homer Twigg, Vincent B. Young, Christine M. Bassis, Arvind Venkataraman, Thomas M. Schmidt, and George M. Weinstock. 2013. "Comparison of the Respiratory Microbiome in Healthy Nonsmokers and Smokers." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 187(10):1067–75. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201210-1913OC.
- Mortensen, Ole Hartvig, Anders Rinnov Nielsen, Christian Erikstrup, Peter Plomgaard, Christian Philip Fischer, Rikke Krogh-Madsen, Birgitte Lindegaard, Anne Marie Petersen, Sarah Taudorf, and Christian Philip. 2009. "Calprotectin - A Novel Marker of Obesity." *PLoS ONE* 4(10):8–11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007419.
- Motta, Andrea, Debora Paris, Maria D'Amato, Dominique Melck, Cecilia Calabrese, Carolina Vitale, Anna A. Stanziola, Gaetano Corso, Matteo Sofia, and Mauro Maniscalco. 2014. "NMR Metabolomic Analysis of Exhaled Breath Condensate of Asthmatic Patients at Two Different Temperatures." *Journal of Proteome Research* 13(12):6107–20. doi: 10.1021/pr5010407.
- Murphy, Michael P. 2009. "How Mitochondria Produce Reactive Oxygen Species." *Biochemical Journal* 417(1):1–13. doi: 10.1042/BJ20081386.
- Nagareddy, Prabhakara R., Michael Kraakman, Seth L. Masters, Roslynn A. Stirzaker, Darren J. Gorman, Ryan W. Grant, Dragana Dragoljevic, Eun Shil Hong, Ahmed Abdel-Latif, Susan S. Smyth, Sung Hee Choi, Judith Korner, Karin E. Bornfeldt, Edward A. Fisher, Vishwa Deep Dixit, Alan R. Tall, Ira J. Goldberg, and Andrew J. Murphy. 2014. "Adipose Tissue Macrophages Promote Myelopoiesis and Monocytosis in Obesity." *Cell Metabolism* 19(5):821–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.03.029.
- Nair, Syam, Kristina S. Sobotka, Pooja Joshi, Pierre Gressens, Bobbi Fleiss, Claire Thornton, Carina Mallard, and Henrik Hagberg. 2019a. "Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Alteration of Mitochondrial Morphology Induces a Metabolic Shift in Microglia Modulating the Inflammatory Response in Vitro and in Vivo." *Glia* 67(6):1047–61. doi: 10.1002/glia.23587.

- Nair, Syam, Kristina S. Sobotka, Pooja Joshi, Pierre Gressens, Bobbi Fleiss, Claire Thornton, Carina Mallard, and Henrik Hagberg. 2019b. "Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Alteration of Mitochondrial Morphology Induces a Metabolic Shift in Microglia Modulating the Inflammatory Response in Vitro and in Vivo." *Glia* 67(6):1047–61. doi: 10.1002/glia.23587.
- National Centre for Health Statistics. 2016. "Current Asthma Prevalence by Weight Status Among Adults: United States, 2001–2014." Retrieved October 24, 2023 (https://blogs.cdc.gov/nchs/2016/03/16/3095/).
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). 2022. "National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)." [Online]. Retrieved February 23, 2021 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg189).
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). 2023. "Beta-2 Agonists Last Revised in August 2023." *NICE* (August).
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). 2006. "Section 2: Identification And Classification Evidence Statements and Reviews." *Obesity: Full Guideline* (December):196–248.
- Nelson, H. S. 2006. "The Salmeterol Multicenter Asthma Research Trial: A Comparison of Usual Pharmacotherapy for Asthma or Usual Pharmacotherapy plus Salmeterol." *Chest* 15–26. doi: 10.1378/chest.129.1.15.
- Ng, Arnold C. T., Victoria Delgado, Barry A. Borlaug, and Jeroen J. Bax. 2021. "Diabesity: The Combined Burden of Obesity and Diabetes on Heart Disease and the Role of Imaging." *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 18(4):291–304. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-00465-5.
- NHS Digital. 2020. "Statistics on Obesity, Physical Activity and Diet, England, 2020." (September):1–48.
- NHS England. 2020. "Specialised Respiratory Services (Adult) Severe Asthma." (Online):Https://Www.England.Nhs.Uk/Wp-Content/Uploads/2017/04/ Specialised-Respiratory-Services-Adult-Severe-Asthma.Pdf. (Available online: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/ specialised-respiratoryservices-adult-severe-asthma.pdf.).
- NICE. 2022. "NICE." Retrieved July 9, 2021 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg189/chapter/1-Recommendations#identificationand-classification-of-overweight-and-obesity).
- Nighot, Meghali, Rana Al-Sadi, Shuhong Guo, Manmeet Rawat, Prashant Nighot, Martin D. Watterson, and Thomas Y. Ma. 2017. "Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Increase in Intestinal Epithelial Tight Permeability Is Mediated by Toll-Like Receptor 4/Myeloid Differentiation Primary Response 88 (MyD88) Activation of Myosin Light Chain Kinase Expression." *American Journal of Pathology* 187(12):2698–2710. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2017.08.005.
- Nighot, Meghali, Manmeet Rawat, Rana Al-Sadi, Eliseo F. Castillo, Prashant Nighot, and Thomas Y. Ma. 2019. "Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Increase in Intestinal Permeability Is Mediated by TAK-1 Activation of IKK and MLCK/MYLK Gene." *American Journal of Pathology* 189(4):797–812. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2018.12.016.

- Ning, Ruihong, Yang Li, Zhou Du, Tianyu Li, Qinglin Sun, Lisen Lin, Qing Xu, Junchao Duan, and Zhiwei Sun. 2021. "The Mitochondria-Targeted Antioxidant MitoQ Attenuated PM2.5-Induced Vascular Fibrosis via Regulating Mitophagy." *Redox Biology* 46:102113. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2021.102113.
- Noverr, Mairi C., Nicole R. Falkowski, Rod A. Mcdonald, Andrew N. Mckenzie, and Gary B. Huffnagle. 2005. "Development of Allergic Airway Disease in Mice Following Antibiotic Therapy and Fungal Microbiota In.Pdf." *Infection and Immunity* 73(1):30–38. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.1.30.
- Nyenhuis, Sharmilee M., Anne E. Dixon, and Jun Ma. 2018. "Impact of Lifestyle Interventions Targeting Healthy Diet, Physical Activity, and Weight Loss on Asthma in Adults: What Is the Evidence?" *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice* 6(3):751–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2017.10.026.
- Ochs-Balcom et al. 2006. "Pulmonary Function and Abdominal Adiposity in the General Population*." *Chest* 129(4):853–62. doi: https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.129.4.853.
- OECD. 2014. "Obesity Update 2014." 8(5):386–96. doi: 10.1007/s11428-011-0857-y.
- Ohtsu, Hiroshi. 2012. "Pathophysiologic Role of Histamine: Evidence Clarified by Histidine Decarboxylase Gene Knockout Mice." *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology* 158(SUPPL. 1):2–6. doi: 10.1159/000337735.
- Pakhale, Smita, Justine Baron, Robert Dent, Katherine Vandemheen, and Shawn D. Aaron.
 2015. "Effects of Weight Loss on Airway Responsiveness in Obese Adults with Asthma: Does Weight Loss Lead to Reversibility of Asthma?" *Chest* 147(6):1582–90. doi: 10.1378/chest.14-3105.
- Parnell, Jill A., Teja Klancic, and Raylene A. Reimer. 2017a. "Oligofructose Decreases Serum Lipopolysaccharide and Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 in Adults with Overweight/Obesity." *Obesity* 25(3):510–13. doi: 10.1002/oby.21763.
- Parnell, Jill A., Teja Klancic, and Raylene A. Reimer. 2017b. "Oligofructose Decreases Serum Lipopolysaccharide and Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 in Adults with Overweight/Obesity." *Obesity* 25(3):510–13. doi: 10.1002/oby.21763.
- Patchen, Bonnie K., Palavi Balte, Traci M. Bartz, R. Graham Barr, Myriam Fornage, Mariaelisa Graff, David R. Jacobs, Ravi Kalhan, Rozenn N. Lemaitre, George O. Connor, Bruce Psaty, Jungkyun Seo, Michael Y. Tsai, Alexis C. Wood, and Hanfei Xu. 2023. "INVESTIGATING ASSOCIATIONS OF OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS, LUNG FUNCTION DECLINE, AND AIRWAY OBSTRUCTION." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. doi: https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.202301-0074OC.
- Patterson, Elain E., Paul M. Ryan, John F. Cryan, Timothy G. Dinan, R. Paul Ross, Gerald F. Fitzgerald, and Cath Erine Stanton. 2016. "Gut Microbiota, Obesity and Diabetes." *Postgraduate Medical Journal* 92(1087):286–300. doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2015-133285.
- Payne, D. N. R., N. M. Wilson, A. James, H. Hablas, C. Agrafioti, and A. Bush. 2001. "Evidence for Different Subgroups of Difficult Asthma in Children." *Thorax* 56(5):345–50. doi: 10.1136/thorax.56.5.345.

- Pendyala, Swaroop, Jeanne M. Walker, and Peter R. Holt. 2012. "A High-Fat Diet Is Associated with Endotoxemia That Originates from the Gut." *Gastroenterology* 142(5):1100-1101.e2. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.01.034.
- Peng, Luying, Zhong Rong Li, Robert S. Green, Ian R. Holzman, and Jing Lin. 2009. "Butyrate Enhances the Intestinal Barrier by Facilitating Tight Junction Assembly via Activation of AMP-Activated Protein Kinase in Caco-2 Cell Monolayers." *Journal of Nutrition* 139(9):1619–25. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.104638.
- Percival, Benita C., Martin Grootveld, Miles Gibson, Yasan Osman, Marco Molinari, Fereshteh Jafari, Tarsem Sahota, Mark Martin, Federico Casanova, Melissa L. Mather, Mark Edgar, Jinit Masania, and Philippe B. Wilson. 2019. *Low-Field, Benchtop NMR Spectroscopy as a Potential Tool for Point-of-Care Diagnostics of Metabolic Conditions: Validation, Protocols and Computational Models*. Vol. 8.
- Peters, Ubong, Anne E. Dixon, and Erick Forno. 2018. "Obesity and Asthma." *Journal of Allergy* and Clinical Immunology 141(4):1169–79. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.02.004.
- Pittman, Jessica E., Feng-Chang Lin, Robin Johnson, Paul Jones, and Stephanie D. Davis. 2012.
 "Patterns Of Infant Lung Function In Infants With Cystic Fibrosis Vs. Wheezy Infants." Pp. A5262–A5262 in C108. PEDIATRIC CYSTIC FIBROSIS AND PRIMARY CILIARY DYSKINESIA, American Thoracic Society International Conference Abstracts. American Thoracic Society.
- Van De Pol, M. A., R. Lutter, B. S. Smids, E. J. M. Weersink, and J. S. Van Der Zee. 2011. "Synbiotics Reduce Allergen-Induced T-Helper 2 Response and Improve Peak Expiratory Flow in Allergic Asthmatics." Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 66(1):39–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2010.02454.x.
- Popko, K., E. Gorska, A. Stelmaszczyk-Emmel, R. Plywaczewski, A. Stoklosa, D. Gorecka, B. Pyrzak, and U. Demko. 2010. "Proinflammatory Cytokines IL-6 and TNF-α and the Development of Inflammation in Obese Subjects." *European Journal of Medical Research* 15(Suppl. II):120–22.
- Porter Starr, Kathryn N., Melissa Orenduff, Shelley R. McDonald, Hillary Mulder, Richard Sloane, Carl F. Pieper, and Connie W. Bales. 2019. "Influence of Weight Reduction and Enhanced Protein Intake on Biomarkers of Inflammation in Older Adults with Obesity." *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics* 38(1):33–49. doi: 10.1080/21551197.2018.1564200.
- Portincasa, Piero, Leonilde Bonfrate, Mohamad Khalil, Maria De Angelis, Francesco Maria Calabrese, Mauro D'amato, David Q. H. Wang, and Agostino Di Ciaula. 2022. "Intestinal Barrier and Permeability in Health, Obesity and NAFLD." *Biomedicines* 10(1):1–62. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10010083.
- Postma, Dirkje S., and Klaus F. Rabe. 2015. "The Asthma–COPD Overlap Syndrome." *New England Journal of Medicine* 373(13):1241–49. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1411863.
- Pragman, Alexa A., Hyeun Bum Kim, Cavan S. Reilly, Christine Wendt, and Richard E. Isaacson.
 2012. "The Lung Microbiome in Moderate and Severe Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease." *PLoS ONE* 7(10). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047305.

- Public Health England. 2020. "NDNS: Results from Years 9 to 11 (Combined) Report." 2021(5 May):1–13. Retrieved (https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/ndns-results-from-years-9-to-11-2016-to-2017-and-2018-to-2019).
- Qian, Ling, Entezar Mehrabi Nasab, Seyyede Masoume Athari, and Seyyed Shamsadin Athari.
 2022. "Mitochondria Signaling Pathways in Allergic Asthma." *Journal of Investigative Medicine* 70(4):863–82. doi: 10.1136/jim-2021-002098.
- Qu, Xiaolu, Leyan Yan, Rihong Guo, Hui Li, and Zhendan Shi. 2019. "ROS-Induced GATA4 and GATA6 Downregulation Inhibits StAR Expression in LPS-Treated Porcine Granulosa-Lutein Cells." *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2019. doi: 10.1155/2019/5432792.
- Quanjer, Philip H., Tim J. Cole, Graham L. Hall, and Bruce H. Culver. 2013. "Report of the Global Lung Function Initiative (GLI), ERS Task Force to Establish Improved Lung Function Reference Values, Includng Supplement." *Eur Respir J* 40(6):1324–43. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00080312.MULTI-ETHNIC.
- Quigley, Eamonn M. M. 2017. "Gut Microbiome as a Clinical Tool in Gastrointestinal Disease Management: Are We There Yet?" *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 14(5):315–20. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.29.
- Quoc, Quang Luu, Youngwoo Choi, Tra Cao Thi Bich, Eun Mi Yang, Yoo Seob Shin, and Hae Sim Park. 2021. "S100A9 in Adult Asthmatic Patients: A Biomarker for Neutrophilic Asthma." *Experimental and Molecular Medicine* 53(7):1170–79. doi: 10.1038/s12276-021-00652-5.
- Rabot, Sylvie, Mathieu Membrez, Aurélia Bruneau, Philippe Gérard, Taoufiq Harach, Mireille
 Moser, Frederic Raymond, Robert Mansourian, and Chieh J. Chou. 2010. "Germ-Free
 C57BL/6J Mice Are Resistant to High-Fat-Diet-Induced Insulin Resistance and Have
 Altered Cholesterol Metabolism." FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of
 American Societies for Experimental Biology 24(12):4948–59. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-164921.
- Ren, Yahao, Takamichi Ichinose, Miao He, Seiichi Youshida, Masataka Nishikawa, and Guifan Sun. 2019. "Co-Exposure to Lipopolysaccharide and Desert Dust Causes Exacerbation of Ovalbumin-Induced Allergic Lung Inflammation in Mice via TLR4/MyD88-Dependent and -Independent Pathways." Allergy, Asthma and Clinical Immunology 15(1):1–12. doi: 10.1186/s13223-019-0396-4.
- Reyes-Angel, Jessica, Parisa Kaviany, Deepa Rastogi, and Erick Forno. 2022. "Obesity-Related Asthma in Children and Adolescents." *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health* 6(10):713– 24. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(22)00185-7.
- Ridaura, Vanessa K., Jeremiah J. Faith, Federico E. Rey, Jiye Cheng, E. Alexis, Andrew L. Kau, Nicholas W. Griffin, Vincent Lombard, Bernard Henrissat, James R. Bain, Michael J. Muehlbauer, Olga Ilkayeva, Clay F. Semenkovich, Katsuhiko Funai, David K. Hayashi, Barbara J. Lyle, Margaret C. Martini, K. Luke, Jose C. Clemente, William Van Treuren, and William A. Walters. 2014. "Cultured Gut Microbiota from Twins Discordant for Obesity Modulate Adiposity and Metabolic Phenotypes in Mice." *Science* 341(6150):1–22. doi: 10.1126/science.1241214.Cultured.
- Rincon, Mercedes, and Charles G. Irvin. 2012. "Role of IL-6 in Asthma and Other Inflammatory Pulmonary Diseases." 1(1). doi: 10.7150/ijbs.4874.

- Robles Alonso, Virginia, and Francisco Guarner. 2013. "Intestinal Microbiota Composition in Adults" edited by A. Guarino, E. M. M. Quigley, and W. A. Walker. *Probiotic Bacteria and Their Effect on Human Health and Well-Being* 107:0.
- Rouhani, M. H., A. Salehi-Abargouei, P. J. Surkan, and L. Azadbakht. 2014. "Is There a Relationship between Red or Processed Meat Intake and Obesity? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies." *Obesity Reviews* 15(9):740–48. doi: 10.1111/obr.12172.
- Round, June L., and Sarkis K. Mazmanian. 2009. "The Gut Microbiota Shapes Intestinal Immune Responses during Health and Disease." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 9(5):313–23.
- Rumney, Corinne J., Sylvia H. Duncan, C. Henderson, and C. S. Stewart. 1995. "Isolation and Characteristics of a Wheatbran-degrading Butyrivibrio from Human Faeces." *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 20(4):232–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.1995.tb00435.x.
- Russell, Shannon L., Matthew J. Gold, Martin Hartmann, Benjamin P. Willing, Lisa Thorson, Marta Wlodarska, Navkiran Gill, Marie Renée Blanchet, William W. Mohn, Kelly M. McNagny, and Brett B. Finlay. 2012. "Early Life Antibiotic-Driven Changes in Microbiota Enhance Susceptibility to Allergic Asthma." *EMBO Reports* 13(5):440–47. doi: 10.1038/embor.2012.32.
- Di Sabatino, A., R. Morera, R. Ciccocioppo, P. Cazzola, S. Gotti, F. P. Tinozzi, S. Tinozzi, and G. R. Corazza. 2005. "Oral Butyrate for Mildly to Moderately Active Crohn's Disease." *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 22(9):789–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2005.02639.x.
- Sabico, Shaun, Ayah Al-Mashharawi, Nasser M. Al-Daghri, Kaiser Wani, Osama E. Amer, Danish S. Hussain, Mohammed Ghouse Ahmed Ansari, Mohammad S. Masoud, Majed S. Alokail, and Philip G. McTernan. 2019. "Effects of a 6-Month Multi-Strain Probiotics Supplementation in Endotoxemic, Inflammatory and Cardiometabolic Status of T2DM Patients: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial." *Clinical Nutrition* 38(4):1561–69. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.08.009.
- Sabico, Shaun, Ayah Al-Mashharawi, Nasser M. Al-Daghri, Sobhy Yakout, Abdullah M. Alnaami, Majed S. Alokail, and Philip G. McTernan. 2017. "Effects of a Multi-Strain Probiotic Supplement for 12 Weeks in Circulating Endotoxin Levels and Cardiometabolic Profiles of Medication Naïve T2DM Patients: A Randomized Clinical Trial." *Journal of Translational Medicine* 15(1):1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1354-x.
- Sadrifar, Sina, Tannaz Abbasi-Dokht, Sarvenaz Forouzandeh, Farhad Malek, and Rasoul Baharlou. 2023. "The Impact of Multistrains of Probiotics on Th17-Related Cytokines in Patients with Asthma: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial." *Journal* of Asthma 60(7):1306–15. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2022.2144353.
- Sagar, Seil, Arjan P. Vos, Mary E. Morgan, Johan Garssen, Niki A. Georgiou, Louis Boon, Aletta D. Kraneveld, and Gert Folkerts. 2014. "The Combination of Bifidobacterium Breve with Non-Digestible Oligosaccharides Suppresses Airway Inflammation in a Murine Model for Chronic Asthma." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease* 1842(4):573–83. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.01.005.

- Saglani, Sejal, and Clare M. Lloyd. 2015. "Novel Concepts in Airway Inflammation and Remodelling in Asthma." *European Respiratory Journal* 46(6):1796–1804. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01196-2014.
- Saint-Georges-Chaumet, Y., D. Attaf, E. Pelletier, and Marvin Edeas. 2015a. "Targeting Microbiota-Mitochondria Inter-Talk: Microbiota Control Mitochondria Metabolism." *Cellular and Molecular Biology* 61(4):121–24. doi: 10.14715/cmb/2015.61.4.20.
- Saint-Georges-Chaumet, Y., D. Attaf, E. Pelletier, and Marvin Edeas. 2015b. "Targeting Microbiota-Mitochondria Inter-Talk: Microbiota Control Mitochondria Metabolism." *Cellular and Molecular Biology* 61(4):121–24. doi: 10.14715/cmb/2015.61.4.20.
- Salminen, Seppo, Maria Carmen Collado, Akihito Endo, Colin Hill, Sarah Lebeer, Eamonn M. M. Quigley, Mary Ellen Sanders, Raanan Shamir, Jonathan R. Swann, Hania Szajewska, and Gabriel Vinderola. 2021. "The International Scientific Association of Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) Consensus Statement on the Definition and Scope of Postbiotics." Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology 18(9):649–67. doi: 10.1038/s41575-021-00440-6.
- Salome, C. M., P. A. Munoz, N. Berend, C. W. Thorpe, L. M. Schachter, and G. G. King. 2008. "Effect of Obesity on Breathlessness and Airway Responsiveness to Methacholine in Non-Asthmatic Subjects." *International Journal of Obesity* 32(3):502–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803752.
- Sankararaman, Senthilkumar, Kimberly Noriega, Sujithra Velayuthan, Thomas Sferra, and Robert Martindale. 2023. "Gut Microbiome and Its Impact on Obesity and Obesity-Related Disorders." *Current Gastroenterology Reports* 25(2):31–44. doi: 10.1007/s11894-022-00859-0.
- Santoni, Véronique. 2017. "Plant Aquaporin Posttranslational Regulation." 83–105. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-49395-4_4.
- Santos, Lília Maia, Bárbara Ramos, João Almeida, Cláudia Chaves Loureiro, and Carlos Robalo Cordeiro. 2019. "The Impact of Weight Loss beyond Lung Function: Benefit with Respect to Asthma Outcomes." *Pulmonology* 25(6):313–19. doi: 10.1016/j.pulmoe.2019.07.007.
- Sartor, R. Balfour. 2008. "Microbial Influences in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases." *Gastroenterology* 134(2):577–94. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.11.059.
- Sastre, Joaquin, Leonardo M. Fabbri, David Price, Hans Ulrich Wahn, Jean Bousquet, James E. Fish, Kevin Murphy, and Malcolm R. Sears. 2016a. "Insights, Attitudes, and Perceptions about Asthma and Its Treatment: A Multinational Survey of Patients from Europe and Canada." World Allergy Organization Journal 9(1). doi: 10.1186/s40413-016-0105-4.
- Sastre, Joaquin, Leonardo M. Fabbri, David Price, Hans Ulrich Wahn, Jean Bousquet, James E. Fish, Kevin Murphy, and Malcolm R. Sears. 2016b. "Insights, Attitudes, and Perceptions about Asthma and Its Treatment: A Multinational Survey of Patients from Europe and Canada." World Allergy Organization Journal 9(1):1–12. doi: 10.1186/s40413-016-0105-4.
- Saude, Erik J., Idongesit P. Obiefuna, Ray L. Somorjai, Farnam Ajamian, Christopher Skappak, Taisir Ahmad, Brion K. Dolenko, Brian D. Sykes, Redwan Moqbel, and Darryl J. Adamko. 2009. "Metabolomic Biomarkers in a Model of Asthma Exacerbation: Urine Nuclear

Magnetic Resonance." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 179(1):25–34. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200711-1716OC.

- Saude, Erik J., Christopher D. Skappak, Shana Regush, Kim Cook, Amos Ben-Zvi, Allan Becker, Redwan Moqbel, Brian D. Sykes, Brian H. Rowe, and Darryl J. Adamko. 2011.
 "Metabolomic Profiling of Asthma: Diagnostic Utility of Urine Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 127(3):757-764.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.12.1077.
- Schachter, L. M., C. M. Salome, J. K. Peat, and A. J. Woolcock. 2001. "Obesity Is a Risk for Asthma and Wheeze but Not Airway Hyperresponsiveness." *Thorax* 56(1):4–8. doi: 10.1136/thorax.56.1.4.
- Scheffler, Lucas, Alyce Crane, Henrike Heyne, Anke Tönjes, Dorit Schleinitz, Christian H. Ihling, Michael Stumvoll, Rachel Freire, Maria Fiorentino, Alessio Fasano, Peter Kovacs, and John T. Heiker. 2018. "Widely Used Commercial ELISA Does Not Detect Precursor of Haptoglobin2, but Recognizes Properdin as a Potential Second Member of the Zonulin Family." *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 9(FEB):1–11. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00022.
- Schleich, Florence N., Maité Manise, Jocelyne Sele, Monique Henket, Laurence Seidel, and Renaud Louis. 2013. "Distribution of Sputum Cellular Phenotype in a Large Asthma Cohort: Predicting Factors for Eosinophilic vs Neutrophilic Inflammation." BMC Pulmonary Medicine 13(1). doi: 10.1186/1471-2466-13-11.
- Schumann, R. R. 1992. "Function of Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-Binding Protein (LBP) and CD14, the Receptor for LPS/LBP Complexes: A Short Review." *Research in Immunology* 143(1):11–15. doi: 10.1016/0923-2494(92)80074-u.
- Scichilone, Nicola, Manfredi Rizzo, Alida Benfante, Roberta Catania, Rosaria Vincenza Giglio, Dragana Nikolic, Giuseppe Montalto, and Vincenzo Bellia. 2013. "Serum Low Density Lipoprotein Subclasses in Asthma." *Respiratory Medicine* 107(12):1866–72. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2013.09.001.
- Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN). 2015. "Carbohydrates and Health." *TSO The Stationary Office* (August):1–6.
- Segal, Leopoldo N., Alexander V. Alekseyenko, Jose C. Clemente, Rohan Kulkarni, Benjamin Wu, Hao Chen, Kenneth I. Berger, Roberta M. Goldring, William N. Rom, Martin J. Blaser, and Michael D. Weiden. 2013. "Enrichment of Lung Microbiome with Supraglottic Taxa Is Associated with Increased Pulmonary Inflammation." *Microbiome* 1(1):1–12. doi: 10.1186/2049-2618-1-19.
- Sekine, Akimasa, Satoshi Wasamoto, Eri Hagiwara, Hideaki Yamakawa, Satoshi Ikeda, Hiroko Okabayashi, Tsuneyuki Oda, Ryo Okuda, Hideya Kitamura, Tomohisa Baba, Shigeru Komatsu, and Takashi Ogura. 2021. "Beneficial Impact of Weight Loss on Respiratory Function in Interstitial Lung Disease Patients with Obesity." *Respiratory Investigation* 59(2):247–51. doi: 10.1016/j.resinv.2020.10.002.
- Sender, Ron, Shai Fuchs, and Ron Milo. 2016. "Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body." *PLoS Biology* 14(8):1–14. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1002533.

- Shen, Koning, Corinne L. Pender, Raz Bar-Ziv, Hanlin Zhang, Kevin Wickham, Elizabeth Willey, Jenni Durieux, Qazi Ahmad, and Andrew Dillin. 2022. "Mitochondria as Cellular and Organismal Signaling Hubs." Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 38:179– 218. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-120420-015303.
- Shore, Stephanie A., Igor N. Schwartzman, Matthew S. Mellema, Lesley Flynt, Amy Imrich, and Richard A. Johnston. 2005. "Effect of Leptin on Allergic Airway Responses in Mice." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 115(1):103–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2004.10.007.
- Shu, Lin Zhen, Yi Dan Ding, Qing Ming Xue, Wei Cai, and Huan Deng. 2023. "Direct and Indirect Effects of Pathogenic Bacteria on the Integrity of Intestinal Barrier." *Therapeutic Advances in Gastroenterology* 16:1–17. doi: 10.1177/17562848231176427.
- Si, Zhenyang, and Biao Zhang. 2021. "Amygdalin Attenuates Airway Epithelium Apoptosis, Inflammation, and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition through Restraining the TLR4/NF-KB Signaling Pathway on LPS-Treated BEAS-2B Bronchial Epithelial Cells." *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology* 182(10):997–1007. doi: 10.1159/000514209.
- Sideleva, Olga, Benjamin T. Suratt, Kendall E. Black, William G. Tharp, Richard E. Pratley, Patrick Forgione, Oliver Dienz, Charles G. Irvin, and Anne E. Dixon. 2012. "Obesity and Asthma: An Inflammatory Disease of Adipose Tissue Not the Airway." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 186(7):598–605. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201203-0573OC.
- Silva, Ygor Parladore, Andressa Bernardi, and Rudimar Luiz Frozza. 2020. "The Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids From Gut Microbiota in Gut-Brain Communication." *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 11(January):1–14. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00025.
- Singh, Suchita, Y. S. Prakash, Allan Linneberg, and Anurag Agrawal. 2013. "Insulin and the Lung: Connecting Asthma and Metabolic Syndrome." *Journal of Allergy* 1–8. doi: 10.1155/2013/627384.
- Singh, Vijay Pal, Rangoli Aggarwal, Suchita Singh, Arpita Banik, Tanveer Ahmad, Bijay Ranjan Patnaik, Giridharan Nappanveettil, Kunal Pratap Singh, Madan Lal Aggarwal, Balaram Ghosh, and Anurag Agrawal. 2015. "Metabolic Syndrome Is Associated with Increased Oxo-Nitrative Stress and Asthma-like Changes in Lungs." *PLoS ONE* 10(6):1–15. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129850.
- Smith, David H., Daniel C. Malone, Kenneth A. Lawson, Lynn J. Okamoto, Carmelina Battista, and William B. Saunders. 1997. "A National Estimate of the Economic Costs of Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 156(3 I):787–93. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.156.3.9611072.
- Smith et al. 2013. "The Microbial Metabolites, Short Chain Fatty Acids, Regulate Colonic Treg Cell Homeostasis." *Science*. doi: 10.1126/science.1241165.
- Smith et al. 2017. "Effect of a Soy Isoflavone Supplement on Lung Function and Clinical Outcomes in Patients With Poorly Controlled Asthma: A Randomized Clinical Trial." JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association 176(5):139–48. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.5024.

- Sokolowska, Milena, Remo Frei, Nonhlanhla Lunjani, Cezmi A. Akdis, and Liam O'Mahony. 2018. "Microbiome and Asthma." *Asthma Research and Practice* 4(1):1–9. doi: 10.1186/s40733-017-0037-y.
- Sorbello, A., J. C. Giudice, H. Komansky, R. Gordon, and J. L. Kaufman. 1981. "Forced End-Expiratory Flow (FEF75-85) Measurement: Use in Diagnosis of Small Airways Dysfunction from Routine Spirometric Tracings." *The Journal of the American Osteopathic Association* 80(11):731–32.
- Stanaway et al. 2018. "Global, Regional, and National Comparative Risk Assessment of 84
 Behavioural, Environmental and Occupational, and Metabolic Risks or Clusters of Risks for 195 Countries and Territories, 1990-2017: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Stu." The Lancet 392(10159):1923–94. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32225-6.
- Stenman, Lotta K., Reetta Holma, and Riitta Korpela. 2012. "High-Fat-Induced Intestinal Permeability Dysfunction Associated with Altered Fecal Bile Acids." World Journal of Gastroenterology 18(9):923–29. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i9.923.
- Stiemsma, Leah T., Marie Claire Arrieta, Pedro A. Dimitriu, Jasmine Cheng, Lisa Thorson, Diana L. Lefebvre, Meghan B. Azad, Padmaja Subbarao, Piush Mandhane, Allan Becker, Malcolm R. Sears, Tobias R. Kollmann, William W. Mohn, B. Brett Finlay, and Stuart E. Turvey. 2016. "Shifts in Lachnospira and Clostridium Sp. in the 3-Month Stool Microbiome Are Associated with Preschool Age Asthma." *Clinical Science* 130(23):2199–2207. doi: 10.1042/CS20160349.
- Stofkova, A. 2009. "Leptin and Adiponectin: From Energy and Metabolic Dysbalance to Inflammation and Autoimmunity." *Endocrine Regulations* 43(4):157–68.
- Stoodley, Isobel, Lily Williams, Cherry Thompson, Hayley Scott, and Lisa Wood. 2019. "Evidence for Lifestyle Interventions in Asthma." *Breathe* 15(2):e50–61. doi: 10.1183/20734735.0019-2019.
- Strohmeier, Gregg R., James H. Walsh, Elizabeth S. Klings, Harrison W. Farber, William W. Cruikshank, David M. Center, and Matthew J. Fenton. 2001. "Lipopolysaccharide Binding Protein Potentiates Airway Reactivity in a Murine Model of Allergic Asthma." *The Journal* of Immunology 166(3):2063–70. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.3.2063.
- Stromberg, Loreen R., Heather M. Mendez, and Harshini Mukundan. 2017. "Detection Methods for Lipopolysaccharides: Past and Present." P. Ch. 8 in, edited by A. Samie. Rijeka: IntechOpen.
- Su, Xinming, Yuan Ren, Menglu Li, Xuan Zhao, Lingfei Kong, and Jian Kang. 2018. "Association between Lipid Profile and the Prevalence of Asthma: A Meta-Analysis and Systemic Review." *Current Medical Research and Opinion* 34(3):423–33. doi: 10.1080/03007995.2017.1384371.
- Sutherland, Tim J. T., Jan O. Cowan, Sarah Young, Ailsa Goulding, Andrea M. Grant, Avis
 Williamson, Karen Brassett, G. Peter Herbison, and D. Robin Taylor. 2008. "The
 Association between Obesity and Asthma: Interactions between Systemic and Airway
 Inflammation." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 178(5):469– 75. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200802-3010C.

- Suzanne Bollmeier. 2017. "Clinical Updates on the Management of Asthma." Retrieved November 23, 2022 (https://www.ajmc.com/view/clinical-updates-on-the-managementof-asthma).
- Swanson, Kelly S., Glenn R. Gibson, Robert Hutkins, Raylene A. Reimer, Gregor Reid, Kristin Verbeke, Karen P. Scott, Hannah D. Holscher, Meghan B. Azad, Nathalie M. Delzenne, and Mary Ellen Sanders. 2020. "The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) Consensus Statement on the Definition and Scope of Synbiotics." Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology 17(11):687–701. doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-0344-2.
- Sze, Marc A., Pedro A. Dimitriu, Shizu Hayashi, W. Mark Elliott, John E. McDonough, John V. Gosselink, Joel Cooper, Don D. Sin, William W. Mohn, and James C. Hogge. 2012. "The Lung Tissue Microbiome in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease." American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 185(10):1073–80. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201111-2075OC.
- Takao, Nana, Satoshi Kurose, Takumi Miyauchi, Katsuko Onishi, Atsuko Tamanoi, Ryota
 Tsuyuguchi, Aya Fujii, Sawako Yoshiuchi, Kazuhisa Takahashi, Hiromi Tsutsumi, and
 Yutaka Kimura. 2021. "The Relationship between Changes in Serum Myostatin and
 Adiponectin Levels in Patients with Obesity Undergoing a Weight Loss Program." BMC
 Endocrine Disorders 21(1):1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12902-021-00808-4.
- Takeda, Tomoshi, Toru Oga, Akio Niimi, Hisako Matsumoto, Isao Ito, Masafumi Yamaguchi, Hirofumi Matsuoka, Makiko Jinnai, Kojiro Otsuka, Tsuyoshi Oguma, Hitoshi Nakaji, Kazuo Chin, and Michiaki Mishima. 2010. "Relationship between Small Airway Function and Health Status, Dyspnea and Disease Control in Asthma." *Respiration; International Review of Thoracic Diseases* 80(2):120–26. doi: 10.1159/000242113.
- Takemura, M., H. Matsumoto, A. Niimi, T. Ueda, H. Matsuoka, M. Yamaguchi, M. Jinnai, S. Muro, T. Hirai, Y. Ito, T. Nakamura, T. Mio, K. Chin, and M. Mishima. 2006. "High Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein in Asthma." *European Respiratory Journal* 27(5):908–12. doi: 10.1183/09031936.06.00114405.
- Tan, Jian, Craig McKenzie, Maria Potamitis, Alison N. Thorburn, Charles R. Mackay, and
 Laurence Macia. 2014. *The Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Health and Disease*. Vol. 121. 1st ed. Elsevier Inc.
- Tang, Xingyao, Jieping Lei, Wei Li, Yaodie Peng, Chen Wang, Ke Huang, and Ting Yang. 2022.
 "The Relationship Between BMI and Lung Function in Populations with Different Characteristics: A Cross-Sectional Study Based on the Enjoying Breathing Program in China." International Journal of COPD 17(September):2677–92. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S378247.
- Tang, Yun Chi, and Angelika Amon. 2013. "Gene Copy-Number Alterations: A Cost-Benefit Analysis." *Cell* 152(3):394–405. doi: 10.1016/J.CELL.2012.11.043.
- Tatucu-Babet, Oana A., Adrienne Forsyth, Emma Owen, Diana Navarro-Perez, Jessica Radcliffe, Devin Benheim, Himasha Mendis, Markandeya Jois, Catherine Itsiopoulos, and Audrey C.
 Tierney. 2020. "Serum Zonulin Measured by Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay May Not Be a Reliable Marker of Small Intestinal Permeability in Healthy Adults." Nutrition Research 78:82–92. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2020.05.003.

- To, Teresa, Sanja Stanojevic, Ginette Moores, Andrea S. Gershon, Eric D. Bateman, Alvaro A. Cruz, and Louis Philippe Boulet. 2012. "Global Asthma Prevalence in Adults: Findings from the Cross-Sectional World Health Survey." *BMC Public Health* 12(1):204. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-204.
- Van Den Toorn, Leon M., Shelley E. Overbeek, Johan C. De Jongste, Karolina Leman, Henk C. Hoogsteden, Jan Bas Prins, and The Netherlands. 2001. "Airway Inflammation Is Present during Clinical Remission of Atopic Asthma." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 164(11):2107–13. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.164.11.2006165.
- Trompette, Aurélien, Eva S. Gollwitzer, Koshika Yadava, Anke K. Sichelstiel, Norbert Sprenger, Catherine Ngom-Bru, Carine Blanchard, Tobias Junt, Laurent P. Nicod, Nicola L. Harris, and Benjamin J. Marsland. 2014. "Gut Microbiota Metabolism of Dietary Fiber Influences Allergic Airway Disease and Hematopoiesis." *Nature Medicine* 20(2):159–66. doi: 10.1038/nm.3444.
- Trøseid, Marius, Torunn K. Nestvold, Knut Rudi, Hanne Thoresen, Erik W. Nielsen, and Knut T. Lappegård. 2013. "Plasma Lipopolysaccharide Is Closely Associated with Glycemic Control and Abdominal Obesity: Evidence from Bariatric Surgery." *Diabetes Care* 36(11):3627–32. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0451.
- Tschopp, Cornelia M., Nicole Spiegl, Svetlana Didichenko, Werner Lutmann, Peter Julius, J. Christian Virchow, C. Erik Hack, and Clemens A. Dahinden. 2006. "Granzyme B, a Novel Mediator of Allergic Inflammation: Its Induction and Release in Blood Basophils and Human Asthma." *Blood* 108(7):2290–99. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-03-010348.
- Tsukamoto, Hiroki, Shino Takeuchi, Kanae Kubota, Yohei Kobayashi, Sao Kozakai, Ippo Ukai, Ayumi Shichiku, Misaki Okubo, Muneo Numasaki, Yoshitomi Kanemitsu, Yotaro Matsumoto, Tomonori Nochi, Kouichi Watanabe, Hisashi Aso, and Yoshihisa Tomioka. 2018. "Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-Binding Protein Stimulates CD14-Dependent Tolllike Receptor 4 Internalization and LPS-Induced TBK1-IKKe-IRF3 Axis Activation." The Journal of Biological Chemistry 293(26):10186–201. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.796631.
- Tulkens, Joeri, Glenn Vergauwen, Jan Van Deun, Edward Geeurickx, Bert Dhondt, Lien Lippens, Marie Angélique De Scheerder, Ilkka Miinalainen, Pekka Rappu, Bruno G. De Geest, Katrien Vandecasteele, Debby Laukens, Linos Vandekerckhove, Hannelore Denys, Jo
 Vandesompele, Olivier De Wever, and An Hendrix. 2020. "Increased Levels of Systemic LPS-Positive Bacterial Extracellular Vesicles in Patients with Intestinal Barrier Dysfunction." Gut 69(1):191–93. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-317726.
- Turnbaugh, Peter J., Fredrik Bäckhed, Lucinda Fulton, and Jeffrey I. Gordon. 2008. "Diet-Induced Obesity Is Linked to Marked but Reversible Alterations in the Mouse Distal Gut Microbiome." *Cell Host and Microbe* 3(4):213–23. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.02.015.
- Turnbaugh, Peter J., and Jeffrey I. Gordon. 2009. "The Core Gut Microbiome, Energy Balance and Obesity." *Journal of Physiology* 587(17):4153–58. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009.174136.
- Turnbaugh, Peter J., Ruth E. Ley, Michael A. Mahowald, Vincent Magrini, Elaine R. Mardis, and Jeffrey I. Gordon. 2006. "An Obesity-Associated Gut Microbiome with Increased Capacity for Energy Harvest." *Nature* 444(7122):1027–31. doi: 10.1038/nature05414.

- Valente, Andrew J., Lucas A. Maddalena, Ellen L. Robb, Fereshteh Moradi, and Jeffrey A. Stuart. 2017. "A Simple ImageJ Macro Tool for Analyzing Mitochondrial Network Morphology in Mammalian Cell Culture." Acta Histochemica 119(3):315–26. doi: 10.1016/j.acthis.2017.03.001.
- Valente et al. 2017. "A Simple ImageJ Macro Tool for Analyzing Mitochondrial Network Morphology in Mammalian Cell Culture."
- Veen, Johannes C. C. M., Annelies J. Beekman, Elisabeth H. Bel, and Peter J. Sterk. 2000. "Recurrent Exacerbations in Severe Asthma Are Associated with Enhanced Airway Closure during Stable Episodes." *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 161(6):1902–6. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.161.6.9906075.
- Verheijden, Kim A. T., Saskia Braber, Thea Leusink-Muis, Suzan Thijssen, Louis Boon, Aletta D. Kraneveld, Johan Garssen, Gert Folkerts, and Linette E. M. Willemsen. 2016. "Regulatory T Cell Depletion Abolishes the Protective Effect of Dietary Galacto-Oligosaccharides on Eosinophilic Airway Inflammation in House Dust Mite-Induced Asthma in Mice." Journal of Nutrition 146(4):831–37. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.224402.
- Verheijden, Kim A. T., Linette E. M. Willemsen, Saskia Braber, Thea Leusink-Muis, Dianne J. M. Delsing, Johan Garssen, Aletta D. Kraneveld, and Gert Folkerts. 2015. "Dietary Galacto-Oligosaccharides Prevent Airway Eosinophilia and Hyperresponsiveness in a Murine House Dust Mite-Induced Asthma Model." *Respiratory Research* 16(1):17. doi: 10.1186/s12931-015-0171-0.
- Vernon, Margaret K., Ingela Wiklund, Jill A. Bell, Peter Dale, and Kenneth R. Chapman. 2012.
 "What Do We Know about Asthma Triggers? A Review of the Literature." *Journal of Asthma* 49(10):991–98. doi: 10.3109/02770903.2012.738268.
- Vortmann, Michael, and Mark D. Eisner. 2008. "BMI and Health Status among Adults with Asthma." *Obesity* 16(1):146–52. doi: 10.1038/oby.2007.7.
- Vulevic, Jelena, Alexandra Drakoularakou, Parveen Yaqoob, George Tzortzis, and Glenn R.
 Gibson. 2008. "Modulation of the Fecal Microflora Profile and Immune Function by a Novel Trans-Galactooligosaccharide Mixture (B-GOS) in Healthy Elderly Volunteers."
 American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 88(5):1438–46. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.26242.
- Vulevic, Jelena, Aleksandra Juric, George Tzortzis, and Glenn R. Gibson. 2013a. "A Mixture of Trans-Galactooligosaccharides Reduces Markers of Metabolic Syndrome and Modulates the Fecal Microbiota and Immune Function of Overweight Adults1-3." *Journal of Nutrition* 143(3):324–31. doi: 10.3945/jn.112.166132.
- Vulevic, Jelena, Aleksandra Juric, George Tzortzis, and Glenn R. Gibson. 2013b. "A Mixture of Trans-Galactooligosaccharides Reduces Markers of Metabolic Syndrome and Modulates the Fecal Microbiota and Immune Function of Overweight Adults1-3." *Journal of Nutrition* 143(3):324–31. doi: 10.3945/jn.112.166132.
- Wada, Taira, Yukiko Yamamoto, Yukiko Takasugi, Hirotake Ishii, Taketo Uchiyama, Kaori Saitoh, Masahiro Suzuki, Makoto Uchiyama, Hikari Yoshitane, Yoshitaka Fukada, and Shigeki Shimba. 2022. "Adiponectin Regulates the Circadian Rhythm of Glucose and Lipid Metabolism." *Journal of Endocrinology* 254(2):121–33. doi: 10.1530/JOE-22-0006.

- Wadhwa, Ridhima, Kamal Dua, Ian M. Adcock, Jay C. Horvat, Richard Y. Kim, and Philip M.
 Hansbro. 2019. "Cellular Mechanisms Underlying Steroid-Resistant Asthma." *European Respiratory Review* 28(153):1–10. doi: 10.1183/16000617.0096-2019.
- Wai, Timothy, and Thomas Langer. 2016. "Mitochondrial Dynamics and Metabolic Regulation." *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 27(2):105–17. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2015.12.001.
- Walker, John, Levinus Dieleman, Dennell Mah, Kyungran Park, Jon Meddings, and Dilini
 Vethanayagam. 2014. "High Prevalence of Abnormal Gastrointestinal Permeability in
 Moderate-Severe Asthma." *Clinical and Investigative Medicine* 37(2):53–57. doi:
 10.25011/cim.v37i2.21086.
- Wallaert, Benoit, Pierre Desreumaux, Marie Christine Copin, Isabelle Tillie, Anne Benard, Jean Frédéric Colombel, Bernard Gosselin, André Bernard Tonnel, and Anne Janin. 1995.
 "Immunoreactivity for Interleukin 3 and 5 and Granulocyte/Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor of Intestinal Mucosa in Bronchial Asthma." Journal of Experimental Medicine 182(6):1897–1904. doi: 10.1084/jem.182.6.1897.
- Wang, F., J. Liu, T. Weng, K. Shen, Z. Chen, Y. Yu, Q. Huang, G. Wang, Z. Liu, and S. Jin. 2017.
 "The Inflammation Induced by Lipopolysaccharide Can Be Mitigated by Short-Chain Fatty Acid, Butyrate, through Upregulation of IL-10 in Septic Shock." *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology* 85(4):258–63. doi: 10.1111/sji.12515.
- Wang, Ruth X., J. Scott Lee, Eric L. Campbell, and Sean P. Colgan. 2020. "Microbiota-Derived Butyrate Dynamically Regulates Intestinal Homeostasis through Regulation of Actin-Associated Protein Synaptopodin." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 117(21):11648–57. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1917597117.
- Watson, Ronald Ross, Sherma Zibadi, Houshang Rafatpanah, Farahzad Jabbari, Ramin Ghasemi, Javad Ghafari, Hadi Afrasiabi, Lai Yeap Foo, and Reza Faridhosseini. 2008. "Oral Administration of the Purple Passion Fruit Peel Extract Reduces Wheeze and Cough and Improves Shortness of Breath in Adults with Asthma." *Nutrition Research* 28(3):166–71. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2008.01.003.
- West, A. Phillip. 2017. "Mitochondrial Dysfunction as a Trigger of Innate Immune Responses and Inflammation." *Toxicology* 391(July):54–63. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2017.07.016.
- West, C. E., M. L. Hammarström, and O. Hernell. 2013. "Probiotics in Primary Prevention of Allergic Disease - Follow-up at 8-9 Years of Age." Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 68(8):1015–20. doi: 10.1111/all.12191.
- West, Christina E., Marie Louise Hammarström, and Olle Hernell. 2009. "Probiotics during Weaning Reduce the Incidence of Eczema." *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology* 20(5):430– 37. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2009.00745.x.
- Wethmar, Klaus, Jeske J. Smink, and Achim Leutz. 2010. "Upstream Open Reading Frames: Molecular Switches in (Patho)Physiology." *Bioessays* 32(10):885. doi: 10.1002/BIES.201000037.
- Wheeler, J. Gary, Sarah J. Shema, Margaret L. Bogle, M. Annette Shirrell, A. Wesley Burks, Arlyn Pittler, and Ricki M. Helm. 1997. "Immune and Clinical Impact of Lactobacillus Acidophilus on Asthma." Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology 79(3):229–33. doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)63007-4.

- Widdrington, John D., Aurora Gomez-Duran, Angela Pyle, Marie Helene Ruchaud-Sparagano, Jonathan Scott, Simon V. Baudouin, Anthony J. Rostron, Penny E. Lovat, Patrick F. Chinnery, and A. John Simpson. 2018a. "Exposure of Monocytic Cells to Lipopolysaccharide Induces Coordinated Endotoxin Tolerance, Mitochondrial Biogenesis, Mitophagy, and Antioxidant Defenses." *Frontiers in Immunology* 9(September):1–13. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02217.
- Widdrington, John D., Aurora Gomez-Duran, Angela Pyle, Marie Helene Ruchaud-Sparagano, Jonathan Scott, Simon V. Baudouin, Anthony J. Rostron, Penny E. Lovat, Patrick F. Chinnery, and A. John Simpson. 2018b. "Exposure of Monocytic Cells to Lipopolysaccharide Induces Coordinated Endotoxin Tolerance, Mitochondrial Biogenesis, Mitophagy, and Antioxidant Defenses." *Frontiers in Immunology* 9(September):1–13. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02217.
- Wilbrink, Jennifer, Nienke Bernards, Zlatan Mujagic, Mark van Avesaat, Kirsten Pijls, Tim Klaassen, Hans van Eijk, Simon Nienhuijs, Arnold Stronkhorst, Ellen Wilms, Freddy Troost, and Ad Masclee. 2020. "Intestinal Barrier Function in Morbid Obesity: Results of a Prospective Study on the Effect of Sleeve Gastrectomy." *International Journal of Obesity* 44(2):368–76. doi: 10.1038/s41366-019-0492-z.
- Williams, Neil C., Michael A. Johnson, Dominick E. Shaw, Ian Spendlove, Jelena Vulevic, Graham R. Sharpe, and Kirsty A. Hunter. 2016a. "A Prebiotic Galactooligosaccharide Mixture Reduces Severity of Hyperpnoea-Induced Bronchoconstriction and Markers of Airway Inflammation." *British Journal of Nutrition* 116(5):798–804. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516002762.
- Williams, Neil C., Michael A. Johnson, Dominick E. Shaw, Ian Spendlove, Jelena Vulevic, Graham R. Sharpe, and Kirsty A. Hunter. 2016b. "A Prebiotic Galactooligosaccharide Mixture Reduces Severity of Hyperpnoea-Induced Bronchoconstriction and Markers of Airway Inflammation." *British Journal of Nutrition* 116(5):798–804. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516002762.
- Wipt, Peter, and Kara M. George. 2012. "Obesity and Asthma, an Association Modified by Age of Asthma Onset." *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 23(1):1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.03.036.Obesity.
- Wium-Andersen, Marie Kim, David Dynnes Ørsted, Sune Fallgaard Nielsen, and Børge Grønne Nordestgaard. 2013. "Elevated C-Reactive Protein Levels, Psychological Distress, and Depression in 73 131 Individuals." *JAMA Psychiatry* 70(2):176–84. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.102.
- Wolf, Anna M., Dominik Wolf, Holger Rumpold, Barbara Enrich, and Herbert Tilg. 2004.
 "Adiponectin Induces the Anti-Inflammatory Cytokines IL-10 and IL-1RA in Human Leukocytes." *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 323(2):630–35. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.08.145.
- Wong, Matthew, Erick Forno, and Juan C. Celedón. 2022. "Asthma Interactions between Obesity and Other Risk Factors." *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology* 129(3):301–6. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2022.04.029.
- Wongkrasant, Preedajit, Pawin Pongkorpsakol, Jutharat Ariyadamrongkwan, Roojanaat Meesomboon, Saravut Satitsri, Rath Pichyangkura, Kim E. Barrett, and Chatchai

Muanprasat. 2020. "A Prebiotic Fructo-Oligosaccharide Promotes Tight Junction Assembly in Intestinal Epithelial Cells via an AMPK-Dependent Pathway." *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy* 129(April). doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110415.

- Woods, R. K., J. M. Raven, E. H. Walters, M. J. Abramson, and F. C. K. Thien. 2004. "Fatty Acid Levels and Risk of Asthma in Young Adults." *Thorax* 59(2):105–10. doi: 10.1136/thorax.2003.009498.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). 2008. "WHO | Waist Circumference and Waist–Hip Ratio. Report of a WHO Expert Consultation. Geneva, 8-11 December 2008." (December):8–11.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). 2024. "Obesity." Retrieved March 26, 2024 (https://www.who.int/westernpacific/health-topics/obesity#tab=tab_1).
- World Health Organization. 2020. "Asthma." [Online]. Retrieved (https://www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/asthma).
- World Health Organization. 2023. "Asthma Factsheet." (May):7–10. Retrieved (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/asthma#:~:text=Asthma affected an estimated 262,and caused 455 000 deaths.).
- World Health Organization. n.d. "Obesity." [Online], 2020. Retrieved (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight).
- World Obesity Atlas. 2023. "World Obesity Atlas." World Obesity Atlas Report (March):1–289. Retrieved November 2, 2023 (https://www.worldobesityday.org).
- Wu, Runmiao, Xu Zhu, Gongchang Guan, Qianwei Cui, Ling Zhu, Yujie Xing, and Jingsha Zhao.
 2024. "Association of Dietary Flavonoid Intakes with Prevalence of Chronic Respiratory Diseases in Adults." *Journal of Translational Medicine* 22(1):1–12. doi: 10.1186/s12967-024-04949-7.
- Xu, Shengjie, Reynold A. Panettieri, and Joseph Jude. 2022. "Metabolomics in Asthma: A Platform for Discovery." *Molecular Aspects of Medicine* 85(July 2021):100990. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2021.100990.
- Yiallouros, Panayiotis K., Savvas C. Savva, Ourania Kolokotroni, Kleanthi Dima, Aikaterini Zerva, Panayiotis Kouis, Jean Bousquet, and Nicos Middleton. 2014. "Asthma: The Role of Low High-Density-Lipoprotein Cholesterol in Childhood and Adolescence." International Archives of Allergy and Immunology 165(2):91–99. doi: 10.1159/000368405.
- Yokoyama, Akihito, Nobuoki Kohno, Shun Fujino, Hironobu Hamada, Yoshikazu Inoue, Seiji Fujioka, Satoshi Ishida, and Kunio Hiwada. 2012. "Circulating Interleukin-6 Levels in Patients with Bronchial Asthma." *Https://Doi.Org/10.1164/Ajrccm.151.5.7735584* 151(5):1354–58. doi: 10.1164/AJRCCM.151.5.7735584.
- Zarrati, Mitra, Eisa Salehi, Keramat Nourijelyani, Vahid Mofid, Mohammad Javad Hossein Zadeh, Forouzan Najafi, Zahra Ghaflati, Katayoon Bidad, Maryam Chamari, Mehrdad Karimi, and Farzad Shidfar. 2014. "Effects of Probiotic Yogurt on Fat Distribution and Gene Expression of Proinflammatory Factors in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells in Overweight and Obese People with or without Weight-Loss Diet." Journal of the American College of Nutrition 33(6):417–25. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2013.874937.

- Zhang, Lei, Yong Yin, Hao Zhang, Wenwei Zhong, and Jing Zhang. 2017. "Association of Asthma Diagnosis with Leptin and Adiponectin: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Journal* of Investigative Medicine 65(1):57–64. doi: 10.1136/jim-2016-000127.
- Zhang, Xin, Jing Zheng, Li Zhang, Ying Liu, Gai Ping Chen, Hong Ping Zhang, Lei Wang, De Ying Kang, Lisa G. Wood, and Gang Wang. 2018. "Systemic Inflammation Mediates the Detrimental Effects of Obesity on Asthma Control." *Allergy and Asthma Proceedings* 39(1):43–50. doi: 10.2500/aap.2018.39.4096.
- Zhao, Shengtao, Yunqiu Jiang, Xu Yang, Donglin Guo, Yijie Wang, Jun Wang, Ran Wang, and Changzheng Wang. 2017. "Lipopolysaccharides Promote a Shift from Th2-Derived Airway Eosinophilic Inflammation to Th17-Derived Neutrophilic Inflammation in an Ovalbumin-Sensitized Murine Asthma Model." *Journal of Asthma* 54(5):447–55. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2016.1223687.
- Zhu, Guangsu, Fangli Ma, Gang Wang, Yuanyuan Wang, Jianxin Zhao, Hao Zhang, and Wei Chen. 2018. "Bifidobacteria Attenuate the Development of Metabolic Disorders, with Inter- and Intra-Species Differences." *Food and Function* 9(6):3509–22. doi: 10.1039/c8fo00100f.
- Zigmond, A. S., and R. P. Snaith. 1983. "The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale." Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 67(6):361–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x.
- Zweigner, Janine, Hans Joachim Gramm, Oliver C. Singer, Karl Wegscheider, and Ralf R.
 Schumann. 2001. "High Concentrations of Lipopolysaccharide-Binding Protein in Serum of Patients with Severe Sepsis or Septic Shock Inhibit the Lipopolysaccharide Response in Human Monocytes." *Blood* 98(13):3800–3808. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.13.3800.

Appendix

Appendix 1: WATCH participant information sheet and consent form

Participant information sheet

"Investigating NGAL and markers of gut permeability and damage across asthma severity and adiposity."

Chief Investigator: Dr Neil Williams

Researcher: Miss Cristina Parenti

Institution: Nottingham Trent University, Clifton Lane, Nottingham, NG11 8NS

Invitation

We would like to invite you to take part in our research study. Before you make a decision, please carefully read the information below, which explains why the research is being done and what your involvement would be. To help you decide, one of our research team can discuss this information sheet with you. Talk to others about the study if you wish. Participation is voluntary. You may choose not to take part or withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason.

Invitation and brief summary

Obesity and asthma are common chronic diseases requiring urgent action. Asthmatic obese patients show an alternative type of asthma associated with poor asthma control, worsening symptoms and reduced response to medication. Systemic inflammation and the gut microbiota could be potential treatment targets for asthma and obesity. Therefore, greater understanding of disease markers that can distinguish between asthma severity and levels of obesity are warranted.

The aims of this study are to:

- 1) Investigate biomarkers of gut health and damage between asthma severity and obesity.
- 2) Investigate the concentration of a novel blood inflammatory biomarkers between asthma severity and obesity.

Study Requirements

You will be required to visit our laboratory on one occasion. The visit will last approximately 1 hour. During the visit you will have measures of lung function, have up to 30 ml blood sample taken and conduct anthropometry.

In the morning of your visit, you must have taken and received a negative test result for COVID-19 using a lateral flow test. These can be collected from the research team, or you can book into the NTU campus testing here <u>https://myntuac.sharepoint.com/sites/LateralFlowTesting</u>

Inclusion Criteria:

To be eligible to take part, you must satisfy the following criteria:

- Be 18-50 years of age at the date of your first visit.
- Have a body mass index (BMI) of 18-34.9 kg·m2 (we can work this out for you using your height and body weight).
- Be a non-smoker.
- Your asthma is defined as Steps 1 to 3 based on British Thoracic Society guidelines (we can tell you which step you are on based on the asthma medication you use).
- You must have a current medication prescription from your GP if diagnosed with asthma (e.g. maintenance and reliever inhalers).
- You must in the researcher's opinion, be able and willing to follow all trial requirements.
- You must disclose any nutritional supplements you take to the researcher, to determine whether these may be considered as 'exclusion criteria'.

Exclusion Criteria:

Unfortunately, you will not be able to take part if any of the following apply to you:

- You suffer from asthma but do not have a current medication prescription from your GP (e.g. maintenance and reliever inhalers).
- · Unable to refrain from asthma medication, e.g. standard inhaled corticosteroids (12 hours), long-acting inhaled corticosteroids (24 hours), combined inhaled corticosteroids and long acting β 2-agonists therapy (24 hours), and leukotriene modifiers (96 hours) prior to each testing session.
- You regularly consume Omega-3 supplements, and/or eat high levels of Omega-3 (e.g. more than 1-2 portions of oily fish such as salmon or mackerel a week).
- You take aspirin or other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs such as ibuprofen once a day on 5 of the 7 days of the week.
- Females only: You are pregnant or planning a pregnancy during the time of the study.
- You have consumed prebiotics and/or probiotics (supplements), drugs that affect gastrointestinal mobility or laxatives in the 4 weeks before signing the consent form.
- You have been previously diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), emphysema, chronic bronchitis, or similar respiratory (breathing-related) illness.
- You have been admitted to hospital during the past 12 months for your asthma.
- You have a history of heart failure, pulmonary hypertension, embolism, or other pulmonary heart disease.
- You have a history of recurrent chest infections.

- You have had an acute infection in the last four weeks, and/or major operation in the past four months.
- You have a history of gastrointestinal drug reaction.
- You have taken antibiotics in the past 3 months.
- You have a history or current evidence of gastrointestinal disease (e.g. chronic constipation, diarrhoea, irritable bowel syndrome, Crohn's disease).
- You have recently taken part in other research projects. Please notify the chief investigator.
- You regularly take antioxidant supplements, such as beta-carotene, vitamin A, vitamin C, vitamin E, lutein, and selenium.
- Standard multivitamin and mineral supplements are acceptable; however, if a single antioxidant supplement (e.g. Vitamin C), is more than the recommended daily DRV's this must be checked with the chief investigator.
- You were previously hospitalised for COVID-19 in the last 4 months.
- You are continuing to suffer from symptoms associated with "Long-COVID".

Location

Erasmus Darwin building, Room 256, Clifton Campus, Clifton Lane, Nottingham Trent University, NG11 8NS.

Restrictions During Testing:

If you have a previous diagnosis of asthma but fail to present your reliever/rescue medication to the research team on arrival to the laboratory, you will not be able to complete that testing session. You will be invited back on another agreed date and asked to bring your medication with you. Furthermore, if you have a previous diagnosis of asthma but no current prescription for a reliever/rescue inhaler then you will be excluded from the study until you can present to the research team a current prescription.

Testing Protocol:

The chief investigator will explain what participation would involve, and how data obtained from participants will be used/stored. The procedures for documenting adverse/serious adverse events throughout the study will be explained. You will have the opportunity to ask any questions/raise any concerns regarding taking part. If satisfied, you will be asked to provide written informed consent to participate, and to complete a health screen and history questionnaire, both of which will be reassessed at each visit by the chief investigator and/or Miss Cristina Parenti. This visit will begin by confirming you have your asthma reliever medication with you and checking that you are suitable for the study. We will then determine your body waist and hip circumference, height, body weight, and body mass index. You will have the opportunity to practice spirometry to assess your lung function. This requires you to breathe out through a mouthpiece as hard as possible for 6 seconds. This measurement is similar to a peak flow assessment, which you may have completed with your GP. The investigators will explain how to complete the asthma questionnaires/scale. These will include a questionnaire to assess your perceptions of asthma control, and adherence to your asthma medication. The procedures for collecting the blood sample will be explained.

Experimental visit:

An overview of experimental procedures can be found below in figure 1.1.

UPON ARRIVAL	ASTHMA ASSESMENT	END
Check Health Status	Resting Lung Function	Questionnaires
Anthropometric	Blood Sample	
measurement		

START

END

- Measurements of body waist and hip circumference, height, body weight, BMI, and lung function will be conducted during each experimental trial.
- You will be asked to complete a questionnaire to assess asthma control, quality of life, and a scale to monitor asthma medication adherence.
- You will be asked to provide a resting blood sample.

On arrival to the laboratory, we will confirm that you have your asthma reliever medication with you. You will then complete health screen and health history questionnaires and provide written consent for us to take a blood sample. We will then measure your body weight and lung function and take a blood sample. Finally, we will ask you to complete a series of questionnaires that focus on asthma control, quality of life, asthma medication use and nutritional supplement use.

Blood sampling

Blood samples will be collected using a needle inserted into a vein in the mid-arm by trained personnel following sterile protocols (similar procedure to blood donation). The procedure will be explained in full before sample collection. You will be asked to provide written informed consent for the procedure to be conducted. You will be asked to state any fears/phobias (e.g. blood/needles), or allergies (e.g. Elastoplast, alcohol, latex) before blood samples are collected. Up to 100 ml of blood will be taken during each visit. This will be used to assess markers of inflammation and gut permeability. Blood samples will be stored securely in the Erasmus Darwin Building at Nottingham Trent University, Clifton Campus. Blood samples from the study will also be used for future In-vitro PhD research.

Pulmonary function

You will be asked to perform three repeatable measures of pulmonary function. This will involve you producing a maximal exhalation proceeded by a sharp maximal inhalation into a mouthpiece for the measurement of lung function parameters (forced vital capacity (FVC); forced expiratory volume over 1 second (FEV1); peak expiratory flow (PEF).

Data handling

All information you provide, and data collected during the study will be anonymised. Data and information will not be kept for any longer than 5 years.

After Participation: Formal Debrief

After the visit, the chief investigator will explain how data obtained from you will be used (e.g. research publications, conference presentations), and how you will be able to access any publications/reports of the research. Procedures for withdrawing yourself and/or your data following trial completion will be explained.

Participant Responsibility

You are kindly asked to complete all documents accurately, and to follow all control measures/testing restrictions/intervention guidelines throughout the study. If completed accurately, the information from this study may help develop new methods of managing asthma for people in the future.

Potential Benefits

You will undergo an in-depth personalised assessment of asthma. This involves information regarding your lung function, and the assessment of FEV_1 'forced expiratory volume, which means the amount of air a person can forcefully exhale in one second. Other lung measurements will also be recorded.

Potential Risks to You

Slight discomfort may occur during venepuncture, all investigators taking blood samples however will be fully trained and will take the up most care.

If at any point you decide to withdraw from the study your data will be destroyed.

Contacts:

Dr Neil Williams

Nottingham Trent University School of Science and Technology Erasmus Darwin Building, Room 257 Clifton, Nottingham NG11 8NS Telephone: +44 (0)115 848 5535 Email: Neil.Williams@ntu.ac.uk

Miss Cristina Parenti

Nottingham Trent University School of Science and Technology ISTec Building Clifton, Nottingham NG11 8NS Telephone: 07908052234 E-Mail: cristina.parenti@ntu.ac.uk

Appendix 2a

Participant Statement of Consent to Participate in the Investigation Entitled:

"Investigating NGAL and markers of gut permeability and damage across asthma severity and adiposity – A WATCH Cohort Collaboration Study".

- 1) I, [.....] agree to partake as a participant in the above study.
- 2) I understand from the participant information sheet (Dated... Version...), which I have read in full, and from my discussion(s) with [Neil Williams and/or Cristina Parenti] that this will involve me [performing pulmonary function and have blood samples taken. Also, height, weight, BMI, hip/waist ratio and body composition will be measured during one visit to the laboratory]
- 3) It has also been explained to me by [Neil Williams and/or Cristina Parenti] that the risks and side effects that may result from my participation are as follows: Slight discomfort may occur during venepuncture, all investigators taking blood samples however will be fully trained and will take the up most care.
- 4) I confirm that I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study and, where I have asked questions, these have been answered to my satisfaction.
- 5) I undertake to abide by university regulations and the advice of researchers regarding safety.
- 6) I am aware that I can withdraw my consent to participate in the procedure at any time and for any reason, without having to explain my withdrawal and that my personal data will be destroyed and that my medical care or legal rights will not be affected.
- 7) I understand that any personal information regarding me, gained through my participation in this study, will be treated as confidential and only handled by individuals relevant to the performance of the study and the storing of information thereafter. Where information concerning myself appears within published material, my identity will be kept anonymous.
- 8) I confirm that I have had the University's policy relating to the storage and subsequent destruction of sensitive information explained to me. I understand that sensitive information I have provided through my participation in this study, in the form of *questionnaires, blood samples, anthropometric data and pulmonary function data.]* will be handled in accordance with this policy.
- 9) I confirm that I have completed the health questionnaire and know of no reason, medical or otherwise that would prevent me from partaking in this research.
- 10) If appropriate) I understand that the information collected about me will be used to support other research in the future and may be shared anonymously with other researchers.
- 11). (If appropriate) I agree to my General Practitioner being informed of my participation in the study. / I agree to my General Practitioner being involved in the study, including any necessary exchange of information about me between my GP and the research team.
- 12) It has been explained to me that there may be additional risks arising from the current COVID pandemic. I have read the NTU recommendations for undertaking 'Research with human participants' and undertake to abide by the special measures which have been explained to me for this study together with such Government Guidelines that are at the time prevailing.

Participant signature: Date:

Independent witness signature: Date:

Primary Researcher signature: Date:

Appendix 2: Prebiotic trial participant information sheet and consent form

Participant information sheet

The effect of prebiotic supplementation on asthma control and markers of systemic inflammation

Chief Investigator: Dr Neil Williams

Researchers: Miss Nikita Lad & Miss Cristina Parenti

Institution: Nottingham Trent University, Clifton Lane, Nottingham, NG11 8NS

We would like to invite you to take part in our research study. Before you make a decision, please carefully read the information below, which explains why the research is being done and what your involvement would be. To help you decide, one of our research team can discuss this information sheet with you. Talk to others about the study if you wish. Participation is voluntary. You may choose not to take part or withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason. **Brief Introduction:**

Many prevalent health disorders (including asthma and obesity) cause patients to have increased levels of systemic inflammation. A potential cause for the increased inflammation could be due to the types and activity of the bacteria that reside in the gut (gut microbiota). Evidence suggests that in obesity and asthma, the gut becomes more permeable, allowing harmful bacterial fragments to enter the circulation and increase levels of inflammation. However, the human gut is also home to many strains of beneficial bacteria, such as *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus*, which can exert health benefits and reduce systemic inflammation.

Dietary prebiotics, a form of non-digestible carbohydrate, are shown to encourage the growth and activity of beneficial bacteria and can confer a health benefit. Recent nutritional research into prebiotics has highlighted their potential to improve gastrointestinal health and have an effect on the immune system to help fight infection and may be involved in inflammatory processes and conditions. Recent work from our laboratory has shown that three weeks of a daily dietary prebiotic supplement can reduce asthma severity and inflammatory markers. It could be hypothesised that prebiotics may help modulate systemic inflammation in asthma and obesity, improving disease management.

This study aims to assess the effects of a 3-week prebiotic supplementation period on asthma control and markers of systemic inflammation.

Study Requirements:

You will be required to visit our laboratory on five separate occasions over a 9-week period, one familiarisation visit lasting approximately 1 hour and four experimental trials lasting approximately 90 minutes. During visit 1 you will become familiarised with pulmonary function (to assess your lung function), and the questionnaires to be used throughout the study. Also, height, weight, BMI, hip/waist ratio and body composition will be measured in all 5 visits. During visits 2-5 you will have measures of pulmonary function, have a 100ml blood sample and 1.8ml saliva taken. Visits 2 and 3, and visits 4 and 5 will be separated by three weeks in which you will take a daily (3.6g/d) prebiotic (Bimuno-galacto-oligosaccharide) or placebo (maltodextrin) for this duration. Visits 3 and 4 will be separated by two weeks in which you will not consume any supplements. Prior to each visit you must not brush your teeth or use mouth wash within 60-minutes of arrival to the lab.

Inclusion Criteria:

To be eligible to take part, you must satisfy the following criteria:

•Be 18-50 years of age at the date of your first visit.

•Have a body mass index (BMI) of 18.5-35 kg·m2 (we can work this out for you using your height and body weight).

•Be a non-smoker.

•Your asthma is defined as Steps 1 to 5 based on British Thoracic Society guidelines (we can tell you which step you are on based on the asthma medication you use).

•You must have a current medication prescription from your GP if diagnosed with asthma (e.g. maintenance and reliever inhalers).

•You must in the researcher's opinion, be able and willing to follow all trial requirements.

•You must disclose any nutritional supplements you take to the researcher, to determine whether these may be considered as 'exclusion criteria'.

Exclusion Criteria:

Unfortunately, you will not be able to take part if any of the following apply to you:

•You suffer from asthma but do not have a current medication prescription from your GP (e.g. maintenance and reliever inhalers)

•Unable to refrain from asthma medication, e.g. standard inhaled corticosteroids (12 hours), long-acting inhaled corticosteroids (24 hours), combined inhaled corticosteroids and long acting β_2 -agonists therapy (24 hours), and leukotriene modifiers (96 hours) prior to each testing session.

•You regularly consume Omega-3 supplements, and/or eat high levels of Omega-3 (e.g. more than 1-2 portions of oily fish such as salmon or mackerel a week).

•You take aspirin or other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs such as ibuprofen once a day on 5 of the 7 days of the week.

•*Females only:* You are pregnant or planning a pregnancy during the time of the study (on each visit you will be asked to complete a pregnancy test if you are within childbearing age).

•You have consumed prebiotics and/or probiotics (supplements), drugs that affect gastrointestinal mobility or laxatives in the 4 weeks before signing the consent form.

•You have been previously diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), emphysema, chronic bronchitis, or similar respiratory (breathing-related) illness.

•You have been admitted to hospital during the past 12 months for your asthma.

•You have a history of heart failure, pulmonary hypertension, embolism, or other pulmonary heart disease.

•You have a history of recurrent chest infections.

•You have had an acute infection in the last four weeks, and/or major operation in the past four months.

•You have a history of gastrointestinal drug reaction.

•You have taken antibiotics in the past 3 months.

•You have a history or current evidence of gastrointestinal disease (e.g. chronic constipation, diarrhoea, irritable bowel syndrome, Chrohn's disease).

•You have recently taken part in other research projects. Please notify the chief investigator.

•You are or you believe you may be lactose intolerant.

•You regularly take antioxidant supplements, such as beta-carotene, vitamin A, vitamin C, vitamin E, lutein, and selenium.

•Standard multivitamin and mineral supplements are acceptable; however, if a single antioxidant supplement (e.g. Vitamin C), is more than the recommended daily DRV's this must be checked with the chief investigator.

Restrictions During Testing:

Participants with asthma will be allowed to continue the use of medication throughout the duration of the study. However, for us to assess airway inflammation during each visit you will be required in the lead up to each visit (2-5) to refrain from:

- •Using short acting β_2 -agonists for at least 12h before each testing session
- •Inhaled long acting β_2 -agonists for 48h before testing sessions.
- •Taking antihistamines for 48h before testing sessions
- •Taking inhaled corticosteroids for 4 days before testing sessions
- •Taking leukotriene modifiers for 4 days before testing sessions
- •Ingesting caffeine and alcohol for 24h prior to testing sessions
- Ingestion of food and carbonated drinks 2 hours prior to testing sessions
- Physical exercise for 24h prior to testing sessions
- •Use of mouth-rinse and brushing your teeth 60 minutes prior to testing sessions

These are standard requirements for diagnosing/assessing asthma and airway inflammation. However, **if you struggle to control your symptoms during this period, then you must resume your medication immediately and subsequently will not be allowed to take part.** The reduction in medication use may have a very short-term impact on your exercise performance that will be reversed following the testing session and when you take your medication again.

If you have a previous diagnosis of asthma but fail to present your reliever/rescue medication to the research team on arrival to the laboratory, you will not be able to complete that testing session. You will be invited back on another agreed date and asked to bring your medication with you. Furthermore, if you have a previous diagnosis of asthma but no current prescription for a reliever/rescue inhaler then you will be excluded from the study until you can present to the research team a current prescription.

Location:

Erasmus Darwin building, Room 138, Clifton Campus, Clifton Lane, Nottingham Trent University, NG11 8NS.

Testing Protocol:

Visit 1: Initial consultation and familiarisation.

The chief investigator will explain what participation would involve, and how data obtained from participants will be used/stored. The procedures for documenting adverse/serious adverse events throughout the study will be explained. You will have the opportunity to ask any questions/raise any concerns regarding taking part. If satisfied, you will be asked to provide written informed consent to participate, and to complete a health screen and history questionnaire, both of which will be reassessed at each visit by the chief investigator and/or Miss Nikita Lad and/or Miss Cristina Parenti. This visit will begin by confirming you have your asthma reliever medication with you and checking that you are suitable for the study. We will then determine your body composition through dexa body scan, waist and hip circumference, height, body weight, and body mass index (BMI). You will have the opportunity to practice spirometry to assess your lung function. This requires you to breathe out through a mouthpiece as hard as possible for 6 seconds. This measurement is similar to a peak flow assessment, which you may have completed with your GP. The investigators will explain how the nutritional supplements will be administered, and how/when to complete certain questionnaires/scales throughout the study. These will include a questionnaire to assess your perceptions of asthma control, and adherence to your asthma medication/the nutritional supplements. The procedures for collecting blood samples during visits 2-5 will be explained. We will explain what you need to do in preparation for your second laboratory visit. An overview of the study design is depicted in Figure 1.0 below.



Figure 1.0 Schematic diagram illustrating study design and duration. V = Visit Number.

Visits 2-5: Main experimental visits

Please see Figure 1.1 below, showing an overview of experimental procedures during each experimental trial.

UPON ARRIVAL	ASTHMA ASSESMENT	END
Check Health Status	Resting Lung Function	Questionnaires
Present Food Diary	Blood Sample	
Self-Report Scales	Anthropometric data collection	

•Measurements of body composition analysis, waist and hip circumference, height, body weight, BMI, and lung function will be conducted during each experimental trial as per visit 2.

•You will present your 24-hour diet log (if visit 2,3, 4 or 5) and reliever medication to the chief investigator upon arrival, or 4-day food diary (if visits 3 or 5)

•You will be asked to complete a questionnaire to assess asthma control, quality of life, and a scale to monitor asthma medication/nutritional supplement adherence.

•You will be asked to provide a resting blood sample and saliva sample, and the same procedure will be followed during visits 2-5.

We will ask you to record your diet for the 24 hours preceding visit 2. We will also ask you to complete a 4-day food diary during the four days leading up to visits 3, 4 and 5. The procedures for recording your diet will be explained during visit 1. On arrival to the laboratory, we will confirm that you have your asthma reliever medication with you and collect your 24-hour (visit 2) or 4-day (visits 3-5) food diary. You will then complete health screen and health history questionnaires and provide written consent for us to take your blood and saliva. We will then

measure your body weight, hip ad waist circumference, body analysis composition, lung function and take a blood sample and salivary sample. Finally, we will ask you to complete a series of questionnaires that focus on asthma control, quality of life, asthma medication use and nutritional supplement adherence.

Blood sampling

Blood samples will be collected using a needle inserted into a vein in the mid-arm by trained personnel following sterile protocols (similar procedure to blood donation). The procedure will be explained in full before sample collection. You will be asked to provide written informed consent for the procedure to be conducted. You will be asked to state any fears/phobias (e.g. blood/needles), or allergies (e.g. elastoplast, alcohol, latex) before blood samples are collected. Up to 100ml of blood will be taken during each visit. This will be used to assess markers of immune function and inflammation. Blood samples will be stored securely in the Erasmus Darwin Building at Nottingham Trent University, Clifton Campus. Blood samples from the study will also be used for future In-vitro PhD research.

Nutritional Intervention

.

Between visits 2 and 3, and visits 4 and 5 participants you will be required to consume a total of 7.2 g/d of either Bimuno Galacto-oligosaccharide Prebiotic (CLASADO Biosciences) or maltodextrin (taste, sight and smell matched placebo) (CLASADO Biosciences) for 3 weeks. You will be required to consume a total of two powdered sachets per day (one 3.6g in the morning and one 3.6g in the evening) which can be reconstituted in water, tea, or coffee. You will be randomly assigned to which supplement you take during the first supplementation period. After a 2-week wash-out period you will commence on the opposite supplement for a further 3 weeks. The study will be conducted in a double-blind fashion, so neither you nor the researchers will be aware of which supplement was taken during each supplementation period until all participants have completed the study.

Pulmonary function

You will be asked to perform three repeatable measures of pulmonary function. This will involve you producing a maximal exhalation proceeded by a sharp maximal inhalation into a mouthpiece for the measurement of lung function parameters (forced vital capacity (FVC); forced expiratory volume over 1 second (FEV₁); peak expiratory flow (PEF)).

4-day weighed food diary

Between the familiarisation visit (visits 1) and visits 2, within both supplementation periods, and during the wash-out period you will be asked to complete a 4-day food diary. This will require you during one weekend day and three weekdays to weigh your daily food intake and document the time of consumption, brand of food, cooking methods used and weight of food within a food diary. It is important you maintain your normal dietary habits throughout the study and provide as much detail as possible within the food diary to ensure we can perform to most accurate analysis on your diet.

Data handling

All information you provide, and data collected during the study will be anonymised. Data and information will not be kept for any longer than 5 years.

After Participation: Formal Debrief

During your final visit, the chief investigator will explain how data obtained from you will be used (e.g. research publications, conference presentations), and how you will be able to access any publications/reports of the research. Procedures for withdrawing yourself and/or your data following trial completion will be explained.

Participant Responsibility

You are kindly asked to complete all documents accurately, and to follow all control measures/testing restrictions/intervention guidelines throughout the study. If completed accurately, the information from this study may help develop new methods of managing asthma for people in the future. Consume the nutritional supplements as instructed. If sachets are missed, do not compensate by consuming multiple sachets. Proceed with the instructed dosing schedule and document any discrepancies. Please notify the chief investigator of any deviations from these instructions, and/or changes relevant to the inclusion/exclusion criteria (e.g. antibiotics prescription).

Potential Benefits

You will undergo an in-depth personalised assessment of asthma. This involves information regarding your lung function, and the assessment of FEV_1 'forced expiratory volume, which means the amount of air a person can forcefully exhale in one second. Other lung measurements will also be recorded. In terms of the nutritional supplements, no specific benefits are anticipated. However, it is possible asthmatic symptoms may be reduced.

Potential Risks to You

Slight discomfort may occur during venepuncture, all investigators taking blood samples however will be fully trained and will take the up most care. Although very rare some individuals may feel symptoms of gastrointestinal discomfort such as bloating and abdominal cramps during the prebiotic supplementation period.

If at any point you decide to withdraw from the study your data will be destroyed

Dr Neil Williams

Nottingham Trent University School of Science and Technology Erasmus Darwin Building, Room 257 Clifton, Nottingham NG11 8NS Telephone: (0)115 848 5535 Email: Neil.Williams@ntu.ac.uk

Miss Nikita Lad Nottingham Trent University School of Science and Technology ISTec Building Clifton, Nottingham NG11 8NS Telephone: 07527029763 E-Mail: :Nikita.lad2019@my.ntu.ac.uk

Miss Cristina Parenti

Nottingham Trent University School of Science and Technology ISTec Building Clifton, Nottingham NG11 8NS Telephone: 07908052234 E-Mail: cristina.parenti@ntu.ac.uk

Contacts:

Appendix 2a

Participant Statement of Consent to Participate in the Investigation Entitled:

"The effect of prebiotic supplementation on the control of asthma and markers of systemic inflammation"

1) I, ______ agree to partake as a participant in the above study.

2) I understand from the participant information sheet, which I have read in full, and from my discussion(s) with Miss Nikita Lad & Miss Cristina Parenti that this will involve me visiting the Nottingham Trent University Sports Science Laboratories on five separate occasions. This will involve me performing pulmonary function assessment and providing a blood sample. Height, weight, BMI, ip/waist ratio and body composition will be measured. Additionally, I

will be required to complete questionnaires on asthma control, asthma quality of life, medication adherence, and gastrointestinal symptoms. I will also be required to consume two supplements (B-GOS and maltodextrin) daily in two separates three-week periods.

- 3) It has also been explained to me by Miss Nikita Lad & Miss Cristina Parenti that the risks and side effects which may result from my participation are as follows: Slight discomfort may also occur during venepuncture, all investigators taking blood samples however will be fully trained and will take the up most care. Although very rare some individuals may feel symptoms of gastrointestinal discomfort such as bloating and abdominal cramps during the prebiotic supplementation period.
- 4) I confirm that I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study and, where I have asked questions, these have been answered to my satisfaction.
- 5) I undertake to abide by university regulations and the advice of researchers regarding safety.
- 6) I am aware that I can withdraw my consent to participate in the procedure at any time and for any reason, without having to explain my withdrawal and that my personal data will be destroyed.
- 7) I understand that any personal information regarding me, gained through my participation in this study, will be treated as confidential and only handled by individuals relevant to the performance of the study and the storing of information thereafter. Where information concerning myself appears within published material, my identity will be kept anonymous.
- 8) I confirm that I have had the University's policy relating to the storage and subsequent destruction of sensitive information explained to me. I understand that sensitive information I have provided through my participation in this study, in the form of questionnaires, blood samples, exhaled breath condensate samples or other measures taken throughout the study will be handled in accordance with this policy.
- 9) I understand that I will not be informed of any genotype.
- 10) I understand that as part of this study I will be consuming a supplement. I am aware that elite sports people (i.e. international or national standard) may undergo either out-of or incompetition (or both) doping tests and appreciate that the supplement being studied could be contaminated with a substance that appears on the banned lists.

11) I confirm that I have completed the health questionnaire and know of no reason, medical or otherwise that would prevent me from partaking in this research.

12) I confirm that I have completed the COVID-19 questionnaire and know of no reason, or otherwise that would prevent me from partaking in this research.

13) I confirm that I am not affected by COVID-19 or not to be subject to a mandatory quarantine period.

14)At moment, I do not experience any of the COVID-19 related symptoms, described in the COVID-19 questionnaire.

Participant signature: Date:

Independent witness signature: Date:

Primary Researcher signature: Date:

Appendix 3: Self-reporting Health screen

Health screen

Name or Number

Please complete this brief questionnaire to confirm fitness to participate:

1. At present, do you have any health problem for which you are:

(a)	on medication, prescribed or otherwise	Yes	No
(b)	attending your general practitioner	Yes	No
(c)	on a hospital waiting list	Yes	No
2	In the next two years, have you had any illness which require you to:		
Ζ.	in the past two years, have you had any liness which require you to.		
(a)	consult your GP	Yes	No
(b)	attend a hospital outpatient department	Yes	No
(c)	be admitted to hospital	Yes	No
3.	Have you ever had any of the following?		
(a)	Convulsions/epilepsy	Yes	No
(b)	Asthma	Yes	No
(c)	Eczema	Yes	No
(d)	Diabetes	Yes	No
(e)	A blood disorder	Yes	No
(f)	Head injury	Yes	No
(g)	Digestive problems	Yes	No

(h)	Heart problems	Yes	No
(i)	Problems with bones or joints	Yes	No
(j)	Disturbance of balance / coordination	Yes	No
(k)	Numbness in hands or feet	Yes	No
(I)	Disturbance of vision	Yes	No
(m)	Ear / hearing problems	Yes	No
(n)	Thyroid problems	Yes	No
(o)	Kidney or liver problems	Yes	No
(p)	Allergy to nuts, alcohol etc.	Yes	No
(q)	Any problems affecting your nose e.g. recurrent nose bleeds	Yes	No
(r)	Any nasal fracture or deviated nasal septum	Yes	No 🗌
4.	Has any, otherwise healthy, member of your family under the age of 5	0	
diec	I suddenly during or soon after exercise?	Yes	No
5.	Are there any reasons why blood sampling may be difficult?	Yes	No
6.	Have you had a blood sample taken previously?	Yes	No
7.	Have you had a cold, flu or any flu like symptoms in the last Month?	Yes	No
8.	Have you ever tested positive for COVID	Yes	No

Women only (delete if not applicable)

8. Are you pregnant, trying to become pregnant or breastfeeding?Yes No

If YES to any question, please describe briefly if you wish (e.g. to confirm problem was/is short-lived, insignificant or well controlled.)

COVID-19

	1. Have you ever been exposed to someone with documented or	suspected COVID-1	9
	infection (such as co-workers. Family members or others)?	Yes No	
	2. Have you ever been tested with COVID-19?	Yes No	
	3. If so, how this test was performed? (If you never been tested, ple jump to question n.16)	ase	
	(a)A swab in your nose or throat	Yes No	
	(b)A spat in a cup/tube	Yes No	
	(c)A finger-prick blood test	Yes No	
	(d)A blood test, done using a needle	Yes No	
Otl	ner, please specify		

14. Where was your test performed?									
(a)At home		Yes	No						
(b)Drive-through regional testing of	entre	Yes	No						
(c)Hospital (not drive through)		Yes	No						
(d)GP		Yes	No						
(e)Chemist/Pharmacy		Yes	No						
Other, please specify									
15. What was the result of this test?									
(a)Negative		Yes	No						
(b)Positive		Yes	No						
16. Have you been hospitalized for COVID-19? Yes No 17. If so, please specify the duration of your stay No 18. If you had COVID-19, which symptoms did you experience? (a) (a) Fever Yes No (b) Fells chills or shivers Yes No (c) Persistent cough (coughing a lot more than an hour or 3 more coughing episodes in 24 hours) Yes No (d) Unusual fatigue Yes No (d) (e) Headache Yes No (d) (f) Felt nausea or experience vomiting Yes No (d) (g) Dizziness or light-headedness Yes No (d) (h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (d) (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (d) (d) Unusual shortness or tightness in your chest Yes No (d) (j) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (d) (n) (d) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (n) (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (d) (d) (d) (d) (d)		(c)Not clear/fail	ed				Yes		No
--	--	---	-----------------------	-----------------	-------------	----------------------	--------	----	------
17. If so, please specify the duration of your stay 18. If you had COVID-19, which symptoms did you experience? (a) Fever Yes No (b) Fells chills or shivers Yes No (c) Persistent cough (coughing a lot more than an hour or 3 more coughing episodes in 24 hours) Yes No (d) Unusual fatigue Yes No (d) (e) Headache Yes No (f) Felt nausea or experience vomiting Yes No (g) Dizziness or light-headedness Yes No (h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (i) (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (ii) (ji) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (jii) Unusual addominal pain or stomachache Yes No (jiii) Other symptom, please specify	16. Have you been hospitalized for COVID-19? Yes							No	
18. If you had COVID-19, which symptoms did you experience? Yes No (a) Fever Yes No (b) Fells chills or shivers Yes No (c) Persistent cough (coughing a lot more than an hour or 3 more coughing episodes in 24 hours) Yes No (d) Unusual fatigue Yes No (d) (e) Headache Yes No (e) (f) Felt nausea or experience vomiting Yes No (f) (g) Dizziness or light-headedness Yes No (f) (h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (f) (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (g) (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (g) (j) Unusual bhortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (h) (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (ii) (j) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (iii) (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (iii) (j) Loss of supptom, please specify	17.	If so, stay	please	specify	the 	duration	of		your
(b) Fells chills or shivers Yes No (c) Persistent cough (coughing a lot more than an hour or 3 more coughing episodes in 24 hours) Yes No (d) Unusual fatigue Yes No No (e) Headache Yes No No (f) Felt nausea or experience vomiting Yes No No (g) Dizziness or light-headedness Yes No No (h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (i) Sore or painful throat Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (k) Unusual yhoarse voice Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (j) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (n) Diarrhoea Yes No No 19. How long did you experience symptoms? Please specify.	18. (a)	If you had COVII Fever	D-19 , which s	symptoms did	you experie	ence?	Yes		No
(1) Persistent todan (cougning a lot more than an nour or s more cougning episodes in 24 hours) Yes No (d) Unusual fatigue Yes No (e) Headache Yes No (f) Felt nausea or experience vomiting Yes No (g) Dizziness or light-headedness Yes No (h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (i) Sore or painful throat Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (k) Unusual phoarse voice Yes No (ii) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (iii) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (n) Diarrhoea Yes No Other symptom, please specify.	(b)	Fells chills or sh	ivers	a lat mara	than an h	our or 2 m	Yes		No
(d) Unusual fatigue Yes No (e) Headache Yes No (f) Felt nausea or experience vomiting Yes No (g) Dizziness or light-headedness Yes No (h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (i) Sore or painful throat Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (k) Unusual phoarse voice Yes No (l) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (n) Diarrhoea Yes No Other symptom, please specify	(C)	episodes in 24 ł	nours)	a lot more	ulali ali i	ioui oi s ilic Ye	es cou		No
(e) Headache Yes No (f) Felt nausea or experience vomiting Yes No (g) Dizziness or light-headedness Yes No (h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (i) Sore or painful throat Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (k) Unusual hoarse voice Yes No (ii) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (iii) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (iii) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (n) Diarrhoea Yes No 19. How long did you experience symptoms? Please specify.	(d)	Unusual fatigue	-				Yes		No
(f) Felt nausea or experience vomiting Yes No (g) Dizziness or light-headedness Yes No (h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (i) Sore or painful throat Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (k) Unusually hoarse voice Yes No (l) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (n) Diarrhoea Yes No Other symptom, please specify.	(e)	Headache				Yes			No
(g) Dizziness or light-headedness Yes No (h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (i) Sore or painful throat Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (k) Unusual yhoarse voice Yes No (k) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (n) Diarrhoea Yes No Other symptom, please specify	(f)	Felt nausea or e	experience vo	omiting			Yes		No
(h) Unusual shortness of breath or have trouble breathing Yes No (i) Sore or painful throat Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (j) Loss of smell/taste Yes No (k) Unusually hoarse voice Yes No (l) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (l) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (n) Diarrhoea Yes No Other symptom, please specify Image: No Image: No 20. At moment, do you experience any of the symptoms? Yes No 21. If so, please specify which one	(g)	Dizziness or ligh	it-headedne	S			Yes		No
 (i) Sore or painful throat (j) Loss of smell/taste (j) Loss of smell/taste (k) Unusually hoarse voice (k) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest (l) Unusual chest pain or stomachache (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache (n) Diarrhoea Ves No (n) Diarrhoea Ves No (i) How long did you experience symptoms? Please specify. (i) No (i) If so, please specify which one. (i) If so, please specify which one. (ii) If so, please specify which one. (iii) If you have been previously diagnosed with COVID-19, are you currently experiencing illness associated with "Long COVID" and continuation of symptoms highlighted above in question 19? 	(h)	Unusual shortn	ess of breath	or have troub	le breathin	ıg	Yes		No
 (j) Loss of smell/taste (k) Unusually hoarse voice (k) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest (l) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache (n) Diarrhoea Yes No (n) Diarrhoea (n)	(i)	Sore or painful	throat				Yes		No
 (k) Unusually hoarse voice (k) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest (l) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache (n) Diarrhoea Yes No No Other symptom, please specify 19. How long did you experience symptoms? Please specify. 20. At moment, do you experience any of the symptoms? Yes No 21. If so, please specify which one 22. If you have been previously diagnosed with COVID-19, are you currently experiencing illness associated with "Long COVID" and continuation of symptoms highlighted above in question 19? 	(j)	Loss of smell/ta	ste				Yes		No
 (I) Unusual chest pain or tightness in your chest Yes No (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes No (n) Diarrhoea Yes No Other symptom, please specify 19. How long did you experience symptoms? Please specify. 20. At moment, do you experience any of the symptoms? Yes No 21. If so, please specify which one 22. If you have been previously diagnosed with COVID-19, are you currently experiencing illness associated with "Long COVID" and continuation of symptoms highlighted above in question 19? 	(k)	Unusually hoars	se voice				Yes		No
 (m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache (m) Diarrhoea Yes No Yes No Other symptom, please specify. 19. How long did you experience symptoms? Please specify. 20. At moment, do you experience any of the symptoms? Yes No 21. If so, please specify which one. 22. If you have been previously diagnosed with COVID-19, are you currently experiencing illness associated with "Long COVID" and continuation of symptoms highlighted above in question 19? 	(I)	Unusual chest p	ain or tightr	ess in your che	est		Yes		No
 (n) Diarrhoea Yes No Other symptom, please specify. 19. How long did you experience symptoms? Please specify. 20. At moment, do you experience any of the symptoms? Yes No 21. If so, please specify which one. 22. If you have been previously diagnosed with COVID-19, are you currently experiencing illness associated with "Long COVID" and continuation of symptoms highlighted above in question 19? 	(m)	(m) Unusual abdominal pain or stomachache Yes							No
Other symptom, please specify	(n)	Diarrhoea				Ye	es		No
 20. At moment, do you experience any of the symptoms? Yes No 21. If so, please specify which one	Other symptom, please specify								
 20. At moment, do you experience any of the symptoms? Yes No 21. If so, please specify which one 22. If you have been previously diagnosed with COVID-19, are you currently experiencing illness associated with "Long COVID" and continuation of symptoms highlighted above in question 19? 		ייייייטאק טוע אָטע באָרָבווניניב איווידנטווא: דובמאב אָרָבוויא.							
 21. If so, please specify which one 22. If you have been previously diagnosed with COVID-19, are you currently experiencing illness associated with "Long COVID" and continuation of symptoms highlighted above in question 19? 	20.	At moment, do y	ou experien	ce any of the s	symptoms?		Yes		No
22. If you have been previously diagnosed with COVID-19, are you currently experiencing illness associated with "Long COVID" and continuation of symptoms highlighted above in question 19?	21. If so, please specify which one								
	22.	22. If you have been previously diagnosed with COVID-19, are you currently experiencing illness associated with "Long COVID" and continuation of symptoms highlighted above in question 19?							

ASTHMA SPECIFIC QUESTIONNAIRES

23.	Age of diagnosis:
24.	Have you ever been hospitalized for Asthma?
25.	Have you ever been diagnosed with Rhinitis?
26.	Have you ever been diagnosed with GORD?
27.	Have you ever been diagnosed with Depression?
28.	Have you ever been diagnosed with anxiety?
29.	Have you ever been diagnosed with Dysfunctional Breathing?
30.	Have you ever been diagnosed with VCD?
31.	Asthma medication:
	Name:

Yes	No
Yes	No

Dose.....

Appendix 4: Questionnaires

Appendix 4.1: Asthma control questionnaire (ACQ-6)

Asthma Control Questionnaire ©

©The Asthma Control Questionnaire is copyrighted (Juniper at al. 1999)

Circle the number of the response that best describes how you have been during the past week.

1. On average, during the past week, how often were you woken by your asthma during the night?

0Never

- 1 Hardly ever
- 2 A few minutes
- 3 Several time
- 4 Many times
- 5 A great many times 6
 - Unable to sleep
 - because of asthma.
- 2. On average, during the past week, how bad were your asthma symptoms when you woke up in the morning?

0No symptoms

- 1 V mild symptoms
- 2 Mild symptoms
- 3 Moderate symptoms
- 4 Quite severe
- symptoms
- 5 Severe symptoms 6
 - Very severe
 - symptoms
- 3. In general, during the past week, how limited were you in your activities because of your asthma?

0Not limited at all.

- V slightly limited 1
- 2 Slightly limited
- 3 Moderately limited
- 4 V limited
- 5 Extremely limited 6
 - Totally limited.
- 4. In general, during the past week, how much shortness of breath did you experience because of your asthma?

0None

A very little

1

- 2 A little
- 3 A moderate amount
- 4 Quite a lot
- 5 A great deal 6 A very great deal

- 5. In general, during the past week, how much of the time did you wheeze? ONot at all
 - 1 Hardly any of the
 - time A little of the time
 - 2 A little of the time3 Moderate amount of
 - time
 - 4 A lot of the time
 - 5 Most of the time
 - 6 All of the time
- On average, during the past week, how many puffs of short-acting bronchodilator (e.g. Ventolin) have you used on each day?
 ONone
 - 1 1-2 puffs most days.
 - 2 3-4 puffs most days.
 - 3 5-8 puffs most days.
 - 4 9-12 puffs most days.5 13-16 puffs most days.
 - 6 More than 16 puffs most days.

Appendix 4.2: Nijmegen questionnaire

Nijmegen Questionnaire

	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very
	0	1	2	3	Often 4
Chest pain					
Feeling tense					
Blurred vision					
Dizzy spells					
Feeling					
confused					
Faster or					
deeper					
breathing					
Short of breath					
Tight feelings					
in chest					
Bloated feeling					
in stomach					
Tingling fingers					
Unable to					
breathe deeply					
Stiff fingers or					
arms					
Tight feelings					
round mouth					
Cold hands or					
feet					
Palpitations					
Feeling of					
anxiety					

HULL AIRWAY REFLUX QUESTIONNAIRE

Name: _____

D.O.B: ______ UN: _____

DATE OF TEST: _____

Please circle the most appropriate response for each question

Within the last MONTH, how did the following problems affect you?								
0 = no problem and 5 = severe/frequent problem								
Hoarseness or a problem with your voice	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Clearing your throat	0	1	2	3	4	5		
The feeling of something dripping down the back of your nose or throat	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Retching or vomiting when you cough	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Cough on first lying down or bending over	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Chest tightness or wheeze when coughing	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Heartburn, indigestion, stomach acid coming up (or do you take medications for this, if yes score 5)	0	1	2	3	4	5		
A tickle in your throat, or a lump in your throat	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Cough with eating (during or soon after meals)	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Cough with certain foods	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Cough when you get out of bed in the morning	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Cough brought on by singing or speaking (for example, on the telephone)	0	1	2	3	4	5		
Coughing more when awake rather than asleep	0	1	2	3	4	5		
A strange taste in your mouth	0	1	2	3	4	5		

TOTAL SCORE_____/70

I.D.:____

SINO-NASAL OUTCOME TEST (SNOT-22)

DATE:

Below you will find a list of symptoms and social/emotional con these problems and would appreciate your answering the followi answers, and only you can provide us with this information. Ple Thank you for your participation. Do not besitate to ask for assi	sequence ng questi ase rate y stance if r	s of your ons to the our proble	rhinosinu best of y ems as the	sitis. We our abilit ey have b	would li y. There een over	ke to kno are no rij the past <u>t</u>	w more a ght or wro wo weeks	bout ong <u>s</u> .	
1. Considering how severe the problem is when you experience it and how often it happens, please rate each item below on how "bad" it is by circling the number that corresponds with how you feel using this scale: \rightarrow	No Problem	Very Mild Problem	Mild or slight Problem	Moderate Problem	Severe Problem	Problem as bad as it can be		5 Most Important Items	
1. Need to blow nose	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
2. Nasal Blockage	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
3. Sneezing	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
4. Runny nose	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
5. Cough	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
6. Post-nasal discharge	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
7. Thick nasal discharge	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
8. Ear fullness	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
9. Dizziness	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
10. Ear pain	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
11. Facial pain/pressure	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
12. Decreased Sense of Smell/Taste	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
13. Difficulty falling asleep	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
14. Wake up at night	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
15. Lack of a good night's sleep	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
16. Wake up tired	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
17. Fatigue	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
18. Reduced productivity	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
19. Reduced concentration	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
20. Frustrated/restless/irritable	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
21. Sad	0	1	2	3	4	5		0	
22. Embarrassed	22. Embarrassed 0 1 2 3 4 5 0								
2. Please mark the most important items affecting you	r health	maximu	m of 5 it	ems)			50-	↑	

Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)

Tick the box beside the reply that is closest to how you have been feeling in the past week. Don't take too long over you replies: your immediate is best.

D	Α		D	Α	
	1	I feel tense or 'wound up':	41		I feel as if I am slowed down:
	3	Most of the time	3		Nearly all the time
	2	A lot of the time	2		Very often
	1	From time to time, occasionally	1		Sometimes
	0	Not at all	0		Not at all
		I still enjoy the things I used to enjoy:			I get a sort of frightened feeling like 'butterflies' in the stomach:
0	1	Definitely as much	8	0	Not at all
1	j.	Not quite so much	Ĵ.	1	Occasionally
2		Only a little		2	Quite Often
3	Ì	Hardly at all	8) 61	3	Very Often
		I get a sort of frightened feeling as if something awful is about to happen:			I have lost interest in my appearance:
	3	Very definitely and quite badly	3		Definitely
	2	Yes, but not too badly	2		I don't take as much care as I should
	1	A little, but it doesn't worry me	1		I may not take quite as much care
	0	Not at all	0		I take just as much care as ever
		I can laugh and see the funny side of things:			I feel restless as I have to be on the move:
0	1	As much as I always could	Č.	3	Very much indeed
1		Not quite so much now		2	Quite a lot
2	Î	Definitely not so much now		1	Not very much
3	1	Not at all	Ĩ	0	Not at all
		Worrying thoughts go through my mind:			I look forward with enjoyment to things:
	3	A great deal of the time	0		As much as I ever did
	2	A lot of the time	1		Rather less than I used to
	1	From time to time, but not too often	2		Definitely less than I used to
	0	Only occasionally	3		Hardly at all
		1. for all a large starting	2 2		Last such as for linear of a such
0	1.1	I teel cheertul:		-	I get sudden feelings of panic:
3		Not at all	-	3	very otten indeed
2		Not often	41	2	Quite often
1	80	Sometimes	8	1	Not very often
0		Most of the time	-	0	Not at all
		I can sit at ease and feel relaxed:			I can enjoy a good book or radio or TV program:
	0	Definitely	0		Often
	1	Usually	1		Sometimes
	2	Not Often	2		Not often
	3	Not at all	3		Verv seldom

Please check you have answered all the questions

Scoring:

Total score: Depression (D) _____ Anxiety (A) _____

0-7 = Normal 8-10 = Borderline abnormal (borderline case)

11-21 = Abnormal (case)

Epworth Sleepiness Scale¹¹

How likely are you to nod off or fall asleep in the following situations, in contrast to feeling just tired? This refers to your usual way of life in recent times.

Even if you haven't done some of these things recently, try to work out how they would have affected you. It is important that you answer each question as best you can.

Use the following scale to choose the most appropriate number for each situation.

	Would never nod off 0	Slight chance of nodding off 1	Moderate chance of nodding off 2	High chance of nodding off 3
Sitting and reading				
Watching TV				
Sitting, inactive, in a public place (e.g., in a meeting, theater, or dinner event)				
As a passenger in a car for an hour or more without stopping for a break				
Lying down to rest when circumstances permit				
Sitting and talking to someone				
Sitting quietly after a meal without alcohol				
In a car, while stopped for a few minutes in traffic or at a light				

Add up your points to get your total score. A score of 10 or greater raises concern: you may need to get more sleep, improve your sleep practices, or seek medical attention to determine why you are sleepy.

© 1990-1997 MW Johns. Used under license